
 
 

AGENDA  
 

CABINET 
 
 

Monday, 20th July, 2020, at 10.00 am Ask for: Denise Fitch 
Virtual Telephone: Tel: 03000 416090, 

denise.fitch@kent.g
ov.uk 

   
 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance 
by Elected Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members 
and the public being able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting of the  
Cabinet  will be streamed live and can be watched via the Media link here. 

. 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
 

1. Chairman's introduction  

2. Apologies and Substitutes  

3. Declaration of Interests by Member in Items on the Agenda for this meeting  

4. Minutes of the Meetings held on 22 and 29 June 2020 (Pages 1 - 12) 

5. Cabinet Member Updates  

6. Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report - May 2020-21 (Pages 13 - 56) 

7. Adoption of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 resulting from the Early Partial Review (Pages 57 - 
434) 

8. COVID-19 Multi-Agency Recovery (Pages 435 - 464) 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such 
items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
Friday, 10 July 2020 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZjM2NzY1ODItOGRkYy00YWUzLTlmZDYtMjc0ZWZjYWQ5Y2U0%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%223253a20d-c735-4bfe-a8b7-3e6ab37f5f90%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d4b0fac9-b912-43bd-b643-1ab35f8cdeac%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CABINET 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held virtually at 10am on Monday, 22 June 
2020. 
 
PRESENT: Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Mrs C Bell, Miss S J Carey, Mrs S Chandler, 
Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr E E C Hotson, Mr R L H Long, TD, Mr P J Oakford, 
Mr M D Payne, Mrs S Prendergast and Mr M Whiting 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Ms Z Cooke (Corporate Director of Finance), Mrs B Cooper 
(Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport), Mr E Bourner (Asset 
Manager Drainage, Structures and Safety Barriers), Mr S Jones (Director of 
Highways, Transportation and Waste), Ms R Kennard (Chief Analyst, Strategic 
Commissioning Analytics), Mr M Scrivener (Corporate Risk Manager), Mr M Tant 
(Flood and Water Manager) and Mr B Watts (General Counsel) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
141. Chairman's Introduction  
(Item 1) 
 
Mr Gough said the meeting had started 15 minutes later than advertised to enable 
members to attend the virtual flag-raising ceremony for the Armed Forces Day.  He 
then outlined the items on the agenda.  
 
142. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 2) 
 
There were no apologies or substitutes.  
 
143. Declaration of Interests by Member in Items on the Agenda for this 
meeting  
(Item 3) 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
144. Minutes of the Meeting held on 27 April 2020  
(Item 4) 
 
Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2020 were a correct record 
and that they be signed by the Chairman.  
 
145. Cabinet Member Updates  
(Item 5) 
 
(1) Mrs Bell (Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health) provided an 

update on the disbursement of money received from the government’s 
Infection Control Fund.  The first tranche of funding had been received with the 
second instalment due in July.  75% of the funding would be distributed to care 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 

homes in accordance with a set formula, with the balance allocated to home 
care and other care providers.  She also referred to: the planning underway to 
deal with any local outbreaks of coronavirus; test centres in Ebbsfleet and 
Ashford; and plans for ‘pop-up’ test centres if there were localised outbreaks of 
infection.  

 
(2) Mrs Chandler (Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s Services) gave an 

update on work undertaken in relation to the Change for Kent Children’s 
programme including: the success, for the second consecutive year, in 
recruiting newly qualified social workers to increase resources within the 
children’s social work teams.  In addition, ten social work apprentices had also 
been taken on.  Mrs Chandler also referred to the critical situation in relation to 
the arrival of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  509 children were in 
the care of KCC, of whom 252 had arrived this year, including 60 who had 
arrived in June.  She said additional government funding and assistance with 
finding suitable placements for these children outside the county was very 
welcome and had reduced the cost to Kent residents by £5m this year.  
However, if children continued to arrive over the summer, the authority’s 
capacity would come under further pressure and, in the longer-term, additional 
funding from government and a sustainable national transfer scheme was 
needed. 

 
(3) Mr Long (Cabinet Member for Education and Skills) said that children in year 

5, many of whom were due to take the Kent Test, would not return to school 
until September and he was, therefore, considering proposals to delay the test 
and to increase the number of schools that could be selected on the 
secondary common application form for one year only.  91% of schools, that 
had responded to the consultation, supported the proposal to delay the test by 
one month.  Mr Long also said that 5,000 pupils were attending school before 
half-term, and the number had increased to 10,000 after half-term with 19,000 
attending last week.  Mr Long concluded by saying that many schools were 
providing an excellent online education offer.  

 
(4) Mr Payne (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport) said he was seeking 

to lock in the benefits of lockdown for the future, and in particular the reduction 
in car journeys.  A bid had been submitted to the government’s Active Travel 
Fund and members would be consulted about any future bids.   

 
(5) Miss Carey (Cabinet Member for the Environment) said that all household 

waste and recycling centres were now open.  When the sites re-opened on 15 
May, there were 20,000 slots which could be booked online by residents and 
this number had now increased to just under 23,000.  90% of the slots 
available at some centres were booked and more slots would be made 
available as soon as it was possible.  Miss Carey also said that she had joined 
today’s Cabinet meeting remotely from Worrall House as she was attending 
the ‘switch-on’ of 508 solar panels on its roof.  She said that 1500 solar panels 
had been installed on five KCC buildings as part of a project to reduce the 
authority’s carbon emissions to zero.  

 
(6) Mr Hill (Cabinet Member for Community and Regulatory Services) said the 

births registration service had re-started on Wednesday, 17 June. A backlog of 
3,500  births to be registered had built up since the service had been closed in 

Page 2



 

 

March. 2,300 appointments had been made in 12 locations across the county 
and he anticipated that the backlog would be cleared within 4-6 weeks.  The 
registration of deaths continued to be conducted over the phone. There was 
no confirmation of the date when weddings could take place, but it was likely 
they would resume in July.  

 
(7) Mrs Prendergast (Cabinet Member for Communications, Engagement and 

People) said that the flow of relevant and timely communications to both 
residents and staff had been, and would continue to be, a key priority for her 
service during the pandemic.  As lockdown restrictions were eased, attention 
had been turning to how the county might move forward and a residents’ 
platform was being developed to make it easier for residents to contribute 
thoughts and ideas on proposals and strategies.  Mrs Prendergast referred to 
the ‘Kent Together’ initiative which acted as a ‘front door’ for those who 
needed help and support during the pandemic and brought together a range of 
voluntary and statutory agencies.  She referred to the survey that had been 
undertaken to understand how staff were feeling about working from home 
and about future ways of working.  The results of the survey were being 
analysed and the intention was to increase support to staff, especially to those 
who found the new arrangements challenging.  She concluded by thanking 
staff for their efforts over the previous 12 weeks.  

 
(8) Mr Oakford (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 

Traded Services) said that of 377 buildings occupied by KCC, 63 were 
currently open and providing essential services to residents.  He also said that 
6,500 members of staff were currently working at home compared with an 
average of 400 per day prior to the pandemic.  In line with government 
guidance staff would continue to work at home.  A risk assessment, using the 
50-page government guidance document, was underway to decide which 
buildings could be re-occupied, although he anticipated that occupancy levels 
would be between 20% and 30% of pre-pandemic levels.  He anticipated that 
any building that was critical to service provision would be opened by 
September. 

 
(9) There was no update from Mr Whiting (Cabinet Member for Economic 

Development) 
 
146. Revenue & Capital Budget Outturn 2019/20  
(Item 6) 
 
(1) Mr Oakford introduced the report, which set out the provisional revenue and 

capital budget outturn position for 2019-20, including a final update on key activity 
data for the highest risk budgets.  He was pleased to announce that the authority 
had been able to present a balanced budget for the twentieth consecutive year.  
He also referred to the pressure on expenditure within Children’s Services, which 
had an overspend of £8 million and the fact that, despite funding cuts and 
increased pressure on services, the authority had made savings of £700 million 
over the previous nine years.  Mr Oakford said that much of the variance in the 
capital budget could be attributed to the re-phasing of projects, and he anticipated 
being able report over a longer time frame at the next meeting.  He thanked 
directors and staff at all levels for their focussed effort and dedication to residents 
in delivering a balanced budget. 

 

Page 3



 

 

(2) Zena Cooke drew the Cabinet’s attention to two areas of significant financial 
pressure, namely the spend on asylum services and the expenditure on high 
needs educational services.   

 
(3) Mr Gough, on behalf of the Cabinet, congratulated the Finance team and 

officers across the authority for their continued efforts in managing budgets.  
 

(4) Resolved to:  
  

(a) note the report, including the provisional outturn position for 2019-20 for 
both revenue and capital; 

 
(b) agree that £1.355m of the 2019-20 revenue underspending be rolled 

forward to fund existing commitments, as detailed in section 2 of 
Appendix 1 of the report; 

 
(c) agree that £0.187 of the 2019-20 revenue underspending be rolled 

forward to fund the re-phasing of existing initiatives, as detailed in 
section 3 of Appendix 1 of the report; 

 
(d) agree that £1.564 of the 2019-20 revenue underspending be rolled 

forward to fund the bid relating to Local Member Grants detailed in 
section 4 of Appendix 1 of the report; 

 
(e) agree that the £3.121m remaining underspend be set aside in the 

earmarked reserve to support future years’ budgets; 
 
(f) agree that the £32.654m of capital re-phasing from 2019-20 be added 

into the 2020-21 and later years’ capital budgets, as detailed in 
Appendix 2 of the report; 

 
(g) agree the capital cash limit changes outlined in Appendix 3 of the 

report; 
 
(h) agree the contributions to and from reserves, as reflected in Appendix 6 

of the report, which included all appropriate and previously agreed 
transfers to and from reserves. 

 
147. Capital Programme  2020-23 and Revenue Budget 2020-21  
(Item 7) 
 
(1) Mr Oakford introduced the report, which provided an update on the financial 

impact of the Covid-19 outbreak and the subsequent economic fallout, 
including: the additional funding provided by central government; the Council’s 
estimated expenditure on the emergency response; the likely loss of income; 
and potential delays to savings plans.  He said an initial assessment indicated 
a significant shortfall in the emergency grant received to date resulting in a 
substantial projected financial gap.  He said all reserves, including ring-fenced 
reserves, were being reviewed in recognition that a proportion of them might 
be required to cover any shortfall. He also said there would be a fundamental 
review of both the revenue budget and the capital programme and that it was 

Page 4



 

 

proposed to seek approval for a revised budget at the County Council meeting 
in September.   
 

(2) Zena Cooke (Corporate Director of Finance) emphasised the importance of re-
casting the budget and the challenges associated with producing a report to 
County Council in September.  She also said assumptions made in the report, 
being considered by Cabinet, might need to be revised, in the light of 
announcements from government in relation to local authority finances. 
 

(3) Mr Gough said that, while the initial focus would be on re-casting the revenue 
budget for 2020/21, it was also necessary to look further ahead as the 
collection rates for council tax and business rates would have an impact on the 
budget for 2021/22. 

 
(4) Resolved to: 
 

(a) endorse a fundamental review of the 2020-21 revenue budget and 2020-
23 capital programme in light of the significant changes since the budget 
was approved in February 2020; 

 
(b) consider and propose a revised revenue budget for 2020-21 and 2020-23 

capital programme at County Council on 10th September 2020; 
 
(c) note that, despite the significant financial impact of the pandemic, the 

Corporate Director of Finance was not considering a section 114 notice 
at this time. 

 
148. Quarterly Performance Report, Quarter 4 2019-20  
(Item 8) 
 
(1) Mr Gough invited Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) to introduce the Quarterly 

Performance Report (QPR).  Ms Kennard said the report covered the period 
up to the end of March 2020 by which time Coronavirus was already having an 
impact on some services.  She drew the Cabinet’s attention to the high-level 
summary of performance set out in section 2 of the report and referred to the 
KPIs which were rated red.  These included: EHCPs issued within 20 weeks; 
16-18 year olds starting apprenticeships; and the percentage of adult social 
care initial contacts resolved at first point of contact  

 
(2) Ms Kennard drew attention to the proposed planned changes to the Quarterly 

Performance Reports for 2020/21 set out in Appendix 2 of the report. The 
Cabinet members welcomed the proposed changes to the reporting of 
direction of travel data. However, they also said that in-year changes to the 
methodology should be avoided as far as possible.  It was suggested that 
some performance indicators rated as amber should be examined in service 
areas where there were no red indicators.  Mr Whiting thanked David Smith 
(Director of Economic Development) and his team in achieving a green rating 
for KPIs set out on pages 78-79 of the report.  

 
(3) Mark Scrivener (Corporate Risk Manager) said that the coronavirus had had a 

profound impact on the environment in which the authority was operating. 
Although the authority had responded to immediate risks and pressures, it 

Page 5



 

 

would be necessary, as part of the planning for longer term recovery, to 
consider the impact of the virus on the corporate risk profile. As part of the 
detailed reworking of the Corporate Risk Register, existing mitigations were 
being reviewed for their continued relevance and urgency, and new mitigations 
introduced, which would be summarised in the Quarter 1 2020/2021 Quarterly 
Performance Report in September 2020. 
 

(4) Resolved to note the Quarter 4 Performance Report. 
 
149. Highway Flooding & Storm Response  
(Item 9) 
 
(1) Mr Payne (Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport) introduce the report 

which summarised Kent County Council’s operational response to the 
exceptional rainfall and storms experienced between December 2019 and 
February 2020.  He referred to the prolonged winter rain and its impact on 
residents as well as pressure created on the Highways budget which was 
outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the report.  He also thanked Earl Bourner 
(Drainage Asset Manager) and his team for their response to local flooding 
incidents.  

 
(2) Simon Jones (Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste) said that 

February 2020 had been the wettest on record and there had been numerous 
severe weather events in 2019/20 which had a significant impact upon Kent 
residents and communities.  While the Highways service had responded well 
to residents’ requests for assistance, it was also important to understand the 
challenge of changed weather patterns going forward and the preventative 
work underway to mitigate their impact. This preventative work included the 
use of sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) as well as work with land 
managers to mitigate run-off from agricultural and other land in rural areas.   

 
(3) Mr Gough reiterated Mr Payne’s thanks to the Highways staff and said he had 

received positive feedback regarding the authority’s response to localised 
flooding from residents.  Miss Carey referred to the water garden in 
Folkestone and the SUDS in Tenterden, which had been integrated into the 
landscaping of a new housing development.   

 
(4) Max Tant (Flood and Water Manager) provided further detailed information 

about integrated solutions that delivered multiple benefits such as reducing 
water run-off from third party land, supporting sustainable land practice, and 
contributing to the quality of the environment.  He said work was underway 
with partners across the county, particularly in relation to SUDS on new 
developments, and with land managers.  

 
(5) Several members thanked Earl Bourner and his team for their response to 

incidents of localised flooding and supported the work underway to mitigate 
flooding.    

 
(6) Resolved that:  
 

(a) the impact of the storms and Kent County Council’s immediate operational 
response be noted  

Page 6



 

 

 

(b) a further report outlining the wide range of options for flood mitigation 
plans and proposals be brought to a meeting of this Cabinet in the early 
autumn. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CABINET 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet held virtually at 11:45am on Monday, 29 June 
2020. 
 
PRESENT: Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Mrs C Bell, Miss S J Carey, Mrs S Chandler, 
Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr R L H Long, TD, Mr P J Oakford, Mr M D Payne, 
Mrs S Prendergast and Mr M Whiting 
 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Collins (Director of Integrated Children's Services (West 
Kent and Early Help and Preventative Services Lead)), Mr M Dunkley CBE 
(Corporate Director for Children Young People and Education) and Mr B Watts 
(General Counsel) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
150. Chairman's Introduction  
(Item 1) 
 
Mr Gough set out the reasons for the meeting of Cabinet today. He said that the 
Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on 23rd June 2020, had carried a motion, by 6 
votes to 5 with 1 abstention, to refer the key decision 20/00017 regarding the NEETs 
Support Service to Cabinet for re-consideration and discussion with the Lead 
Member with a view to confirming, rescinding or amending that decision.   The 
Scrutiny Committee had also asked that the decision-maker provide a written 
statement of the re-considered decision to all Members of the Council. Mr Gough 
said that the implications on the timescales for the implementation of the decision 
had an impact on the current contract, which was scheduled to end on 30th 
September 2020 and there was a need  therefore to provide clarity for the provider 
organisation, its staff and the young people accessing the current NEET service.  He 
also referred to the potential for activity to pick up when schools returned in 
September and the importance that any transitions for staff employed under the 
current contract and young people supported by the current provider were robustly 
managed. Mr Gough concluded by saying that the meeting of Cabinet today had 
been arranged to enable it to consider, debate and review the decision in a timely 
manner.  
 
151. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 2) 
 
No apologies for absence were received.  
 
152. Declaration of Interests by Member in Items on the Agenda for this 
meeting  
(Item 3) 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Page 9



 

 

153. Scrutiny Committee Request for Review of Decision 20/00017 
(Recommissioning of Early Help Services)  
(Item 4) 
 
(1) Mr Gough invited Mrs Chandler (Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s 

Services) to introduce the item.  Mrs Chandler said that the Scrutiny 
Committee’s discussion had focussed on the process followed in making the 
decision. The needs of the young people of Kent, who needed the service, 
were foremost in her consciousness when she was making the decision.  
Three options had been considered which were firstly to make a short 
extension to the existing contract, secondly to bring the service in-house and 
provide it through The Education People (TEP) or thirdly to procure a new 
contract through a competitive tendering process.  The second option was 
preferred as the first option could not include the cohort of young people with 
disabilities or special educational needs. One of the key findings of the 
Ofsted/CQC inspection of SEND Services in March 2020 was that education 
services for children with disabilities were not joined up. In addition, it was 
considered that, although CxK (the current provider) and TEP could submit 
bids in a competitive tendering process under option 3, the benefits of option 
2, where Teckal rules applied, outweighed the benefits of testing the market 
again.  

 
(2) Mrs Chandler said it had been anticipated that the proposed decision would 

have been discussed at the Children, Young People and Education Cabinet 
Committee (CYPE) scheduled for May 2020 and the papers would have been 
published at the end of April.  This meeting had been cancelled and the 
papers were not published until 13 May in accordance with the pre-Proposed 
Record of Decision process established in response to the coronavirus 
pandemic.  CxK had been advised in September 2019 and in January 2020 
that the contract would terminate on 30 September 2020 and had been 
advised of the delay to the decision-making process in April 2020.  

 
(3) Stuart Collins (Director of Integrated Children’s Services) said he would focus 

on answering questions and concerns raised at the Scrutiny Committee 
meeting on 23 June 2020.  In addressing the Committee’s concerns about 
transparency in the decision-making process, he said that CxK had been 
informed, in writing, in September 2019 about a proposed contract extension 
with the current contract ending on 30 September 2020.  Further discussion 
with CxK took place during routine, formal contract management meetings and 
CxK were advised again in January 2020 that the existing contract would end 
in September 2020.  Notice of the forthcoming decision was published in 
February 2020 and it had been planned that a report on the proposed decision 
relating to the delivery of the NEET service would be presented at the CYPE 
meeting in May with the papers for that meeting being published at the end of 
April.  He reiterated the points made by Mrs Chandler about the impact of the 
Covid-19 restrictions on the decision-making process including the fact that  
papers relating to the decision were not published until May.  No additional 
information was provided to CxK at that time because a decision had not been 
made about whether to utilise Teckal regulations or to undertake a 
procurement exercise. If a decision was subsequently made to tender for the 
service, the provision of such information might have been interpreted as 
conferring an unfair advantage on the existing provider. 

Page 10



 

 

 
(4) Mr Collins then addressed concerns raised by the Scrutiny Committee that the 

decision not to go down the route of open procurement had created the 
impression that a decision had been made to bring the NEET Support Service, 
provided by CxK, in-house without considering the alternatives and without 
consultation.  He said that there were two principal factors, strategic 
importance and operational importance, to be considered in deciding whether 
a service should be provided in-house or outsourced.  The provision of a 
NEET Service scored highly on both factors which suggested the services 
should be delivered in-house.  He further said that integrating the service 
within the school improvement strategy led by the TEP School Improvement 
team would facilitate a joined-up approach to the prevention of young people 
becoming NEETS and a smooth transition, without a gap in service, could be 
achieved by using Teckal.  

 
(5) In response to the Scrutiny Committee’s view that the service provided by CxK 

was effective and well-regarded, Mr Collins said it was widely acknowledged 
that was the case.  However, overall NEET figures had increased, and some 
vulnerable groups did not access the service.  Furthermore, in order to include 
young people with a SEND diagnosis, and those who were just below the 
threshold of diagnosis, a variation in contract would be needed and, as one 
variation had already taken place, such action would be open to challenge.   

 
(6) In response to the Scrutiny Committee’s concerns about the ability of TEP to 

meet additional demand for the NEET Service, Mr Collins said that a reduction 
in ESF/ESFA funding had resulted in  a loss of 80 places for young people 
who were NEETs. However, the co-ordinated approach of the 
Interdependencies group and the district NEET meetings led by TEP as well 
as TEP’s strong relationships with Kent schools, FE colleges and training 
providers had minimised the impact of the funding cuts.  TEP’s approach to its 
role, as the strategic lead for NEETs within the county, had enabled partners 
to come together to streamline processes and solve problems.  

 
(7) Mr Collins concluded by saying that: TEP was already the strategic lead for 

NEETS; there was a need to improve the offer to NEET young people with 
diagnosed and undiagnosed SEND; and it would be advantageous for young 
people if the service could be provided seamlessly.  He reiterated his earlier 
points that:  
(a) it was not possible to vary or extend the existing contract 
(b) as the NEET service was of high strategic and operational importance 

to the authority it should be retained in-house   
(c) as the requirements of Teckal had been met, the contract for the 

service could be awarded to TEP without the need for a public 
procurement.  

 
(8) Cabinet Members supported the decision and were satisfied of the need for a 

new contract for the NEETs service to enable it to work across all cohorts of 
young people, and that bringing the service in-house and the use of Teckal 
regulations was appropriate.  In response to Members’ concerns, Mrs 
Chandler confirmed the authority’s commitment to support the voluntary 
sector, particularly at this time, and confirmed that the decision to provide the 
service in-house did not impact the viability of CxK. In response to a further 

Page 11



 

 

question, Mr Watts (General Counsel) said the Scrutiny Committee had raised 
reasonable concerns about process and potential prejudice to the provider, 
however, he was satisfied that the decision made by the Cabinet Member was 
reasonable and lawful.  He also said it would be worth conducting a separate 
review to identify whether lessons could be learned and to understand how a 
service provider could feel aggrieved although all constitutional and legal 
process had been followed.   

 
(9) RESOLVED that decision 20/00017 be confirmed, and the Cabinet Member be 

asked to make a written statement of the reconsidered decision to be sent to 
all Members of the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



From: Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Traded  
Services, Peter Oakford 
Corporate Director of Finance, Zena Cooke 

To:   Cabinet, 20 July 2020 

Subject:  Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report – May 2020-21  

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:  

The attached report outlines the new budget monitoring format and sets out the revenue 
and capital budget monitoring position as at May 2020-21 excluding and including the 
impact of Covid 19. 

Recommendation(s):   

Cabinet is asked to: 

a) Note the new budget monitoring report format that increases the accessibility of the 
information contained in the report. 

b) Note the forecast Revenue and Capital monitoring position. 

c) Note the way we are monitoring the financial impact of Covid-19. 

d) Note and agree Revenue budget adjustments 

e) Note and agree Capital budget adjustments. 

f)  Note and agree the addition of two new fully funded schemes to the capital programme. 

g) Note the Prudential Indicators report. 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The 2020-21 budget monitoring report is being presented in a new format to improve 
the accessibility of the information. Key information is presented to the left of the 
report and detail is provided on the right.  The reason behind this presentation is to 
make it easier for the reader, to provide clearer information and to highlight the most 
important messages.  

 
1.2 The new format also takes account of the inclusion of the financial information related 

to the impact of responding to the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
1.3 For ease of reference, the revenue and capital position are reported together in the 

sections that set out the overall position and those sections that set out the 
directorate positions. It is important that the reporting style and approach are 
consistent across the council.   

  
2  Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report – May 2020-21 
 
2.1 The attached report sets out the overall forecast position as at 31 May 2020-21, 

which excluding Covid-19 for revenue and capital is an overspend of +£14.6m and an 
underspend on capital of -£48.0m respectively.  The report also sets out the Covid-19 
related financial position which takes account of estimated risks, resulting in a total 
estimated spend and loss of income of £117.6m. The Covid-19 Financial Support 
grant totals £66.9m, leaving a funding shortfall of £50.7m.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 3.  Recommendation(s) 

Cabinet is asked to: 

a) Note the new budget monitoring report format that increases the accessibility of the 
information contained in the report. 

b) Note the forecast Revenue and Capital monitoring position. 

c) Note the way we are monitoring the financial impact of Covid-19. 

d) Note and agree Revenue budget adjustments 

e) Note and agree Capital budget adjustments. 

f)  Note and agree the addition of two new fully funded schemes to the capital programme. 

g) Note the Prudential Indicators report.  

4. Contact details 

Report Author Relevant Director 

Emma Feakins 
Chief Accountant 
03000 416082 
Emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk 

Zena Cooke 
Corporate Director Finance  
03000 419205 
Zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 
 

 

Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 
& Forecast Outturn 2020-21 
May 2020-21 

 

 
 

By Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, Peter Oakford 
Corporate Director of Finance, Zena Cooke 
Corporate Directors 

 
To Cabinet – 20 July 2020 

 
Unrestricted 

 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

Section 
1 Introduction 
2 Recommendations 
3 Revenue & Capital Positions 
4 Covid-19 
5 Adult Social Care & Health 
6 Children, Young People & Education 
7 Growth, Environment & Transport 
8 Strategic & Corporate Services 
9 Financing Items & Unallocated 

10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
11 Revenue Budget Changes 
12 Capital Budget Changes 

 
Appendices 

A1 Revenue Variances Table 
A2 Revenue Budget Changes Table 
A3 Monitoring of Prudential Indicators 

 

 
 

Contact Details 
Corporate Director of Finance – Zena Cooke 03000 419 205 | zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk 
Head of Finance Operations – Cath Head 03000 416 934 | cath.head@kent.gov.uk 
Chief Accountant – Emma Feakins 03000 416 082 | emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk 
Capital Finance Manager – Jo Lee 03000 416 939 | joanna.lee@kent.gov.uk 
Capital Finance Manager – Julie Samson 03000 416 950 | julie.samson@kent.gov.uk 

Page 15

mailto:zena.cooke@kent.gov.uk
mailto:cath.head@kent.gov.uk
mailto:emma.feakins@kent.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.lee@kent.gov.uk
mailto:julie.samson@kent.gov.uk


1 Introduction 
 

  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

 
 

This report provides the budget monitoring position up to 31 May 2020-21 for both Revenue and Capital budgets, 
and what we’re doing to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Also included are revenue and capital budget 
adjustments which require Cabinet approval. 

 

1.1        We’ve  improved  the  clarity  of 
the  report.    Key  information  is 
on the left, detail is on the right, 
in grey 

 
All figures are in millions, to one 
decimal place, unless otherwise 
stated 

This report uses the following key abbreviations and colours: 

ASCH Adult Social Care & Health 

CYPE Children, Young People & Education 
 

GET Growth, Environment & Transport 
 

S&CS Strategic & Corporate Services 
 

FI&U Financing Items & Unallocated 
 

SDB Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 

1.2      The  Covid-19  pandemic  has 
impacted on the way we are 
monitoring the budget this year 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on the way the Council 
works.   It’s important for us to understand and report on the financial 
effect of Covid-19 and for us to monitor against the emergency funding 
the government has provided.  Alongside a dedicated section on Covid-19 
in this report, we are showing two variance figures in all Directorate and 
Key Service summaries, excluding and including the impact of Covid-19. 

 

1.3      The Revenue forecast is an 
overspend of £14.6m excluding 
Covid-19. 

 
The Revenue forecast is an 
overspend of £67.0m if future 
risks are included. 

The largest variance is +£7.7m in CYPE, with overspends also forecast in 
ASCH (+£3.8m), GET (+£0.9m) and S&CS (+£2.5m).  FI&U is forecasting a 
small underspend of -£0.3m. 
 
The Covid-19 related variance including future risks is £52.4m. 

 

1.4     The Capital forecast is an 
underspend of £48.0m excluding 
Covid-19 

The  underspend  is  made  up  of  -£0.9m  real  and  -£47.1m  rephasing 
variance. This represents 9.7% of the capital budget. 
 
The largest real variance is -£1.6m in CYPE, with overspends forecast in 
ASCH (+£0.2m) and GET (+£0.5m). 
 
The major rephasing variances are -£26.2m in GET and -£19.9m in CYPE. 

 
1.5 Schools’ Delegated Budgets are 

reporting a £30.5m overspend 
The overspend position of +£30.5m reflects the impact of high demand 
and high cost per child of High Needs Placements. 

Page 16



2 Recommendations 
 

 
 

Cabinet is asked to: 
 

 

2.1 Note the forecast Revenue and 
Capital monitoring position 

The  current forecast overspend on  the Revenue budget needs  to be 
eliminated to ensure we achieve a balanced budget by the year end. 

 

 

2.2 Note the way we are monitoring 
the financial impact of Covid-19 

Please refer to Section 4 for details. 

 

 

2.3 Note and agree Revenue budget 
adjustments 

Please refer to Section 11 and Appendix 2 for details. 

 

 

2.4 Note and agree Capital budget 
adjustments 

Please refer to Section 12 for details. 

 

 

2.5 Note and agree the addition of 
two new fully funded schemes to 
the capital programme 

Both schemes are in the GET directorate - Green Corridors and Manston 
Green. They have been reviewed by the Capital Officer Group and are 
recommended for inclusion in the capital programme. Please refer to 
Section 12 for details. 

 

 

2.6 Note the Prudential Indicators 
report 

Please refer to Appendix 3. 

Page 17



Revenue Variance +£14.6m overspend 
Capital Variance -£48.0m underspend 3 Revenue & Capital Positions 

 

 
 

The revenue monitoring position is showing a variance of +£14.6m excluding Covid-19 and it is not unusual at this 
early stage in the financial year to be forecasting an overspend.  However due to Covid-19 there are further 
financial challenges that we need to overcome this year.   The capital monitoring position is -£48.0m of which 
£47.1m relates to rephasing of projects. 

 

 

3.1       There is a variance of +£14.6m on 
the 2020-21 revenue budget 
excluding Covid-19 

+£7.7m of this variance is within CYPE of which +£5.2m is in Looked 
After Children – Care & Support. +£3.8m in ASCH predominantly due to 
demand and higher weekly cost for supported living across all client 
groups.     +£2.5m  in  S&CS  of  which  +£2.1m  relates  to  Corporate 
Landlord. 

 

 

3.2      The use of the Covid-19 Financial 
Support Grant has been shown in 
the Revenue Variance table 

The Covid-19 Financial Support Grant (£65.2m for 2020-21) will be 
allocated to Directorates as part of the Budget Amendment referred to 
in Section 3.4. 
 
For the purposes of this report, the Reserve has been fully allocated to 
the Revenue Budget, and therefore shows a variance of +£11.2m.  The 
+£4.5m in the Capital Variance table on the following page makes the 
total +£15.7m referred to the Covid-19 Funding Summary table in 
Section 4. 

 

 

3.3       There is a variance of -£48.0m on 
the 2020-21 capital budget 
excluding Covid-19 

This  is  made  up  of  -£0.9m  real  variance  and  -£47.1m  rephasing 
variance.  Headline variances are detailed in the relevant directorate 
sections.   As at the end of May 2020 there are no actual costs on 
capital projects in relation to Covid-19. 

Page 18



Revenue Variance +£14.6m overspend 
Capital Variance -£48.0m underspend 3 Revenue & Capital Positions 

 

 

 
 

Revenue Variance 
 

 

 
Directorate 

Revenue 
Budget 

£m 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

£m 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

 

Adult Social Care & Health 
 

398.8 
 

+3.8 
 

29.4 
 

+33.2 

Children, Young People & Education 273.7 +7.7 14.1 +21.8 

 

Growth, Environment & Transport 
 

179.1 
 

+0.9 
 

9.1 
 

+10.0 

 

Strategic & Corporate Services 
 

83.4 
 

+2.5 
 

14.0 
 

+16.5 

Financing Items & Unallocated 156.6 -0.3 9.8 +9.6 

 1,091.6 +14.6 76.4 +91.0 
 

Removal of underspends not included in MHCLG return   
 

21.5 
 

+21.5 

 

Additional Covid-19 risks identified in MHCLG return   
 

19.7 
 

+19.7 

 

Covid-19 Financial Support Grant    
 

-65.2 

   117.6 +67.0 
 

Schools' Delegated Budgets 
 

0.0 
 

+30.5 
 

0.0 
 

+30.5 

 1,091.6 +45.1 117.6 +97.5 

 
 
 

The biggest Key Service variances in the directorate are as follows, in numerical order: 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Older People – 
Community Based 

Services 
(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.4m Demand for homecare for 
older people has increased 

Client numbers for older people receiving homecare 
began to increase in January 2020 (which since March 
could be a correlation with the decrease in demand for 
residential and nursing care). When the costs of care for 
these new service users are projected forward for the 
full twelve months of 2020-21, there is a significant 
increase to the forecast creating a pressure over and 
above our original predictions when budget setting. 
It appears that older people are remaining in their own 
homes due to Covid-19 and have received increased 
levels of support at home rather than perhaps moving 
to a residential setting. Our forecast position also 
includes an assumption of demographic pressures 
increasing client numbers throughout the year. 

Page 19



Revenue Variance +£14.6m overspend 
Capital Variance -£48.0m underspend 3 Revenue & Capital Positions 

 

 
 

Adult Learning Disability - 
Community Based 

Services & Support for 
Carers 

 
Adult Mental Health - 

Community Based 
Services 

 
Adult Physical Disability - 

Community Based 
Services 

 
(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.0m 
 
 
 
 
 
+£1.3m 
 

 
 
 
+£1.2m 

Younger service users prefer 
to remain at home with 
increased support 

Younger working age adults are now more likely to 
maintain their independence at home with support, 
rather than entering registered care settings. 
The impact of this is that the demand for supported 
living (including supporting independence services (SIS)) 
is increasing rapidly, along with complex care needs. 
The closure of day centres during the pandemic is also 
contributing to higher levels of support being provided 
at home. 
 
The combined overspend for SIS across all client groups 
is +£4.9m and demand is greater than anticipated. 

 
SIS is seeing growth in new clients and increasing 
provision of care for existing service users, resulting in 
higher than anticipated individual care costs. The 
directorate is investigating whether enhancing existing 
care packages with SIS is the most efficient way of 
meeting the care needs of clients who remain in their 
own homes. 

 

 
Older People – Residential 

Care Services 
(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

-£4.8m Fewer older people are 
being admitted into 
residential and nursing care 

In the first few weeks of the financial year there have 
been fewer admissions. We believe that this is driven by 
advice that vulnerable older people should be safer 
isolating in their own homes at this time. 
 
In addition, the number of deaths are higher than 
anticipated for this time of the year. 

 
Our forecast includes an expectation that admissions 
into care will rise again later in the year as the situation 
with the pandemic improves. 

 

 

Looked After Children – 
Care & Support 

(Integrated Children’s Services) 

+£5.2m High cost of externally 
purchased placements for 
Looked After Children (LAC) 
due to shortage of KCC 
foster carers 

In 2019-20, there was a significant rise in the number of 
externally purchased placements for LAC, particularly 
with independent fostering agencies.  Over the last few 
years, the service has seen an increasing shortage of 
suitable KCC foster carers resulting in greater reliance 
on the external market.  This includes the rising use of 
residential care and semi-independent placements. 
 
This overspend was identified as a risk in the 2020-21 
Budget.  Work is progressing to reverse the trend and is 
reflected in the recent stabilisation of the number of 
KCC foster carers, however the historic legacy has 
resulted in the overspend of +£5.2m. 

 
We’re also investigating the full impact of the knock-on 
effect this is having on the Care Leavers service where 
children transition to the service in higher cost 
placements. 

Page 20



Revenue Variance +£14.6m overspend 
Capital Variance -£48.0m underspend 3 Revenue & Capital Positions 

 

 

 
 

Capital Variance 
 

Directorate Capital 
Budget 

£m 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

Real 
Variance 

£m 

Rephasing 
Variance 

£m 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

£m 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

 

Adult Social Care & Health 
 

4.2 
 

-0.7 
 

0.2 
 

-0.9 
 

0.0 
 

-0.7 

Children, Young People & Education 206.4 -21.6 -1.6 -20.0 4.4 -17.1 

Growth, Environment & Transport 212.5 -25.7 0.5 -26.2 0.0 -25.7 

Strategic & Corporate Services 
 

71.5 
 

-0.1 
 

0.0 
 

-0.1 
 

0.1 
 

+0.0 

 494.7 -48.0 -0.9 -47.1 4.5 -43.5 

Page 21



4 Covid-19 
 

 
 

We’re forecasting to spend £82.6m in response to Covid-19, with £80.9m of the spend in 2020-21. We’ve received 
£66.9m from the Government. A further £41.2m of additional Covid related risks have also been identified, taking 
the total to £117.6m.   The shortfall between the grant and our estimated revenue spend is £50.7m. More 
Government funding has been announced but we don’t have details of how much we might get. 

 

 

4.1 £15.7m of Covid-19 related 
spend is currently unfunded. 

The Covid-19 related spend is across all directorates, but the largest area 
of spend is in ASCH.  The revenue forecast has been split between several 
categories in the Covid-19 Revenue Forecasts table below.  The narrative 
for these forecasts is in the directorate sections of this report.  These 
figures are estimates and are likely to change as we progress through the 
year. 

 

 

4.2         £41.2m      additional      Covid-19 
related  risks  have  been 
estimated, taking the total spend 
to £117.6m. 

The total Covid-19 related spend reported in the June return to 
Government was £117.6m. This includes potential future risks of £19.7m. 
In addition, the £117.6m does not include the underspends currently 
included in this monitoring report as it is still very early in the year to be 
confident that these underspends will continue to the year end. This is 
particularly the case as no allowance has been made for any further 
outbreaks  or  for  a  longer  recession.  It  also  excludes  the  anticipated 
capital costs of £4.5m. 

 

 

4.3 We’re estimating additional 
capital costs of around £4.5m 

The anticipated impact from Covid-19 on capital will be a mixture of 
rephasing due to contractors not having been on site for the first few 
weeks of the financial year, and cost overruns.   Initial indications show 
that the majority of the Covid-19 impact relates to overspends in the 
construction of schools. 

 

 

4.4         Emergency   funding   of   £66.9m 
has been provided by the 
Government 

In March and April 2020, the government provided £39m and £27.9m 
respectively of Covid-19 Financial Support Grant.   £1.7m was spent in 
2019-20, with the remaining £65.2m transferred into a Covid-19 Reserve. 
This reserve will be exhausted during 2020-21. 

 

 

4.5         We’re   amending   the   2020-21 
budget at September County 
Council 

The budget approved in February 2020 is being amended. The 
amendment will include the allocation of the Covid-19 Financial Support 
Grant to the Key Service lines affected. 

 

 

4.6         The shortfall between the grant 
and the total Covid-19 revenue 
spend is £50.7m 

The Financial Support Grant of £66.9m is not sufficient to cover the total 
Covid-19  related  revenue  and  capital  spend  and  loss  of  income  of 
£117.6m  and  leaves  a  shortfall  in  revenue  funding  of  £50.7m  and  a 
further shortfall in capital funding of £4.5m. 

 

 

4.7 The Government has announced 
four other specific grants 

We  are  expected  to  receive  four  additional  grants  to  support  the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  These are specific, ring-fenced grants, Test & Trace 
Grant (for Public Health), Adult Social Care Infection Control Grant, NHS 
Hospital Discharge Claim (for ASCH) and a Subsidised Buses Grant (for 
Transport).  These  grants  do  not  affect  or  reduce  the  £80.9m  Covid 
related spend as they are being spent on other things. 

Page 22



4 Covid-19 
 

 

 
 

Covid-19 Funding Summary (19-20 and 20-21) 
 

Financial Support Spend in Spend in Remaining Total Variance 
Grant Funding 2019-20 2020-21 so far Forecast Forecast  

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

66.9 1.7 21.2 59.7 82.6 +15.7 
 
 
 

Covid-19 Forecasts (20-21) 
 

ASCH 
£m 

CYPE 
£m 

GET 
£m 

S&CS 
£m 

FI&U 
£m 

Total 
£m 

 

 
Revenue Forecasts 

 

Actual spend 6.8 16.4 3.3 12.7 39.2 
 

Underspends -16.5 -4.7 -0.2 -21.5 
 

Loss of income 0.3 4.1 5.3 1.5 7.8 19.0 
 

Unrealised savings 2.6 1.3 0.3 2.0 6.1 
 

One off payments to the market 19.7 3.1 0.2 23.0 
 

Payments for undelivered variable fee services 5.7 4.8 10.5 
 

Capital Forecasts 
 

Actual spend 4.4 0.1 4.5 
 

29.4 18.5 9.1 14.1 9.8 80.9 
 

Removal of underspends not included in MHCLG return 16.5 4.7 0.2 21.5 
 

Removal of capital forecast not included in MHCLG return -4.4 -0.1 -4.5 
 

Additional Covid-19 risks identified in MHCLG return 19.7 
 

Total Covid-19 related spend 117.6 
 

Less Covid-19 Financial Support Grant -66.9 
 

Revenue shortfall 50.7 
 

Capital shortfall 4.5 

Page 23



4 Covid-19 
 

 
 

Details of the forecasts in the table above can be found in the relevant directorate pages, but the key ones are 
here: 

 
 

4.6 
 

£6.8m actual spend in ASCH 
 

The  cost  of supporting  additional  demand for services resulting from 

 Covid-19, including: equipment for supporting clients in the community; 
additional  care  packages  for  after  hospital  discharge  (residential  and 
community care); increases in bad debt; essential system improvements; 
and domestic abuse. 

 

4.7 £19.7m one off payments to the 
market in ASCH 

Providing financial support to social care providers for increased costs 
and to support their financial stability during the pandemic. 

 
 

4.8 
 

£12.7m actual spend in S&CS 
 

Additional council-wide costs including: the provision of PPE and sanitiser 

 across all the Council's services; additional staffing to handle increased 
call volumes in the KCC contact centre; and additional ICT infrastructure 
to enable staff to work from home, such as laptops and licenses for A2K 
and Microsoft Teams. 
£1.1m  relates  to  Public  Health  made  up  of  support  to  the  voluntary 
sector, additional capacity for mental health services, and provision of 
alternative pharmaceutical services, including phone triage and a home 
delivery service for pregnant smokers and emergency contraception. 

 

4.9 -£16.5m underspend in CYPE Reduction in the demand for home to school/college transport and early 
years free entitlement provision during lockdown. 

 

 

4.10 £7.8m loss of income in FI&U Reduction  in  income  as  a  result  of  Covid-19  through  the  retained 
business rate levy, LATCO dividends, and investment income. 

Page 24



Revenue Variance +£3.8m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.7m underspend 5 Adult Social Care & Health 

 

 

 
 

Revenue 
 

The ASCH directorate is currently forecasting a revenue variance excluding Covid-19 of +£3.8m.  Most relates to 
service users receiving packages of care in their own home.  Covid-19 is changing the type of services we provide 
as older people remain at home instead of entering care homes 

 
Demand  for  supported  living for  all client groups is higher  than  budgeted and  at  higher weekly cost.    This 
increased demand continues a trend we saw towards the end of last year. 

 
Similarly, residential and nursing costs for learning disability, mental health and physical disability are all seeing 
increased demand and higher unit costs. 

 
The new ‘Care and Support in the Home’ and residential contracts for this service group went live in June 2020.  It 
is anticipated that there will be a reduced unit cost as we move towards having more clients with contracted 
providers. 

 

 

A summary table at Key Service Level can be found in Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 

Revenue Variance by Division 
 

Division Revenue 
Budget 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

 £m £m £m £m 

 

Adult Social Care & Health Operations 
 

367.0 
 

+8.3 
 

4.7 
 

+13.0 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 19.1 -2.1 20.5 +18.4 

Business Delivery 7.9 -1.6 2.9 +1.3 

Strategic Safeguarding, Practice and Quality Assurance 4.8 -0.8 1.3 +0.4 

 398.3 +3.8 29.4 +33.2 

Covid-19 Financial Support Grant   -25.1 -25.1 

   +4.3 +8.1 

 
 

The biggest Key Service variances in the directorate are as follows, in numerical order: 
 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 
Older People – 

Community Based 
Services 

(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.4m Demand for homecare for 
older people has increased 

Client numbers for older people receiving homecare 
began to increase in January 2020 (which since March 
could be a correlation with the decrease in demand for 
residential and nursing care). When the costs of care for 
these new service users are projected forward for the 
full  twelve  months of  2020-21, there  is  a  significant 

Page 25



Revenue Variance +£3.8m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.7m underspend 5 Adult Social Care & Health 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

increase to the forecast creating a pressure over and 
above our original predictions when budget setting. 
It appears that older people are remaining in their own 
homes due to Covid-19 and have received increased 
levels of support at home rather than perhaps moving 
to a residential setting. Our forecast position also 
includes an assumption of demographic pressures 
increasing client numbers throughout the year. 

 

 
Adult Learning Disability - 

Community Based 
Services & Support for 

Carers 

 
Adult Mental Health - 

Community Based 
Services 

 
Adult Physical Disability - 

Community Based 
Services 

 
(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

+£2.0m 
 
 
 
 
 
+£1.3m 
 

 
 
 
+£1.2m 

Younger service users prefer 
to remain at home with 
increased support 

Younger working age adults are now more likely to 
maintain their independence at home with support, 
rather than entering registered care settings. 
The impact of this is that the demand for supported 
living (including supporting independence services (SIS)) 
is increasing rapidly, along with complex care needs. 
The closure of day centres during the pandemic is also 
contributing to higher levels of support being provided 
at home. 
 
The  combined  overspends  for  SIS  across  all  client 
groups is +£4.9m and demand is greater than 
anticipated. 
 
SIS is seeing growth in new clients and increasing 
provision of care for existing service users, resulting in 
higher than anticipated individual care costs. The 
directorate is investigating whether enhancing existing 
care packages with SIS is the most efficient way of 
meeting the care needs of clients who remain in their 
own homes. 

 

 
Older People – Residential 

Care Services 
(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

-£4.8m Fewer older people are 
being admitted into 
residential and nursing care 

In the first few weeks of the financial year there have 
been fewer admissions. We believe that this is driven by 
advice that vulnerable older people should be safer 
isolating in their own homes at this time. 
 
In addition, the number of deaths are higher than 
anticipated for this time of the year. 

 
Our forecast includes an expectation that admissions 
into care will rise again later in the year as the situation 
with the pandemic improves. 

 

 

Strategic Management & 
Directorate Budgets 

-£2.1m Additional Better Care Fund 
(BCF) grant funding and 
management action to 
reduce overspend 

The £2.1m underspend is a combination of £0.7m 
additional   BCF   grant   funding,   £1.0m   management 
action to reduce the directorate overspend and a 
number of small underspends totalling £0.4m. 

 
Further work is being undertaken to develop the 
management action and an update will be provided in 
the next monitoring report. 

Page 26



Revenue Variance +£3.8m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.7m underspend 5 Adult Social Care & Health 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Business Delivery Unit -£1.6m Some funds are held 
centrally to distribute later 
in the year. 

 

-£1.3m  of  the  underspend  relates  to  centrally  held 
funds still to be allocated which cover underlying 
pressures already recognised within the forecast. These 
centrally held funds will be allocated later in the year 
when we can more clearly understand the effect of the 
current climate on the core client services. 

 

 

Adaptive & Assistive 
Technology 

(Strategic Safeguarding, Practice 
and Quality Assurance) 

-£0.7m The equipment service is 
continuing to deliver 
efficiencies 

The efficiencies within the procurement and running of 
this service reported in 2019-20 remain in place and are 
reflected in the 2020-21 position. 

 

 
Adult Learning Disability - 

Case Management & 
Assessment Service 

(Adult Social Care & 
Health Operations) 

-£0.5m There are difficulties in 
recruiting assessment staff 
during Covid-19 

This underspend is due to posts which received 
additional funding this year not yet being recruited to. 
This  level  of  vacancies  is  partly  due  to  recruitment 
issues during Covid-19. 

 

 
 
 

Capital 
 

The ASCH directorate is currently forecasting a capital variance excluding Covid-19 of -£0.7m, made up of a 
+£0.2m real and a -£0.9m rephasing variance.   As this is the first report of the year there are no previously 
reported variances. 

 

 

Real variances over £0.1m and rephasing variances over £1.0m are as follows: 
 
 

 
Project Real 

Variance 
Rephasing 

Variance 
Detail 

 

 

Adult Social Care Case Management +£0.2m It is proposed that this overspend is covered by the rolling 
budget reserve. 

Page 27



Revenue Variance +£3.8m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.7m underspend 5 Adult Social Care & Health 

 

 

 
 

Covid-19 Forecast 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

 

Actual spend (Revenue) 
 

£6.8m 
 

The cost of supporting additional demand for services resulting 

  from Covid-19, including: equipment for supporting clients in the 

  community; additional care packages for after hospital discharge 
(residential and community care); increases in bad debt; essential 

  system improvements; and domestic abuse. 

 

One off payments to the market 
 

£19.7m 
 

Providing financial support to social care providers for increased 

  costs and to support their financial stability during the pandemic. 

 

Unrealised savings 
 

£2.6m 
 

Non delivery of savings including Whole System Change due to 

  reprioritisation of resources to Covid-19 response and recovery. 

 

Loss of income 
 

£0.3m 
 

Relates  to  the  period  where  day  centres  have  had  to  remain 
closed, meaning that clients cannot be charged for those periods 

  

£29.4m 
 

Page 28



Revenue Variance +£7.7m overspend 
Capital Variance -£21.6m underspend 6 Children, Young People & Education 

 

 

 
 

Revenue 
 

The CYPE directorate is forecasting a revenue variance excluding Covid-19 of +£7.7m, predominantly in the 
Integrated Children’s Services division.  The forecast reflects several overspends from 2019-20 which are expected 
to continue in 2020-21. 

 

 

A summary table at Key Service Level can be found in Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 

Revenue Variance by Division 
 

Division Revenue 
Budget 

£m 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

£m 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

 

Integrated Children's Services 
 

152.9 
 

+5.3 
 

7.9 
 

+13.2 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 69.3 +1.2 0.1 +1.3 

Education 47.3 +0.9 6.1 +7.1 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 4.2 +0.2 0.0 +0.2 

 273.7 +7.7 14.1 +21.8 

 

Covid-19 Financial Support Grant   
 

-12.0 
 

-12.0 

   2.1 +9.8 

 
 

The biggest Key Service variances in the directorate are as follows, in numerical order: 
 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Looked After Children – 
Care & Support 

(Integrated Children’s Services) 

+£5.2m High cost of externally 
purchased placements for 
Looked After Children (LAC) 
due to shortage of KCC 
foster carers 

In 2019-20, there was a significant rise in the number of 
externally purchased placements for LAC, particularly 
with independent fostering agencies.  Over the last few 
years, the service has seen an increasing shortage of 
suitable KCC foster carers resulting in greater reliance 
on the external market.  This includes the rising use of 
residential care and semi-independent placements. 
 
This overspend was identified as a risk in the 2020-21 
Budget.  Work is progressing to reverse the trend and is 
reflected in the recent stabilisation of the number of 
KCC foster carers, however the historic legacy has 
resulted in the overspend of +£5.2m. 

 
We’re also investigating the full impact of the knock-on 

Page 29



Revenue Variance +£7.7m overspend 
Capital Variance -£21.6m underspend 6 Children, Young People & Education 

 

 
 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 
 

 

effect this is having on the Care Leavers service where 
children transition to the service in higher cost 
placements. 

 

 

Special Educational Needs 
& Psychology Services 

(Special Educational 
Needs & Disabilities) 

+£0.7m Demand for Education, 
Health & Care Plan (EHCP) 
assessments and support 

The initial forecast is an overspend of +£0.7m where 
the demand for EHCP assessments and associated 
ongoing support continues to rise.  This budget should 
be considered in conjunction with the Schools High 
Needs budget overspend. 

 

 

Adult Learning & Physical 
Disability Pathway – 

Residential 
Care/Community Based 

Services 
(Special Educational 
Needs & Disabilities) 

+£0.5m Increasing costs of 
supporting 18-25 year old 
young people with a 
disability 

There are a number of compensating variances across 
the 0-25 disability services suggesting a pressure of at 
least +£0.5m mainly resulting from the increasing cost 
of supporting 18-25 year olds. This is based on the 
pressures experienced in 2019-20. 

 

 

Other School Services 
(Education) 

+£0.4m Various schools related 
costs 

These costs include the installation, hire and removal of 
mobile classrooms to support the Basic Need 
Programme. 

 

 

Home to School & College 
Transport 
(Education) 

+£0.2m Cost of transporting children 
with Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) 

This is a continuing overspend arising from transporting 
children with SEN, linked more generally to the high 
demand for SEN services. 

 

 
Education Management & 

Division Support 
(Education) 

+£0.2m     Unachieved income targets        General income targets in relation to education services 
and  planning  resources  are  unlikely  to  be  achieved 
based on current estimates. 

 

 
Asylum 

(Integrated 
Children’s Services) 

£0.0m Breakeven position for 
2020-21 following Home 
Office announcement on 
funding rate changes. Prior 
year funding shortfall still an 
issue 

Over the last year, we have seen a significant rise in the 
number of UASC being supported, due to an increasing 
number of referrals, and the stopping of   the National 
Transfer Scheme previously used by the Home Office to 
encourage other local authorities to support UASC. The 
number of UASC is now similar to that experienced at 
the height of the 2015 crisis. 

 
The increase in the grant rate will help to ensure this 
rise in the number of UASC does not result in a shortfall 
in  funding  in  2020-21,  as  seen  in  previous  years 
however as the number of children continue to rise it is 
becoming increasingly difficult to place in the most cost 
effective  accommodation.  We  are  in  ongoing 
discussions with the Home office and the DfE in relation 
to both the high number of new arrivals and the impact 
of Covid-19 including the pressure to relaunch the 
National Transfer Scheme. Recently, other local 
authorities have indicated they will offer places but 
there is more work to be done. 

Page 30



Revenue Variance +£7.7m overspend 
Capital Variance -£21.6m underspend 6 Children, Young People & Education 

 

 
 
 
 

Capital 
 

The CYPE directorate is currently forecasting a capital variance excluding Covid-19 of -21.5m.  This is made up of a 
-£1.6m real and a -£19.9m rephasing variance.  The underspends predominately relate to Schools projects.  As this 
is the first report of the year there are no previously reported variances. 

 

 

Real variances over £0.1m and rephasing variances over £1.0m are as follows: 
 
 

 
Project Real 

Variance 
Rephasing 

Variance 
Detail 

 
 

Barton Court Free School 
 

-£11.6m 
 

This  is  a  Department  for  Education  (DfE)  project  being 
managed by KCC.  The delivery date has been pushed back 

 from September 2021 to September 2022 by the DfE. 

 

School Roofs 
 

-£1.6m 
 

-35.1m 
 

The rephasing is reflecting that construction will now start in 
21-22. 

   
 

The  real  variance  is  due  to  the  detailed  feasibilities  and 
costings having now taken place resulting in an expected 

   underspend. 

 

Priority School Build Programme 
  

-£1.7m 
 

This reflects the later planned construction start date. 

 

Nest 2 
  

-£1.6m 
 

Revenue funding for the  project is being sought and the 

   project initiation document is to be submitted to the NHS by 

   31 March 2021. 

Page 31



Revenue Variance +£7.7m overspend 
Capital Variance -£21.6m underspend 6 Children, Young People & Education 

 

 

 
 

Covid-19 Forecasts 
 
 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

 

Underspends 
 

-£16.5m 
 

Reduction in the demand for home to school/college transport and 

  early years free entitlement provision during lockdown. 

 

Actual spend (Revenue) 
 

£16.4m 
 

Additional   demand   across   a    range   of    services   including: 

  implementing  social  distancing  measures  for  home  to  school 

  transport; increased costs of placing looked after children due to 
reduced  availability  of  foster  care  provision  and  more  limited 

  movement  of  children,  initial  estimate  of  increased  demand 

  following the return of children from September; and additional 

  demand for  accommodation for  unaccompanied asylum  seeker 
children. 

 

Loss of income 
 

£4.1m 
 

Loss of income across a range of CYPE services during lockdown. 

 

Unrealised savings 
 

£1.3m 
 

Non delivery of service integration savings due to reprioritisation 

  of resources to Covid-19 response and recovery. 

 

One off payments to the market 
 

£3.1m 
 

Possible additional payments to Early Years providers to support 

  sustainability where there is a reduction in parental contributions. 

 

Payments for undelivered variable fee services 
 

£5.7m 
 

Payments to Home to School Transport providers to support their 

  financial stability during the pandemic. 

 

Actual spend (Capital) 
 

£4.4m 
 

Additional forecast costs relating to  construction delays due to 
Covid-19. 

  

£18.5m 
 

Page 32



Revenue Variance +£0.9m overspend 
Capital Variance -£25.7m underspend 7 Growth, Environment & Transport 

 

 

 
 

Revenue 
 

The GET directorate is currently forecasting a revenue variance excluding Covid-19 of +£0.9m, with forecast 
pressures of +£1.5m being partially offset by underspends of -£0.6m. 

 
The biggest variance is +£0.6m within the Highways, Transportation & Waste division, and most specifically in 
Waste Facilities & Recycling Centres.  There is a combined +£0.4m overspend across three budget lines; Highways, 
Transport & Waste Management Costs and Commercial Operations pressure; Highway Asset Management (Roads 
and Footways) and Highway Asset Management (Other) which are an accumulation of minor variances. 

 

 

A summary table at Key Service Level can be found in Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 

Revenue Variance by Division 
 

Division Revenue 
Budget 

£m 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

£m 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

£m 

 

Highways, Transportation & Waste 
 

147.1 
 

+0.6 
 

2.5 
 

+3.1 

Environment, Planning & Enforcement 17.0 +0.3 3.2 +3.5 

Libraries, Registration & Archives 9.1 -0.0 2.9 +2.9 

Economic Development 4.4 -0.0 0.4 +0.4 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 1.6 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

 179.1 +0.9 9.1 +10.0 

Covid-19 Financial Support Grant   -7.8 -7.8 

   1.3 +2.2 

 
 

The biggest Key Service variances in the directorate are as follows, in numerical order: 
 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Waste Facilities & 
Recycling Centres 

(Highways, Transportation 
& Waste) 

+£0.6m Overspend on Tonnage and 
price across many 
recycling contracts 

Recycling contract, mainly in Material Recycling Facility 
and the paper/card sale of recyclables income contract 
(+£0.6m), with income falling over the first quarter of 
the year.  The waste market is both volatile and cyclical, 
and income prices for paper, card and textiles have 
dropped, in part due to Covid-19 but in part due to six 
month update to industry prices that was prior to the 
outbreak but following approval of the budget. 
 
This has been offset in part by an underspend as the 
new Household Waste Recycling Centre at Allington will 

Page 33



Revenue Variance +£0.9m overspend 
Capital Variance -£25.7m underspend 7 Growth, Environment & Transport 

 

 
 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 
 

 

not be operational until next year (-£0.2m), meaning 
the additional running costs of this facility that were 
funded in 2020-21, can be deferred until 2021-22. 

 

 

Residual Waste 
(Highways, Transportation 

& Waste) 

-£0.4m     A positive price variance             The actual price charged is lower than the price used 
when  setting  the  budget in  January  2020  and  other 
small  underspends  help  to  mitigate  the  overspend 
above of +£0.6m.. 

 

 

Gypsy and 
Traveller Service 

(Environment, Planning & 
Enforcement) 

+£0.2m Shortfall in income target 
and unbudgeted legal costs 

The overspend due to the shortfall in the income target 
cannot be reduced until a new fee strategy has been 
developed and agreed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Capital 
 

The GET directorate is currently forecasting a capital variance excluding Covid-19 of -£25.7m.  This is made up of a 
+£0.5m real and -£26.2m rephasing variance.  The variances are predominantly within Highways, Transport and 
Waste and Economic Development.  As this is the first report of the year there are no previously reported 
variances. 

 

 

Real variances over £0.1m and rephasing variances over £1.0m are as follows: 
 
 

 
Project Real 

Variance 
Rephasing 

Variance 
Detail 

 

 

Kent & Medway Business fund 
(Economic Development) 

-£9.5m Rephasing reflects the estimated number of applications to 
be processed in the current financial year. 

 

 

National Productivity Investment 
Fund – Kent Medical Campus 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

-£3.8m The rephasing is due to delays relating to Covid-19. 

 

 

Maidstone Integrated Transport 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

-£3.4m     Covid-19   has   affected   the   ability   to   deliver   this   full 
programme as was initially expected and therefore some 
works will need to be rolled into future financial years. 

 

 

Fastrack Full Network – 
Bean Road Tunnels 

(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

-£2.3m     The funding agreements have taken longer than expected 
and Covid-19 has also slowed the agreement progress since 
March, and consequently the engagement of a contractor 
along with the design phase has been delayed. 

 

 

Dover Bus Rapid Transit 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

-£2.0m     KCC is the delivery partner of this project and any Covid-19 
impact will not be a risk to KCC, however the spend 
associated with the project has been re-profiled. 

Page 34



Revenue Variance +£0.9m overspend 
Capital Variance -£25.7m underspend 7 Growth, Environment & Transport 

 

 
 

Project Real 
Variance 

Rephasing 
Variance 

Detail 

 

 
Kent Thameside Strategic 

Transport Programme 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

+£0.2m           -£2.0m     The rephasing is due to the Thames Way project being put 
on hold pending the completion of the master planning in 
the area by Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (-£2.0m). 

 
The real variance is due to interest earned on programme 
funds which is a condition of the funding (+0.2m). 

 

 

Integrated Transport Schemes 
(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

+£0.3m Various new externally funded schemes to  be  funded by 
developer contributions and other external funding. 

 

 

Kent Strategic 
Congestion Management 

(Highways, Transportation & Waste) 

+£0.1m This project has had a successful Kent Lane Rental bid for 
the renovation of traffic lights in the Dover area. 

 
 
 
 
 

Covid-19 Forecasts 
 
 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

 

Actual spend (Revenue) 
 

£3.3m 
 

Additional service provision for emergency mortuary provision and 

  associated staffing costs, registration services. 

 

Underspends 
 

-£4.7m 
 

Public Transport costs eligible for Government grant, reductions in 

  Waste  tonnage  during  lockdown,  delay  in  new  highways  term 
maintenance contract. 

 

Loss of income 
 

£5.3m 
 

Income Loss including Kent Travel Saver, libraries, registration, and 
country parks. 

 

Unrealised savings 
 

£0.3m 
 

Delay in awarding of a new food waste contract. 

 

Market sustainability – one off payments 
 

£0.2m 
 

Support to maintain financial stability in the Waste sector. 

 

Payments for undelivered variable fee services 
 

£4.8m 
 

Support to maintain financial stability mainly in public transport. 

  

£9.1m 
 

Page 35



Revenue Variance +£2.5m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.1m underspend 8 Strategic & Corporate Services 

 

 

 
 

Revenue 
 

The S&CS directorate is currently forecasting a revenue variance excluding Covid-19 of +£2.5m, with directorate 
net overspend of +£0.3m being increased by an overspend of +£2.1m within the Corporate Landlord estate. 

 

 

A summary table at Key Service Level can be found in Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 

Revenue Variance by Division 
 

Division Revenue 
Budget 

Variance excl. 
Covid-19 

Covid-19 
Forecast 

Variance incl. 
Covid-19 

 £m £m £m £m 

 

Infrastructure 
 

22.2 
 

+0.1 
 

4.3 
 

+4.4 

Corporate Landlord 21.8 +2.1 2.9 +5.0 

People & Communication 13.1 +0.0 0.8 +0.9 

Finance 10.1 +0.1 0.0 +0.1 

Strategic Commissioning including Public Health 7.8 -0.0 6.1 +6.1 

Governance, Law & Democracy 7.7 +0.0 -0.1 10.1 

Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance 1.8 +0.2 0.0 +0.2 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets -1.2 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

 83.4 +2.5 14.0 +16.5 

Covid-19 Financial Support Grant   -11.9 -11.9 

   2.1 +4.6 

 
 

The biggest Key Service variances in the directorate are as follows, in numerical order: 
 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Corporate Landlord +£2.1m Overspends in Asset 
Utilisation (AU), New Ways 
of Working (NWoW), the 
East Kent FM contract, and 
holding costs for empty 
sites. 

+£0.7m relates to the partial non-delivery of savings 
from the AU and NWoW programmes which are now 
within the Modernising Agenda Programme for the 
council and need to be aligned with the deliverability 
and timescales for this. 

 
+£0.9m is due to the final cost of the recommissioned 
FM contract in East Kent which has come in higher than 
budgeted due to the change in provider. 
 
+£0.5m relates to the holding costs, mainly security, for 

Page 36



Revenue Variance +£2.5m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.1m underspend 8 Strategic & Corporate Services 

 

 
 

Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 
 

 

former schools sites which have now been released for 
disposal and cannot therefore be charged to the DfE 
capital grant. 

 
 
 

Property Related Services 
(Infrastructure) 

+£0.2m Unachieved historic surplus 
targets from Schools’ 
income on the Client 
Services contracts. 

This budget relates to the Client Services contracts with 
Schools and has a large surplus income target 
requirement which is unrealistic and has not been 
achieved for several years, thus creating an annual 
overspend. The service is highly valued by small primary 
schools in Kent and does deliver a small surplus 

 

 
Strategy, Policy, 
Relationships & 

Corporate Assurance 

+£0.2m We’re receiving less 
partnership income 

The +£0.2m overspend is due in part to a change in 
Government  arrangements  which  has  created  a 
shortfall in funding for the Kent Children’s Safeguarding 
Board.  The budget will need to be increased to reflect 
the changes 

 

 
 
 

Capital 
 

The S&CS directorate is currently forecasting a capital variance excluding Covid-19 of -£0.1m.  As this is the first 
report of the year there are no previously reported variances. 

 

 

Real variances over £0.1m and rephasing variances over £1.0m are as follows: 
 
 
 

Project Real 
Variance 

Rephasing 
Variance 

Detail 

 

 
Modernisation of Assets +£1.8m Due   to   programme  demands   money   has   been   rolled 

forward. 
 

 

Asset Utilisation – Oakwood House -£1.0m There are delays due to emergency use of the Oakwood 
House as asylum accommodation. 

Page 37



Revenue Variance +£2.5m overspend 
Capital Variance -£0.1m underspend 8 Strategic & Corporate Services 

 

 

 
 

Covid-19 Forecasts 
 
 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

 

Actual spend (Revenue) 
 

£12.7 
 

Additional council-wide costs including: the provision of PPE and 

  sanitiser across all services; additional staffing to handle increased 

  call  volumes  in  the  KCC  contact  centre;  and  additional  ICT 

  infrastructure to enable staff to work from home, such as laptops 
and licenses for A2K and Microsoft Teams.. 

  
 

£1.1m relates to Public Health made up of support to the voluntary 
sector, additional capacity for mental health services, and provision 

  of alternative pharmaceutical services, including phone triage and 

  a  home  delivery  service  for  pregnant  smokers  and  emergency 

  contraception. 

 

Underspends 
 

-£0.2 
 

Mainly in Member Services for reduced travel and allowances. 

 

Loss of income 
 

£1.5 
 

Potential loss of rental income for KCC properties 

 

Actual spend (Capital) 
 

£0.1 
 

Delays to two capital programmes resulting in additional costs. 

  

£14.1 
 

Page 38



Revenue Variance -£0.3m underspend 9 Financing Items & Unallocated 
 

 

 
 

Revenue 
 

FI&U is currently forecasting a revenue variance excluding Covid-19 of -£0.3m. 
 

 

A summary table at Key Service Level can be found in Appendix 1 
 

 

 
 

Revenue Variance by Division 

 
 
 
 

 
Division 

 
 
 
 

 
Revenue 

 
 
 
 

 
Variance excl. 

 
 
 
 

 
Covid-19 

 
 
 
 

 
Variance incl. 

  Budget Covid-19 Forecast Covid-19 

  £m £m £m £m 

 

Financing Ite 
 

ms & Unallocated 
 

156.6 
 

-0.3 
 

9.8 
 

+9.6 

Covid-19 Financ ial Support Grant   -8.4 -8.4 

    1.4 +1.2 
 

The variances is explained below: 
 
 

 
Key Service (Division) Variance Summary Detail 

 

 

Financing Items & 
Unallocated 

-£0.3m There are several minor 
variances 

There  is  a  +£0.3m  overspend on  the  Apprenticeship 
Levy reflecting the continuation of the position in 
previous years. 

 
This is offset by a £0.4m increase in the Extended Rights 
to Free Travel grant compared with budget, together 
with £0.2m additional S31 Business Rate Compensation 
Grant following the reconciliation of unaudited figures 
for 19-20 and a small underspend on the Environment 
Agency Levy. 

 

 
 
 

Covid-19 Forecasts 
 
 
 

Grant Category Forecast Explanation 

 

Loss of income 
 

£7.8m 
 

Reduction  in  income  through  the  retained  business  rate  levy, 

  LATCO dividends, and investment income. 

 

Unrealised savings 
 

£2.0m 
 

Non delivery of additional investment income target in 2020-21 as 

  a result of changes to the projected investment market conditions 
at the time the budget was set. 

  

£9.8m 
 

Page 39



Reserves estimate -£16.9m deficit 10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 

 
 

The forecast for the Schools’ Delegated Budget reserves is a deficit of £16.9m, compared to a surplus of £13.8m at 
the start of the financial year. 

 
This is made up of a forecast surplus of £35.1m on individual maintained school balances, and a deficit on the central 
schools’ reserve of £52.0m. The table below provides the detailed movements on each reserve. 

 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) budgets held centrally are forecast to overspend by £2.1m, predominately linked to 
the additional cost of supporting Special Educational Needs services. 

 

 
 
 
 

Individual 
School 

Reserves 
£m 

Central 
Schools 
Reserve 

£m 

Total 
School 

Reserves 
£m 

Note: a negative figure 
indicates a drawdown 

from reserves/deficit 

 

Balance brought forward 35.3 -21.5 13.8 
 

Forecast movement in reserves: 
 

Academy conversions and closing school deficits -0.3 -0.3 
 

School Growth 0.3 0.3 
 

Falling Rolls 0.6 0.6 
 

High Needs -30.0 -30.0 
 

Other Schools Block Expenditure 0.7 0.7 
 

Overspend on Central DSG Budgets -2.1 -2.1 
 

Forecast reserve balance 35.1 -52.0 -16.9 
 

 
 

The Department of Education (DFE) have confirmed councils are not expected to repay deficits on the DSG from the 
General Fund, but it remains unclear how such deficits will be treated. The DFE expects local authorities to work with 
them and provide necessary information on the reasons for the deficit and recovery plans when requested. 

 
 
 

Key Issues                                                     Details 
 

Reduction   in   government  funding 
for Central Services 

In 2020-21, the Government reduced the amount used to support some of 
the central services currently funded from the DSG. In the short-term this 
has been addressed in the 2020-23 Medium Term Financial Plan without 
any direct impact to schools however during the next year we will be 
reviewing our relationship with schools in line with Government policy and 
funding. 

 

Higher demand and higher cost for 
high needs placements 

The in-year funding shortfall for High Needs placements is expected to 
continue in 2020-21 (+£30m) due to a combination of both higher demand 
and higher cost per child. This is a national issue and the outcome of a 
Government review is awaited. 

Page 40



Reserves estimate -£16.9m deficit 10 Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 

 
 

The Written Statement of Action (WSoA), following last year’s Ofsted/CQC 
Local Area SEND Inspection, links to our strategy to reduce the pressure on 
the High Needs budget. The strategy includes: 

• Reviewing Commissioning strategy for SEN provision by 

• Supporting the development of new special schools and SRPs to 

• Reduce the reliance on independent schools and; 

• Reviewing commissioning arrangements with independent 
providers. 

• Improving parental confidence through supporting inclusive 
practice and capacity building in mainstream schools 

• Further collaborative working with Health and Social Care partners 
 

Work  is  progressing  however  this  has  been  slowed/paused  in  recent 
months with the Covid-19 outbreak. 

 
There are also wider concerns on the longer-term impact of children being 
out of school during the Summer Term. 

Page 41



11 Revenue Budget Changes 
 

 
 

In line with usual practice at this stage of the year, revenue budgets have been realigned to reflect a reallocation 
of savings and pressures between Key Services in light of the 2019-20 final spend and activity levels and the latest 
service transformation plans.  Explanations for these changes is provided below, and a breakdown of the changes 
by Key Service is available in Appendix 2. 

 
Cabinet is asked to approve these changes.  The variances reflected in this report assume these cash limit changes 
have been approved. 

 
 
 

Adult Social Care & Health Gross increase £0.3m 
Income increase £1.0m 

 
Technical adjustments, more accurately reflecting current levels of services 
and income to be received: 

 

Revision to Looked After Children (with Disability) – In House Provision 
budgets to reflect delivery of a CYPE service via internal income transfer 

+£0.800m gross 
-£0.800m income 

 

The alignment of gross and income within the OT equipment budget 
to recognise Disabled Facility Grant funding 

+£0.236m gross 
-£0.236m income 

 
Transfer of budget from ASCH to S&CS in order 

to fund the IT refresh in future years 
-£0.012m gross 

 

 
 
 

Formal virements, requiring approval: 
 

Alignment of Improved Better Care Fund Monies (iBCF) with 2020-21 planned 
expenditure within Key Service lines; including transfer of funding to CYPE for 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway Services for Young People aged 18-25 

-£0.701m gross 

 
Alignment of iBCF (including Care Act Implementation monies) 

with 2020-21 planned expenditure within Key Service lines 
No impact 

 
Realignment of Social Care in Prisons Grant between Key Service 

lines to fund provision of community care in prisons 
+/-0.100m 

 
Transfer between sensory community based services and sensory 
assessment services to fund specialised sensory assessment staff 

+/-£0.040m 

 

Realignment of budgets between Learning Disability 
and Mental Health to reflect operational plans in 2020-21 

+/-£0.168m 

Page 42



11 Revenue Budget Changes 
 

 
 

Children, Young People & Education Gross decrease £2.3m 
Income decrease £3.0m 

 
Technical adjustments, more accurately reflecting current levels of services 
and income to be received: 

 

Changes to accounting treatment relating to 
Revenue Expenditure Funded Under Statute (REFCUS) 

Gross -£2.800m 
Income -£2.800m 

 

 
 
 

Formal virements, requiring approval: 
 

Alignment of Improved Better Care Fund Monies (iBCF) with 2020-21 planned 
expenditure within Key Service lines; including transfer of funding from ASCH for 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway Services for Young People aged 18-25 

+£0.701m gross 

 

 
 

Growth, Environment & Transport Gross increase £0.2m 
Income change less than £0.1m 

 
Technical adjustments, more accurately reflecting current levels of services 
and income to be received: 

 

Increase in funding for Kent Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 

+£0.488m gross 
-£0.488m income 

 

 
 
 

Formal virements, requiring approval: 
 

Transfer from Highways, Transport & Waste Management Costs and commercial 
Operations in GET to Corporate Landlord in S&CS to reflect the transfer in 

responsibility of the remaining Highways Depots 

-£0.398m gross 
+£0.600m income 

 

Small budget transfers in several Key Services in GET to S&CS in relation to 
ServiceNow orders 

-£0.007m gross 

 

 
 

Strategic & Corporate Services Gross increase £3.8m 
Income increase £2.7m 

 
Technical adjustments, more accurately reflecting current levels of services 
and income to be received: 

 

Public Health realignment following confirmation of grant allocation 
and to reflect a revised level of external income 

+£2.379m gross 
-£2.379m income 

 

Realignment of Property Related Budgets to take 
account of changes in expected levels of income 

-£0.179m income 

Page 43



11 Revenue Budget Changes 
 

 
 

 
Formal virements, requiring approval: 

 

Transfer from Highways, Transport & Waste Management Costs and commercial 
Operations in GET to Corporate Landlord in S&CS to reflect the transfer in 

responsibility of the remaining Highways Depots 

+£0.398m gross 
-£0.600m income 

 

A budget transfer to the Infrastructure division in S&CS from FI&U to reflect where 
responsibility for budgets has transferred but there has been no change in policy 

+£0.743m gross 
+£0.563m income 

 

 
 

Financing Items & Unallocated Gross increase £26.6m 
 
 

Technical adjustments, more accurately reflecting current levels of services 
and income to be received: 

 

Additional Covid-19 Financial Support Grant received in 
April 2020, transferred to the Covid-19 Reserve 

+£27.934m gross 

 

 
 
 

Formal virements, requiring approval: 
 

A budget transfer from FI&U to the Infrastructure division in S&CS to reflect where 
responsibility for budgets has transferred but there has been no change in policy 

-£1.306m gross 

Page 44



12 Capital Budget Changes 
 

 
 

Cabinet is asked to note the following changes to the Capital Budget: 
 

 
 
 

Growth, Environment & Transport 
 

 

Project 
 

Year 
 

Amount 
£m 

 

Reason 
 

 

National Productivity 
Investment Fund 

 

20-21 
 

-0.090 
 

Reduce  developer  contribution  as  this  is  now 
delivered directly by the developer. 

 

being 

 

Kent Thameside Strategic 
Transport Programme 

 

20-21 
 

+0.225 
 

Increase cash limit by the interest earned. 
 

 

Housing Infrastructure 
Fund – Swale 

 

20-21 
 

+0.031 
 

Increase cash limits to reflect funding available. 
 

 
Cabinet is asked to approve the below changes: 

 

 
 
 

Growth, Environment & Transport 
 

Project Year Amount 
£m 

Reason 

 
Integrated Transport Schemes 20-21 -0.100 Virement to Kent Thameside LSTF 

 
Kent Thameside LSTF 20-21 +0.100 Virement from Integrated Transport Schemes 

 
Green Corridors 20-21 +0.500 Additional grant 

 
21-22 +3.500 Additional grant 

 
22-23 +3.400 Additional grant 

 
Manston Green 20-21 +1.213 Additional grant 

 
21-22 +4.215 Additional grant 

 
22-23 +0.834 Additional grant 

 
23-24 +0.028 Additional grant 

Page 45



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary 
Working    Variance excl. Covid-19  Variance incl. 

Budget Covid-19 Forecast Covid-19 

 

 

Community Based Preventative Services 13.4 -0.0 6.4 +6.4 

Housing Related Support 7.0 +0.1 0.7 +0.7 

Transfers to and from Reserves -7.5 +0.0 0.0 +0.0 

Strategic Management & Directorate Support (ASCH) 3.3 -2.2 13.5 +11.3 

Social Support for Carers 3.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Partnership Support Services 0.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 19.1 -2.1 20.5 +18.4 

Adult In House Carer Services 2.6 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Adult In House Community Services 7.2 -0.3 0.0 -0.3 

Adult In House Enablement Services 3.2 +0.1 0.0 0.1 

Adult Learning Disability - Case Management & Assessment Service 5.8 -0.5 0.0 -0.5 

Adult Learning Disability - Community Based Services & Support for Carers 79.5 +2.0 0.5 2.5 

Adult Learning Disability - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 61.0 +2.4 0.0 2.4 

Adult Mental Health - Case Management & Assessment Services 9.8 -0.2 0.0 -0.1 

Adult Mental Health - Community Based Services 6.3 +1.3 0.0 1.3 

Adult Mental Health - Residential Care Services 13.0 +0.3 0.0 0.3 

Adult Physical Disability - Community Based Services 17.3 +1.2 0.1 1.3 

Adult Physical Disability - Residential Care Services 14.0 +2.0 0.0 2.0 

ASCH Operations - Divisional Management & Support 0.5 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - In House Provision 2.8 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Older People - Community Based Services 37.5 +5.7 1.9 7.5 

Older People - In House Provision 15.8 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Older People - Residential Care Services 51.1 -4.8 2.0 -2.8 

Older People & Physical Disability - Assessment and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Services 24.7 +0.1 0.1 0.2 

Older People & Physical Disability - In House Community Homecare Service 4.0 +0.0 0.0 0.1 

Older People & Physical Disability Carer Support - Commissioned 0.6 -0.4 0.0 -0.4 

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Community Based Services 6.4 -0.3 0.0 -0.3 

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Residential Care Services 1.2 -0.2 0.0 -0.2 

Sensory & Autism - Assessment Service 1.9 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Service Provision - Divisional Management & Support 0.7 +0.2 0.0 0.2 

Adult Social Care & Health Operations 367.0 +8.3 4.7 +13.0 

Adaptive & Assistive Technology 2.7 -0.7 1.3 0.5 

Safeguarding Adults 0.4 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Statutory and Policy Support 1.7 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Strategic Safeguarding, Practice and Quality Assurance 4.8 -0.8 1.3 0.4 
 

Business Delivery 
 

7.9 
 

-1.6 
 

2.9 
 

+1.3 

Adult Social Care & Health 398.8 +3.8 29.4 +33.2 

P
age 46



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary 
Working    Variance excl. Covid-19  Variance incl. 

Budget Covid-19 Forecast Covid-19 

 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 4.2 +0.2 0.0 +0.2 

Community Learning & Skills (CLS) -0.7 +0.0 0.8 0.8 

Early Years Education 0.0 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Education Management & Division Support 0.9 +0.2 0.0 0.2 

Education Services provided by The Education People 3.9 +0.1 2.0 2.1 

Fair Access & Planning Services 0.0 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Home to School & College Transport 44.3 +0.2 -0.1 0.1 

Other School Services -1.1 +0.4 3.4 3.8 

Education 47.3 +0.9 6.1 +7.1 

Adoption & Special Guardianship Arrangements & Service 14.8 +0.1 0.0 0.1 

Asylum -0.1 -0.0 1.0 1.0 

Care Leavers Service 7.5 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Children in Need - Care & Support 3.3 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Children's Centres 3.6 +0.2 0.0 0.2 

Children's Social Work Services - Assessment & Safeguarding Service 47.0 -0.0 0.0 0.0 

Early Help & Preventative Services 6.8 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Integrated Services (Children's) Management & Directorate Support 5.0 -0.2 0.1 -0.1 

Looked After Children - Care & Support 60.4 +5.1 6.2 11.3 

Pupil Referral Units & Inclusion 0.0 +0.0 0.5 0.5 

Youth Services 4.5 +0.2 0.1 0.3 

Integrated Children's Services (East & West) 152.9 +5.3 7.9 +13.2 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Community Based Services 26.7 -0.7 0.0 -0.7 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 8.3 +1.2 0.0 1.2 

Children in Need (Disability) - Care & Support 5.3 -0.6 0.0 -0.6 

Childrens Disability 0-18 Commissioning 1.7 +0.0 0.0 0.0 

Disabled Children & Young People Service (0-25 LD & Complex PD) - Assessment Service 7.9 -0.2 0.0 -0.2 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - Care & Support 9.9 +0.7 0.1 0.7 

Special Educational Needs & Psychology Services 9.5 +0.7 0.0 0.7 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 69.3 +1.2 0.1 +1.3 

Children, Young People & Education 273.7 +7.7 14.1 +21.8 
 

P
age 47



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary 
Working 

Budget 

1.6 

Variance excl. 

Covid-19 

-0.0 

Covid-19 

Forecast 

0.0 

Variance incl. 

Covid-19 

-0.0 Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

Arts 1.4 +0.0 0.2 0.3 

 

Economic Development 2.9 -0.1 0.2 0.1 

Economic Development 4.4 -0.0 0.4 0.4 

Highway Transportation (including School Crossing Patrols) 5.6 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

Highway Asset Management (Roads and Footways) 13.3 +0.2 -0.4 -0.2 

Highway Asset Management (Other) 17.6 +0.1 -0.7 -0.5 

Subsidised Buses and Community Transport 6.5 -0.0 1.1 1.1 

Concessionary Fares 17.2 -0.0 0.1 0.0 

Kent Travel Saver 8.1 -0.0 2.5 2.5 

Residual Waste 40.1 -0.4 -0.3 -0.7 

Waste Facilities & Recycling Centres 32.9 +0.6 0.4 0.9 

Highways, Transport & Waste Management Costs and Commercial Operations 5.8 +0.2 -0.2 0.0 

Highways, Transportation & Waste 147.1 +0.6 2.5 3.1 

Environment & Planning 5.4 +0.2 0.6 0.9 

Environment, Planning & Enforcement Management Costs 0.7 +0.0 2.0 2.0 

Public Protection (Enforcement) 10.9 +0.1 0.6 0.6 

Environment, Planning & Enforcement 17.0 +0.3 3.2 3.5 
 

Libraries, Registration & Archives 
 

9.1 
 

-0.0 
 

3.0 
 

3.0 

Growth, Environment & Transport 179.1 +0.9 9.1 +10.0 
 

P
age 48



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary 
Working 

Budget 

-1.2 

Variance excl. 

Covid-19 

-0.0 

Covid-19 

Forecast 

0.0 

Variance incl. 

Covid-19 

-0.0 Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

Customer Contact, Communications & Consultations 5.4 +0.1 0.8 1.0 

 

Human Resources related services 7.7 -0.1 0.0 -0.1 

People & Communication 13.1 +0.0 0.8 0.9 

Finance 10.1 +0.1 0.0 0.1 

Governance & Law 6.1 +0.0 -0.2 -0.2 

Local Member Grants 1.6 +0.0 0.1 0.1 

Governance, Law & Democracy 7.7 +0.0 -0.1 -0.1 

ICT related services 16.6 -0.1 3.3 3.2 

Property related services 5.7 +0.2 1.0 1.2 

Infrastructure 22.2 +0.1 4.3 4.4 

Corporate Landlord 21.8 +2.1 2.9 5.0 

Strategic Commissioning 7.8 -0.0 5.0 5.0 

Public Health - Advice and Other Staffing 0.0 -0.0 0.1 0.1 

Public Health - Children's Programme 0.0 -0.0 0.1 0.0 

Public Health - Healthy Lifestyles 0.0 +0.0 0.6 0.6 

Public Health - Mental Health, Substance Misuse & Community Safety 0.0 -0.0 0.2 0.2 

Public Health - Sexual Health 0.0 +0.0 0.2 0.2 

Strategic Commissioning including Public Health 7.8 -0.0 6.1 6.1 

Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance 1.8 +0.2 0.0 0.2 

Total - Strategic & Corporate Services 83.4 +2.5 14.0 +16.5 
 

P
age 49



Appendix 1 - Key Service Summary 
Working    Variance excl. Covid-19  Variance incl. 

Budget Covid-19 Forecast Covid-19 

 

Financing Items & Unallocated  156.6  -0.3  9.8  +9.6 
 

Total excluding Schools' Delegated Budgets  1,091.6  +14.6  76.4  +91.0 
 

Schools' Delegated Budgets  0.0  +30.5  0.0  +30.5 
 

Total including Schools' Delegated Budgets  1,091.6  +45.1  76.4  +121.5 

P
age 50



Appendix 2 - Revenue Budget Changes 

Base Budget 

Income 

Working Budget Movement 

Income Gross Net Gross Income Net Gross Net 

 

 

Community Based Preventative Services 18.8 -5.4 13.4 18.6 -5.3 13.4 -0.1 0.1 0.0 

Housing Related Support 8.4 -1.4 7.0 8.4 -1.4 7.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Transfers to and from Reserves -7.5 +0.0 -7.5 -7.5 +0.0 -7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Strategic Management & Directorate Support (ASCH) 3.5 -0.2 3.3 3.5 -0.2 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Social Support for Carers 4.7 -1.7 3.0 4.7 -1.7 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Partnership Support Services 10.4 -10.4 0.0 10.4 -10.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 38.3 -19.2 19.1 38.2 -19.1 19.1 -0.1 0.1 0.0 

Adult In House Carer Services 2.6 +0.0 2.6 2.6 +0.0 2.6 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Adult In House Community Services 7.3 -0.1 7.2 7.3 -0.1 7.2 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Adult In House Enablement Services 9.0 -5.8 3.2 8.9 -5.8 3.2 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Adult Learning Disability - Case Management & Assessment Service 6.1 -0.3 5.8 6.1 -0.3 5.8 -0.0 0.0 0.0 

Adult Learning Disability - Community Based Services & Support for Carers 87.3 -7.3 80.0 88.6 -9.1 79.5 1.2 -1.8 -0.5 

Adult Learning Disability - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 66.5 -5.5 61.0 66.5 -5.5 61.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Adult Mental Health - Case Management & Assessment Services 10.4 -0.3 10.1 10.1 -0.3 9.8 -0.3 0.0 -0.3 

Adult Mental Health - Community Based Services 6.7 -0.5 6.2 6.8 -0.5 6.3 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Adult Mental Health - Residential Care Services 14.1 -0.8 13.3 13.8 -0.8 13.0 -0.3 0.0 -0.3 

Adult Physical Disability - Community Based Services 20.5 -3.1 17.3 20.5 -3.1 17.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Adult Physical Disability - Residential Care Services 16.4 -2.4 14.0 16.4 -2.4 14.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

ASCH Operations - Divisional Management & Support 0.5 +0.0 0.5 0.5 +0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - In House Provision 3.8 -1.0 2.8 4.6 -1.8 2.8 0.8 -0.8 0.0 

Older People - Community Based Services 62.6 -25.1 37.4 61.8 -24.3 37.5 -0.7 0.8 0.1 

Older People - In House Provision 25.2 -9.4 15.8 25.2 -9.4 15.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Older People - Residential Care Services 103.9 -52.8 51.1 102.9 -51.8 51.1 -1.0 1.0 0.0 

Older People & Physical Disability - Assessment and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Services 27.2 -2.5 24.7 27.5 -2.8 24.7 0.3 -0.3 -0.0 

Older People & Physical Disability - In House Community Homecare Service 9.7 -5.8 3.9 9.8 -5.8 4.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Older People & Physical Disability Carer Support - Commissioned 2.1 -1.5 0.6 2.2 -1.6 0.6 0.0 -0.0 0.0 

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Community Based Services 7.3 -0.8 6.5 7.2 -0.8 6.4 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Physical Disability 26+ Lifespan Pathway & Sensory and Autism 18+ - Residential Care Services 1.3 -0.1 1.2 1.3 -0.1 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Sensory & Autism - Assessment Service 1.9 +0.0 1.9 1.9 +0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Service Provision - Divisional Management & Support 0.7 +0.0 0.7 0.7 +0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Adult Social Care & Health Operations 492.9 -125.1 367.8 493.1 -126.2 367.0 0.2 -1.0 -0.8 

Adaptive & Assistive Technology 9.8 -7.0 2.7 9.9 -7.1 2.7 0.1 -0.1 0.0 

Safeguarding Adults 0.5 -0.2 0.4 0.5 -0.2 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Statutory and Policy Support 2.1 -0.2 1.9 1.9 -0.2 1.7 -0.2 0.0 -0.2 

Strategic Safeguarding, Practice and Quality Assurance 12.4 -7.4 5.0 12.3 -7.5 4.8 -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 
 

Business Delivery 
 

8.0 
 

-0.4 
 

7.6 
 

8.3 
 

-0.4 
 

7.9 
 

0.3 
 

0.0 
 

0.3 

Adult Social Care & Health  551.6  -152.1  399.5  551.9  -153.1  398.8  0.3  -1.0  -0.7 

P
age 51



Appendix 2 - Revenue Budget Changes 

Base Budget 

Income 

-3.9 

Working Budget Movement 

Income 

0.0 

Gross 

8.0 

Net 

4.2 

Gross 

8.0 

Income 

-3.9 

Net 

4.2 

Gross 

0.0 

Net 

0.0 Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

Community Learning & Skills (CLS) 13.2 -14.0 -0.7 13.1 -13.9 -0.7 -0.1 0.1 -0.0 

 

Early Years Education 73.0 -73.0 0.0 73.0 -73.0 0.0 -0.0 0.0 0.0 

Education Management & Division Support 2.2 -1.2 0.9 2.2 -1.2 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Education Services provided by The Education People 9.0 -5.1 3.9 9.0 -5.1 3.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Fair Access & Planning Services 2.9 -2.9 0.0 2.9 -2.9 0.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Home to School & College Transport 47.7 -3.4 44.3 47.7 -3.4 44.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Other School Services 39.2 -40.3 -1.1 36.4 -37.5 -1.1 -2.8 2.8 0.0 

Education 187.1 -139.7 47.3 184.2 -136.8 47.3 -2.9 2.9 -0.0 

Adoption & Special Guardianship Arrangements & Service 14.9 -0.1 14.8 14.9 -0.1 14.8 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Asylum 18.3 -18.3 0.0 18.4 -18.5 -0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 

Care Leavers Service 10.7 -3.2 7.5 10.9 -3.4 7.5 0.3 -0.2 0.1 

Children in Need - Care & Support 3.3 -0.0 3.3 3.3 -0.0 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Children's Centres 7.6 -4.0 3.6 7.6 -4.0 3.6 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Children's Social Work Services - Assessment & Safeguarding Service 50.3 -3.3 47.0 50.3 -3.3 47.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Early Help & Preventative Services 16.4 -9.6 6.8 16.4 -9.6 6.8 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Integrated Services (Children's) Management & Directorate Support 7.5 -2.5 5.0 7.5 -2.5 5.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Looked After Children - Care & Support 64.8 -4.4 60.4 64.8 -4.4 60.4 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Pupil Referral Units & Inclusion 8.6 -8.6 0.0 8.4 -8.4 0.0 -0.2 0.2 -0.0 

Youth Services 7.1 -2.5 4.5 7.1 -2.5 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Integrated Children's Services (East & West) 209.5 -56.7 152.9 209.7 -56.8 152.9 0.1 -0.1 -0.0 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Community Based Services 27.5 -1.1 26.3 27.8 -1.1 26.7 0.3 0.0 0.3 

Adult Learning & Physical Disability Pathway - Residential Care Services & Support for Carers 8.5 -0.5 7.9 8.8 -0.5 8.3 0.4 0.0 0.4 

Children in Need (Disability) - Care & Support 5.3 -0.0 5.3 5.3 -0.0 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Childrens Disability 0-18 Commissioning 1.8 -0.1 1.7 1.8 -0.1 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Disabled Children & Young People Service (0-25 LD & Complex PD) - Assessment Service 7.9 +0.0 7.9 7.9 +0.0 7.9 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Looked After Children (with Disability) - Care & Support 11.7 -1.8 9.9 11.7 -1.8 9.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Special Educational Needs & Psychology Services 81.0 -71.5 9.5 80.8 -71.3 9.5 -0.2 0.2 -0.0 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 143.6 -75.0 68.6 144.1 -74.8 69.3 0.5 0.2 0.7 

Children, Young People & Education 548.3 -275.2 273.0 546.0 -272.3 273.7 -2.3 3.0 0.7 
 

P
age 52



Appendix 2 - Revenue Budget Changes 

Base Budget 

Income 

-0.1 

Working Budget Movement 

Income 

0.0 

Gross 

1.6 

Net 

1.6 

Gross 

1.6 

Income 

-0.1 

Net 

1.6 

Gross 

0.0 

Net 

0.0 Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

Arts 1.5 -0.1 1.4 1.5 -0.1 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 

 

Economic Development 5.2 -2.3 2.9 5.2 -2.3 2.9 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Economic Development 6.8 -2.4 4.4 6.8 -2.4 4.4 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Highway Transportation (including School Crossing Patrols) 8.4 -2.8 5.6 8.4 -2.8 5.6 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Highway Asset Management (Roads and Footways) 13.3 +0.0 13.3 13.3 +0.0 13.3 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Highway Asset Management (Other) 21.6 -4.0 17.6 21.6 -4.0 17.6 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Subsidised Buses and Community Transport 10.0 -3.5 6.5 10.0 -3.5 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Concessionary Fares 17.3 -0.0 17.2 17.3 -0.0 17.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Kent Travel Saver 15.5 -7.4 8.1 15.5 -7.4 8.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Residual Waste 40.5 -0.4 40.1 40.5 -0.4 40.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Waste Facilities & Recycling Centres 35.1 -2.1 32.9 35.1 -2.1 32.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Highways, Transport & Waste Management Costs and Commercial Operations 8.2 -2.7 5.6 7.9 -2.1 5.8 -0.4 0.6 0.2 

Highways, Transportation & Waste 169.8 -22.9 146.9 169.4 -22.3 147.1 -0.4 0.6 0.2 

Environment & Planning 15.7 -10.3 5.4 16.3 -10.9 5.4 0.6 -0.6 -0.0 

Environment, Planning & Enforcement Management Costs 0.7 -0.0 0.7 0.7 -0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Public Protection (Enforcement) 13.8 -3.0 10.9 13.8 -3.0 10.9 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Environment, Planning & Enforcement 30.2 -13.2 17.0 30.8 -13.8 17.0 0.6 -0.6 -0.0 
 

Libraries, Registration & Archives 
 

15.5 
 

-6.4 
 

9.1 
 

15.5 
 

-6.4 
 

9.1 
 

0.0 
 

0.0 
 

0.0 

Growth, Environment & Transport 224.0 -45.0 178.9 224.2 -45.0 179.1 0.2 0.0 0.2 
 

P
age 53



Appendix 2 - Revenue Budget Changes 

Base Budget 

Income 

-4.7 

Working Budget Movement 

Income 

0.0 

Gross 

3.4 

Net 

-1.2 

Gross 

3.4 

Income 

-4.7 

Net 

-1.2 

Gross 

0.0 

Net 

0.0 Strategic Management & Directorate Budgets 

Customer Contact, Communications & Consultations 6.0 -0.6 5.4 6.0 -0.6 5.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 

 

Human Resources related services 8.7 -1.0 7.7 8.7 -1.0 7.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 

People & Communication 14.7 -1.5 13.1 14.7 -1.5 13.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Finance 16.6 -6.5 10.1 16.6 -6.5 10.1 0.0 -0.0 -0.0 

Governance & Law 6.5 -0.3 6.1 6.5 -0.3 6.1 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

Local Member Grants 1.6 +0.0 1.6 1.6 +0.0 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Governance, Law & Democracy 8.1 -0.3 7.7 8.1 -0.3 7.7 -0.0 0.0 -0.0 

ICT related services 19.5 -3.0 16.5 19.6 -3.0 16.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Property related services 7.3 -2.2 5.1 7.9 -2.2 5.7 0.6 0.0 0.6 

Infrastructure 26.9 -5.3 21.6 27.5 -5.3 22.2 0.6 0.0 0.6 

Corporate Landlord 28.7 -7.4 21.3 29.4 -7.6 21.8 0.7 -0.2 0.5 

Strategic Commissioning 8.5 -0.7 7.8 8.5 -0.8 7.8 0.1 -0.1 -0.0 

Public Health - Advice and Other Staffing 3.9 -3.9 0.0 4.2 -4.2 0.0 0.3 -0.3 0.0 

Public Health - Children's Programme 32.7 -32.7 0.0 32.4 -32.4 0.0 -0.3 0.3 0.0 

Public Health - Healthy Lifestyles 7.8 -7.8 0.0 8.5 -8.5 0.0 0.7 -0.7 0.0 

Public Health - Mental Health, Substance Misuse & Community Safety 11.7 -11.7 0.0 12.6 -12.6 0.0 0.9 -0.9 0.0 

Public Health - Sexual Health 13.3 -13.3 0.0 14.0 -14.0 0.0 0.7 -0.7 0.0 

Strategic Commissioning including Public Health 77.8 -70.0 7.8 80.2 -72.5 7.8 2.4 -2.4 -0.0 

Strategy, Policy, Relationships & Corporate Assurance 3.5 -1.7 1.8 3.5 -1.7 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total - Strategic & Corporate Services 179.6 -97.3 82.3 183.4 -100.0 83.4 3.8 -2.7 1.1 
 

P
age 54



Appendix 2 - Revenue Budget Changes 

Base Budget 

Income 

Working Budget Movement 

Income Gross Net Gross Income Net Gross Net 

 

Financing Items & Unallocated  148.9  -19.0  130.0  175.6  -19.0  156.6  26.6  0.0  26.6 
 

Total excluding Schools' Delegated Budgets  1,652.4  -588.7  1,063.7  1,681.0  -589.4  1,091.6  28.6  -0.7  27.9 
 

Schools' Delegated Budgets  687.9  -687.9  0.0  675.1  -675.1  0.0  -12.7  12.7  0.0 
 

Total including Schools' Delegated Budgets  2,340.2  -1,276.6  1,063.7  2,356.1  -1,264.5  1,091.6  15.9  12.0  27.9 
 

The £27.9m increase in the Net budget is due to the additional Covid-19 Financial Support Grant received in April 2020 

P
age 55



 

Appendix 3 - Monitoring of Prudential Indicators as at 31 May 2020 
 

 

Prudential Indicator 1 : Estimates of Capital Expenditure (£m) 
 

 

19-20 

Actuals 

20-21 

Budget 

20-21 

Forecast 

Total 241.53 471.9 446.65 
 
 

Prudential Indicator 2: Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) (£m) 
 

 

19-20 

Actuals 

20-21 

Budget 

20-21 

Forecast 

Total CFR 1,284.96 1,433.80 1,423.21 
 
 

Prudential Indicator 3: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (£m) 
 

 

19-20 

Actuals 

20-21 

Budget 

20-21 

Forecast 

Other Long-term Liabilities 245.20 254.90 245.20 
 

External Borrowing 883.82 944.00 944.00 
 

Total Debt 1,129.02 1,198.90 1,189.20 
 
 

Capital Financing Requirement 1,284.96 1,433.80 1,423.21 
 

Internal Borrowing 155.94 234.90 234.01 
 
 

Prudential Indicator 4 : Authorised Limit and Operation Boundary for External Debt (£m) 
 

 

19-20 

Limit 

20-21 

Limit 

20-21 

Position 

Authorised Limit - borrowing 1,013 1,050 882 
 

Authorised Limit - PFI and leases 263 246 246 
 

Authorised Limit - total external debt 1,276 1,296 1,128 
 
 

Operational Boundary - borrowing 988 995 882 
 

Operational Boundary - PFI and leases 263 246 246 
 

Operation Boundary - total external debt 1,251 1,241 1,128 
 

 

Prudential Indicator 5: Proportion of Finance Costs to Net Revenue Stream (%) 
 

 

19-20 

Actual 

20-21 

Budget 

20-21 

Forecast 

Proportion of net revenue stream 10.81% 10.30% 11.60% 

Page 56



 

 

 

From:             Peter Oakford – Deputy Leader with Cabinet responsibility for Minerals 

                             and Waste Local Plan Matters  

       Barbara Cooper, Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and     

                               Transport 

  To:                       Cabinet  – 20th July 2020 

         
  Subject: Adoption of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 – 2030 resulting from the Early 

Partial Review  

 

  Classification:    Unrestricted 

Past Pathway of Paper:    Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – 17 July 2020 

Future Pathway of Paper: County Council  

Electoral Division:             Countywide 

Summary:  

Following the Council’s adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 

(KMWLP) in 2016, work has been undertaken to prepare the associated Kent Minerals 

Sites Plan (MSP) and an Early Partial Review (EPR) of the KMWLP to reflect amongst 

other matters that a Waste Sites Plan is not required. 

The MSP allocates sites considered suitable in principle for mineral development. 

Identification of three sites in the MSP followed a call for sites, site appraisal work and 

public consultation. The EPR modifies the KMWLP such that Council’s commitment to the 

preparation of a Waste Sites Plan is removed which follows a reassessment of future 

waste management capacity requirements in Kent. Implementation of KMWLP policies 

concerning mineral and waste safeguarding also identified the need for modifications to 

improve their effectiveness and this formed part of the EPR. 

Following consideration by Environment and Transport Sub Committee and Cabinet 

Committee on 28 November 2018, County Council agreed to the publication of ‘Pre-

Submission’ Drafts of the EPR and the MSP for a statutory period for representations 

between January and March 2019. A total of 405 representations were received and 

these were submitted, with the Plans and related evidence base, to the Secretary of State 

for independent examination. The examination was required to ensure that the Plans are 

sound and prepared in accordance with statutory requirements relating to plan-making. 

On Tuesday 8 October 2019, Planning Inspector Nicholas Palmer BA (Hons) BPI MRTPI 

commenced hearings associated with the independent examination which ran for four 

days over a two-week period. During the examination the Inspector identified the need for 

certain modifications and these were subject to public consultation. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 

 

On 23 April 2020 the Council received the Inspector’s Report (see Appendix A) which 

concludes that, subject to modifications, the Plans are sound and legally compliant. 

Following receipt of the Inspector’s Report, Council is now able to adopt the Plans subject 

to the modifications being made. The modifications clarify the wording of certain policies 

and confirm safeguards to the environment and communities associated with mineral 

development at the allocated mineral sites. 

Development (mineral extraction) at sites allocated in the Minerals Sites Plan is subject to 

the Council granting a separate planning permission in response to a planning application 

from a mineral operator. 

Following adoption, the MSP and policies of the KMWLP (as modified) will be monitored 

to assess whether they are being effective in meeting the KMWLP objectives on waste 

management and minerals supply. The results of the monitoring will be published 

annually in the Kent Annual Monitoring Report.  

Plans are subject to a statutory formal review every five years and so a review of KMWLP 

polices not subject to the Early Partial Review needs to be completed by July 2021. 

Recommendation(s):   

Cabinet is asked to: 

(i) Consider the Inspector’s Report (see Appendix A) on the examination of the EPR 
and MSP and note his recommended modifications;  

(ii) note the recommendations of the Sustainability Appraisals of the EPR and MSP; 

and, 
(iii) endorse, or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member responsible for the 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan on adoption of:  

           (a) the Kent Mineral Sites Plan (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations)                                

.               (see Appendix B); and, 

           (b)  modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan as set out by the  .     

.                Early Partial Review (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) (see      

.                Appendix C). 

(iv) note that the decision to adopt the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the   
. Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan is a matter for County Council and request 

 the County Council to: 

      (a) Accept the modifications recommended by the Inspector to the Kent Mineral  .  

.               Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (as set  

.               out by the Early Partial Review); and, 

       (b) adopt the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and  
.                 Waste Local Plan (as set out by the Early Partial Review) (as modified); and, 

       (c) delegate powers to the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment &                    
.                Transport to approve any non-material changes to the text of the MSP and                  

.                 modifications to the KMWLP (as set out by the Early Partial Review) in    

Page 58



 

 

          consultation with the Deputy Leader prior to their publication. 

(v)    note and agree the future work activities on mineral and waste planning activities       
.       as set out in para 5.6 as the basis for a revised Local Development Scheme.  

 

1.        Introduction and Background 

1.1   The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) was adopted by the 

County Council in July 2016 as part of the Council’s statutory responsibility to plan 

for future minerals supply and waste management within Kent. This KMWLP forms 

part of the Development Plan and is a key policy document for the determination of 

planning applications.  The KMWLP sets out the County Council’s strategy and 

policy framework for minerals and waste development in Kent which includes future 

capacity and supply requirements. The adopted KMWLP commits the Council to 

identifying and allocating land considered suitable for minerals and waste 

development in a subsequent Waste Sites Plan and a Minerals Sites Plan.      

1.2  An Early Partial Review of the KMWLP was embarked upon following monitoring of 

future waste capacity requirements in Kent that indicated that a Waste Sites Plan 

that allocated specific sites for waste management activity was no longer required.  

In addition, experience of implementing the KMWLP policies regarding mineral and 

waste safeguarding had revealed ambiguity in the wording of certain of their 

exempting criteria which was hindering the effectiveness of the policies.  It was 

agreed that modifications were necessary to address this ambiguity.   

1.3 Monitoring of mineral supply and demand indicated that a Mineral Sites Plan was 

still needed to identify sites suitable for meeting future requirements for sand and 

gravel.   

1.4  Work on the Early Partial Review and the Minerals Sites Plan involved technical 

assessment and public consultation on draft proposals. Final proposals were 

considered by the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee on 28 November 

2018. At this meeting the Committee requested the County Council to approve and 

publish Pre-Submission Drafts of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and the Early Partial 

Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan for a statutory period of 

representations on soundness and legal compliance and to submit the Draft Plans to 

the Secretary of State for independent examination. Following consideration, the 

Cabinet Member responsible for the Local Plan took the decision to bring this 

resolution into effect.  

1.5 Preparation of the Minerals Sites Plan is consistent with Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP 

that expects the Mineral Sites Plan to allocate sites for soft sand and for sharp sand 

and gravel based upon the most recent calculations of requirements set out in the 

Council’s Local Aggregates Assessment. To ensure that Kent is planning for 

sufficient requirements to the end of the Plan period, a review of need was 

undertaken. This identified a soft sand need of 2.5mt and a sharp sand and gravel 

need of 5.75 mt.  However, it should be noted that the adopted KMWLP recognises 

that sharp sand and gravel resources in Kent are rapidly depleting.  Policy CSM2 of 

the KMWLP therefore recognises that the need for sharp sand and gravel 

Page 59



 

 

requirements can only be met whilst resources allow. In light of the greater 

abundance of soft sand resources there is no similar policy test for soft sand 

requirements. 

1.6  The submitted Kent Mineral Sites Plan allocated three sites for sand and gravel 

extraction as follows: 

 Extension to Stonecastle Farm Quarry, Hadlow (sharp sand and gravel) 

 Land at Moat Farm, Five Oak Green (sharp sand and gravel) 

 Chapel Farm (West), Lenham (soft sand) 

1.7 The allocations of sites in the Mineral Sites Plan does not necessarily mean that 

mineral extraction will take place in these locations. A mineral operator(s) will need 

to submit a detailed planning application to the County Council and obtain planning 

permission. 

1.8 A total of 405 representations were received on the Pre-Submission documents and  

were considered by an independent planning inspector appointed by the Secretary 

of State to examine the soundness of the Minerals Sites Plan and the modifications 

to the KMWLP proposed by the Early Partial Review (in accordance with relevant 

planning policy and guidance). The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

defines a ‘sound’ local plan as one that is: 

 

a) Positively prepared – provides a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 

the area’s objectively assessed need; 

b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 

alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence; 

c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint 

working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather 

than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; and, 

d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 

development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF. 

1.9 The independent examination also considers whether Local Plans are sound and 

have been prepared in accordance with plan making legislation. 

1.10 The independent examination included public hearings which ran for four days in 

October 2019. During the examination the Inspector identified the need for 

modifications in light of comments made when the Plans had been published for 

representations and matters identified by the Inspector himself. The text of the 

modifications was discussed with the Council and representors during the hearings. 

Following the hearings, the proposed modifications were published for 

representations over an eight-week period from Tuesday 19 November 2019 to 14 

January 2020. Forty-six representations were received during the consultation which 

were considered by the Inspector but these did not result in any further changes. 

The Council received the report of the Inspector on 23 April 2020 and this report 

provides a summary and details of next steps.  

Page 60



 

 

 2. The Inspector’s Report 

2.1   The Inspector’s Report is included in Appendix A and this confirms that, subject to 

modifications, the submitted Kent Mineral Sites Plan and Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan Early Partial Review are ‘sound’ and have been prepared in accordance 
with statutory plan making requirements.  

2.2. The modifications are set out in Appendices 1 and 2 of the Inspector’s Report with 

justification included in the body of his report. The modifications are summarised as 

follows: 

 Removal of commitment in the KMWLP to allocate sites for clay and chalk 

extraction. Evidence presented by the Council demonstrated that there are 

sufficient reserves of chalk and clay over the plan period and so there is no 

need to allocate specific sites for the working of such minerals; 

 Addition of supporting text to policy on mineral safeguarding in the KMWLP 

(Policy DM7) to clarify and provide guidance on how the modified policy 

should be implemented; 

 changes to the supporting text concerning existing KMWLP policy (CSW5) on 

the strategic allocation of Norwood Quarry as a site for the landfill of air 

pollution control residues (from energy for waste plants) to ensure the 

supporting text is consistent with the policy; 

 addition of a footnote to supporting text to policy CSW7 on the need for waste 

recovery facilities to ensure the definition of recycling is clear; 

 changes to the ‘Development Management Criteria’ provided for each 

allocated mineral site intended to signpost matters needing particular 

attention to minimise risk of unacceptable adverse impacts on the 

environment and communities. The modifications covered the following 

matters: 

o Highlighting the need for ‘net gains’ in biodiversity as a result of the 

development consistent with revisions to the NPPF; 

o Noting proximity of Stonecastle Farm and Moat Farm to the green belt 

and hence the need for proposals to be consistent with the green belt 

policy in the KMWLP (Policy DM4) 

o Signposting need for proposals at all sites to fully consider heritage 

impacts, in accordance with national policy (and Policies DM5 and 

DM6 of the KMWLP); 

o The need for any proposals for development at Moat Farm to fully 

assess potential impacts on water resources at Moat Farm, and 

necessary mitigation (consistent with the criteria included for the 

Extension to Stonecastle Farm and with Policy DM10 of the KMWLP); 

o Specific requirements concerning the access to Moat Farm to minimise 

unacceptable adverse impacts on local roads (consistent with Policy 

DM13 of the KMWLP); 

o Strengthened requirements for biodiversity, public rights of way and 

landscape considerations at Chapel Farm (consistent with Policies 

DM3, DM14 and DM2 (respectively) of the KMWLP); and 

o Clarification regarding the commencement of working at Chapel Farm 

to minimise the risk of unacceptable cumulative impacts occurring as a 

result of operations at the existing nearby Burleigh Farm site 

(consistent with Policies DM12 and DM13 of the KMWLP).    

Page 61



 

 

2.3  The modifications are taken into account in the text of the Plans provided in 

Appendices 2 and 3 of this report. Importantly, the modifications do not alter the 

objectives or intentions of policy or change the sites proposed for allocation.  The 

reports in these appendices will upon adoption become the published Mineral Sites 

Plan and the revised Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Strategy upon which 

planning decisions in the County will be determined.   Appendix D provides details of 

the changes to the currently adopted KMWLP.    

2.4 Some minor non-material changes (e.g. formatting and correction of minor 

grammatical errors) (known as ‘Additional Modifications’) were identified as 

necessary and also published for information alongside the modifications. Further 

such changes may also be needed following adoption and these changes would 

only be made following agreement by the Deputy Leader with delegated authority for 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan Matters.  

3. Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal 

3.1  During their preparation, the Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review has been 

subject to sustainability appraisal (SA) (incorporating strategic environmental 

assessment (SEA)). The SA reports provide assessments of impacts (both beneficial 

and detrimental) on environmental, social and economic objectives which are 

expected to arise from development consistent with the Mineral Sites Plan and Early 

Partial Review. The SA also considered reasonable alternatives to the proposals in 

the Minerals Sites Plan and Early Partial Review. The recommendations from the SA 

were taken into account as the Plan was prepared. 

3.2 A non-technical summary of each SA prepared of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and 

Early Partial Review (with modifications recommended by the Inspector) are 

included in Appendix E and Appendix F. The full SA reports are available on the 

Council’s website here for the MSP and here for the EPR. 

4. Adoption 

4.1  In accordance with Section 23 (3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, having received a report confirming the soundness and legality of the Minerals 

Sites Plan and the modifications to the KMWLP proposed by the Early Partial 

Review, provided the Council makes the modifications recommended by the 

Inspector, it may now adopt the Minerals Sites Plan and Early Partial Review as 

updated planning policy for minerals supply and waste management in Kent. 

4.2 The new and revised policy will be used by the County Council when determining 

planning applications related to proposals for waste management and minerals 

supply. The updated policies concerning mineral and waste safeguarding will also be 

used by District and Borough Councils when determining applications for non-waste 

and mineral development. 

  5. Next Steps 

  5.1 A similar paper was considered by Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee 

(ETCC) on 17th July 2020.  A verbal  update will be given to this meeting on matters 

raised by the Cabinet Committee.  Following consideration by Environment and 

Page 62

https://consult.kent.gov.uk/file/5659127
https://consult.kent.gov.uk/file/5659126


 

 

Transport Cabinet Committee and Cabinet, County Council will be asked to agree 

that the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan resulting from the Early Partial Review be adopted as updated waste and 

minerals planning policy for Kent. In accordance with Regulation 26 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

stakeholders will be notified of the Council’s adoption of the updated planning policy.  

5.2 Prior to final publication of the documents, minor non-material changes (e.g. 

changes related to format and grammar) may be needed, and it is proposed if 

required that the agreement to such changes be delegated to the Corporate Director 

for Growth, Environment and Transport, in consultation with the Deputy Leader.  

5.3 Following adoption there is a six-week period for legal challenges. To be successful 

any such challenge would need to demonstrate that the EPR and/or the Mineral 

Sites Plan has not been prepared in accordance with the relevant legislation. 

5.4 Once adopted, policies in the Plans will be implemented and monitoring will be 

undertaken to assess the effect of the policies. Legislation requires a review of 

planning policy every five years and so the outcome of a review of KMWLP policies 

not updated by the Early Partial Review will be required by July 2021. 

5.5    Following adoption, further mineral and waste planning policy work will be required 

to meet statutory plan making requirements.  These include updates to the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); a 

review and update of the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

which sets out engagement for planning application and plan making matters, along 

with the 5-year review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30.  The 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 was adopted in July 2016 and the 

Council is statutorily required to review adopted planning policy at least every five 

years. The elements of the plan recently updated by the Early Partial Review will not 

require review until 2025. Further work as set out in Appendix G will form the basis 

of a revised Local Development Scheme.  This new policy work will become the 

responsibility of Susan Carey  as Cabinet Member for Environment, rather than 

Peter Oakford.   

  6.  Financial Implications 

6.1   The costs of preparing the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and the Early Partial Review of 

the MWLP are met from the Environment, Planning and Enforcement Division’s 

budget. 

7.    Policy Framework  

7.1   The Kent Mineral Sites Plan and the policies within the KMWLP itself support the 

County Council’s corporate policies contained within the Council’s Strategic 

Statement ‘Increasing Opportunities, Improving Outcomes – Kent County Council’s 

Strategic Statement 2015-2020’. The Minerals Sites Plan will support and facili tate 

sustainable growth in Kent’s economy and support the creation of a high-quality built 

environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and 

support its health, social and cultural well-being.  Both the MSP and the EPR Plans 

support national planning policy and guidance. 

Page 63



 

 

8.    Legal Implications  

8.1   The County Council has a legal obligation under the Town and Country Planning 

Acts to prepare a statutory Development Plan for planning purposes (commonly 

known as the Local Plan). 

8.2  The County Council is also required by national planning policy to ensure that local 

plans promote sustainable minerals and waste development. The Early Partial 

Review plays an important role in ensuring that minerals and waste development in 
Kent is in line with national planning policy. 

8.3   There is an expectation by the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government that all planning authorities have an up to date Local Plan in place. 

Without an up to date adopted plan, there is a risk that central government will step in 
as the plan making authority, reducing local accountability. 

 

8.4  During preparation, the Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review has been the 
subject of Strategic Environmental Assessment in accordance with the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programme Regulations 2004, and an Appropriate 
Assessment in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017. 

 
8.5 The resulting Sustainability Appraisals and the Habitats Regulations Assessment 

were published for consultation and taken into consideration when making decisions 
with regard to the Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review. These reports are 
available as background papers. 

                
  9. Equalities implications 

9.1 An equality impact assessment (EQIA) has been completed and no equality 

implications have been identified.  A copy of the assessment is attached at Appendix 

H. The earlier Local Plan work was accompanied by a separate EQIA.  

10.     Conclusion 

10.1 The Town and Country Planning Acts requires the County Council to prepare a 

Development Plan setting out how mineral and waste planning matters will be 

considered in Kent.  The KMWLP adopted in July 2016 sets out the overarching 

strategy and vision until 2030 and commits the County Council to preparing Mineral 

and Waste Sites Plans that allocate individual sites for development that align with 
the KMWLP strategy.   

10.2 An Early Partial Review of the KMWLP has been undertaken that removes the 

commitment to prepare a Waste Sites Plan and improves the effectiveness of 

safeguarding policies. A Mineral Sites Plan has been prepared that allocates three 
sites for sand and gravel extraction. 

10.3 Before the changes to the KMWLP and Mineral Sites Plan can be adopted the 

Council must receive a report from the Planning Inspectorate (on behalf of the 

Secretary of State) which states that they are sound and have been prepared in 

accordance with making legislation. This report follows an independent examination 
conducted by a Planning Inspector. 

Page 64



 

 

10.4 On 23 April 2020, the Council received the report of the Inspector who examined the 

changes to the KMWLP (proposed by the Early Partial Review) and Mineral Sites 

Plan and this states that the legislation was followed and that, subject to modifications 

that were promoted and considered during the examination, the changes and the 

Mineral Sites Plan are sound. The modifications strengthen and clarify policy in the 

Plans and do not propose changes to the sites included in the Mineral Sites Plan. 

Having received the Inspector’s report, if the Council accepts the recommended 

modifications it can now adopt the Plans. 

11. Recommendation(s): 

Cabinet is asked to: 

(i) Consider the Inspector’s Report (see Appendix A) on the examination of the EPR and 
MSP and note his recommended modifications;  

(ii) note the recommendations of the Sustainability Appraisals of the EPR and MSP; 
and, 

(iii) endorse, or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member responsible for the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan on adoption of:  

           (a) the Kent Mineral Sites Plan (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations)                                
.               (see Appendix B); and, 

           (b)  modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan as set out by the  .     
.                Early Partial Review (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) (see      

.                Appendix C). 

(iv) note that the decision to adopt the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the   
. Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan is a matter for County Council and request 
 the County Council to: 

      (a) Accept the modifications recommended by the Inspector to the Kent Mineral  .  
.               Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (as set  

.               out by the Early Partial Review); and, 

       (b) adopt the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and  

.                 Waste Local Plan (as set out by the Early Partial Review) (as modified); and, 

       (c) delegate powers to the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment &                    

.                Transport to approve any non-material changes to the text of the MSP and                   

.                modifications to the KMWLP (as set out by the Early Partial Review) in                       

.                consultation with the Deputy Leader prior to their publication. 

(v)     note and agree the future work activities on mineral and waste planning activities    .              

.        as set out in para 5.6 as the basis for a revised Local Development Scheme.  

 

 

 

12. Contact details 

Page 65



 

 

 

Lead Officer:  
Sharon Thompson – Head of Planning Applications Group 

Phone number: 03000 413468 E-mail: sharon.thompson@kent.gov.uk   
 
 

Lead Director:  
Stephanie Holt-Castle – Interim Director of Environment, Planning and Enforcement 

Phone number: 03000 412064  Email: stephanie.holt-castle@kent.gov.uk 
 
Appendix A:  

Planning Inspector’s Report on the Examination of the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan Early Partial Review and Kent Mineral Sites Plan including appendices 
 
Appendix B: 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) – the Plan 

for adoption 
 

Appendix C: 

Modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan as set out by the Early 
Partial Review (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) -  the Plan for 

adoption 
 

Appendix D: 

Changes to the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan as a result of the EPR 
Plan 

 

Appendix E: 

Sustainability Appraisal of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan (as modified by the Inspector’s 

recommendations) - Non-Technical Summary. The main document is available via 
this hyperlink. 

  
Appendix F: 

Sustainability Appraisal of the Modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan as set out by the Early Partial Review (as modified by the Inspector’s 
recommendations) - Non-Technical Summary. The main document is available via 

this hyperlink. 
 
Appendix G:  

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan – Proposed Planning Policy Activities Post 

Adoption of Kent Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review of Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30 

 

Appendix H: 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) and 

Modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan as set out by the Early 

Partial Review (as modified by the Inspector’s recommendations) – Equality Impact 
Assessment 

 

Background Documents  

Page 66

https://consult.kent.gov.uk/file/5659127
https://consult.kent.gov.uk/file/5659126


 

 

The supporting documents to the Mineral and Waste Local Plan work are available on 

the Council’s website as part of the Examination library via this link here.  

The earlier report to Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is available via 

this link here. 

Page 67

https://consult.kent.gov.uk/portal/second_call_for_sites_2016/document_library
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=7977&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 

 

Report to Kent County Council  

By Nick Palmer BA (Hons) BPl MRTPI  
 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State   

Date:  23 April 2020 

  

 
 

 

 

 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended) 

Section 20 

 

 

Report on the Examination of the 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early 
Partial Review and Kent Mineral Sites Plan 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
The Plan was submitted for examination on 3 May 2019 

The examination hearings were held between 8 and 15 October 2019 

 

File Ref: PINS/W2275/429/9 and PINS/W2275/429/10 

Page 69



 
 

2 

 

 

Abbreviations used in this report 

 
AA 

AONB 

APC 
BHCC 

C&I 

CRRNH 

Appropriate Assessment 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Air Pollution Control 
Brighton and Hove City Council 

Commercial and Industrial 

Capacity Requirement for the Management of Residual Non-
Hazardous Waste 

EA 

EPR 

ESCC 
HRA 

KJMWMS 

KMWLP 
LAA 

LACW 

MM 
MSA 

MSP 

NDA 

NE 
PLA 

RDF 

RWS 
SA 

SEEAWP 

SEWPAG 

SoCG 
SPD 

tpa 

WFD 
WSCC 

Environment Agency 

Early Partial Review 

East Sussex County Council 
Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Kent Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
Local Aggregates Assessment 

Local Authority Collected Waste 

Main Modification 
Mineral Safeguarding Area 

Mineral Sites Plan 

Nuclear Decommissioning Authority 

Natural England 
Port of London authority 

Refuse Derived Fuel 

Resources and Waste Strategy 
Sustainability Appraisal 

South East England Aggregates Working Party 

South East Waste Planning Advisory Group 

Statement of Common ground 
Supplementary Planning Document 

tonnes per annum 

Waste Framework Directive 
West Sussex County Council 

  

  
  

  

  

  
  

  

  
  

  

  
  

  

  

  
 

 

 

Page 70



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

3 

 

Non-Technical Summary 

 
This report concludes that the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial 

Review (EPR) and Kent Mineral Sites Plan (MSP) provide an appropriate basis for 

the planning of minerals and waste development in Kent, provided that a number 
of main modifications [MMs] are made to them.  Kent County Council (“the 

Council”) has specifically requested that I recommend any MMs necessary to 

enable the Plans to be adopted. 

 
The MMs all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings.  

Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed 

modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal of them.  The MMs were 
subject to public consultation over an eight-week period.  I have recommended 

their inclusion in the Plan after considering all the representations made in 

response to consultation on them. 
 

The MMs can be summarised as follows: 

 

• Modification to Policy CSM2 to reflect current mineral reserves and 
monitoring requirements and to remove the expectation regarding allocation 

of sites for clay and chalk extraction; 

• Modifications to Policy DM7 and its supporting text to provide further 
explanation of mineral safeguarding requirements; 

• Modification to Policy CSW5 regarding the strategic waste allocation at 

Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site, Sheppey to ensure its effectiveness; 
• Inclusion of a reference to the definition of recycling in the glossary to 

support Policy CSW7; 

• Requirements for minerals development on the allocated sites to secure net 

gain for biodiversity; 
• Requirements to examine the proposals at Stonecastle Farm and Moat Farm 

against national Green Belt policy; 

• Requirements for development on all allocated sites to fully consider 
heritage impacts, in accordance with national policy; 

• Measures to secure full assessment of potential impacts on water resources 

at Moat Farm, and necessary mitigation;  
• Strengthened requirements for access at Moat Farm; 

• Strengthened requirements for biodiversity, public rights of way and 

landscape considerations at Chapel Farm; and 

• Addition of a timing requirement at Chapel Farm to minimise risk of 
cumulative impacts with a nearby site.    

 

  

Page 71



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

4 

 

Introduction 

1. This report contains my assessment of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

EPR and MSP in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended) (“the 2004 Act”).  It considers first whether the 

preparation of the Plans has complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then 

considers whether the Plans are sound and whether they are compliant with 
the legal requirements.  The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the 

Framework), in paragraph 35, makes it clear that in order to be sound, a Local 

Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with 

national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the minerals and 

waste planning authority has submitted what it considers to be sound plans.  

The EPR of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) and the MSP, 
which were both submitted in May 2019 are the basis for my examination.  

They are the same documents as were published for consultation in January 

2019. 

3. The KMWLP was adopted in 2016.  The EPR makes the following changes to 

the KMWLP, in summary: 

• it is not now proposed to produce a Waste Sites Plan, following a re-

assessment of need for waste facilities over the plan period; 

• two policies which deal with safeguarding of minerals resources and 

minerals and waste infrastructure are to be amended to ensure their 

effectiveness; and 

• a policy change in respect of the Strategic Site Allocation at Norwood 

Quarry to ensure that the site can be suitably restored should it no 

longer be used for tipping of flue ash. 

4. The MSP allocates two sites for sharp sand and gravel extraction and one site 

for soft sand extraction.  

Main Modifications 

5. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested that I 
recommend any MMs necessary to rectify matters that make the Plans 

unsound and thus incapable of being adopted.  My report explains why the 

recommended MMs, all of which relate to matters that were discussed at the 
examination hearings, are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the 

report in the form EPR/MM1, etc for the EPR and MSP/MM1, etc for the 

MSP.  These are set out in full in Appendices 1 and 2. 

6. Following the examination hearings, the Council prepared schedules of 

proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal (SA) of them.  The MM 

schedules and SAs were subject to public consultation for eight weeks. I have 

taken account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in 
this report.  The MMs do not affect the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

previously carried out.  

Page 72



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

5 

 

Policies Map 

7. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan.  

When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 
map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this 

case, the submission policies map comprises the set of plans identified as 

‘Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Transportation Depots’ and ‘Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas’ in section 9 of the KMWLP.  The policies map is not 

defined in statute as a development plan document and so I do not have the 

power to recommend MMs to it.  

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

8. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council 
complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of the 

preparation of the Plans. 

9. The duty applies to strategic matters which are defined as sustainable 
development or use of land that has or would have a significant impact on at 

least two planning areas or on a county matter in a two-tier area.  The 

requirement is for local authorities to engage constructively, actively and on 

an on-going basis with prescribed bodies in order to maximise the 

effectiveness of plan preparation. 

10. The processes of engagement in respect of both the EPR and the MSP began in 

2016 and continued up to submission of the Plans.  The Council has engaged 
with District and Borough Councils in Kent, with adjoining authorities and 

other authorities which either send or receive waste to or from Kent in 

preparing the EPR.  This included a targeted consultation exercise with respect 
to hazardous waste disposal and residual waste management capacity.  There 

has been active engagement on waste matters through the South East Waste 

Planning Advisory Group (SEWPAG).  This has informed the EPR process 

through a greater understanding of cross-boundary movements of waste in 
the south-east and the need for hazardous waste facilities.  Concerns have 

been expressed at the intention to not allocate a site for asbestos disposal, but 

the Council has demonstrated that there is no need to allocate a site for this 
purpose.  Irrespective of whether there may be an outstanding point of 

objection on this matter, the Council has demonstrated that it has engaged 

actively and constructively in preparing the EPR. 

11. Statements of common ground (SoCG) have been progressed with Kent 

District and Borough Councils throughout the period up to submission which 

principally concern safeguarding of minerals and of mineral and waste 

facilities.  This demonstrates active, constructive and on-going engagement in 
the EPR.  Some of those SoCGs were not completed until after submission but 

this does not mean that the duty to co-operate has not been met.     

12. With respect to the MSP, there has been active engagement on minerals 
through the South East England Aggregates Working Party (SEEAWP).  There 

has been engagement with minerals planning authorities in the south-east 

regarding the supply of soft sand given the constraint imposed by the South 

Page 73



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

6 

 

Downs National Park designation which lies outside Kent.  A SoCG has been 

agreed between the Council and West Sussex County Council (WSCC), East 
Sussex County Council (ESCC), Brighton and Hove City Council (BHCC) and 

the South Downs National Park Authority on this matter.  I consider this 

further in paragraph 55 of this report. 

13. On both plans there has been active and direct engagement with the 

Environment Agency (EA), Historic England, Natural England (NE), Highways 

England and the Marine Management Organisation.  This has strongly 

influenced the determination of the proposed site allocations in the MSP.  

14. Engagement with NE has resulted in an addendum to the HRA in respect of the 

EPR and the MSP.  A SoCG between the Council and NE was signed after 

submission but the process of constructive dialogue during preparation is 
demonstrated.  The Council has also engaged with the other bodies prescribed 

in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

(the 2012 Regulations).   

15. I am satisfied that where necessary the Council has engaged constructively, 

actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plans and that the 

duty to co-operate has therefore been met in respect of the EPR and the MSP. 

Assessment of Soundness 

Main Issues 

16. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 

discussions that took place at the examination hearings, I have identified four 

main issues upon which the soundness of the EPR and MSP depend.  This 
report deals with these main issues.  It does not respond to every point or 

issue raised by representors.  Nor does it refer to every policy or policy 

criterion in the Plan.   

Issue 1 – Whether or not the waste policies as amended by the Early 

Partial Review would be positively prepared, justified and otherwise sound  

Background 

17. The KMWLP was adopted in July 2016.  A number of its policies state that sites 
for waste development will be identified in the Waste Sites Plan.  Policy CSW8 

makes provision for sites for recovery facilities, Policy CSW12 provides for 

allocation of a site for landfilling of asbestos waste and Policy CSW14 provides 
for a site for disposal of dredgings.  Policies CSW6 and CSW7 make provision 

for sites to be allocated for recovery and green and kitchen waste 

development.  The Council has reviewed the need for the waste facilities 
identified in the above policies and no longer proposes to produce a Waste 

Sites Plan.   

Recovery Provision 

18. Part of the strategy for waste management capacity as set out in the KMWLP 
is to maintain net self-sufficiency whereby sufficient facilities are provided in 

Kent to manage the equivalent quantity of waste as is produced in Kent with 

Page 74



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

7 

 

some provision for a reducing amount of London’s waste.  This recognises that 

in reality waste crosses County boundaries in accordance with the operation of 

the market.  This approach is continued in the EPR. 

19. Article 16 of the Waste Framework Directive (WFD)1 states that the network of 

waste recovery and disposal installations shall be designed to enable the 
European Community as a whole to become self-sufficient and to enable 

member states to move towards that aim individually.  Net self-sufficiency of 

individual authorities is an agreed strategy between the SEWPAG authorities 
as set out in their Memorandum of Understanding.  This recognises that it may 

not be possible for each authority to provide for all of its waste management 

needs and that there will inevitably be cross-boundary movements of waste.  

The approach is consistent with the aims of the WFD in this respect.     

20. The Capacity Requirement for the Management of Residual Non-Hazardous 

Waste2 (CRRNH) has assessed the need for provision for residual non-

hazardous waste arising in Kent, including Local Authority Collected Waste 
(LACW) and Commercial & Industrial (C&I) waste, as well as some waste 

originating from London.  The calculation of need takes into account revised 

recycling rates which are based on government guidance and the actual rates 
achieved.  The forecast requirement is based on continuing reductions in 

landfill. 

21. The CRRNH considers the capacities of existing consented facilities and the 

extent to which they would satisfy identified need.  A permitted facility at 
Barge Way has not been built.  Irrespective of whether there is any 

uncertainty as to whether that facility will be provided, the strategy for waste 

management capacity does not depend on its provision.  Waste arisings are 
forecast for intervals of 5 years up to the end of the Plan period in 2030/31.  

The proposed diversion of LACW and C&I waste from landfill is greater than 

that in the KMWLP.  The proportions of those waste streams that are to be 

subject to other recovery instead of recycling/composting are greater in the 

EPR than in the KMWLP, taking into account the re-assessed recycling rates.   

22. Since adoption of the KMWLP, a significant new waste recovery facility has 

been built at Kemsley and is being commissioned.  This provides capacity of 
525,000 tonnes per annum (tpa).  Policy CSW7 of the KMWLP identifies a 

recovery requirement of 562,500 tpa but this requirement has been re-

assessed in the CRRNH having regard to the revised recycling rates and 

revised figures for diversion of waste from landfill. 

23. Table 9 of the CRRNH shows that there is no gap in capacity for other recovery 

treatment of residual non-hazardous waste throughout the Plan period and 

demonstrates that the Kemsley facility together with the existing Allington 
facility will provide a surplus of other recovery capacity.  On this basis there is 

no need to allocate sites.  However, Policies CSW6 and CSW7 provide 

flexibility in that they are permissive policies that would allow for other 

recovery facilities to be developed should they be required.       

 

 
1 Directive 2008/98 
2 Part of the Kent Waste Needs Assessment 2018 (KCC/SP38) 

Page 75



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

8 

 

24. The manufacture of Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) is an intermediate process prior 

to its incineration.  At present RDF is exported to mainland Europe for 
incineration but uncertainties have been identified by waste operators as to 

the extent to which this will continue in the future.  If the export market for 

RDF were to change in the future, then this could require additional 
incineration capacity in this country.  The Council has taken into account RDF 

that is manufactured in Kent in its assessment of C&I waste need.   

Recycling/Composting 

25. Recycling targets have been scaled back to reflect targets set in the 

Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy3 (RWS) and to be more realistic 

having regard to actual recycling rates achieved.   

26. Policy CSW4 of the KMWLP requires as a minimum the targets for recycling 
and composting identified in the Kent Joint Municipal Waste Management 

Strategy (KJMWMS) to be achieved.  The policy does not specify the actual 

targets but acknowledges that the KJMWMS may be subject to amendment 
and that targets may change.  The targets set out in Policy CSW4 in the EPR 

are consistent with the KJMWMS of 2018 and the targets in the Government’s 

RWS.  Progression to the RWS targets has been amended to more realistically 
reflect those that have been achieved.  The Council has demonstrated that 

increases in recycling rates will be achieved through a variety of initiatives 

including food waste recycling.   

27. Policy CSW7 identifies a need for an additional 64,000 tpa capacity in 2024 for 
green and kitchen wastes.  There is a surplus of capacity for recycling 

facilities4 throughout the Plan period but the KMWLP identifies a need for 

additional composting facilities.  The calculation of green and kitchen waste 
treatment capacity in Policy CSW7 was based on targets from the former 

Regional Spatial Strategy, the South East Plan.  There is no justification, 

however, for separate consideration of these wastes, and it is appropriate to 

consider these as part of the overall recycling and composting requirement. 

28. There is no shortfall, and indeed there is a surplus, of recycling and 

composting facilities considered together throughout the Plan period.  Policy 

CSW7 is permissive in respect of proposals that may come forward. 

29. The supporting text to Policy CSW7 should be clear that composting forms part 

of recycling as defined in the Glossary to the KMWLP.  This change is 

necessary to ensure the policy is effective.  EPR/MM6 adds a footnote which 

clarifies this and is necessary for soundness.     

Hazardous Waste 

30. The KMWLP, in Policy CSW5 identifies an extension to Norwood Quarry on the 

Isle of Sheppey as a landfill site for hazardous flue dust ash residues from 
facilities in Kent.  Air pollution control (APC) residues are landfilled on the 

 

 
3 Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England, Defra, December 2018 
4 Tables 2, 3 and 10, Kent Waste Needs Assessment 2018 Non Hazardous Waste 
Recycling/Composting Capacity Requirement (KCC/SP37) 

Page 76



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

9 

 

basis of a derogation under the Landfill Directive.  The Strategy for hazardous 

waste management in England (March 2010) sets out high level principles for 
management of hazardous waste.  One of these is that the practice of relying 

on higher Landfill Directive waste acceptance criteria to enable some 

hazardous waste to continue to be landfilled must end.   

31. In recognition of this, the Plan policy needs to be flexible to facilitate changes 

to the existing arrangement if required as a result of changing government 

policy.  If landfilling of APC residues were to cease, then it would be necessary 
to ensure restoration of Norwood Quarry can be achieved and to consider 

other types of landfill in order to achieve this.  Policy CSW5 of the EPR 

provides for this and also allows for flue dust ash residues to be imported from 

outside Kent, in recognition that the facility is of more than local importance.   

32. Because Policy CSW5 of the EPR would allow by inference for other waste to 

be deposited in the circumstances described in amended criterion (1), in order 

to avoid any potential ambiguity and to ensure effectiveness it is necessary to 
amend the first paragraph of the policy to refer to this provision.  EPR/MM5 

makes this change. 

Asbestos Waste 

33. The Council’s assessment of hazardous waste needs identifies that Pinden 

Quarry has sufficient capacity to accommodate asbestos waste arising in Kent 

over the remainder of the Plan period, and to accommodate asbestos waste 

from outside the County.  On this basis the allocation of a site for landfilling of 
asbestos waste as provided in Policy CSW12 of the KMWLP is not justified.  

Policy CSW12 of the EPR is necessary to remove this provision. This policy is 

consistent with national policy without modification. 

Disposal of Dredgings 

34. Policy CSW14 of the KMWLP provides for the allocation of a site for disposal of 

dredgings, that is material dredged from estuaries to ensure they are 

navigable, and which cannot be re-used.  The Port of London Authority (PLA) 
and the Medway Ports Authority are responsible for such dredging and the PLA 

has stated that there is a lack of certainty as to whether a site will need to be 

provided within the Plan period.  Policy CSW9 allows for development of non-
inert landfill sites.  For these reasons the deletion, in the EPR, of the part of 

Policy CSW14 that states that a site for disposal of dredgings is to be allocated 

is justified. 

35. The policies in the KMWLP are permissive and allow for development for waste 

treatment without the need to allocate specific sites.  On this basis the Council 

does not intend to prepare a Waste Sites Plan and I am satisfied this approach 

is sound, taking into account the foregoing.  The Local Development Scheme 

will need to be amended accordingly.   

Radioactive Waste 

36. The Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) and Magnox have made 
representations concerning Policy CSW17.  That policy does not form part of 

the EPR and is not for my consideration.  The Council advised however that it 

Page 77



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

10 

 

will liaise with the NDA and consider this matter as part of a future review of 

the Plan.  I note that a SoCG in this respect has been prepared. 

Conclusion on Issue 1 

37. The strategy for provision of waste facilities in the EPR seeks to meet the 

area’s objectively assessed needs.  It is informed by agreements with other 
authorities and is positively prepared.  The supporting text to Policy CSW7 and 

Policy CSW5 are not sound but would be sound if the recommended MMs are 

made.  Otherwise, the waste policies as amended by the EPR are positively 

prepared, justified and otherwise sound. 

Issue 2 – Whether or not the amended safeguarding requirements for 

minerals and waste in the Early Partial Review are sound  

38. The EPR proposes amendments to Policies DM7 and DM8 of the KMWLP which 
concern safeguarding of mineral resources and minerals management, 

transportation, production and waste management facilities.  The amendments 

make clear that sites that are allocated in local plans for other development 
are only exempt from safeguarding requirements where mineral safeguarding 

was previously considered as part of local plan examination. 

Policy DM7 – Safeguarding Mineral Resources 

39. Policy DM7 of the KMWLP requires any non-mineral development that is 

incompatible with minerals safeguarding to demonstrate that one of seven 

criteria are met.  The seventh criterion is that the development would be on a 

site allocated in the adopted development plan.  It is to be expected that local 
plans will consider the need to safeguard mineral resources in allocating land 

for non-mineral uses, as stated in paragraph 5.5.14 of the KMWLP.  However, 

the existing policy criterion does not require this.  As such, there is the 
possibility that non-minerals development could sterilise mineral resources if 

safeguarding has not been considered in the local plan process.  The EPR 

proposes additional text to criterion 7 of the policy to ensure this requirement 

is clear.     

40. Safeguarding of mineral resources is a requirement of national policy.  The 

Framework states that planning policies should safeguard mineral resources 

and that “known locations of specific mineral resources of local and national 
importance are not sterilised by non-mineral development where this should 

be avoided (whilst not creating a presumption that the resources defined will 

be worked)”.  Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSA) are shown on the Policies 
maps.  Urban areas are excluded from the MSAs as the mineral resource is 

already sterilised by non-mineral development with very little prospect of 

future working. 

41. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on safeguarding 
explains how the policy is to be applied to development proposals and in 

preparation of local plans.  The Council explained that the SPD is to be 

updated following publication of my report.  

42. The supporting text in the EPR states that proposals in MSAs will usually need 

to be accompanied by a Minerals Assessment.  In order to be effective, the 

Page 78



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

11 

 

text should provide further explanation that development that has not 

previously been subject to minerals assessment as part of the local plan 
process should provide such assessment as part of the application process.  

EPR/MM7 makes this change which is necessary to ensure soundness.    

43. In order for the policy to be effective and sound, it is necessary to explain that 
there may be circumstances where mineral extraction would not be 

practicable.  It is necessary to provide further explanation as to how mineral 

safeguarding should be considered in local plan preparation and that the 
Safeguarding SPD will provide guidance.  Clarification as to how safeguarding 

will be considered in respect of non-allocated sites is also necessary, including 

consideration of need for non-mineral development.  EPR/MM7 and 

EPR/MM8 are necessary to provide clarification and ensure effectiveness. 

44. District and Borough Councils have expressed concerns about the application 

of the policy to sites that are allocated in local plans that were adopted before 

the KMWLP in which minerals safeguarding was not considered.  Otherwise, 
there is a good level of agreement between the authorities regarding 

safeguarding requirements.  The policy would require a minerals assessment 

where one has not previously been carried out and this is in accordance with 
national policy.  The criteria of Policy DM7 in the EPR would allow for balanced 

and flexible decisions to be made.  

45. Mineral safeguarding was considered in the Maidstone Borough Local Plan 

(2017).  The Inspector concluded that non-mineral development on allocations 
within the Limestone Hythe Formation (Kentish Ragstone) and the Sandstone-

Sandgate Formation would not result in a material inconsistency with national 

policy since these minerals are not likely to be needed.  As submitted, policy 
DM7 of the EPR and its supporting text would conflict with that plan and would 

not be justified.  EPR/MM7 is necessary to amend the supporting text to 

Policy DM7 to make changes in this respect.  Because the SPD will also provide 

detailed guidance, it is necessary for the policy to refer to this document in 

order to ensure it is effective.  EPR/MM8 is necessary to make this change. 

Policy DM8 – Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation, Production & 

Waste Management Facilities 

46. Policy CSM7 of the KMWLP safeguards other mineral plant infrastructure and 

Policy CSW16 safeguards existing waste management facilities.  Policy DM8 of 

the KMWLP sets out the criteria against which development that is 
incompatible with this infrastructure and those facilities will be assessed.  

Criterion (2) of that policy allows for development that is incompatible with 

safeguarded minerals management, transportation, production and waste 

management facilities on sites that have been allocated in local plans. 

47. Safeguarding of sites for minerals processing, production and transportation is 

required by the Framework.  The National Planning Policy for Waste requires 

consideration of the impact of non-waste related development on existing 

waste management facilities and sites allocated for those facilities.   

48. The EPR makes a change to Policy DM8 of the KMWLP to remove the 

possibility that safeguarding of minerals and waste infrastructure and facilities 
could potentially be overridden if this was not considered during local plan 

Page 79



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

12 

 

preparation and adoption. The criteria of Policy DM8 of the EPR allow for 

various factors to be taken into account by authorities in making decisions on 
developments other than minerals and waste development.  The criteria would 

allow for balanced and flexible decisions to be made.  The policy is consistent 

with national policy, effective and sound without modification. 

Conclusion on Issue 2 

49. The policies for safeguarding mineral resources and minerals and waste 

infrastructure in the EPR as submitted are not sound for the reasons given.  
The MMs as described and set out in the appendices are necessary to make 

those policies sound.   

Issue 3 – Whether or not the Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review 

would provide adequately for aggregates in accordance with national 

policy   

Objectively assessed need 

50. Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP states that mineral working will be granted 
planning permission at sites identified in the MSP.  The submitted MSP 

allocates two sites for extraction of sharp sand and gravel (Stonecastle Farm 

and Moat Farm) and one site for soft sand (Chapel Farm). 

51. The Local Aggregates Assessment (LAA) considers that use of the last 10 

years sales data, as required by national policy is the most reliable metric for 

considering demand over the Plan period.  Modelling based on local demand 

was previously considered in examination of the KMWLP, but this was found to 
be unreliable and to be significantly lower than the 10-year sales average.  

SEEAWP endorses the use of the 10-year sales average without any 

supplementary local demand modelling.  I agree that the use of 10 years sales 
data is the most reliable method of forecasting demand.  No alternative 

approach using local modelling has been demonstrated to be reliable.    

Sharp Sand and Gravel 

52. The KMWLP states in paragraph 5.2.20 that diminishing land-won sharp sand 
and gravel supplies will increasingly be substituted over the plan period by 

supplies from production of alternative materials including secondary and 

recycled aggregates, marine-dredged aggregates and imported aggregates.  
Because the sharp sand and gravel resource has been greatly depleted by 

extensive historical working, the planned provision of at least 10.08mt made 

in Policy CSM2 for this material is less than the identified requirement of 
13.26mt.  Paragraph 3.5 of the MSP states that, since the KMWLP was 

adopted, the permitted reserves of sand and gravel have increased, and the 

10-year sales average has decreased.  This leads to a revised calculation of 

sharp sand and gravel requirements in Figure 1 of the MSP.  However, 
paragraph 3.5 of the MSP gives an inaccurate figure of 10.8mt in respect of 

the KMWLP provision and is not effective.  MSP/MM1 is necessary to correct 

this.  

53. The revised calculation of the sharp sand and gravel requirement is for 5.75mt 

up to the end of the Plan period and including a 7-year landbank as required 

Page 80



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

13 

 

by the Framework.  The two sites proposed to be allocated would provide 

2.5mt, leaving a deficit of 3.25mt over the Plan period.  This does not differ 
significantly from the deficit of 3.18mt envisaged in the KMWLP.  On this basis, 

the provision for site allocations to be made in the MSP would be reasonably 

closely aligned with the provision identified in Policy CSM2.   

54. The deficit is to be addressed by provision for secondary and recycled 

aggregates and importation of marine-dredged aggregates as well as land-won 

aggregates from elsewhere.  Supplies of secondary and recycled aggregates 
are provided for by Policies CSM7 and CSM8 of the KMWLP.  Minerals 

infrastructure is safeguarded by Policies CSM6, CSM7, CSM12 and DM8 of the 

KMWLP and the EPR. 

Soft Sand 

55. In the south-east the supply of soft sand is constrained by the South Downs 

National Park designation.  The Framework requires, as far as is practical, the 

maintenance of landbanks of non-energy minerals from outside National 
Parks.  The SoCG with WSCC, ESCC, BHCC and the South Downs National Park 

Authority sets out how the authorities will plan, jointly and individually for the 

steady and adequate supply of soft sand.  There is also a Soft Sand Position 
Statement that Mineral Planning Authorities in the south-east are party to.  

Paragraph 3.18 of the MSP, which states that the surplus of soft sand will 

contribute to wider regional need is consistent with the joint working that is 

taking place.     

56. The allocated site at Chapel Farm provides for a surplus of soft sand relative to 

the identified requirement in Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP, which includes a 7-

year landbank as required by the Framework.  The surplus has increased from 
0.7mt to 1.122mt following an adjustment to average sales figures to reflect a 

reduction in sales in 2018.   

57. ESCC and BHCC are wholly reliant on imports of soft sand while WSCC has 

limited reserves.  Soft sand is exported to those Counties and this is 
accounted for in the 10-year sales average.  The Council recognises that 

monitoring of soft sand use in the south-east is an ongoing matter which may 

require a future review of the Plan.   

58. The Housing Delivery Test 2018 measurements show that the average housing 

delivery in Kent authorities over the previous 3 years was 109% of the 

requirements for Kent or 98% of the requirements for Kent and Medway.  
While this indicates that house building was close to, or above delivery 

requirements, the 3-year average for soft sand sales of 0.506mt is below the 

10-year average of 0.568mt which forms the LAA rate.  This provides 

reassurance that the soft sand requirement in the MSP would allow for an 

increased rate of house building than has recently taken place.      

Alternatives 

59. The Plan envisages greater use of alternatives to indigenous land-won 
aggregates.  The LAA shows that there is existing capacity to significantly 

increase production of secondary and recycled aggregates in the county.    

Page 81



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

14 

 

60. Marine-dredged sand and gravel is imported via Kent wharves and the Council 

anticipates that the use of this material could be increased to address the 
shortfall in land-won resources.  There are extensive reserves of this material, 

which is similar in quality to land-won aggregates.  It is generally more 

expensive to produce, but this does not make it uneconomic.   

61. The LAA states that wharf capacity is 7.3mtpa with 42% of that capacity being 

used.  It does not follow that the remaining identified capacity will be available 

for importation of marine-dredged aggregates, as capacity will depend on 
factors such as the availability of stocking space.  The wharves also serve a 

much wider area than Kent.  However, there is clear evidence of spare 

capacity at Kent’s wharves and although the precise amount of that spare 

capacity is uncertain there is scope for greater importation of marine dredged 

aggregates. 

62. The Plan provides flexibility in order to meet the predicted shortfall in supply 

of land-won sharp sand and gravel.  Policy CSM5 of the KMWLP and Policy 
DM7 of the EPR safeguard mineral resources and opportunities for 

development of ‘windfall’ reserves are provided by Policy CSM4 of the KMWLP.  

The Plan provides for the continued supply of alternative materials alongside 
indigenous land-won aggregates throughout the Plan period.  This provision 

ensures a steady and adequate supply of aggregates in accordance with the 

Framework.   

Other minerals 

63. The KMWLP states, in Policy CSM2, that sites will be identified in the MSP for 

supplies of brickearth and clay for brick and tile manufacture, and chalk for 

agriculture and engineering purposes.  The MSP does not allocate any site for 
production of these minerals.  The latest Annual Monitoring Report identifies 

that there is a stock of total permitted reserves of brickearth of almost 25 

years.  The provision is slightly below the requirements of Policy CSM2 and 

national policy for reserves of at least 25 years.  However, the provision is 
sufficient to support existing brick and tile manufacturers and there is no need 

for the MSP to allocate a site for brickearth or clay for brick and tile 

manufacture.  This does not however alter the ongoing need to ensure 

sufficient reserves of this material are available. 

64. Chalk is abundant in Kent but there are no plants dependant on this material 

in the County.  The indicative landbank for chalk for agricultural and 
engineering purposes is estimated to be 17.6 years as of 2018.  This provides 

an adequate landbank over the Plan period, but it will be necessary to monitor 

demand for this material.   

65. The EPR and MSP as submitted make no explicit change to Policy CSM2 in 
these respects.  However, in order for the Plan as a whole to be justified and 

effective it is necessary to make amendments to Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP 

and the supporting text to that policy to remove references to the allocation of 
sites and to provide for applications for new sites to be dealt with in 

accordance with the policies of the KMWLP.  It is also necessary for soundness 

to ensure that demand is monitored in relation to the stock of existing 
permissions.  EPR/MM1 and EPR/MM2 make changes to the supporting text 

to Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP to explain that there is a need to ensure 

Page 82



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

15 

 

sufficient reserves of brickearth are available and that reserves of chalk and 

rates of demand will be monitored.  EPR/MM3 is necessary to make 
amendments to Policy CSM2 part 2 regarding brickearth and clay.  EPR/MM4 

is necessary to make amendments to Policy CSM2 part 4 regarding chalk for 

agriculture and engineering purposes.  These MMs are necessary for 

soundness. 

Conclusion on Issue 3 

66. For the reasons given above, the MSP would provide adequately for 
aggregates in accordance with national policy.  MMs are necessary to the EPR 

to ensure clarity and effectiveness in respect of Policy CSM2 of the KMWLP.  

These changes are necessary for soundness. 

Issue 4 – Whether or not the Site Allocations in the Mineral Sites Plan 

would be consistent with national policy, effective and otherwise sound 

Extensions to Stonecastle Farm Quarry, Hadlow/Whetsted 

67. The extension is in an area where mineral working would have potential to 
affect groundwater.  A hydrological and hydrogeological appraisal has been 

undertaken.  Both the EA and South East Water are satisfied that mineral 

extraction can take place provided that this is managed in a way that does not 
adversely affect groundwater, including in terms of pollution.  Wet working is 

to be used to avoid adverse effects on groundwater. 

68. The development management criteria in the MSP require provision of a buffer 

between extraction and nearby watercourses, demonstration that there would 
be no adverse impact on hydrology or hydrogeology and other management 

measures.  These include consideration of the two abstraction licences in the 

vicinity and restoration requirements.       

69. The EA has no objection in terms of flood risk although a Flood Risk 

Assessment would be required with any planning application.  The EA similarly 

has no objection on grounds of potential contamination of ground water or in 

terms of water supply, subject to the inclusion of development management 
criteria.  Such criteria are included.  These are effective and consistent with 

national policy in terms of managing flood risk and protecting water resources. 

70. It is proposed to restore the site to reedbeds and lakes.  Although over 27 ha 
of agricultural land would be lost, this is of grade 3b, which is not best and 

most versatile land in accordance with the definition in the Framework.  As 

such, use of this land would not be inconsistent with the Framework. 

71. The highway authority has no objection in terms of highway safety, but 

transport criteria are necessary to ensure that the existing quarry access is 

used and that the volume of traffic is limited by working the quarries in the 

area sequentially.   

72. The site is within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  The Framework states that 

mineral extraction is a form of development that is not inappropriate in Green 

Belt provided that its openness is preserved, and development does not 
conflict with the purposes of including land in it.  In order to be consistent with 

Page 83



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

16 

 

national policy, the development management criteria should include a 

requirement to examine the proposals against national Green Belt policy.  

MSP/MM2 adds a criterion to cover this. 

73. The biodiversity criteria do not refer to the need to secure net gains for 

biodiversity, as required by national policy.  MSP/MM3 adds this requirement 

to the first criterion and is necessary for soundness. 

74. The second criterion under ‘Heritage’ should be amended to require the impact 

of proposals upon Listed Buildings and their settings to be considered to 
ensure consistency with national policy and effectiveness.  MSP/MM4 makes 

this change and is necessary for soundness. 

Moat Farm, Capel, Tonbridge 

75. The introductory information relating to the Moat Farm allocation states that 
the site is within Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council’s area, but the site is 

within the area of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, the boundary running 

along the Hammer Dyke.  This aspect of the site allocation is not effective.  

MSP/MM5 is necessary to correct this information.    

76. The site is within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  The Framework states that 

mineral extraction is a form of development that is not inappropriate in Green 
Belt provided that its openness is preserved, and development does not 

conflict with the purposes of including land in it.  In order to be consistent with 

national policy, the development management criteria should include a 

requirement to examine the proposals against national Green Belt policy.    

MSP/MM6 adds a criterion to cover this. 

77. As the Moat Farm site would use the same access as Stonecastle Farm, the 

requirement that all quarry traffic is to use the existing access onto Whetsted 
Road and to only turn left when exiting the site should be applied.  This is to 

ensure that Heavy Goods Vehicles travel directly to and from the strategic 

road network and not via minor roads which lead through Five Oak Green, 

which could potentially affect highway safety and amenity.  MSP/MM7 is 
necessary to add this to the second transport criterion to ensure effectiveness 

and consistency with national policy. 

78. The development management criteria do not include a requirement for a 

flood risk assessment.  This is required in accordance with national policy as 

the site is within an active floodplain.  MSP/MM8 is necessary to add a 

criterion in this respect. 

79. The site overlies a gravel aquifer and is close to a source protection zone for a 

public water abstraction borehole.  It is necessary to employ wet working in 

order to avoid any adverse effect on water resources.  There are no 

requirements in this regard within the development management criteria, and 

MSP/MM9 is necessary to address this matter and to ensure consistency with 

national policy and effectiveness.   

80. Monitoring of groundwater quality in relation to the adjacent former landfill is 

subject to control under the Environmental Permitting regime.  The Council, 

Page 84



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

17 

 

the EA and South East Water have taken this into account in the site allocation 

process.  It is necessary to require local water quality monitoring in 

association with the allocated site in accordance with a scheme to be agreed 

with the EA and South East Water to ensure protection of water resources.  

MSP/MM10 provides this requirement and is necessary for effectiveness and 

consistency with national policy. 

81. In order to alleviate flood risk it is necessary to provide a 16 metre buffer 

between areas of extraction and nearby watercourses.  The first criterion 

under ‘Water Resources’ is not effective in that it does not make it clear that 

this requirement applies to areas that have previously been subject to 

extraction as well as future areas of extraction.  MSP/MM11 is necessary to 

amend the criterion in this respect. 

82. The biodiversity criteria do not refer to the need to secure net gains for 

biodiversity, as required by national policy.  MSP/MM12 adds this 

requirement to the first criterion and is necessary for soundness. 

83. The heritage criterion makes no reference to the need to assess effects on 

nearby listed buildings and their settings, as required by national policy.  In 

order to ensure the development management criteria are effective and 

consistent with national policy MSP/MM13 is necessary to add a criterion in 

this respect.   

Chapel Farm, Lenham (Western Site) 

84. It is proposed to restore the site to agriculture using existing soils.  The 

proposed restoration as stated under the Chapel Farm allocation is not 

entirely clear in that it states that this would be to a “lower level of 

agriculture”.  The lower level refers to the finished topography of the site.  

The SA states that the land is of grade 2 quality which is best and most 

versatile.  It is necessary to ensure that agricultural land quality is 

maintained, in accordance with national policy, and additional text is 

necessary to explain this.  To ensure the requirements are effective 

MSP/MM14 is necessary. 

 

85. The second biodiversity criterion requires consideration of impacts upon 

nearby Sites of Special Scientific Interest and adjacent Local Wildlife sites.  

The SA records that priority habitats are adjacent to the site, which have 

potential for ground nesting birds, great crested newts, reptiles and bats.  It 

will be necessary for the developer to undertake a detailed ecological 

appraisal which sets out mitigation measures in accordance with national 

policy.  MSP/MM15 adds a criterion in this respect and is necessary for 

soundness. 

   

86. The biodiversity criteria do not refer to the need to secure net gains for 

biodiversity, as required by national policy.  MSP/MM16 is necessary to add 

a criterion in this respect. 

 

Page 85



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

18 

 

87. The first biodiversity criterion requires maintenance of a 15-metre buffer 

around an Ancient Woodland which adjoins the site access.  It is also 

necessary to ensure adequate protection for adjacent protected trees.  

MSP/MM17 amends that criterion in this respect. 

 

88. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is to the north of 

the A20 and the development would be visible from parts of the AONB.  The 

site should therefore be considered as forming part of the setting of the AONB.  

The Council has provided cross-sections which demonstrate that the quarry 

could be visually screened in views from the AONB by provision of bunding and 

planting.  The landscape criterion requires mitigation of visual impacts and 

demonstration that the setting of the AONB will not be adversely impacted.  

This does not impose any need to mitigate landscape impacts or to ensure that 

views into, and out of the AONB are not harmed.  In order to ensure the 

effectiveness of the policy, MSP/MM18 is necessary.  It is not, however, 

necessary for the policy to prescribe the type of mitigation required, as this 

would be a matter to be assessed in connection with a planning application. 

   

89. The heritage criterion identifies nearby listed buildings in respect of which 

consideration of impacts is required.  The site is also in an area of 

archaeological interest.  Changes are required to ensure effectiveness and 

consistency with national policy in terms of consideration of the settings of 

listed buildings and any necessary mitigation and an archaeological 

assessment.  MSP/MM19 and MSP/MM20 make these changes. 

   

90. Public rights of way run through the site and will require diversion and 

screening measures in order for the policy to be effective.  MSP/MM21 adds 

a criterion in this respect. 

  

91. The operator currently extracts mineral from a nearby site at Burleigh Farm, 

Charing.  Traffic from the proposed site would use the same road as the 

existing quarry.  To ensure that there is no detrimental effect on highway 

safety and amenity it is necessary to require the proposed site to be worked 

sequentially to the existing site.  MSP/MM22 is necessary for effectiveness in 

this regard. 

 

92. The Council has explained that the site could be worked sequentially to 

Burleigh Farm well within the Plan period, having regard to the likely period of 

working at that site.  Indeed, the Chapel Farm site would be needed later in 

the Plan period to provide for a steady and adequate supply of soft sand.  

Conclusion on Issue 4  

93. For the reasons given above, the Site Allocations in the MSP as submitted are 

not sound in terms of consistency with national policy and effectiveness.  The 

MMs as set out would make those allocations sound.    

 

Page 86



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

19 

 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

94. My examination of the legal compliance of the EPR and MSP is summarised 

below.  

95. The EPR and the MSP have been prepared in accordance with the Council’s 

Local Development Scheme. 

96. Consultation on the EPR and the MSP and the MMs was carried out in 

compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.  

97. Sustainability Appraisals have been carried for the EPR and the MSP including 

the MMs, which are adequate.  

98. The Appropriate Assessment (AA) of the EPR and MSP (November 2018) and 

the Addendum to the HRA Screening Report and AA for the EPR and the MSP 

(May 2019) set out why further AA is not necessary.  This is because likely 

significant effects on Natura 2000 sites have been screened out. 
 

99. The KMWLP includes policies designed to secure that the development and use 

of land in the mineral and waste planning authority’s area contribute to the 
mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.  In particular, Policy DM1 

requires sustainable design and Policy DM10 requires that development does 

not exacerbate flood risk.  The development management criteria in the MSP 

include requirements in terms of enhancing biodiversity and mitigating flood 

risk.   

100. The EPR and MSP comply with all other relevant legal requirements, including 

in the 2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations.   

101. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 

2010.  This has included my consideration of the development management 

criteria in the MSP which seek to safeguard living conditions for all groups.  

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

102. The Plans have a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the 

reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of them 

as submitted, in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These 

deficiencies have been explored in the main issues set out above. 

103. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plans sound 

and capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the recommended main 

modifications set out in the Appendices the Early Partial Review of the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 and the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan Mineral Sites Plan satisfy the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 

Act and meet the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

Nick Palmer 

Inspector 

Page 87



Kent County Council Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review and Mineral Sites Plan, Inspector’s Report 
23 April 2020 

 
 

20 

 

 

 
This report is accompanied by the following Appendices containing the Main 

Modifications: 

Appendix 1: Main Modifications to Early Partial Review 

Appendix 2: Main Modifications to Mineral Sites Plan 

 

Page 88



 

Early Partial Review - Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 1 of 5 

Appendix 1 – Main Modifications 
Early Partial Review - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 
 
The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying 
the modification in words in italics. 
The paragraph numbering below refers to the submission local plan, and does not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 
 
 
 
  

 

Reference 

Policy / 

Paragraph 

 

 

Main Modification 

EPR/MM1 Brickearth and 

Clay for Brick 

and Tile 

Manufacture -  

Paragraph 

5.2.30 

Amend paragraph 5.2.30 of Policy CSM2 as follows: 

 

‘5.2.30 At the time of plan preparation, Kent only has one operational brickworks near Sittingbourne, which is supplied 

by brickearth extracted from sites in the Sittingbourne to Faversham area to make yellow London stock bricks. 

Brickearth extracted from another site in north Kent provides the raw materials for a brickworks in East Sussex. 

National planning policy requires the provision of a stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years for brick clay.(53) 

There is a need to ensure identify sufficient reserves are available sites to provide brickearth for these two brickworks 

to ensure that the locally characteristic yellow London stock bricks can continue to be manufactured.’ 

EPR/MM2 Chalk -  

Paragraph 

5.2.35 

Amend paragraph 5.2.35 of Policy CSM2 as follows: 

 

‘5.2.35 Chalk is abundant in Kent. It is used for agricultural and construction purposes (primarily as a bulk fill material) 

across the county. (57) Since there are no plants dependant on the supply of chalk there is no policy requirement to 

make provision. However local sales data for agricultural and engineering use combined indicates that sales vary 

considerably from year to year. The indicative Kent landbank of chalk for agricultural and engineering use is estimated 

to be around 19.417.6 years as of 2018 according to 2013 sales rates., or 14.5 years at the three year average sales 

rates.(58). In view of the possible under reporting of sales for certain uses it is considered that some provision for 

additional chalk supplies should be made and sufficient chalk extraction sites, based on an assessment at that time, of 

P
age 89



 

Early Partial Review - Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 2 of 5 

likely future requirements, will be identified in the Minerals Sites Plan. Reserves of chalk and rates of demand will be 

monitored and reported in the Annual Monitoring Report and taken into account when any proposals for new sites 

come forward.’ 

 

[Footnote 58] KCC (20158) Kent's 102th Annual Kent Minerals and Waste Monitoring Report 20173/148. 

EPR/MM3 Policy CSM2 - 

2. Brickearth 

and Clay for 

Brick and Tile 

Manufacture 

Amend part 2 of Policy CSM2 as follows: 

 

‘Sites will be identified in the Mineral Sites Plan for the supply of brickearth by providing a stock of permitted reserves 

of at least 25 years to support the level of actual and proposed investment required for new or existing plant and the 

maintenance and improvement of existing plant and equipment. The stock of existing planning permissions at Paradise 

Farm, Orchard Farm, Hempstead House and Claxfield Road for brickearth clay for brick and tile making is sufficient for 

the plan period. Applications for sites supplying brickearth and clay for brick and tile making will be dealt with in 

accordance with the policies of this Plan. The existence of a stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years (as 

reported in the latest Annual Monitoring report) to support the level of actual and proposed investment required for 

new or existing plant and the maintenance and improvement of existing plant and equipment will be a material 

consideration.’ 

EPR/MM4 Policy CSM2 - 

4. Chalk for 

Agriculture 

and 

Engineering 

Purposes 

Amend part 4 of Policy CSM2 as follows: 

 

‘Sites will be identified to enable sufficient chalk extraction to continue through the plan period The stock of existing 

planning permissions for chalk is sufficient to supply Kent's requirements for agricultural and engineering chalk over 

the plan period. Applications for sites supplying chalk for agriculture and engineering purposes will be dealt with in 

accordance with the policies of this Plan. The need for additional supplies of chalk will be assessed based on the latest 

assessment of supply and demand set out in the Annual Monitoring Report.’ 

EPR/MM5 Policy CSW 5 Amend the first 2 paragraphs of Policy CSW 5 as follows: 

 

‘The proposed extension areas for Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site, Isle of Sheppey are together identified as the 

Strategic Site for Waste in Kent. The site location is shown on Figure 19. Unless criterion 1 below is satisfied, planning 

permission will not be granted for any other development other than mineral working with restoration through the 

landfilling of hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants.’ 

P
age 90



 

Early Partial Review - Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 3 of 5 

EPR/MM6 Paragraph 

6.7.3 

 

(Note that this 

appears as 

6.7.4 in the 

EPR document 

but as the 

original 6.7.3 is 

deleted by the 

EPR, para 6.7.4 

becomes para 

6.7.3) 

Insert footnote ‘87A’ to the word ‘recycling’ in the first sentence of paragraph 6.7.3 of the MWLP. 

 

‘87A A definition of recycling is included in the glossary. Recycling includes composting.’ 

EPR/MM7 7.5 Policy DM 

7: 

Safeguarding 

Mineral 

Resources 

Amend section 7.5 Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources as follows: (Note that the modification relates to the 

text as in the Early Partial Review Pre-Submission version.) 

 

7.5.1 As set out in section 5.5, it is important that certain mineral resources in Kent are safeguarded for potential use 

by future generations. However, from time to time, proposals to develop areas overlying safeguarded minerals 

resources for non-minerals purposes will come forward where for genuine planning reasons it would not be practicable 

to extract the otherwise economic underlying reserves before surface development is carried out. 

 

7.5.2 In such circumstances, when determining proposals, a judgement will be required which weighs up tThe need for 

such development will be weighed against the need to avoid sterilisation of the underlying mineral taking account of 

and the objectives and policies of the development plans as a whole will need to be considered when determining 

proposals. 

 

7.5.23 Policy DM 7 sets out the circumstances when non-minerals development may be acceptable at a location within 

a Minerals Safeguarding Area. This policy recognises that the aim of safeguarding is to avoid unnecessary sterilisation 

P
age 91



 

Early Partial Review - Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 4 of 5 

of resources and encourage prior extraction of the mineral where practicable and viable before non-mineral 

development occurs. 

 

7.5.4 The process of Local Plan formulation, including consultation, independent examination and subsequent adoption 

provides the opportunity to take account of, and address, the need for the safeguarding of mineral resources. In doing 

so, it can make a clear judgement that where land is allocated in a Local Plan for surface development, such as housing, 

the presence of a mineral resource, and the need for its safeguarding, has been factored into the consideration of 

whether the allocation is appropriate. For sites allocated for non-mineral development it will therefore usually be the 

case that an assessment of the relevant considerations (criteria 1 to 6 in Policy DM7) has already taken place. In some 

cases, the assessment will conclude that an allocated site should be exempt from mineral safeguarding. The approach 

to be taken to mineral assessment during the plan-making stage will be set out in the Safeguarding SPD. 

 

7.5.35 However, applications for non-mineral development located in MSAs, which are promoted as a ‘windfall site’ 

(sites not allocated in a development plan) or which are being promoted on allocated sites that have not been the 

subject of a ‘Minerals Assessment’, Proposals located in MSAs will usually need to be accompanied by such an 

assessment. a ‘Minerals Assessment’, This assessment will be prepared by the promoter, which and will include 

information concerning the availability of the mineral, its scarcity, the timescale for the development, the practicability 

and the viability of the prior extraction of the mineral. Guidance on undertaking Minerals Assessments is included in 

the BGS Good Practice Advice on Safeguarding. Further guidance is provided through a Supplementary Planning 

Document. (111) 

 

7.5.56 In certain cases it is possible that the need for a particular type of development in a particular location is so 

important that it overrides the need to avoid sterilisation of the safeguarded mineral resource. Such cases will be 

highly exceptional and it will be necessary to demonstrate, amongst other things, the overriding importance of the 

development, such as whether the development is of strategic national importance, and why the identified need 

cannot practically be met elsewhere. 

 

7.5.67 Criterion 7 of Policy DM7 recognises that the allocation of land in adopted Local Plans for non-mineral 

development, such as housing, should have considered the presence of an economic mineral resource and the need for 

P
age 92



 

Early Partial Review - Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 

its safeguarding at this time, and, where that is shown to be the case to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning 

Authority, there is no need to revisit mineral safeguarding considerations at the planning application stage. The 

Mineral Planning Authority and the district/borough planning authority will consider mineral safeguarding during the 

preparation of Local Plans including during preparation of Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments. 

 

7.5.48 Where proposals are determined by a district/borough planning authority, the Mineral Planning Authority will 

work with the relevant authority and/or the promoter to assess the viability and practicability of prior extraction of the 

minerals resource. As necessary the Minerals Planning Authority will provide information that helps determine the 

economic viability of the resource. 

 

7.5.9 In the case of the Sandstone-Sandgate Formation and the Limestone Hythe Formation (Kentish Ragstone) the low 

probability of utility of the Sandgate Beds and the significant available reserves (in 2019) of the Kentish Ragstone, it is 

anticipated that any future allocations in local plans for non-mineral development that are coincident with these 

safeguarded minerals will be unlikely to be found to be in conflict with the presumption to safeguard these minerals. 

This will need to be evidenced by a Minerals Assessment prepared to a proportionate level of detail. Further guidance 

will be provided in a revised SPD. 

 

[Footnote 111] The Supplementary Planning Document will be maintained by the County Council and updated as 

required. 

EPR/MM8 Policy DM7 Include additional sentence after criterion 7 as follows: 

 

‘Further guidance on the application of this policy is included in a Supplementary Planning Document.’ 

P
age 93



Mineral Sites Plan – Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 1 of 4 

Appendix 2 – Main Modifications 

Mineral Sites Plan - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying 

the modification in words in italics. 

The paragraph numbering below refer to the submission local plan and does not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 

 

Reference 

Policy / 

Paragraph 

 

 

Main Modification 

3 Provision of Mineral Sites 

MSP/MM1 Paragraph 3.5 Amend the first sentence of paragraph 3.5 as follows: 

 

‘Based on 2014 data, the KMWLP identified a required provision over the life of the plan period of 10.8mt 10.08mt of 

sharp sands and gravel and at least 7 years supply (5.46mt).’ 

Appendix 1 – Site Allocations 

M13 Extensions to Stonecastle Farm Quarry, Hadlow/Whetsted 

MSP/MM2 M13 Extensions 

to Stonecastle 

Farm Quarry 

 

 

 

  

Add an additional Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Green Belt  

 

The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and any proposal for development of the site must demonstrate 

how it is consistent with national and local policy on development within the Green Belt.’ 

MSP/MM3 M13 Extensions 

to Stonecastle 

Farm Quarry - 

Biodiversity 

Amend the first Biodiversity Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘A detailed ecological appraisal setting out any mitigation measures needed to ensure there are no unacceptable 

impacts on Kent’s biodiversity assets, and measures to be taken to provide a net gain in biodiversity.’ 

P
age 94



Mineral Sites Plan – Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 2 of 4 

MSP/MM4 M13 Extensions 

to Stonecastle 

Farm Quarry -  

Heritage 

Amend the second Heritage Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘The impact of proposals upon nearby Listed Buildings and their settings should be fully assessed and mitigation 

measures undertaken to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts on their setting.’ 

M10 Moat Farm, Capel, Tonbridge 

MSP/MM5 M10 Moat Farm Amend the district/borough council as follows: 

 

‘District/Borough Council: Tonbridge and Malling Tunbridge Wells’ 

MSP/MM6 M10 Moat Farm Add an additional Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Green Belt 

 

The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and any proposal for development of the site must demonstrate 

how it is consistent with national and local policy on development within the Green Belt.’ 

MSP/MM7 M10 Moat Farm 

- Transport 

Amend the second Transport Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Mineral must be removed from the site via the Stonecastle Farm site to the north such that access onto the highway 

network is achieved using the existing and approved access for the Stonecastle Farm Quarry, and HGVs only turn left 

when exiting the site.’ 

MSP/MM8 M10 Moat Farm 

– Water 

Resources 

Add an additional Water Resources Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Any application will need to be accompanied by a detailed flood risk assessment with measures identified to minimise 

and/or mitigate flood risk.’ 

MSP/MM9 M10 Moat Farm 

- Water 

Resources 

Add an additional Water Resources Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘This site overlies the gravel aquifer and near the edge of an SPZ3 for a public water abstraction borehole. Wet working, 

that being the extraction of materials from below the water table level, should be employed to negate the need to de-

water the active quarried areas.’ 

P
age 95



Mineral Sites Plan – Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 3 of 4 

MSP/MM10 M10 Moat Farm 

- Water 

Resources 

Add an additional Water Resources Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘A regime of local water quality monitoring is required to be agreed with the Environment Agency and South East 

Water.’ 

MSP/MM11 M10 Moat Farm 

- Water 

Resources 

Amend the first Water Resources Development Management Criterion follows: 

 

‘A 16-metre buffer should be provided between extraction areas (and areas that have been extracted) and nearby 

watercourses (including ditches) to alleviate flood risk in the area. Furthermore, should the Alder Stream require 

diversion, this should be subject to EA approval and hydraulic modelling must be undertaken to inform the diversion 

route and the potential impact on flood risk elsewhere.’ 

MSP/MM12 M10 Moat Farm 

- Biodiversity 

Amend the first Biodiversity Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Any proposal would need to be accompanied by a detailed ecological appraisal setting out any mitigation measures 

needed to ensure there are no unacceptable impacts on Kent’s biodiversity assets, and measures to be taken to 

provide a net gain in biodiversity.’ 

MSP/MM13 M10 Moat Farm 

- Heritage 

Add an additional Heritage Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘The impact of proposals upon nearby Listed Buildings and their settings should be fully assessed and mitigation 

measures undertaken to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts.’ 

M3 Chapel Farm, Lenham (Western Site) 

MSP/MM14 M3 Chapel 

Farm 

Amend the Proposed Restoration as follows: 

 

‘Lower level restoration to agriculture using existing soils of agriculture.’ 

MSP/MM15 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Biodiversity 

Add an additional Biodiversity Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘A detailed ecological appraisal is required (including all recommended species/habitat surveys) setting out any 

mitigation measures needed to ensure there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on Kent’s important biodiversity 

assets.’ 

P
age 96



Mineral Sites Plan – Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications 
Page 4 of 4 

MSP/MM16 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Biodiversity 

Add an additional Biodiversity Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Detailed restoration proposals should set out measures to be taken to provide a net gain in biodiversity.’ 

MSP/MM17 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Biodiversity 

Amend the first Biodiversity Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘At least a 15 metre buffer to be maintained around the Ancient Woodland and protected trees at all times.’ 

MSP/MM18 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Landscape 

Amend the Landscape Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Detailed information setting out proposed mitigation of landscape and visual impacts and demonstrating that the 

setting of, and views into and out of, the Kent Downs AONB will not be adversely impacted.’ 

MSP/MM19 M3 Chapel 

Farm - Heritage 

Add an additional Heritage Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Any planning application should be accompanied by a full archaeological impact assessment to ascertain the extent of 

any remains.’ 

MSP/MM20 M3 Chapel 

Farm - Heritage 

Amend the first Heritage Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

 

‘Nearby Listed Buildings include Royton Manor (Grade II*) and Chapel Mill (II), Vine House (II) and Mount Castle Farm 

Cottage (II). Consideration and mitigation of impacts on heritage assets including listed buildings is required. The 

impact of proposals upon the Listed Buildings and their settings should be fully assessed and mitigation measures 

undertaken to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts.’ 

MSP/MM21 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Transport and 

Access 

Add an additional Transport and Access Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘Public Rights of Way (PROWs) that run adjacent and within the site will require appropriate diversions and screening 

to mitigate any impact on the PROW network as necessary.’ 

MSP/MM22 M3 Chapel 

Farm - 

Transport and 

Access 

Add an additional Transport and Access Development Management Criterion as follows: 

 

‘The site will only be worked sequentially to the permitted site at Burleigh Farm, Charing.’ 

 

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan 

 

 

 

 

 
July 2020 

 

 

Page 99



 

C
o
n
te

n
ts

 

Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Introduction    1 

 

2 The Policy Context    3 
 

3 Provision of Mineral Sites    5 
 

3.1 Sharp Sand and Gravel    5 
 

3.2 Soft Sand    9 
 

Appendix 1 - Site Allocations    12 
 

Extensions to Stonecastle Farm    13 
 

Moat Farm    17 
 

Chapel Farm    20 

Page 100



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan           1 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1    Kent County Council has responsibility for the planning of future mineral supply 

for the county. Following the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

2013-30 (KMWLP), this responsibility has now been fulfilled by the preparation of a 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan (the Sites Plan). The plan area for this document is the 

administrative area of Kent, excluding Medway. 
 
1.2    Kent contains a wide variety of mineral resources. Minerals are extracted for 

aggregate and non-aggregate markets. Aggregates are materials derived from sand 

and gravel deposits, soft (building) sands from the Folkestone Formation and crushed 

hard rock (Kentish Ragstone (a limestone)). They are used in the construction 

industry for building and maintenance purposes, including asphalt production in road 

building, concrete and mortar production for construction. Some aggregate minerals 

are also used for non-aggregate purposes, for example for beach feeding for flood 

defence purposes on parts of the coastline. Kent also has non-aggregate minerals, 

they include clay, brickearth, chalk (for construction/engineering and agricultural 

lime applications) and building stones (Kentish Ragstone, and extensive deposits 

of various sandstones that have been historically extracted). There also are 

reserves of industrial silica sand and brick clay within the county. However, the most 

significant minerals produced in the county are sharp sand and gravel, soft sand 

(building) and hard crushed rock (Kentish Ragstone). 
 
1.3    The Sites Plan provides the spatial detail for meeting requirements for sharp 

sand and gravel and for soft sand in accordance with Policy CSM 2 of the Kent Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 which the authority adopted in July 2016, following 

an Independent Examination in 2015. The Kent Mineral Sites Plan identifies 

potential locations for extraction of sharp sand and gravel and of soft sand, 

providing communities and the minerals industry with greater certainty about where 

minerals development may take place within Kent and the criteria that will need to 

be met. 
 
1.4    The Kent Mineral Sites Plan replaces Policy CA 6 of the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan: Construction Aggregates 1993, as well as Policy B1 of the Kent 
Minerals Subject Plan: Brickearth 1986. 

Page 101



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

! 
I       d 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan -  

Plan Area Ebbsfleet Development 

Corporation 

P
age 102



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan       3 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2 The Policy Context 
 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
 

2.1     The adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) is part 

of the Development Plan for planning purposes. It sets out the overarching framework 

for the strategy and planning policies for sustainable minerals extraction, importation 

and recycling, and the management of all waste streams that are generated in Kent, 

together with their spatial implications. This includes consideration of the economic, 

social and environmental aspects of strategic minerals and waste planning within 

the county. 
 

2.2    Chapter 3 of the KMWLP sets out the vision for mineral development in Kent 

and chapter 4 sets out 6 objectives to support this vision. Chapter 5 sets out the 

spatial strategy for meeting the need for minerals, identifying in general terms how 

much mineral will be provided over the Plan period and includes policies related to 

the delivery strategy for minerals (CSM policies) and Chapter 7 includes the 

development management policies (DM policies) which seeks to ensure that minerals 

development does not have unacceptable impacts. 
 

2.3    Chapter 5 expects that the Mineral Sites Plan will develop the delivery strategy 

by allocating specific sites for mineral development in order to provide a level of 

certainty to local residents, the minerals industry, landowners and other interested 

stakeholders as to where minerals development is likely to take place. 
 

2.4    Some work was previously undertaken on preparation of the Sites Plans that 

led to a Preferred Options Consultation (for waste and minerals) in May 2012. This 

work was not taken forward and to enable a more up-to-date appraisal of site suitability 

and deliverability it was considered necessary to undertake a second ‘Call for Sites’ 

exercise. This commenced in late 2016, continuing into 2017. 
 

2.5     Policy CSM 2 of the KMWLP sets out the policy context for the Supply of 

Land-won Minerals in Kent. It states that “Mineral working will be granted planning 

permission at sites identified in a Sites Plan, subject to meeting the requirements set 

out in the relevant site schedule in the Mineral Sites Plan and the Development Plan”. 
 

Preparation of the Mineral Sites Plan - Matters Considered 
 

2.6    For a site to be allocated in the Sites Plan, Policy CSM2 requires site allocations 

to meet the following criteria: 
 

There has to be a requirement for the mineral; 

consistency with relevant development management criteria; 

consistency with relevant policies in district local and neighbourhood plans; 

assessment based on strategic environmental information and Habitat Regulation 

Assessment; 

deliverability; and 

consistency with other relevant national planning policy and guidance. 

Page 103



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n

j 

      4               Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.7    In addition, the policy states that sites will generally be where viable mineral 

resources are known to exist, where landowners are supportive of mineral 

development taking place and where the Mineral Planning Authority considers that 

planning applications are likely to be acceptable in principle in planning terms. 

Discussion of some of the matters to be taken into account when preparing the 

Mineral Sites Plan is set out below. 
  

2.8    District and Borough Councils in Kent are preparing their own Local Plans. 

Care has been taken to avoid any material conflict between the Mineral Sites Plan 

and adopted Local Plans through consultation and engagement during the Local 

Plan formulation process. Local Plans produced by the County Council and the 

District and Borough Councils, along with any Neighbourhood Plans form the 

Development Plan. 
  

2.9    Local District and Borough council input has been sought on the site selection 

process. The outcomes of meetings held with each local council fed into the overall 

site screening process, and their comments were again sought prior to detailed 

technical assessments being undertaken on the Site Options. 
 

2.10    Minerals and Waste Local Plans have been adopted and are also being 

prepared by the minerals and waste planning authorities bordering the Sites Plan 

area and these have been taken into account. In accordance with the Duty to 

Cooperate, there has been ongoing discussion and consultation with neighbouring 

mineral planning authorities, especially those within the South East Region in respect 

of need considerations. The County Council is a member of the South East Aggregate 

Working Party, which represents the Mineral Planning Authorities in the South East 

and industry representatives. The work of this Group has also informed the Sites 

Plan work. The County Council will continue to work closely with adjoining authorities 

on strategic cross boundary matters. 
 

2.11    In accordance with the requirements of the Habitats Directive 1992, the Site 

Plan has been subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). This work has 

helped to inform which sites should be included for allocation within the Sites Plan. 

Related consultation has taken place with Natural England regarding the impact on 

international designations. Full details of the HRA assessment are available on the 

Council’s website. 
 

2.12    Post publication of the Site Options for consultation at Regulation 18 stage, 

the County Council attended a number of public meeting hosted by Parish and Town 

Councils to explain the Sites Plan work and seek views on the proposals. The 

views received have informed the Site Plan work. 
 

2.13    The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out the legislative 

framework for the preparation of Local Plans whilst European and National policies 

and strategies provide guidance on their content. The Mineral Sites Plan must be 

consistent with European and National policies. This Plan has therefore been 

produced within the context of relevant Plans, Programmes and Directives which 

were also instrumental in shaping the Minerals Strategy 2014. The Mineral Sites 

Page 104



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan       5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Plan has also been prepared in accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) 2019 and National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 2014 

for Minerals. 
 

2.14    It should be noted that the site allocations do not equate to the grant of 

planning permission. Any proposal for the development of an allocated site 

will need to secure planning consent and satisfy the requirements of the 

development plan and planning policy considerations at that time. 
 

2.15    Development of the allocations of the Mineral Sites Plan, and any other mineral 

developments, are subject to all the relevant policies, particularly the development 

management policies of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30, along 

with other local plans and relevant national policies. 
 

3 Provision of Mineral Sites 
 

3.1      The Mineral Sites Plan proposes sites for the extraction of soft sand, and 

sharp sand and gravel. It is considered that these allocations, in conjunction with 

current permitted reserves and the criteria based approach to the provision of 

aggregates established in Policy CSM 2 of the adopted KMWLP, will provide sufficient 

minerals during the Mineral Sites Plan period for the identified soft sand requirements 

and make an effective contribution to the supply of land-won sharp sand and gravel. 
 

3.1 Sharp Sand and Gravel 
 

3.2     Policy CSM 2 of the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30, 

in compliance with national policy, commits the County Council to make provision 

for at least a 7-year landbank for land-won sharp sands and gravel based on the 

current agreed local annual supply requirement for Kent while resources allow. 
 

3.3    The local annual supply requirement is established annually through the Local 

Aggregates Assessment (LAA) process, and has been taken as the average of the 

previous 10 years of sales and projected over the anticipated Mineral Sites Plan 

Period (2019-2030) including provision for an at least 7-year landbank to be available 

at the end of this Plan period. 
 

3.4    The supply of locally extracted sand and gravel will be sourced from: 
 

Existing permitted sites 

New sites, including extensions, as identified in the Mineral Sites Plan, and 

Other new sites not identified in the Mineral Sites Plan, deemed as acceptable 

sustainable mineral development in accordance with local planning policy and 

all material planning considerations including national planning policy. 

Page 105



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n

- 

     6   Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.5    Based on 2014 data, the KMWLP identified a required provision over the life 

of the plan period of 10.08mt of sharp sands and gravel and at least 7 years supply 

(5.46mt). Since this time, permitted reserves have increased (due to current reserves 

being re-estimated), and the 10-year sales average has decreased. Therefore, a 

new requirement
 (1) 

has been calculated as shown in Figure 1. 
 

Figure 1: Revised Sharp Sand and Gravel Site Plan Requirements 
 

 
 

10-year average figure x Years covered by the Plan (18 years, 2019 to 2030 

plus 7-year landbank) - Existing Permitted Reserves (estimated when Plan starts 

in our case 2019) = Requirement tonnage to be provided over the Plan period 
 

Estimated permitted reserves have been calculated as follows: 

Reserves as of end of 2017 = 3.69 

Current 10-year sales average=0.472mt 
 

Available reserves by the end 2019 would be reduced by 2 years equivalent 

extraction (during 2018 and 2019 at the current 10-year sales average rate) 
 

Available reserves at end 2019 = 3.69mt minus (2 x 0.472mt) = 2.746 mt 
 

Therefore: 
 

(0.472 x 18) – 2.746 = 5.75mt overall Plan requirement 
 

 
 

3.6    Having assessed the sharp sand and gravel sites that were promoted through 

the ‘call for sites’ in accordance with planning policy, two sites are allocated to 

contribute to the steady and adequate supply of sharp sands and gravel, subject to 

demonstrating at planning application stage compliance with the development 

management criteria set out below and national and local planning policy: 
 

Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extensions, Hadlow (M13) – an extension to the 

existing quarry (total yield of 1,000,000 tonnes), and 
 

Land at Moat Farm, Five Oak Green (M10) - a proposed new quarry (total yield 

of 1,500,000 tonnes) 

 
3.7    Details of the sites and the development criteria are shown on the map Kent 

Mineral Sites Plan – Sharp Sand and Gravels and in Appendix 1. 
 

3.8    The total yield of the sites suitable for allocation is 2.5mt. This results in a deficit 

of 3.25mt over the Plan period. Therefore, Kent will continue to be increasingly 

dependent on alternative sources to meet the demand for sharp sand and gravel. 
 

 
 

1 These revised requirements are based on the Sharp Sand and Gravel Topic 
Paper 2018 that used data reported for sales and capacity in 2017 - the latest 
estimate of requirements can be found in the most recent LAA.

Page 106



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan            7 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This will likely entail increased importation of sand and gravel via wharves and 

railheads, mainly from marine dredged materials from the East English Channel and 

North Sea (see LAA2018). Railheads may further distribute this material and may 

also have some potential to introduce land-won supply from other areas. Recycled 

and secondary aggregates will also contribute to overall aggregate needs but cannot 

be used as a substitute for all applications and is seen as making a contribution to 

overall supply compared to primary aggregates. 
 
3.9    Any proposal for the development of either of the above allocations must 

address the development management considerations set out for each site in 

Appendix 1, in addition to any other matters relevant to the development of each 

proposed allocation demonstrating that any unacceptable impacts will be mitigated 

to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Page 107



 

 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan -  

Sharp Sand and Gravels 

P
age 108



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan      9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.2 Soft Sand 

 
3.10     Policy CSM 2 of the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30, 

in compliance with national policy, commits the County Council to make the provision 

of at least a 7-year landbank for soft sand based on the current agreed local annual 

supply requirement for Kent. 
 

3.11      The local annual supply requirement is established annually through the 

Local Aggregates Assessment (LAA) process, and has been taken as the average 

of the previous 10 years of sales and projected over the anticipated Mineral Sites 

Plan Period (2019-2030) including provision for an at least 7-year landbank to be 

available at the end of this Plan period. 
 

3.12    The supply of locally extracted soft sand will be sourced from: 
 

Existing permitted sites 

A new site, as identified in the Mineral Sites Plan; and 

Other new sites not identified in the Mineral Sites Plan, deemed as acceptable 

sustainable mineral development in accordance with local planning policy and 

all material planning considerations including national planning policy 
 

3.13    Requirements in the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) 

suggest a 5 million tonne shortfall to be met from sites identified in the Kent Mineral 

Sites Plan. This shortfall was based on 2014 data and assumed the need to plan for 

a 24-year land bank, however, the Mineral Sites Plan period is shorter (the Plan 

period of 11 years (2019 to 30) plus 7 years at the end of the Plan period giving 18 

years in total to plan for). More recent calculations based on data in the LAA2018 

regarding supply in the form of sales and available reserves to meet that demand 

over the Plan period, taken together with an 18-year landbank suggest the shortfall 

is now 2.5mt (2). See Figure 2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2   These revised requirements are based on the Soft Sand Topic Paper 2018 that 

     used data reported for sales and capacity in 2017– the latest estimate of requirements 

     can be found in the most recent LAA.

Page 109



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

  

    10    Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 2 - Revised Soft Sand Site Plan Requirements 

 

 
 

10-year average figure x Years covered by the plan (18 years, 2019 to 2030 

plus 7-year landbank) - Existing Permitted Reserves (estimated when the plan 

period commences in our case 2019) = Requirement tonnage to be provided 

over the Sites Plan period 
 

Estimated permitted reserves have been calculated as follows: 

Reserves as of end of 2017 = 8.85 

Available reserves by the end of 2019 would be reduced by 2 years equivalent 

extraction (using the 10-year sales average of 0.568mt for 2018 and 2019 

extraction) 
 

Available reserves at end of 2019 = 8.85 - (2 x 0.568mt) = 7.714mt 
 

Therefore: 
 

(0.568 x 18) - 7.714 = Overall Plan of 2.51mt requirement (rounded 2.5mt) 
 

 
 

3.14    Having assessed the soft sand sites that were promoted through the ‘call for 

sites’ in accordance with planning policy, one site is allocated to contribute to the 

steady and adequate supply of soft sand, subject to demonstrating at planning 

application stage compliance with the development management criteria set out 

below and national and local planning policy: 
 

Chapel Farm (West), Lenham (M3
(3)

) - a proposed new quarry (total yield 

3,200,000 tonnes) 
 

3.15    Details of the site and the development criteria are shown on the map Kent 

Mineral Sites Plan – Soft Sand and in Appendix 1. 
 

3.16     Any proposal for the development of the above allocation must address the 

development management considerations set out for the site in Appendix 1, in addition 

to any other planning considerations relevant to the development and that any adverse 

impacts will be mitigated to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority. 
 

3.17     The yield of the Chapel Farm West site is 3.2mt. This amount can adequately 

meet the objectively assessed need for soft sand over the life of the Plan and will 

meet the requirement for a steady and adequate supply of soft sand in accordance 

with Policy CSM 2 of the KMWLP. 
 

3.18    There will also be a surplus of 0.7mt of soft sand available to contribute to 

the wider regional need for this material. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 As amended to exclude the eastern parcel 2018

Page 110



 

Kent Mineral Sites Plan -  

Soft Sand 

P
age 111



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

 

    12   Mineral Sites Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix 1 - Site Allocations 
 

Background 
 

This appendix contains the Development Management Criteria for each of the 

allocated mineral sites. These set out the key, site specific information relating to 

potential constraints, opportunities and issues to be addressed at the planning 

application stage. 
 

The Kent Mineral Sites Plan is an integral part of, the KMWLP. The two documents 

should be read together, and the policies of the KMWLP, particularly the development 

management policies (Chapter 7) will be applied to proposals for development on 

sites allocated in the Kent Mineral Site Plan. 
 

Development Management Criteria 
 

The Development Management criteria are specific matters to be taken into account 

in relation to the development of each site. They also include guidance on restoration 

objectives. The information set out in criteria should not be considered as exhaustive. 

These criteria are based on an assessment of the sites at the time this Plan was 

prepared and if circumstances change or new information becomes available prior 

to sites coming forward through a planning application, this will also need to be taken 

into account in decision making. 
 

As a result of the issues set out in the Development Management Criteria and 

depending on the precise nature of the development proposed, mitigation measures 

are likely to be required in order to prevent adverse impacts occurring. If adverse 

impacts are unavoidable and it is considered that they are an acceptable part of the 

development proposed, compensation measures may be required. 

Page 112



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n
  

Mineral Sites Plan      13 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Extensions to Stonecastle Farm 

 

Extensions to Stonecastle Farm Quarry, Hadlow/Whetsted 
 

Proposed Development: Extraction of sharp sands and gravel (Sub-Alluvial River 

Terrace Deposits) 
 

Site Location: Hadlow, Tonbridge 
 

Grid Reference: E 146908, N 146908 
 

District/Borough Council: Tonbridge and Malling (Access is within Tunbridge Wells) 
 

Parish: Hadlow 
 

Site Area: 28 hectares 
 

Estimated Mineral Reserve: 1,000,000 tonnes 
 

Existing Land Use: Agriculture 
 

Proposed Restoration: Reedbeds and lakes 
 

Development Management Criteria 
 

The Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension site is acceptable in principle for mineral 

development, subject to compliance with the development management 

considerations, with particular reference to: 
 

Transport 
 

A detailed transport assessment to demonstrate compliance with KMWLP Policy 

DM13. 

All quarry traffic to utilise the existing Stonecastle Quarry access onto Whetsted 

Road, and only turn left when exiting the site. 

The site shall only be worked sequentially to the permitted phases at Stonecastle 

Farm Quarry or the Moat Farm Quarry (should planning permission be granted 

for this latter site). To avoid unacceptable impacts on the local highway network, 

the Stonecastle Farm Extension (M13), the Moat Farm Site (M10) and the 

permitted Stonecastle Farm Quarry shall not be worked concurrently. 
 

Water Resources 
 

A minimum 16 metre buffer will need to be provided between extraction and 

nearby watercourses. 

Demonstration that the site will have no adverse impacts on hydrology or 

hydrogeology. This should be undertaken in liaison with South East Water and 

the Environment Agency and will need to include (amongst other matters) the 

following: 
 

The risk of pollutants entering the restored open lakes 

Page 113



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

 

    14    Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A Hydrometric Monitoring Strategy; the results of this should be regularly 

reviewed and the conceptual model of the site updated as required 

Risk to derogation of the activities subject to Abstraction Licences in the 

vicinity of the site. 
 

Compliance with the Environment Agency’s approach to the management and 

protection of groundwater as outlined within their Groundwater Protection Position 

Statements and take all measures and precautions necessary to avoid 

deterioration in the quality of groundwater below the site. 

The restoration plan will need to have reference to the proposed lakes and their 

interface with the nearby watercourses in accordance with Environment Agency 

advice. It must also include evidence to demonstrate how the integrity of nearby 

watercourses will be retained. 

The two abstraction licences within the vicinity of the site will need to be taken 

into account. 

Dewatering techniques must not be used that would impact local water resources. 

Any application will need to be accompanied by a detailed flood risk assessment. 
 

Amenity 
 

A lighting, noise, dust and vibration management plan should be completed, 

setting out how unacceptable impacts will be avoided. A detailed dust assessment 

and management plan should be submitted which follows best practice and any 

national Government guidance (e.g. Planning Practice Guidance). 

Compliance with policy DM11 of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in 

respect of health and amenity. 
 

Biodiversity 
 

A detailed ecological appraisal setting out any mitigation measures needed to 

ensure there are no unacceptable impacts on Kent's biodiversity assets, and 

measures to be taken to provide a net gain in biodiversity. 

Detailed restoration proposals will need to demonstrate that the potential loss 

of the BAP habitat deciduous woodland is offset by replacement woodland 

provision within the proposed restoration plan. This should include a range of 

trees and shrub sizes to create a vertical design element to the planting. 

Any operations should exclude the Ancient Woodland and a suitable buffer 

should be employed as to not impact on the designation directly or indirectly 

Restoration scheme should incorporate additional woodland planting where 

possible, including native evergreen species along the western and southern 

boundaries of the proposed quarry extension site. 

Suitable buffer zones and mitigation to be proposed to mitigate impacts to Local 

Wildlife Site TM20. 

The developer to appropriately manage the Nuttall’s pondweed and Crassula 

in the area. 

The need for compensatory replacement habitat should be considered. 
 

Page 114



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan         15 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Heritage 
 

Further assessment of the potential impact of proposals on the historic landscape 

and surviving features is necessary and should account of the historic landscape 

should be taken during works and in later site landscaping and restoration 

programme. 

The impact of proposals upon nearby Listed Buildings and their settings should 

be fully assessed and mitigation measures undertaken to avoid unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 

Any planning application should be accompanied by a full archaeological impact 

assessment to ascertain the extent of any remains. 
 

Green Belt 
 

The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and any proposal for 

development of the site must demonstrate how it is consistent with national 

and local policy on development within the Green Belt. 

Page 115



 

Page 116



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan         17 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Moat Farm 

 

Moat Farm, Capel, Tonbridge 
 
Proposed Development: Extraction of sharp sands and gravel (Sub-Alluvial River 

Terrace Deposits) 
 
Site Location: Five Oak Green, Capel, Tonbridge 

 
Grid Reference: E 564578, N 146400 

 
District/Borough Council: Tunbridge Wells 

 
Parish: Capel 

 
Site Area: 38.2 hectares 

 
Estimated Mineral Reserve: 1,500,000 tonnes 

 
Existing Land Use: Agriculture 

 
Proposed Restoration: Phased wetland restoration 

 
Development Management Criteria 

 
The Moat Farm site is acceptable in principle for mineral development, subject to 

compliance with the development management considerations, with particular 

reference to: 
 
Transport 

 

A detailed transport assessment to demonstrate compliance with KMWLP Policy 

DM 13. 

Mineral must be removed from the site via the Stonecastle Farm site to the north 

such that access onto the highway network is achieved using the existing and 

approved access for the Stonecastle Farm Quarry, and HGVs only turn left 

when exiting the site. 

The site shall only be worked sequentially to the permitted phases at Stonecastle 

Farm Quarry or the Moat Farm Quarry (should planning permission be granted 

for this latter site). 

To avoid unacceptable impacts on the local highway network, the Stonecastle 

Farm Extension, the Moat Farm Site and the permitted Stonecastle Farm Quarry 

shall not be worked concurrently. 

Proposals for the diversion for PROW will be required which show how 

connectivity of the surrounding PROW network will not be lost. 
 
Water Resources 

 

A 16 metre buffer should be provided between extraction areas (and areas 

that have been extracted) and nearby watercourses (including ditches) to 

alleviate flood risk in the area. Furthermore, should the Alder Stream require 

diversion, this should be subject to EA approval and hydraulic 

Page 117



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

 

  18    Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

modelling must be undertaken to inform the diversion route and the potential 

impact on flood risk elsewhere. 

Any restoration works should not include raising the ground levels over existing 

levels as this will have an adverse impact on flood risk. Wetland restoration is 

preferable. 

Any application will need to be accompanied by a detailed flood risk 

assessment with measures identified to minimise and/or mitigate flood risk. 

The site overlies the gravel aquifer and near the edge of an SPZ3 for a public 

water abstraction borehole. Wet working, that being the extraction of materials 

from below the water table level, should be employed to negate the need to 

de-water the active quarried areas. 

A regime of local water quality monitoring is required to be agreed with the 

Environment Agency and South East Water. 
 

Biodiversity 
 

Any proposal would need to be accompanied by a detailed ecological appraisal 

setting out any mitigation measures needed to ensure there are no unacceptable 

impacts on Kent's biodiversity assets, and measures to be taken to provide a 

net gain in biodiversity. 

Any operations should exclude the Ancient Woodland and a suitable buffer 

should be employed as to not impact on the designation directly or indirectly. 
 

Health and Amenity 
 

Compliance with policy DM 11 of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in 

respect of health and amenity. 

A lighting, noise, dust, and vibration management plan should be completed, 

setting out how unacceptable impacts will be avoided. A detailed dust assessment 

and management plan should be submitted which follows best practice and any 

national Government guidance (e.g. Planning Practice Guidance). 
 

Heritage 
 

There is potential for Palaeolithic remains within the site. Therefore, any planning 

application should be accompanied by a full archaeological impact assessment 

to ascertain the extent of such remains. 

The impact of proposals upon nearby Listed Buildings and their settings should 

be fully assessed and mitigation measures undertaken to avoid unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 
 

Green Belt 
 

The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and any proposal for 

development of the site must demonstrate how it is consistent with national and 

local policy on development within the Green Belt. 

Page 118



 

Page 119



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

 

   20    Mineral Sites Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chapel Farm 

 

Chapel Farm, Lenham (Western Site) 
 

Proposed Development: Extraction of soft sand (Sandstone: Folkestone Formation) 
 

Site Location: Lenham, Maidstone 
 

Grid Reference: E 590223, N 150704 
 

District/Borough: Maidstone 
 

Parish: Lenham 
 

Site Area: 35.4 hectares 
 

Estimated Mineral Reserve: 3,200,000 tonnes 
 

Existing Land Use: Agriculture 
 
Proposed Restoration: Low level restoration to agriculture using existing soils 

 
Development Management Criteria 

 
The Chapel Farm, Lenham (Western Site) (M10) is acceptable in principle for mineral 

development, subject to compliance with the development management 

considerations, with particular reference to: 
 

Biodiversity 
 

At least a 15 metre buffer to be maintained around the Ancient Woodland and 

protected trees at all times. 

Lenham Quarry SSSI is approximately 800m from the site and Hart Hill SSSI is 

2.5km away; both are designated for their geological interest. Lenham Heath & 

Chilston Park and Bull Heath Pit Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) are adjacent to the 

proposed site. Evidence to be submitted with any planning application to confirm 

that the LWS and SSSIs will not be adversely impacted. 

Woodland copse to the north-west corner of the site must be maintained 

A detailed ecological appraisal is required (including all recommended 
species/habitat surveys) setting out any mitigation measures needed to 
ensure there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on Kent’s important 
biodiversity assets. 

Detailed restoration proposals should set out measures to be taken to 
provide a net gain in biodiversity. 

 
Landscape 

 

Detailed information setting out proposed mitigation of landscape and visual 

impacts demonstrating that the setting of, and views into and out of, the Kent 

Downs AONB will not be adversely impacted. 
 

Page 120



 

M
in

e
ra

l S
ite

s
 P

la
n

 

Mineral Sites Plan      21 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
        Heritage 

 

Nearby listed buildings include Royton Manor (Grade II*) and Chapel Mill (II), 

Vine House (II) and Mount Castle Farm Cottage (II). Consideration and mitigation 

of impacts on heritage assets including listed buildings is required. The impact 

of proposals upon the Listed Buildings and their settings should be fully 

assessed and mitigation measures undertaken to avoid unacceptable adverse 

impacts. 

Any planning application should be accompanied by a full archaeological impact 

assessment to ascertain the extent of any remains. 

 

Water Resources 
 

Any application will need to be accompanied by an EIA with particular emphasis 

on the site’s relationship and impact on the Great Stour. 

Appropriate mitigation measures and monitoring will need to be implemented 

as per the request of the Environment Agency, to demonstrate the following: 
 

Hydraulic continuity between those reaches of the Great Stour and 

associated tributaries, if proven to be in part dependent on groundwater 

baseflow originating from the adjoining aquifer (Folkestone Formation). 

The hydraulic integrity of the river is not compromised. In particular, the 

proposed plans will need to recognise the function of the foremost transient 

reaches of the Great Stour, which are dependent on both chalk escarpment 

seepage and surface runoff contributions, where underlain by Gault Clay 

to the immediate north of Chapel Farm. Any submission will need to account 

for this ‘contribution’, and the plans cannot allow the Great Stour to become 

hydraulically ‘isolated’ from its headwaters, irrespective of whether those 

watercourses are quantified as ephemeral. 

The underlining Sandgate Formation is not compromised, especially if the 

Formation is shown to be acting as an aquiclude at Chapel Farm, and within 

the immediate vicinity. Such a response is required to protect the Hythe 

Formation, which is classified as a major water resources aquifer unit. 

 
Transport and Access 

 

A detailed transport assessment to demonstrate compliance with KMWLP Policy 

DM 13. 

The Transport Assessment should consider ability to access the site via rail, 

impacts on the A20 and the Maidstone AQMA and show how any potential 

adverse impacts on this AQMA will be mitigated. 

Public Rights of Way (PROWs) that run adjacent and within the site will 

require appropriate diversions and screening to mitigate any impact on the 

PROW network as necessary. 

The site will only be worked sequentially to the permitted site at Burleigh 

Farm, Charing. 
 

 

 

 

22   Mineral Sites Plan 
Page 121



 

M
in

e
ra

l 
S

it
e
s
 P

la
n
 -

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Utilities 
 

Demonstration that sensitive receptors such as sewage lines, 

electricity pylons and the railway lines will not be affected by land 

instability caused by the development. 

The functioning of the Lenham WWTW and other sewerage 

infrastructure must not be adversely impacted 

 
Health and Amenity 

 

Compliance with policy DM 11 of the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan in respect of health and amenity. 

A lighting, noise, dust, and vibration management plan should be 

completed, setting out how unacceptable impacts will be avoided. A 

detailed dust assessment and management plan should be submitted 

which follows best practice and any national Government guidance 

(e.g. Planning Practice Guidance).

Page 122



 

 
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan 2013-30 

 

As amended by the Early Partial 

Review 

 

July 2020 

Page 125



viForeword

viiAbbreviations

xiFigures

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030

11 Introduction
11.1 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30
21.2 The Status of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30
31.3 The Links With Legislation, Other Policies and Strategies
71.4 The Evidence Base
81.5 Planning and Permitting Interface

102 Minerals and Waste Development in Kent: A Spatial Portrait
102.1 Introduction
132.2 Kent’s Environmental and Landscape Assets
232.3 Kent's Economic Mineral Resources
292.4 Kent's Waste Infrastructure

323 Spatial Vision for Minerals and Waste in Kent

344 Objectives for the Minerals and Waste Local Plan

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County
Council

C
ontents

Page 126



375 Delivery Strategy for Minerals
375.1 Policy CSM 1: Sustainable Development
385.2 Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent
495.3 Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals
515.4 Policy CSM 4: Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites
525.5 Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral Safeguarding
555.6 Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots
575.7 Policy CSM 7: Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure
585.8 Policy CSM 8: Secondary and Recycled Aggregates
595.9 Policy CSM 9: Building Stone in Kent
605.10 Policy CSM 10: Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons
665.11 Policy CSM 11: Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone
665.12 Policy CSM 12: Sustainable Transport of Minerals

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020

C
on

te
nt
s

Page 127



686 Delivery Strategy for Waste
686.1 Policy CSW 1: Sustainable Development
696.2 Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy and Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction
726.3 Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste Management Capacity
736.4 Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for Waste
776.5 Policy CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities
806.6 Identifying Sites for Household Waste Recycling Centres
806.7 Policy CSW 7: Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste
816.8 Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste
826.9 Policy CSW 9: Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent
836.10 Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites
846.11 Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste
856.12 Policy CSW 12: Identifying Sites for Hazardous Waste
866.13 Policy CSW 13: Remediation of Brownfield Land
866.14 Policy CSW 14: Disposal of Dredgings
886.15 Policy CSW 15: Wastewater Development
886.16 Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of ExistingWaste Management Facilities
896.17 Radioactive Waste Management
906.18 Policy CSW 17: Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at Dungeness

936.19 Policy CSW 18: Non-nuclear Radioactive Low Level Waste (LLW)
Management Facilities

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County
Council

C
ontents

Page 128



947 Development Management Policies
947.1 Policy DM 1: Sustainable Design

95
7.2 Policy DM 2: Environmental and Landscape Sites of International,
National and Local Importance and Policy DM 3: Ecological Impact
Assessment

997.3 Policy DM 4: Green Belt

1007.4 Policy DM 5: Heritage Assets and Policy DM 6: Historic Environment
Assessment

1027.5 Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources

1047.6 Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation,
Production & Waste Management Facilities

1077.7 Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface
Development

1077.8 Policy DM 10: Water Environment
1107.9 Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity
1117.10 Policy DM 12: Cumulative Impact
1127.11 Policy DM 13: Transportation of Minerals and Waste
1137.12 Policy DM 14: Public Rights of Way
1147.13 Policy DM 15: Safeguarding of Transportation Infrastructure
1157.14 Policy DM 16: Information Required in Support of an Application
1177.15 Policy DM 17: Planning Obligations
1197.16 Policy DM 18: Land Stability
1197.17 Policy DM 19: Restoration, Aftercare and After-use
1237.18 Policy DM 20: Ancillary Development
1247.19 Policy DM 21: Incidental Mineral Extraction
1247.20 Policy DM 22: Enforcement

1258 Managing and Monitoring the Delivery of the Strategy

1509 Adopted Policies Maps
1509.1 Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Transportation Depots
1599.2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Appendices

172Appendix A: Glossary

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020

C
on

te
nt
s

Page 129



187Appendix B: List of Replaced, Deleted and Retained Policies

196
Appendix C: List of Mineral Sites that are included in Landbank
Calculations

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County
Council

C
ontents

Page 130



Foreword

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020vi

Fo
re
w
or
d

Page 131



Abbreviations

Anaerobic DigestionAD

Air Quality Management AreaAQMA

Area of SearchAoS

Annual Monitoring ReportAMR

Area of Outstanding Natural BeautyAONB

Aggregate Working PartyAWP

Biodiversity Action PlanBAP

Best Available Techniques (Assessment)BAT

Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory ReformBERR

British Geological SocietyBGS

Department for Business, Innovation and SkillsBIS

Biodiversity Opportunity AreaBOA

Construction and Demolition WasteCD

Construction, Demolition and Excavation WasteCDE

Core Strategy MineralsCSM

Core Strategy WasteCSW

Commercial and Industrial WasteC&I

Department for Communities and Local GovernmentDCLG

Department of Energy and Climate ChangeDECC

Department for Environment Food and Rural AffairsDEFRA

Development ManagementDM

Department of the EnvironmentDOE

Environment AgencyEA

European CommissionEC

Energy from WasteEfW

Environmental Impact AssessmentEIA

Environmental StatementES

European UnionEU

vii
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
bbreviations

Page 132



Geological Disposal FacilityGDF

Town and Country (General Permitted Development) OrderGPDO

Gross Value AddedGVA

Heavy Duty VehicleHDV

High Level Waste (Radioactive Waste Classification)HLW

Habitat Regulations AssessmentHRA

Household Waste Recycling CentreHWRC

Intermediate Level Waste (RadioactiveWaste Classification)ILW

Joint Municipal Waste Management StrategyJMWMS

Kent County CouncilKCC

Kilometreskm

Kent Resource PartnershipKRP

Local Aggregate AssessmentLAA

Low-Carbon EconomyLCE

Local Development SchemeLDS

Local Enterprise PartnershipLEP

Low Level Waste (Radioactive Waste Classification)LLW

Low Level Waste RepositoryLLWR

Local Nature ReserveLNR

Local Wildlife SiteLWS

Metresm

Mineral Consultation AreaMCA

Marine Dredged AggregatesMDA

Mineral Planning AuthorityMPA

Marine Policy StatementMPS

Mineral Safeguarding AreaMSA

Municipal Solid WasteMSW

Million tonnesmt

Million tonnes per annummtpa

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020viii

A
bb

re
vi
at
io
ns

Page 133



Minerals and Waste Local PlanMWLP

Nuclear Decommissioning AuthorityNDA

Natural Environment and Rural CommunitiesNERC

Nature Improvement AreaNIA

Northern Ireland Environment AgencyNIEA

National Nature ReserveNNR

National Planning Policy Framework 2012NPPF

National Planning Policy for Waste 2014NPPW

Office of the Deputy Prime MinisterODPM

Petroleum Exploration and Development LicencePEDL

Port of London AuthorityPLA

Public Rights of WayPROW

Regional Spatial StrategyRSS

Sustainability AppraisalSA

Special Area of ConservationSAC

Site of Community ImportanceSCI

South East England Aggregate Working PartySEEAWP

South East PlanSEP

Scottish Environment Protection AgencySEPA

Strategic Flood Risk AssessmentSFRA

Special Protection AreaSPA

Source Protection ZoneSPZ

Site of Special Scientific InterestSSSI

Town and Country Planning ActTCPA

Tonnes per annumtpa

Topic Report on WasteTRW

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Organisation

UNESCO

Very Low Level Waste (Radioactive Waste Classification)VLLW

ix
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
bbreviations

Page 134



Water Framework DirectiveWater FD

Waste Collection AuthorityWCA

Waste Framework DirectiveWFD

Waste Management UnitWMU

Waste Planning AuthorityWPA

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020x

A
bb

re
vi
at
io
ns

Page 135



Figures

PageTitleNumber

10Kent Districts1

11Transport Links2

12SE LEP and the Thames Gateway area3

15International Designations4

16Nationally Important Designations: Landscape5

17Nationally Important Designations: Heritage and Green
Belt

6

18Local Geological Sites and Local Wildlife Sites7

19Local Nature Reserves8

20Kent Main Rivers and Waterways9

21Ancient Woodland10

22Biodiversity Improvement Areas11

26Geology of Kent12

27Minerals Key Diagram13

28Minerals Key Diagram Inset Map14

30Flood Zones, Source Protection Zones and Petroleum
Exploration and Development Licence areas, and Air
Quality Management Areas

15

31Waste Key Diagram: Waste Spatial Strategy16

50Minerals Strategic Site: Medway Works, Holborough17

69Waste Hierarchy Diagram18

76Waste Strategic Site: Norwood Quarry and Landfill19

94Dungeness Power Stations & Romney Marsh Nature
Designations

20

109Water Availability Status21

xi
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
Figures

Page 136



Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020xii

Fi
gu

re
s

Page 137



1 Introduction

1.0.1 The County Council has a statutory responsibility to plan for future minerals
supply and waste management in Kent. This is being fulfilled through the preparation
of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP).

1.1 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30

1.1.1 This document, the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30, is the main
Local Plan document. It describes:

the overarching strategy and planning policies for mineral extraction, importation
and recycling, and the waste management of all waste streams that are generated
or managed in Kent, and

the spatial implications of economic, social and environmental change in relation
to strategic minerals and waste planning.

1.1.2 This Plan identifies and sets out the following subjects for the period up to, and
including, the year 2030:

the long term Spatial Vision and Strategic Objectives for Kent's minerals and waste

the delivery strategy for minerals and waste planning that identifies how the
objectives will be achieved in the plan period

two areas where strategic mineral and waste development is likely to occur

the Development Management (DM) policies that will be used when the County
Council makes decisions on planning applications

the framework to enable annual monitoring of the policies within the Plan

1.1.3 The specific sites for mineral developments are set out in the separate Kent
Mineral Sites Plan. The site selection process for the final sites included in the Mineral
Sites Plan was based on the policies in the Kent MWLP.

1.1.4 Preparing the Plan has involved engagement and collaboration with communities,
local organisations and businesses. Public consultation was held for each stage of the
plan-making process. It has also been prepared in cooperation with Kent's districts,
neighbouring authorities and other minerals and waste planning authorities that may
be affected by the strategies and policies in the Plan. This has ensured that effective
cooperation has been undertaken where there are cross-boundary impacts.

1.1.5 This Plan is accompanied by the following:

Sustainability Appraisal (SA)

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA)

1
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
1
Introduction

Page 138



Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)

Strategic Landscape Assessment

Strategic Transport Assessment

Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)(1)

1.2 The Status of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30

1.2.1 The Plan is part of the statutory development plan for Kent together with the
adopted Local Plans prepared by the twelve Kent district and borough planning
authorities and relevant Neighbourhood Plans prepared by local communities. Proposals
for waste and mineral developments will be considered against the policies contained
in the development plan as whole, not just those included in this Plan.

1.2.2 The policies in this Plan replace the earlier versions of the saved Kent Minerals
andWaste Local Plan policies. Appendix B lists the schedules of saved Kent Local Plan
policies replaced, deleted or retained.

1.2.3 This Plan will be mainly used by the County Council when determining
applications for minerals and waste facilities. The Plan is also relevant to the
determination of non-minerals and waste applications which may be determined by the
District and Borough Councils and the County Council (in terms of other County matters
such as schools). It is envisaged that the main policies that will be implemented when
non-minerals and waste applications are being determined are as follows:

Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots

Policy CSM 7: Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure

Policy CSM 8: Secondary and Recycled Aggregates

Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction

Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management Facilities

Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources

Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation Production &
Waste Management Facilities

Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development

1 These documents form part of our evidence base and are available online from
www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
20202

1
In
tro

du
ct
io
n

Page 139

http://kent.gov.uk/mwlp


Policy DM 20: Ancillary Development

Policy DM 21: Incidental Minerals Extraction

1.2.4 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (TCPA)1990 requires that planning
applications "must be made in accordance with the [development] plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise."

1.2.5 This document was prepared in accordance with national legislation.(2) It has
also been prepared to be in general conformity with the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF),(3) National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)(4) and the Waste
Management Plan for England.(5)

1.2.6 The Kent MWLP only applies to the administrative county of Kent. Medway
Council are writing their own local plan. The position regarding saved minerals and
waste planning policies in Medway is set out in Appendix B.

1.2.7 Annual monitoring will determine when it is necessary to trigger a review of the
adopted plans and their policies. The monitoring schedule in Chapter 8 identifies when,
where and by whom, actions will be taken to implement the Plan. The timetable for the
preparation and review of Kent's minerals and waste plans is set out in the Kent MWLP
Scheme.(6)

1.2.8 A list of the abbreviations used can be found on page v and Appendix A lists a
glossary of terms.

1.3 The Links With Legislation, Other Policies and Strategies

1.3.1 When preparing plans, minerals and waste planning authorities must take
account of international and national legislation and national planning policy. Until 2013,
regional planning policy formed part of the development plan and was required to be
taken into account in the preparation of local plans. TheRegional Spatial Strategy (RSS)
for the South East of England was partially revoked.(7) The remaining part of the RSS
relates to a policy about new residential development near the Thames Basin Heaths
Special Protection Area (SPA), which is not in Kent. However, the RSS has been tested
for soundness through an Examination in Public (EiP), and where relevant, it can still
form part of the evidence base for the Kent MWLP.

2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004, The Town and
Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, The Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Localism Act (2011),
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.

3 Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) (March 2012) National Planning Policy
Framework.

4 DCLG (October 2014) National Planning Policy for Waste
5 DEFRA (December 2013) Waste Management Plan for England.
6 Available online from: www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.
7 Statutory Instruments 2013 No. 427: The Regional Strategy for the South East (Partial Revocation)

Order 2013.

3
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
1
Introduction

Page 140

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


European Legislation

1.3.2 European Union (EU) Directives provide the international legislative context for
minerals and waste plan-making. These include:

Waste Framework Directive (WFD) (2008/98/EC) which aims to move the
management of waste up theWaste Hierarchy(8) and to encourage the use of waste
as a resource. EUmember states are required to achieve recycling and composting
rates of 50% by 2020 for household waste streams including paper, metal, plastic,
glass, and for other waste streams that are similar to household waste. Also by
2020, the preparation for re-use, recycling and recovery of non-hazardous
construction and demolition waste (CDE) (excluding naturally occurring materials)
must be increased to a minimum of 70% by weight.

Landfill Directive (1999/31/EC) which requires reductions in the quantity of
biodegradable waste that is landfilled, and encourages diversion of non-recyclable
and non-usable waste to other methods of treatment.

Water Framework Directive (Water FD) (2000/60/EC) which aims to improve the
local water environment for people and wildlife, and promote the sustainable use
of water. It applies to all surface water bodies, including lakes, streams and rivers
as well as groundwater. The aim of the Water FD is for all water bodies to reach
good status by 2027. This means improving their physical state, and preventing
deterioration in water quality and ecology. The Water FD introduced the concept
of integrated river basin management planning. Kent lies within the Thames River
Basin District and South East River Basin District.(9)

8 The Waste Hierarchy is defined in the Glossary in Appendix A and is shown diagrammatically in
the text supporting Policy CSW 2.

9 Environment Agency (December 2009) Thames River Basin Management Plan (RBMP) and the
South East RBMP.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
20204

1
In
tro

du
ct
io
n

Page 141



National Planning Policy and Guidance

1.3.3 The Government published the NPPF in March 2012. The NPPF describes the
Government's planning policies for England and how to apply them. It provides a
framework for people and their councils to produce distinctive local and neighbourhood
plans that reflect local needs and priorities. It includes policies on plan-making and
planning for minerals.

1.3.4 Specific policies on waste are described in the National Waste Management
Plan for England (10) and the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 (11). Local
authorities preparing waste plans are also advised to consider relevant NPPF policies.

1.3.5 Since the publication of the NPPF, DCLG have published the following additional
guidance notes which are relevant to minerals and waste plan-making:

Guidance for Local Planning Authorities on Implementing Planning Requirements
of the EU WFD (2008/98/EC) (12)

updated Planning Practice Guidance onMinerals to accompany the NPPF, including
updated guidance on the Managed Aggregate Supply System(13)

1.3.6 The Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 introduced measures to enable the
sustainable management and use of marine resources, including the requirement for
a Marine Policy Statement (MPS). The UK MPS contains minerals policy relating to
offshore mineral interests. All public authorities taking authorisation or enforcement
decisions that affect, or might affect, the UK marine area must do so in accordance with
the UKMPS, unless relevant considerations indicate otherwise. The MPSwill also guide
the development of Marine Plans across the UK.

Local Plans and Strategies

1.3.7 The Plan also considers other relevant local policies and strategies.

Kent Joint Municipal Waste Strategy

1.3.8 As Waste Disposal Authority, in 2007 the County Council prepared a Joint
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) with the districts in Kent, which was
adopted by the Kent Resource Partnership (KRP). The partnership comprises 12
district/borough councils and KCC. The KRP plans and budgets for Kent’s household
waste so that new facilities can be built where and when they are needed. The aims of
the KRP are to:

increase recycling rates all over Kent

10 DEFRA (December 2013) Waste Management Plan for England.
11 DCLG (October 2014) National Planning Policy for Waste.
12 DCLG (December 2012) Guidance for local planning authorities on implementing planning

requirements of the EU Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC).
13 DCLG (Revised March 2014) Planning Practice Guidance: Minerals. Web-based resource available

from: http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/.

5
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
1
Introduction

Page 142

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


reduce the amount of waste produced by each household

reduce the amount of Kent's waste that is put into landfill

1.3.9 Since 2007 the KRP have achieved the following targets:

40% recycling and composting across Kent

KCC's Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) to achieve a 60% recycling
and composting rate

1.3.10 These targets were achieved in 2011/12. Also the amount of waste sent to
landfill has been reduced from around 72% in 2005/06 to 22% in 2011/12.

1.3.11 A review of the Kent JMWMS began in 2011. The KRP prepared new objectives
and policies which are being implemented across Kent. These include reducing
household waste arisings by at least 10% by 2020/21 (based on 2010/11 levels),
recycling and composting rates of at least 50%,and sending no more than 5% of the
household waste stream to landfill. The aim is to get as close as possible to 0% for
untreated household waste being sent to landfill.

Strategic Transport Plans

1.3.12 The County Council has a statutory duty to prepare and update its Strategic
Transport Plan. The Local Transport Plan for Kent 2011-2016 was adopted in 2011.
This Plan explains how the council will work towards its transport vision over a five-year
period using the funding that it receives fromGovernment. KCC also prepared a 20-year
transport delivery plan, Growth Without Gridlock, which focuses on the key strategic
transport improvement areas required in Kent, including the Thames Gateway. This
aims to relieve the pressure on the Channel Corridor, cut congestion inWest Kent along
the A21, find a solution in East Kent for Operation Stack(14) and provide a integrated
public transport network.

1.3.13 The Kent Freight Plan was adopted in 2012. It contains KCC's objectives to
tackle key issues and find solutions to the following problems related to lorry movements
in Kent:

overnight lorry parking

Operation Stack

managing the routing of Heavy Goods Vehicles to ensure that they remain on the
Strategic Road Network for as much of their journey as possible

impacts of freight traffic on communities and the environment

encouraging sustainable distribution

14 Operation Stack is the name given to the process used to stack lorries on the M20 when cross
channel services from the Port of Dover or through the Channel Tunnel are disrupted.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
20206

1
In
tro

du
ct
io
n

Page 143



District Local Plans

1.3.14 The Kent district local plans form part of the development plan. While they do
not address minerals and waste matters, their Sustainable Community Strategies have
been considered in the preparation of the Kent MWLP.

1.4 The Evidence Base

1.4.1 The evidence base required for plan-making must be: proportionate,(15) kept
up-to-date and address all of the relevant legislative and policy requirements.

1.4.2 An adequate and relevant evidence base on the economic, social and
environmental characteristics and prospects of the area has been available to inform
the preparation of the Plan.

1.4.3 The SA identifies and evaluates the impacts that are expected to arise from the
Plan's policies regarding social, environmental and economic factors. The SA process
is iterative (16) and prepared in parallel with the Kent MWLP. The SA influences the
production of the Plan and ensures that plan-making is carried out in accordance with
the principles of sustainable development. The SA report for the Plan was prepared
independently by URSConsultants. Each stage of plan-making has been accompanied
by an SA.

1.4.4 Kent contains sites of international importance for wildlife including Special
Areas of Conservation (SACs), SPAs and Ramsar sites.(17) The Plan is accompanied
by a HRA which considers the impacts of the plan policies on the international sites
and assesses whether the policies will have a significant impact. The Plan must comply
with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations(18) to minimise the possibility of impacts
on internationally designated sites.

1.4.5 The Plan is also accompanied by the following assessments:

SFRA describing the impacts of the plan policies on flooding and identifying where
mitigation measures could be needed

Strategic Landscape Assessment describing the landscape impact of the Strategic
Site for Minerals and the Strategic Site for Waste identified in the Plan

Strategic Transport Assessment describing the potential effects on Kent's transport
network (see Figure 2) as a result of the Plan's policies

1.4.6 Parts of the Kent MWLP evidence base have been developed in conjunction
with other adjoining local authorities, including:

15 Proportionate means being in due proportion, so that there is sufficient evidence (facts and figures)
to justify the decisions made in the Plan.

16 Iterative means that there is repetitive on-going discussion and resolution of issues.
17 Ramsar sites are sites designated under The Ramsar Convention as Wetlands of international

importance Sites.
18 The Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010.

7
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
1
Introduction

Page 144



the KCC and Medway Council collaboration on a study of mineral imports into the
county(19)

the Kent and Surrey County Council collaboration on an evidence base for their
plans for silica sand(20)

1.4.7 The evidence base topic reports and other documents that have been prepared
to inform and support the preparation of this Plan and information on public consultation
undertaken are available online.(21)

1.5 Planning and Permitting Interface

When determining planning applications, local planning authorities establish whether
a development should go ahead in the particular location proposed. In arriving at its
decision, the County Council and it's partner planning authorities will:

seek to establish the development is an appropriate use of the particular land, and
in doing so that the development will not result in unacceptable risks from pollution.

respect the fact that the primary role of controlling pollution falls to the respective
pollution regimes.

pay due cognisance to the fact that certain activities may be subject to non-planning
consenting regimes and securing such consents may be critical in delivering the
particular development.

seek advice from other relevant consenting bodies, such as the Environment
Agency, around issues that might affect whether a development is acceptable.
Where any significant issues are identified, we recommend that other consents
needed, such as environmental permits, be sought in parallel to submission of the
planning application so that any issues can be resolved as early as possible.

The NPPF states that local planning authorities should focus on whether the development
itself is an acceptable use of the land, and the impact of the use, rather than the control
of processes or emissions themselves where these are subject to approval under
pollution control regimes. Local planning authorities should assume that these regimes
will operate effectively. Equally, where a planning decision has beenmade on a particular
development, the planning issues should not be revisited through the permitting regimes
operated by pollution control authorities.(22)

19 KCC and Medway Council (May 2011) MTR7: Kent and Medway Mineral Imports Study.
20 GWP Consultants Ltd (2010) Silica Sand Report for KCC and Surrey County Council.
21 See www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp
22 DCLG (2012) National Planning Policy Framework, para. 122.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
20208

1
In
tro

du
ct
io
n

Page 145

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


The NPPW states that when determining waste planning applications, waste planning
authorities should concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the
Local Plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution
control authorities. Waste Planning Authorities should work on the assumption that the
relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced.(23)

23 DCLG (2014) National Planning Policy for Waste, para. 7.

9
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
1
Introduction

Page 146



2Minerals andWaste Development in Kent: A Spatial Portrait

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Kent is located in the south east corner of the United Kingdom (UK). The county
consists of 12 districts, as shown in Figure 1. It is surrounded on two sides by water:
the River Thames to the north and the English Channel to the south-east. It also
neighbours London on its north-west perimeter. It has excellent transportation links by
road, rail and water with northern France, London, Essex and the South East of England
(see Figure 2). 85% of Kent is defined as rural.

2.1.2 With an estimated population of 1,480,200 people,(24) Kent is the largest
non-metropolitan local authority area in England. Projected population growth for Kent
is a 10.5% increase between 2011 and 2021, with the total population of the county
expected to be 1.62 million people by 2026.(25)

Figure 1 Kent Districts

Ashford  

Dover 

Swale  

Shepway 

Maidstone  

Sevenoaks 
Canterbury  

Tunbridge Wells  

Thanet 

Swale  

Tonbridge and Malling  

Gravesham  
Dartford  

Medway 

Medway 

(C) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved 100019238, 2014

¯ 0 10 20
Kilometres

Legend
Medway Unitary
Mineral & Waste Authorities outside KCC
Main Urban Areas1:379,700 at A4

2.1.3 The population of Kent is spread unevenly throughout the county. North-west
Kent is the main urban area as part of the Thames Gateway area. The Thames Gateway
stretches along the River Thames from Stratford and Lewisham in London out to
Sittingbourne, Kent and Southend, Essex. Within Kent, it contains parts of Dartford,
Gravesham and Swale Districts and Medway Council.

24 In mid 2012, Office for National Statistics.
25 KCC (2012) Business Intelligence Statistical Bulletin, Interim 2011-Based Sub National Population

Projections for Kent.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202010

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 147



Figure 2 Transport Links

2.1.4 Kent is a member of The South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SE LEP).
This encompasses East Sussex, Essex, Kent, Medway, Southend and Thurrock. LEPs
are voluntary partnerships between local authorities and businesses which were formed
in 2011 by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) to help determine
local economic priorities and lead economic growth and job creation within the local
areas. LEPs are responsible for some of the functions previously carried out by the
regional development agencies which were abolished in March 2012. There were 39
LEPs in operation in September 2012.

2.1.5 Figure 3 shows the extent of the SE LEP and the Thames Gateway area. The
SE LEP area has 156,000 businesses and 3.9 million people. 1,526,000 people work
within the LEP area, contributing £63bn Gross Value Added (GVA).(26) This represents
5% of the national contribution.(27) The SE LEP's vision is to create the most enterprising
economy in England. The SE LEP has identified four strategic objectives:

1. secure the growth of the Thames Gateway

2. promote investment in coastal communities

3. strengthen the rural economy

4. strengthen the competitive advantage of strategic growth locations

26 GVA is explained in the Glossary in Appendix A.
27 South East Local Enterprise Partnership Strategic Economic Plan.

11
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 148



Figure 3 SE LEP and the Thames Gateway area

Thurrock 
Southend-on-Sea 

Essex County

East Sussex County

Legend 
Local Enterprise Partnership Authorities
Thames Gateway 

0 10 20

Kilometres

(C) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved 100019238, 2014

¯

Kent County 

Medway

1:688,000 at A4

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202012

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 149



2.2 Kent’s Environmental and Landscape Assets

2.2.1 Some of Kent's natural environment and features are formally identified as being
of international, national and local importance. Kent also has statutorily protected
species, under both European and national legislation. These formal designations
include the following:

International Importance (see Figure 4):

Ramsar sites and/or SPAs

SACs

UNESCO World Heritage Sites: Canterbury Cathedral, St Augustine's Abbey and
St Martin's Church in Canterbury

National Importance (See Figures 5 & 6):

almost a third of Kent is protected by two Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB): the Kent Downs AONB and High Weald AONB

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and National Nature Reserves

nationally important archaeological sites (most of which are Scheduled Ancient
Monuments), Registered Parks and Gardens of Historic Interest and Listed
Buildings(28)

Kent areas of Heritage Coast including South Foreland and Dover to Folkestone

Green Belt

species and habitats listed as being of principal importance for the conservation
of biodiversity in the UK (Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities (NERC) Act 2006)(29)

Ancient Woodland (Figure 10)

Local Importance:

2.2.2 Kent's wildlife, geological, geomorphological, landscape and historic
environmental areas and features that are of particular importance at county level, or
that make a contribution to biodiversity and geological conservation, include:

Local Geological Sites and Local Wildlife Sites (LWSs) (see Figure 7)

Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) (see Figure 8)

28 Listed Buildings in Kent are shown on The National Heritage List for England on the English Heritage
website.

29 DCLG (2000) Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.

13
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 150



Kent Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) species

the setting of theWorld Heritage Site (Canterbury Cathedral, St Augustine's Abbey
and St Martin's Church) and Locally Listed buildings, conservation areas and their
settings

landscape features of importance for wildlife that are essential for migration and
dispersal, and which enable the protection, conservation and expansion of native
flora and fauna

Kent rivers and waterways and their settings (Figure 9)

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (BOA) and The Greater Thames Marshes Nature
Improvement Area (NIA) (Figure 11)

Groundwater in Kent (Flood Zones, Source Protection Zones) (Figure 15)

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and the Nature Improvement Area

2.2.3 The identification of BOAs and the Greater Thames Marshes NIA present
opportunities to contribute to large-scale biodiversity conservation in Kent.

2.2.4 Kent’s network of BOAs has been identified to implement the Kent BAP.(30) The
BOA showwhere the greatest gains can bemade from habitat enhancement, restoration
and recreation by establishing or contributing to large habitat areas and/or networks of
wildlife habitats. The BOAs include a range of biodiversity. BOA targets reflect the
specific landscape, geology and key habitats that are present within each area.

2.2.5 NIAs are areas in which partner organisations are planning and delivering
improvements for wildlife and people through sustainable resource use, restoring and
creating wildlife habitats, connecting local sites and joining up action on a large-scale.
Within Kent there is the Greater Thames Marshes NIA.

2.2.6 The BOAs and the NIA are not constraints to development. They are areas
where minerals and waste sites will best be able to support the strategic aims for
biodiversity conservation in Kent. Sites that are outside of the BOAs and the NIA can
still contribute to the delivery of BAP targets and the enhancement of Kent’s biodiversity.

30 Kent Biodiversity Action Plan Steering Group (1997) The Kent Biodiversity Action Plan.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202014

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 151



Fi
gu

re
4
In
te
rn
at
io
na

lD
es
ig
na

tio
ns

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rv
ed

 10
00

19
23

8, 
20

14

¯
0

10
20 Ki

lom
etr

es

Le
ge

nd
 Ra

ms
ar 

sit
es

Sp
ec

ial
 Ar

ea
 of

 C
on

se
rva

tio
n 

Sp
ec

ial
 Pr

ote
cti

on
 Ar

ea
s 

Wo
rld

 H
eri

tag
e S

ite
s

Ma
jor

 U
rb

an
 Ar

ea
s

Mi
ne

ral
 &

 W
as

te 
Au

tho
rit

ies
 ou

tsi
de

 K
CC

1:3
92

,50
0a

t A
4

15
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 152



Fi
gu

re
5
N
at
io
na

lly
Im

po
rt
an

tD
es
ig
na

tio
ns

:L
an

ds
ca
pe

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rv
ed

 10
00

19
23

8, 
20

14

¯
0

10
20 Ki

lom
etr

es

Le
ge

nd Sit
es

 of
 Sp

ec
ial

 Sc
ien

tifi
c I

nte
res

t
Na

tio
na

l N
atu

re 
Re

se
rve

 
Ar

ea
 of

 O
uts

tan
din

g N
atu

ral
 B

ea
uty

 
Ma

jor
 U

rb
an

 Ar
ea

s
Mi

ne
ral

 &
 W

as
te 

Au
tho

rit
ies

 ou
tsi

de
 K

CC
1:3

92
,50

0a
t A

4

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202016

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 153



Fi
gu

re
6
N
at
io
na

lly
Im

po
rt
an

tD
es
ig
na

tio
ns

:H
er
ita

ge
&
G
re
en

B
el
t

17
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 154



Fi
gu

re
7
Lo

ca
lG

eo
lo
gi
ca
lS

ite
s
an

d
Lo

ca
lW

ild
lif
e
Si
te
s

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rve
d 1

00
01

92
38

, 2
01

4

¯
0

10
20 Ki

lom
etr

es

Le
ge

nd
 Lo

ca
l G

eo
log

ica
l S

ite
s 

Lo
ca

l W
ild

life
 S

ite
s 

Mi
ne

ra
l &

 W
as

te 
Au

tho
rit

ies
 ou

tsi
de

 K
CC

Ma
jor

 U
rb

an
 A

re
as

1:3
92

,50
0 a

t A
4

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202018

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 155



Fi
gu

re
8
Lo

ca
lN

at
ur
e
R
es
er
ve
s

19
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 156



Fi
gu

re
9
K
en

tM
ai
n
R
iv
er
s
an

d
W
at
er
w
ay
s

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rv
ed

 10
00

19
23

8, 
20

14

¯
0

10
20

Ki
lom

etr
es

Le
ge

nd
 Ke
nt 

Ri
ve

rs
Mi

ne
ral

 &
 W

as
te 

Au
tho

rit
ies

 ou
tsi

de
 K

CC
Ma

jor
 U

rb
an

 Ar
ea

s
1:3

92
,50

0 a
t A

4

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202020

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 157



Fi
gu

re
10

A
nc

ie
nt

W
oo

dl
an

d

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rv
ed

 10
00

19
23

8, 
20

14

¯
0

10
20 Ki

lom
etr

es

Le
ge

nd
 

An
cie

nt 
Wo

od
lan

d
Ma

jor
 U

rb
an

 Ar
ea

s 
Mi

ne
ral

 &
 W

as
te 

Au
tho

rit
ies

 ou
tsi

de
 K

CC
1:3

92
,50

0 a
t A

4

21
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 158



Fi
gu

re
11

B
io
di
ve
rs
ity

Im
pr
ov

em
en

tA
re
as

Ro
mn

ey
 M

ar
sh

es

No
rth

 K
en

t M
ar

sh
es

Hi
gh

 W
ea

ld

Th
e B

lea
n

Lo
we

r S
to

ur
 W

etl
an

ds

Ea
st 

Ke
nt 

Wo
od

lan
ds

 &
 D

ow
ns

Ce
nt

ral
 N

or
th

 D
ow

ns

Mi
d K

en
t G

re
en

sa
nd

 &
 G

au
lt

Do
ve

r &
 Fo

lke
sto

ne
 C

liff
s &

 D
ow

ns

Lo
w 

W
ea

ld 
Wo

od
lan

d

Me
dw

ay
 &

 Lo
w 

We
ald

 G
ra

ss
lan

d &
 W

etl
an

d

Th
an

et 
Cl

iff
s &

 S
ho

re

Gr
ee

ns
an

d H
ea

ths
 &

 C
om

mo
ns

Me
dw

ay
 G

ap
 &

 N
or

th
 K

en
t D

ow
ns

Mi
d K

en
t D

ow
ns

 W
oo

ds
 &

 Sc
arp

Th
am

es
-si

de
 G

re
en

 C
or

rid
or

s

AS

SE

SH

MA

CA

TW

DO

SW

TM

ME

TH
GR

SW
DA

ME

(C
) C

ro
wn

 C
op

yr
igh

t. A
ll r

igh
ts 

re
se

rv
ed

 10
00

19
23

8, 
20

14

¯
0

10
20 Ki

lom
etr

es

Le
ge

nd Ke
nt 

BO
As

Gr
ea

ter
 Th

am
es

 M
ars

he
s N

atu
re 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t A

rea
Ma

jor
 U

rb
an

 Ar
ea

s
Mi

ne
ral

 &
 W

as
te 

Au
tho

rit
ies

 ou
tsi

de
 K

CC
1:3

92
,50

0
at 

A4

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202022

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 159



2.3 Kent's Economic Mineral Resources

2.3.1 The economic mineral resources(31) of Kent reflect its complex geological,
economic and social history. Historically, the Coal Measures were of major economic
importance until the East Kent Coal mines ceased operations by 1989. Until recently,
Kent also had a thriving cement industry based on the chalk and clay deposits of the
Medway Valley and north-west Kent. There are now no active cement works in Kent.
Areas of Kent have also been licensed by the Government for petroleum exploration
and development.

2.3.2 Economic minerals that are extracted from Kent quarries include sand and
gravel, crushed rock (ragstone), silica sand, brickearth, clay for tile-making, chalk for
agricultural and industrial uses, and building stone.

2.3.3 Figure 12 shows the geology of Kent. Figure 13 and 14 shows all existing
mineral extraction sites, wharves, rail depots, the areas licensed for petroleum exploration
and the Strategic Site for Minerals.(32)

2.3.4 Details of operational and inactive quarries, wharves, rail depots and secondary
and recycled aggregate sites in Kent are reviewed annually and listed in the Kent
Minerals and Waste Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). (33)

Construction Aggregates

2.3.5 Construction aggregates consist of sand, gravel and crushed rock. These are
the most significant in quantity terms of all of the minerals extracted in Kent.

2.3.6 Historically, sharp sand and gravel deposits have been extracted along Kent’s
river valleys and in the Dungeness and Romney Marsh area. The permitted reserves
are becoming depleted.

2.3.7 Soft sand or building sand, used to produce asphalt and mortar, is extracted
from quarries situated on the Folkestone Beds between Charing and Sevenoaks. Most
of these sand quarries produce a combination of soft sand (building sand which is a
construction aggregate) and silica sand (a specialist sand).

2.3.8 The difference between sharp sand and soft sand is in the particulate shape,
and the degree of variation of grain size. Soft sand particles are low in angularity and
are more equidimensional, making them suitable for mortar mixes. Sharp sands are
more angular and variable in size and they provide the high structural strength in concrete
mixes.

2.3.9 The only type of crushed rock that is exploited commercially in Kent is Kentish
Ragstone, found in a band crossing Kent from east to west. Currently ragstone extraction
is carried out to the west of Maidstone. Crushed rock resources also exist in a
Carboniferous Limestone deposit in east Kent.

31 A resource is a concentration or occurrence of workable material of intrinsic economic interest.
32 See Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals for details.
33 All Annual Monitoring Reports are available online from: www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.

23
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 160

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


2.3.10 The use of secondary and recycled aggregates is more sustainable than
extracting primary land-won aggregates. The County Council is therefore keen to
increase the amount of secondary and recycled aggregates being re-processed.
Recycled aggregates can replace sharp sand and gravel in concrete production. There
are sites across Kent that screen and/or crush secondary and recycled aggregates for
re-use. Some are located in industrial estates, or at existing quarries, wharves and rail
depots.

2.3.11 As well as land-won minerals and mineral recycling, Kent handles minerals
(construction aggregates and cement) through its wharves and rail depots and is the
largest importer of Marine Dredged Aggregates (MDA) in the South East.

Other Minerals

2.3.12 Chalk and clay resources are very common in Kent. There are four main clay
horizons in Kent: London Clay, Gault Clay, Weald Clay and Wadhurst Clay. London
Clay has been extensively used as an engineering clay, particularly for sea defence
works around the North Kent Marshes. Gault, Weald and Wadhurst Clay have been
used in brick making.

2.3.13 Brick and tiles are manufactured from brickearth or clays. These industries
have declined in Kent but there remains one operational brick and one operational tile
works, although some of the brickearth from north Kent is transported to East Sussex
for brick manufacture. The Faversham area is the original source of yellow London
stock bricks. Hand-made Kent peg tiles are manufactured at a small Weald Clay site
near Maidstone.

2.3.14 The chalk horizon in Kent has formed the North Downs and it forms a major
feature across the county from Dover in the east to Westerham in the west. It also forms
the main bedrock to the Isle of Thanet. Chalk is used in agriculture, e.g. for neutralising
acid soils, in construction and as a filler in industrial processes such as a whitening
agent.

2.3.15 Building stone, required for specialist or conservation work, is currently provided
only from the ragstone (crushed rock) quarries of mid Kent. Other types of building
stone, including TunbridgeWells Sandstone and Bethersden Paludina Limestone, have
been worked for local building materials but there are currently no active quarries.

2.3.16 The Kent silica sand deposits found within the Folkestone Beds, while not as
pure as those in Surrey, are used for industrial processes. These include: glass
manufacture, production of foundry castings, horticulture and for sports surfaces such
as horse menages and golf course bunker sand. There are no sites in Kent that provide
only silica sand. All such sites also produce construction aggregate.(34)

34 GWP Consultants (March 2010). A study of Silica sand Quality and End Uses in Surrey and Kent.
Final Report for KCC.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202024

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 161



Legend: Geology of Kent

Superficial (Drift) Deposits of Kent
Landslip
Blown Sand
Marine Beach / Tidal Flats
Storm Gravel Beach Deposits
Marine (/Estuarine) Alluvium        (Clay
                            (Sand (Sand & Gravel)
Calcareous Tufa
Alluvium
Dry Valley & Nailbourne Deposits
Peat
Brickearth
Undivided Flood Plain Gravel
1st Terrace River Gravel
2nd Terrace River Gravel
3rd Terrace River Gravel
4th Terrace River Gravel
5th Terrace River Gravel
1st/2nd Terrace River Gravel
2nd/3rd Terrace River Gravel
4th/5th Terrace River Gravel
Taplow Gravel
Boyn Hill Gravel
Head
Coombe Deposits
Head Brickearth
Head Brickearth (Older) 
Head Brickearth 1st Terrace
Head Gravel
Plateau Gravel
Clay-with-Flints
         Sand in Clay-with-Flints
Disturbed Blackheath Beds

Solid Geology of Kent 
Mineral & Waste Authorities outside KCC
Lenham Beds
Bagshot Beds
Claygate Beds
London Clay
Blackheath / Oldhaven Beds
Woolwich Beds
Thanet Beds
            Bullhead Bed
Upper Chalk
Middle Chalk
            Melbourne Rock
Lower Chalk (Glauconitic  Marl)
Upper Greensand
Gault Clay
Lower Greensand        Folkestone Beds
                                    Sandgate Beds
                                    Hythe Beds
                                    Atherfield Clay
           Weald Clay
                                    Sand in Weald Clay (/Sandstone)
                                    Large 'Paludina' Limestone
                                    Small 'Paludina' Limestone
                                    'Cyrene' Limestone
                                    Clay Ironstone
                                    Undifferentiated Clay & Limestone
           Hastings Beds
                                    Upper Tunbridge Wells Sand
                                    Upper
                                    Cuxfield Stone
                                    Lower Grinstead Clay
                                    Ardingley Sandstone
                                    Lower Tunbridge Wells Sand
                                               Tunbridge Wells Sand
                                              Clay in Tunbridge Wells Sand
                                               Grinstead Clay
                                    Wadhurst Clay
                                               Sand in Wadhurst Clay
                                               Ironstone in Wadhurst Clay
                                   Ashdown Beds  

25
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 162



Fi
gu

re
12

G
eo

lo
gy

of
K
en

t

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202026

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



2.4 Kent's Waste Infrastructure

2.4.1 Kent has a population of 1,480,200 people with major urban areas in North
Kent, Maidstone, Ashford and Thanet and smaller towns throughout the county. The
county is an area of sustained growth for housing, employment and infrastructure, and
retains important manufacturing industries in addition to the service employment that
is prevalent in the South East. This infrastructure generates large volumes of household,
Commercial and Industrial (C&I), and construction waste. In 2014, an additional 140,299
dwellings were forecast within the county for the period 2013 - 2033.

2.4.2 The district councils, as waste collection authorities (WCA), influence the rate
of recycling of Municipal SolidWaste (MSW) in their areas. However, the County Council,
as the disposal and Waste Planning Authority (WPA), must achieve targets and apply
policies for the county as a whole. The JMWMS,(35) which provides guidance for the
future direction of household waste management in Kent, has informed the Kent MWLP.

2.4.3 The provision of waste management facilities is influenced by international and
national planning constraints. Local geology and hydrology also constrain where
non-hazardous and hazardous waste landfill might be sited. Areas with clay geology,
outside water Source Protection Zones (SPZs) which are not liable to flooding, may be
suitable for future landfill. This is subject to suitable engineering solutions and any local
environmental impact being acceptable. Figure 15 shows the SPZs and Flood Zones
in Kent.

2.4.4 Some of Kent's mineral workings are used for waste disposal. At the time of
Plan preparation, there are two non-hazardous landfill sites and two hazardous landfill
sites.

2.4.5 The Allington Energy fromWaste (EfW) plant near Maidstone can treat residual
household waste. It has additional capacity not contracted to the County Council available
for MSW from outside Kent, or C&I waste from inside or outside Kent. It enables Kent
to divert waste from landfill and to meet the national planning policy objective to move
the treatment of waste up the hierarchy (see Figure 18). Blaise Farm, nearWest Malling
has a large, modern enclosed plant for composting of green and kitchen waste.

2.4.6 Kent neighbours London, Essex, Surrey and East Sussex. Waste crosses the
borders into and out of Kent.

2.4.7 Construction waste comes into the county from London for disposal in inert
landfill sites. MSW is also transported to Kent to take the spare capacity in Kent’s new
waste treatment infrastructure at the Allington EfW facility and the materials recycling
facility in Sittingbourne.

2.4.8 Figure 16 shows the location of key existing facilities. This Plan aims to provide
a balanced and accessible network of modern facilities.

35 KCC (2007) Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy.

29
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
2
M
inerals

and
W
aste

D
evelopm

entin
K
ent:A

S
patialP

ortrait

Page 166



Fi
gu

re
15

Fl
oo

d
Zo

ne
s,
So

ur
ce
s
Pr
ot
ec
tio

n
Zo

ne
s
an

d
Pe

tr
ol
eu

m
Ex

pl
or
at
io
n
an

d
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t
Li
ce
nc

e
ar
ea
s

A
S

S
E

M
A

S
H

C
A

T
W

D
O

S
W

T
M

M
E

T
H

G
R

S
W

D
A

M
E

PE
DL

24
5

PE
DL

24
9

PE
DL

25
0

PE
DL

24
8

PE
DL

25
2

PE
DL

25
1

EX
L1

89

PE
DL

24
7

PL
18

2

PE
DL

24
7

PE
DL

24
7

EX
L1

89 ¯
0

1
0

2
0 K

ilo
m

e
tr

e
s

Ap
pr

ov
ed

 Ex
plo

ra
tor

y B
or

eh
ole

On
sh

or
e O

il &
 G

as
 Li

ce
nc

e A
rea

s
Ar

ea
 of

 O
uts

tan
din

g N
atu

ra
l B

ea
ut

y
Ai

r Q
ua

lity
 M

an
ag

em
en

t A
re

as
Flo

od
 Zo

ne
 (3

)
Flo

od
 Zo

ne
 (2

)
So

ur
ce

 Pr
ot

ec
tio

n Z
on

es
 

Ke
nt 

SP
Z 1

Ke
nt 

SP
Z 2

 
Ke

nt 
SP

Z3
Ke

nt 
SP

Z4
Ma

jor
 U

rb
an

 A
re

as
© 

Cr
ow

n C
op

yri
gh

t a
nd

 da
tab

as
e r

igh
t 2

01
5. 

Or
dn

an
ce

 Su
rv

ey
 10

00
19

23
8

1:3
92

,50
0 a

t A
4 

(e.
g. 

PE
DL

 25
0)

PE
DL

 = 
Pe

tro
leu

m 
Ex

plo
ra

tio
n

    
    

    
 an

d D
ev

elo
pm

en
t L

ice
nc

e

L
e

g
e

n
d

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202030

2
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
K
en

t:
A
S
pa

tia
lP

or
tra

it

Page 167



Page 168



3 Spatial Vision for Minerals and Waste in Kent

3.0.1 The Kent MWLP provides an opportunity to take a fresh look at minerals and
waste issues and to take some bold steps towards delivering improvements in mineral
supply and waste resource management based on the principles of sustainable
development. Identifying a vision for minerals and waste in Kent allows us to translate
broad sustainability principles and put them into a context that is relevant to our
communities and businesses.

3.0.2 The main aims of the Plan are to drive waste up the Waste Hierarchy (see
Figure 18) enabling waste to be considered as a valuable resource, while at the same
time providing a steady supply of minerals to allow sustainable growth to take place. It
will also ensure that requirements such as a Low Carbon Economy (LCE) and climate
change issues are incorporated into new developments for minerals and waste
development in Kent.

3.0.3 The vision outlines our ambition for sustainable resource management and
mineral supply.

3.0.4 As the Kent MWLP will plan for minerals and waste in Kent up to the end of
2030, it is important to recognise that technology will change over the plan period.
Therefore, the Plan has to be robust and flexible enough to enable improvements in
technology to be incorporated into future mineral supply and waste management
developments.

Spatial Vision for Minerals and Waste in Kent

Throughout the plan period 2013-2030, minerals and waste development will:

1. Make a positive and sustainable contribution to the Kent area and assist with
progression towards a low carbon economy.

2. Support the needs arising from growth within Kent.

3. Deliver cost effective and sustainable solutions to Kent's minerals and waste
needs through collaborative working with communities, landowners, the
minerals and waste industries, the environmental and voluntary sector and
local planning authorities.

4. Embrace the naturally and historically rich and sensitive environment of the
plan area, and ensure that it is conserved and enhanced for future generations
to enjoy.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202032

3
S
pa

tia
lV

is
io
n
fo
rM

in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

in
K
en

t

Page 169



Planning for Minerals in Kent will:

5. Seek to deliver a sustainable, steady and adequate supply of land-wonminerals
including aggregates, silica sand, crushed rock, brickearth, chalk and clay,
building stone and minerals for cement manufacture.

6. Facilitate the processing and use of secondary and recycled aggregates and
become less reliant on land-won construction aggregates.

7. Safeguard economic mineral resources for future generations and all existing,
planned and potential mineral transportation and processing infrastructure
(including wharves and rail depots and production facilities).

8. Restore minerals sites to a high standard that will deliver sustainable benefits
to Kent communities.

Planning for Waste in Kent will:

9. Move waste up the Waste Hierarchy, reducing the amount of non-hazardous
waste sent to landfill.

10. Encourage waste to be used to produce renewable energy incorporating both
heat and power if it cannot be re-used or recycled.

11. Ensure waste is managed close to its source of production.

12. Make provision for a variety of waste management facilities to ensure that Kent
remains at the forefront of waste management with solutions for all major waste
streams, while retaining flexibility to adapt to changes in technology.

13. Ensure sufficient capacity exists to meet the future needs for waste
management.

14. Restore waste management sites to a high standard that will deliver sustainable
benefits to Kent communities.

33
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
3
S
patialVision

forM
inerals

and
W
aste

in
K
ent

Page 170



4 Objectives for the Minerals and Waste Local Plan

4.0.1 The Spatial Vision outlines our ambition for sustainable resource management
for minerals and waste development in the plan area up to the end of 2030. While this
vision describes what will be achieved, the objectives explain how the vision will be
achieved.

4.0.2 All of the Kent MWLP objectives that follow are underpinned by an ambition to
manage waste and mineral extraction and supply according to the principles of
sustainable development, and in support of the National Infrastructure Plan(36) and the
delivery of Kent's community strategies.

4.0.3 Through regular monitoring and review of the progress of the Plan's policies
against these objectives, it will be possible to see how much progress is being made
towards achieving these requirements. Monitoring will also show whether the policies
are having the required effects and will help to identify what may need to be undertaken
to implement improvements, or whether a review of the policies is necessary. Chapter
8 sets out a schedule for managing and monitoring the delivery of the strategy.

4.0.4 The Strategic Objectives are listed overleaf and are in no particular order of
priority.

36 National Infrastructure Plan (December 2014) HM Treasury

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202034

4
O
bj
ec
tiv
es

fo
rt
he

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

Lo
ca
lP

la
n

Page 171



Strategic Objectives for the Minerals and Waste Local Plan

General

1. Encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport for moving minerals and
waste long distances and minimise road miles.

2. Ensure minerals and waste developments contribute towards theminimisation
of, and adaptation to, the effects of climate change. This includes helping to
shape places to secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and
supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy and associated
infrastructure.

3. Ensure minerals and waste sites are sensitive to both their surrounding
environment (37)and communities, and minimise their impact on them.

4. Enable minerals and waste developments to contribute to the social and
economic fabric of their communities through employment opportunities.

Minerals

5. Seek to ensure the delivery of adequate and steady supplies of sand and
gravel, chalk, brickearth, clay, silica sand, crushed rock, building stone and
minerals for cement during the plan period, through identifying sufficient sites
and safeguarding mineral bearing land for future generations.

6. Promote and encourage the use of recycled and secondary aggregates in
place of land-won minerals.

7. Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for mineral infrastructure
including wharves and rail depots across Kent to enable the on-going
transportation of marine dredged aggregates, crushed rock and other minerals
as well as other production facilities.

8. Enable the small-scale, low-intensity extraction of building stone minerals for
heritage building products.

9. Restore minerals sites to the highest possible standard to sustainable afteruses
that benefit the Kent community economically, socially or environmentally.
Where possible, afteruses should conserve and improve local landscape
character and incorporate opportunities for biodiversity to meet targets outlined
in the Kent Biodiversity Action Plan, the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and
the Greater Thames Nature Improvement Area.

37 Surrounding environment: see the Glossary in Appendix A for details.

35
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
4
O
bjectives

forthe
M
inerals

and
W
aste

LocalP
lan

Page 172



10. Encourage the sustainable use of the inert non-recyclable fraction of
Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste for quarry restoration.

Waste

11. Increase amounts of Kent’s waste being re-used, recycled or recovered.
Promote the movement of waste up theWaste Hierarchy by enabling the waste
industry to provide facilities that help to deliver a major reduction in the amount
of Kent’s waste being disposed of in landfill.

12. Promote the management of waste close to the source of production in a
sustainable manner using appropriate technology and, where applicable,
innovative technology, such that net self sufficiency is maintained throughout
the plan period.

13. Use waste as a resource to provide opportunities for the generation of
renewable energy for use within Kent through energy from waste and
technologies such as gasification and aerobic/anaerobic digestion.

14. Provide suitable opportunities for additional waste management capacity to
enable waste to be managed in a more sustainable manner.

15. Restore waste management sites to the highest possible standard to
sustainable afteruses that benefit the Kent community economically, socially
or environmentally. Where possible, afteruses should conserve and improve
local landscape character and incorporate opportunities for biodiversity to meet
targets outlined in the Kent Biodiversity Action Plan, the Biodiversity Opportunity
Areas and the Greater Thames Nature Improvement Area.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202036

4
O
bj
ec
tiv
es

fo
rt
he

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

Lo
ca
lP

la
n

Page 173



5 Delivery Strategy for Minerals

5.0.1 Minerals are essential to support sustainable economic growth and quality of
life. It is important that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure
and its maintenance, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. However,
since they are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found,
it is important to make the best use of them to secure their long-term conservation.(38)

5.1 Policy CSM 1: Sustainable Development

5.1.1 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development.(39) There are three dimensions to sustainable development:
economic, social and environmental. These require the planning system to perform
three roles:

An economic role: contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right
places at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and
co-ordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

A social role: supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities by providing the
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations;
and by creating a high-quality built environment, with accessible local services that
reflect the community's needs and support its health, social and cultural well being.

An environmental role: contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt
to climate change including moving to a LCE.

5.1.2 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
The NPPF requires that policies in local plans should follow the approach of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The Kent MWLP is therefore based
on the principle of sustainable development. This is demonstrated in the Spatial Vision
and the Strategic Objectives, and the policies that seek sustainable solutions.

5.1.3 Planning law requires planning decisions to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF
states that it does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting
point for decision making.

5.1.4 All references to ‘community’ or ‘communities’ in the policies that follow should
be taken in the widest sense of including both economic and social roles and potential
impacts on both people and business.

5.1.5 Policy CSM 1 is included in the Plan to ensure the presumption in favour of
sustainable development is taken into account in KCC's approach to minerals
development.

38 DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 142.
39 DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework Ministerial Foreword.

37
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 174



Policy CSM 1

Sustainable Development

When considering mineral development proposals, the Council will take a positive
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework and the associated Planning
Practice Guidance.

Mineral development that accords with the development plan will be approved
without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out
of date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission
unless material considerations indicate otherwise, taking into account where either:

1. any unacceptable adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies
in the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole, or

2. specific policies in that Framework(40) indicate that development should be
restricted.

5.2 Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent

5.2.1 Economic minerals that are currently extracted from Kent quarries include
aggregate minerals and industrial minerals. Aggregate minerals include: soft sand,
sharp sand, gravel and crushed rock (ragstone); industrial minerals include: silica sand,
brickearth, clay for tile-making, chalk for agricultural and industrial uses and building
stone. In the recent past, shale from the coal measures in East Kent has been used for
brick making, clay has been used for brick-making and rawmaterials have been extracted
for cement manufacture within Kent. Up until the late 1980s, coal was extracted from
underground coal mines in East Kent.(41)

5.2.2 The NPPF requires Mineral Planning Authorities (MPAs) to aim to source
minerals supplies indigenously so far as practicable, and take account of the contribution
that substitute or secondary and recycled materials and minerals waste would make to
supply, before considering extraction of primarymaterials. For land-won primarymaterials
the NPPF expects MPAs to identify, and include policies for the extraction of, mineral
resources of national and local importance in their area.

40 For example, those policies relating to land within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Green
Belt, sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and/or as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, designated heritage assets and locations at risk of flooding.

41 More details of non-aggregate minerals in Kent are given in: KCC (May 2011) TRM3: Other Minerals.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202038

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 175



Sharp Sand and Gravel

Flint Gravels

5.2.3 High quality flint gravels in Kent are concentrated in the areas where flints
derived from the chalk have been deposited by river and marine action. These are
sourced from the three main river valleys of the Darent, Medway and Stour, and the
beach deposits along the coast (particularly at Dungeness). As far back as 1970,
planning studies(42) identified concerns about the depletion of flint gravels in the river
valleys and the constraints on availability of the coastal supply in the Dungeness area
due to nature conservation and water resource protection. Flint dominant head gravel
resources near Herne Bay, previously identified as Areas of Search (AoS),(43) have not
proved to be sufficiently attractive for development.

Sandstone Gravels

5.2.4 The sandstone dominant gravels in the Medway Valley upstream of Maidstone
became the subject of increasing interest from operators as other deposits became
worked out, although their use in the production of high-quality concreting aggregates
has not normally been possible. Only one Medway Valley sandstone gravel quarry was
operational at the time of plan preparation; this site imports crushed rock for blending
with the indigenous sandstone gravels to produce aggregates suitable to supply the
concrete production market.

Soft Sand

5.2.5 Kent's soft sand reserves extracted from the Folkestone Beds continue to be
important for mortar and asphalt production. Soft sand supplies in Kent are relatively
abundant, whereas they are scarce in other parts of the South East of England, with
supplies from seven sites continuing to be important for mortar and asphalt production.

Crushed Rock

5.2.6 The only resource exploited commercially to supply crushed rock in the county
is Kentish Ragstone, which is found in a band crossing Kent from east to west. The
ragstone resource to the west of Maidstone has been the focus of crushed rock supply
in the recent past. Other resources capable of producing crushed rock are found in the
form of a Carboniferous Limestone deposit in east Kent (see section 5.11).

Alternative Sources of Materials to Markets Supplied by Land-won Sharp Sand
& Gravels

5.2.7 Secondary and recycled aggregates can, in some circumstances, provide a
replacement for sharp sand and gravel in many applications. The suitability of such
materials to substitute for land-won supplies has been considered in detail in the
preparation of this plan.(44) Sales of secondary and recycled materials in 2014 were

42 Evidence prepared for the Kent Structure Plan in 1975.
43 KCC (1993) Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction Aggregates Written Statement.
44 See report: KCC (2013) Interchangeability of Construction Aggregates.

39
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 176



0.84mt, although sales have been as high as 1.3mt in the last decade. The importance
of maintaining supply from this source is recognised in Policy CSM 8: Secondary and
Recycled Aggregates which seeks to maintain and increase production capacity.

5.2.8 With its coastal location, Kent fulfils an important role in the importation of
minerals including a range of construction aggregates from mainland Europe, as well
as marine dredged aggregates (MDA) and imported recycled and secondary materials.
Kent benefits from a number of aggregate wharves, into which significant quantities of
MDA and crushed rock are landed. Kent is understood to be the largest importer of
MDA in the South East of England, with 1.7 million tonnes (mt) being imported into its
wharves in 2013 and of the total of 3.13mt of MDA landed in Kent and Medway in 2009
(1.41mt into Kent), 2.5mt was consumed within Kent and Medway.(45) Land-won sharp
sand and gravel is also imported by rail and road from areas beyond Kent. Assurances
regarding the security of these minerals imports during the Plan period have been
obtained.(46)

Demand for Land-won Aggregates

5.2.9 The NPPF(47) requires Minerals Planning Authorities to plan for a steady and
adequate supply of aggregates through preparing an annual Local Aggregates
Assessment (LAA) from which future planned provision should be derived based on a
rolling average of 10-years aggregates sales data(48) and an assessment of all supply
options (including marine dredged, secondary and recycled sources), and other relevant
local information. It also seeks for plans to make provision for the maintenance of
landbanks of at least seven years for land-won sand and gravel and ten years for
crushed rock. Landbanks of aggregate minerals reserves are used as the principal
indicator of the future security of aggregate minerals supply, and to indicate the additional
provision that needs to be made for new aggregate extraction and alternative supplies
in mineral plans.

5.2.10 The NPPF and planning practice guidance(49) also states that separate
landbanks should be calculated and maintained for any aggregate materials of a specific
type or quality which have a distinct and separate market. Within Kent the economic
sand and gravel resources are:

the Medway Valley sandstone gravels and flint sands and gravels (collectively
referred to as ‘sharp sands and gravels’) that are used primarily for concrete
production

soft sands that are predominantly used in asphalt and mortar production

45 KCCl (January 2015) The 2nd Local Aggregate Assessment for Kent, Table 3.
46 KCC (2014) Duty to Co-operate Report, Table 5.
47 DCLG (2012) National Planning Policy Framework, para. 145.
48 Data collected annually by mineral planning authorities for their AMRs and the regional aggregate

working parties. Details of how the rolling 10-year average sales data and how landbanks are
calculated are given in KCC (January 2015) Kent's 2nd Local Aggregate Assessment (for 2014)
and in the recently updated Minerals Topic Paper 1: Construction Aggregate Assessments and
Need, May 2014. Available from www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.

49 DCLG (Revised March 2014) Planning Practice Guidance: Minerals.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202040

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 177

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


5.2.11 The Kent Local Aggregate Assessment (January 2015) sets out the 10 year
average of sales for all aggregates and the contribution of different aggregates to overall
supply. Since the sharp sands and gravels and soft sands serve predominantly different
markets their supply has been assessed separately.

5.2.12 Between 2004 and 2013 sales of sharp sand and gravel from quarries in Kent
dropped from around 908,000 tonnes in 2004 to around 273,000 tonnes in 2013. The
average of 10 years’ sales of sharp sand and gravel is 0.78 million tonnes per annum
(mtpa). If demand were at this level for the rest of the Plan period (the 17 years 2013-30),
the requirement would be 13.26mt.

5.2.13 Between 2004 and 2013 sales of soft (building) sand from Kent’s quarries
have dropped from around 780,000 tonnes in 2004 to around 483,000 tonnes in 2013.
The average of 10 years’ sales of soft sand is 0.65 mtpa.

5.2.14 The 10-year average sales figure for crushed rock is 0.78mtpa and, as
presented in the LAA, is based on assumed sales as the actual sales come from two
quarries and hence data is confidential for the purposes of the annual monitoring returns.

5.2.15 Other relevant local information that may affect supply of, or demand for,
aggregates was considered in the LAA.(50) This did not indicate that a figure higher than
the 10 year average sales figures would be justified as a basis for future provision.

Future Supplies of Land-won Sharp Sand and Gravel

5.2.16 The starting point for identifying requirements for future land release for sand
and gravel is the expected need for materials over the Plan period and beyond, taking
into account the material which can be supplied from sites which already exist and have
planning permission and the contribution that substitute or secondary and recycled
materials would make. The Plan provides separate policies for sharp sand & gravel,
soft sand and crushed rock, all of which are won from the land within Kent.

5.2.17 The sites included in the calculations of the supply of land-won sand and gravel
are listed in Appendix C.

Sharp Sand and Gravel

5.2.18 Permitted reserves at the end of 2013 were 3.61mt. Initial work through the
'Call for Sites' identified potential suitable sites that might supply a potential further
6.47mt of sharp sand and gravel over the Plan period. This, combined with existing
permitted reserves, totals 10.08mt.

5.2.19 As set out above, based on 10 year sales, the requirement for the Plan period
(the 17 years 2013-30) is 13.26mt. The 10.08mt potentially available is not sufficient to
meet this and, indeed, a seven year landbank does not presently exist, and even if the
potential new supply came on stream, it would still not be possible to maintain a seven
year landbank for the whole of the Plan period. This is due to insufficient suitable sites
for release being identified by the minerals industry. It is possible that other suitable
sources of aggregates will be identified, that currently uneconomic deposits become

50 The Local Aggregates Assessment (2015) forecast a substantially lower figure for the seven year
period compared with the ten year sales figure recommended by the NPPF.

41
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 178



economic, or that constraints on the release of known aggregates sources (such as
land ownership) may be overcome. This could lead to proposals coming forward to be
judged against Policy CSM4: Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites or to further sites
being proposed in the Minerals Sites Plan.

5.2.20 Diminishing land-won sharp sand and gravel supplies will increasingly be
substituted over the plan period by supplies from production of alternative materials
including secondary and recycled aggregates,(51) supplies gained from blending of
materials to generate material suitable to supply the construction aggregate market,(52)

landings of MDA and imports of land-won aggregates from elsewhere. Indeed, there is
adequate existing capacity at wharves, railheads and recycling facilities for supplies
from these sources to meet the predicted shortfall in supply of land-won sharp sand
and gravel aggregate as resources are exhausted. The Plan provides for this flexibility
in supply of aggregates as follows: Policy CSM 5 seeks to safeguard sharp sand and
gravel resources that may become economic and to maximise the opportunities for the
development of ‘windfall’ reserves which may come forward under Policy CSM 4. In
addition, Policies CSM 7 and CSM 8 make provision for maintaining and developing
further secondary and recycled aggregates supplies during the plan period and Policies
CSM 6, CSM 7 & CSM 12 seek to ensure that the necessary minerals importation and
processing infrastructure is in place.

Soft Sand

5.2.21 The current annual need for soft sand based on the 10-year rolling average
sales figures is 0.65 million tonnes. If demand were at this level for the rest of the Plan
period (the 17 years 2013-30), the requirement would be 11.05mt. In addition, provision
of a landbank of seven years’ supply to be available at the end of the Plan period
(4.55mt) implies a total requirement of 15.60mt. At the end of 2012 there were permitted
reserves of soft sand in Kent of 10.64mt and so the Plan needs to make provision for
at least an additional 4.96mt of soft sand. The ‘Call for Sites’ from mineral companies
has identified sufficient sites with estimated reserves at these sites sufficient to meet
requirements without adversely impacting on the AONB or its setting. Therefore it will
be possible to meet the requirement of the NPPF to maintain a landbank of at least
seven years of reserves for soft sand throughout the Plan period (4.55mt). Achieving
supply in practice is dependent on sufficient satisfactory planning applications being
submitted by mineral companies.

5.2.22 It should be noted that there can be a lack of clarity in geology between soft
sand and silica sand as they occur in the ground. In light of this, it is necessary, in
consultation with the operators, to determine the degree to which sites identified as
supplying soft sand and/or silica sand may supply both materials. This review process
may have an effect on the overall recorded landbank for soft sand in Kent. The outcome
of this review will be reported in the LAA.

51 KCC (January 2015) Kent's 2nd Local Aggregate Assessment
52 This currently occurs at two sites (Hermitage Quarry - rock and hassock & East Peckham - imported

rock and extracted sandstone gravels)

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202042

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 179



Crushed Rock

5.2.23 The stock of planning permissions for crushed rock (ragstone) in Kent at the
time of plan preparation are sufficient to maintain a landbank of ten years supply
(assumed as 0.78mtpa) throughout and beyond the end of the plan period and so no
additional crushed rock (ragstone) sites will be identified in the Minerals Sites Plan.

5.2.24 At the time of plan preparation, consented reserves of crushed rock are
contained within two Kentish Ragstone sites. One of which contains the bulk of the
permitted reserves that are generally of low quality and so their use is limited, and
mineral extraction only takes place from this site intermittently on a campaign basis. In
view of this, a policy covering situations where non-identified land-won mineral sites
could be acceptable is included as Policy CSM 4.

Overall Provision of Land-won Aggregates

5.2.25 The Plan will provide for land-won aggregates as follows:

Sharp sand and gravel: at least 10.08mt (including 3.61mt of currently permitted
reserves), and a landbank of at least 5.46 mt as long as resources allow.

Soft sand: 10.64mt reserves at existing permitted sites and new allocations to
provide at least 4.96mt making a total provision of 15.60mt, sufficient to provide
11.05mt for the Plan period plus a landbank of 4.55mt in 2030;

Crushed rock: c.50mt reserves at existing permitted sites, sufficient to provide
13.26mt for the Plan period plus a landbank of 7.28mt in 2030 without the need
for any new allocation

5.2.26 The sand and gravel sites identified in the Mineral Sites Plan will include
land-won sharp sand and gravel sites, and soft sand (building sand) sites.

5.2.27 Criteria that will be taken into account for selecting and screening the suitability
of sites for identification in the Minerals Sites Plan are set out in Policy CSM2.

Industrial Minerals

5.2.28 In seeking to provide a steady and adequate supply of industrial minerals, and
following national policy, the County Council will co-operate with other MPAs to
co-ordinate the planning of industrial minerals (including silica sand) to ensure adequate
provision is made to support their likely use in industrial and manufacturing processes.
The County Council will also seek to maintain a stock of permitted reserves to support
the level of actual and proposed investment required for new or existing plant and the
maintenance and improvement of existing plant and equipment as follows:

at least 10 years for individual silica sand sites except where significant new capital
is required in which case it is 15 years;

43
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 180



at least 15 years for cement primary (chalk and limestone) and secondary (clay
and shale) materials to maintain an existing plant; and

at least 25 years for brick clay and for cement primary and secondary materials to
support a new kiln.

5.2.29 This section deals with how the Plan intends to provide to meet these
expectations.

Brickearth and Clay for Brick and Tile Manufacture

5.2.30 At the time of plan preparation, Kent only has one operational brickworks near
Sittingbourne, which is supplied by brickearth extracted from sites in the Sittingbourne
to Faversham area to make yellow London stock bricks. Brickearth extracted from
another site in north Kent provides the raw materials for a brickworks in East Sussex.
National planning policy requires the provision of a stock of permitted reserves of at
least 25 years for brick clay.(53) There is a need to ensure sufficient reserves are available
to provide brickearth for these two brickworks to ensure that the locally characteristic
yellow London stock bricks can continue to be manufactured.

5.2.31 In the past in Kent, bricks have also been made at various locations from
supplies of Weald Clay, Gault Clay, London Clay, Wadhurst Clay and colliery shale.
No operational brickworks that use clay and/or colliery shale remain in Kent. The stock
of planning permissions for clay and colliery shale for brick and tile making is sufficient
for the plan period if any of the dormant or closed brickworks is re-opened or new
brickworks are established.(54) Therefore, there is no need to identify further reserves
of brick clay or colliery shale for brickmaking in the Mineral Sites Plan.

5.2.32 A small-scale tile manufacturer that makes traditional 'Kent Peg' tiles is located
in the Weald of Kent at Hawkenbury. This site has a consented clay pit with reserves
consented through to 2026. Permitted reserves are however sufficient to supply the tile
works beyond this date. No further reserves are needed to be identified to sustain this
operation during the plan period.

53 MHCLG (February 2019) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 208.
54 KCC (May 2011) TRM3: Other Minerals.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202044

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 181



Silica Sand

5.2.33 Silica sand is considered to be a mineral of national importance due to its
limited distribution. The Folkestone Beds, west of Maidstone, is the traditional extraction
area for silica sand in Kent and is made up of distinct horizons of building sand and
silica sand. While the quality of these silica sand deposits in Kent is not as pure as
those found in the neighbouring county of Surrey, some of this material is used for
industrial processes including glass manufacture and the production of foundry castings.
Silica sand is also used in horticulture and for sports surfaces including horse maneges
and golf course bunker sand. There are no sites in Kent that provide only silica sand.
All of Kent's existing silica sand sites produce construction aggregates to some extent.(55)

National policy requires MPAs to plan for a steady and adequate supply of silica sand
by providing a stock of permitted reserves to support the level of actual and proposed
investment required for new or existing plant, and the maintenance and improvement
of existing plant and equipment. This is carried out by providing a stock of permitted
reserves of at least 10 years at established existing sites, and at least 15 years for silica
sand sites where significant new capital is required, this would include entirely new
sites.(56)

5.2.34 Silica sand is used in a range of applications including the manufacture of
glass and production of materials used in construction. An example of a potential local
use would be in the manufacture of ‘Aircrete’ blocks (also known as aerated concrete
blocks) where it may substitute for the current supply of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA).
Currently the existing market need for silica sand is being met by extraction from two
quarries Wrotham Quarry (Addington Sand Pit) and Nepicar Sand Pit. These have
permitted reserves in the region of 2.1 mt. These quarries are identified in Appendix C
and shown in Figure 13: Minerals Key Diagram. Wrotham Quarry site has a potential
extension area but that lies within the Kent Downs AONB. While the Plan seeks to
maintain a stock of permitted reserves, in line with national policy, it is recognised that
this may not be possible if it would be inconsistent with policy to conserve the landscape
and scenic beauty of the AONB. In light of national policy, the Plan does not seek
allocation of sites within the AONB or in locations which would have an adverse impact
on the setting of, and implementation of, the statutory purposes of the AONB. Proposals
will be considered on their merits against policy CSM 2.

55 GWP Consultants (March 2010) A study of silica sand quality and end uses in Surrey and Kent.
Final report for KCC and Surrey County Council.

56 DCLG (2012) National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 146.

45
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 182



Chalk

5.2.35 Chalk is abundant in Kent. It is used for agricultural and construction purposes
(primarily as a bulk fill material) across the county.(57) Since there are no plants
dependant on the supply of chalk there is no policy requirement to make provision.
However local sales data for agricultural and engineering use combined indicates that
sales vary considerably from year to year. The indicative Kent landbank of chalk for
agricultural and engineering use is estimated to be around 17.6 years as of 2018(58).
Reserves of chalk and rates of demand will be monitored and reported in the Annual
Monitoring Report and taken into account when any proposals for new sites come
forward.

5.2.36 To help facilitate future development of cement manufacture at the Medway
Works, Holborough, specific reserves of chalk are safeguarded as set out in Policy
CSM 3.

Clay for Engineering Purposes

5.2.37 Clay is also abundant in Kent. Other than uses in brick manufacture, the
principal use for extracted clay is for land engineering purposes. Since there are no
specific requirements for engineering clay for bulk fill, waterproof capping or flood
defences there is no requirement to make specific provision. Local sales data indicates
that sales vary significantly from year to year, however an average for the 11 years in
which data was available indicates sales of approximately 27,000 tpa with a peak
demand of 69,000 tonnes in 2002.(59) This equates to a need over the plan period of
around 459,000mt. The proposed extension areas for Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site
on the Isle of Sheppey, identified as the Strategic Site for Waste in Policy CSW 5, will
also be identified as an extraction site for engineering clay.

57 KCC (May 2012) TRM3: Other Minerals.
58 KCC (2018) Kent's 12th Annual Kent Minerals and Waste Monitoring Report 2017/18.
59 KCC (2012) TRM3 Other Minerals, Table 4B.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202046

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 183



Policy CSM 2

Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent

Mineral working will be granted planning permission at sites identified in the Minerals
Sites Plan(60) subject to meeting the requirements set out in the relevant site
schedule in the Mineral Sites Plan and the development plan.

1. Aggregates

Provision will be made for the supply of land-won aggregates as follows:

Sharp sand and gravel: At least 10.08mt and a landbank of at least seven
years supply (5.46mt) will be maintained while resources allow. The rate of
supply will decline through the Plan period from a supply of a 10-year average
of around 0.78mtpa and resources will be progressively worked out (unless
additional sites are brought forward which would be assessed against Policy
CSM4). Demand will instead be met from other sources, principally a
combination of recycled and secondary aggregates, landings of MDA, blended
materials and imports of crushed rock through wharves and railheads. The
actual proportions will be decided by the market.

Soft sand: Rolling landbanks for the whole of the plan period and beyond of
at least seven years equivalent to at least 15.6mt, comprising 10.6mt from
existing permitted sources and 5.0mt from sites allocated in the Minerals Sites
Plan.

Crushed rock: Rolling landbanks for the whole of the Plan period and beyond
of at least ten years equivalent to at least 20.5mt, all from existing permitted
sources.

Sites will be identified in the Mineral Sites Plan to support supplies of land-won
aggregates at the stated levels above. A rolling average of ten years' sales data
and other relevant information will be used to assess landbank requirements on
an on-going basis, and this will be kept under review through the annual production
of a Local Aggregates Assessment.

2. Brickearth and Clay for Brick and Tile Manufacture

The stock of existing planning permissions at Paradise Farm, Orchard Farm,
Hempstead House and Claxfield Road for brickearth clay for brick and tile making
is sufficient for the plan period. Applications for sites supplying brickearth and clay
for brick and tile making will be dealt within in accordance with the policies of this
Plan. The existence of a stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years (as reported
in the latest Annual Monitoring report) to support the level of actual and proposed
investment required for new or existing plant and themaintenance and improvement
of existing plant and equipment will be a material consideration.

47
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 184



3. Silica Sand

In response to planning applications, the Mineral Planning Authority will seek to
permit sites for silica sand production sufficient to provide a stock of permitted
reserves of at least 10 years for individual sites of 10 years and 15 years for sites
where significant new capital is required, to support the level of actual and proposed
investment required for new or existing plant and themaintenance and improvement
of existing plant and equipment.(61) Proposals will be considered on their ownmerits,
having regard to the policies of the Development Plan as a whole subject to them
demonstrating:

a. how the mineral resources meet technical specifications required for silica
sand (industrial sand) end uses

b. how the mineral resources will be used efficiently so that high-grade sand
deposits are reserved for industrial end uses

4. Chalk for Agriculture and Engineering Purposes

The stock of existing planning permissions for chalk is sufficient to supply Kent's
requirements for agricultural and engineering chalk over the plan period. Applications
for sites supplying chalk for agriculture and engineering purposes will be dealt with
in accordance with the policies of this Plan. The need for additional supplies of
chalk will be assessed based on the latest assessment of supply and demand set
out in the Annual Monitoring Report.

5. Clay for Engineering Purposes

A site for the extraction of clay for engineering purposes will be identified at Norwood
Quarry and Landfill Site in the Minerals Sites Plan. Other sites will be identified if
required in order to enable clay extraction to continue through the Plan period to
supply Kent's requirements.

Selection of Sites in the Minerals Sites Plan

The criteria that will be taken into account for selecting and screening the suitability
of sites for identification in the Minerals Sites Plan will include:

the requirements for minerals set out above
relevant policies set out in Chapter 7: Development Management Policies
relevant policies in district local plans and neighbourhood plans
strategic environmental information, including landscape assessment and HRA
as appropriate
their deliverability
other relevant national planning policy and guidance

60 Sites identified in the Minerals Sites Plan will generally be where viable mineral resources are
known to exist, where landowners are supportive of mineral development taking place and where
MPAs consider that planning applications are likely to be acceptable in principle in planning
terms.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202048

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 185



5.3 Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals

5.3.1 While Kent was once a major producer of cement, there are no operational
cement works remaining within the county. Re-establishing cement manufacture in Kent
is sufficiently important to the achievement of the Plan's Spatial Vision and Strategic
Objectives to warrant the identification of a proposed cement works and its associated
mineral reserves as a Strategic Site. Medway Works, Holborough (shown on Figure
17) has the benefit of an extant planning permission with the permitted mineral resources
that are required to supply the works being sufficient for at least 25 years. However,
there are likely to be significant changes needed to the approved layout and design to
reflect modern requirements that would require a fresh planning application being
approved prior to the development of the site. In view of the potential job opportunities
and level of investment required to construct a new cement works, this site is considered
sufficiently important to designate it as the only Strategic Site for minerals. Policy CSM
3 addresses the planning issues of this Strategic Site's potential for significant investment
for long-term cement manufacture while maintaining a sensitive protection of the
environment, with particular regard to the Kent Downs AONB landscape designation.

Policy CSM 3

Strategic Site for Minerals

The site of the proposed Medway Cement Works, Holborough and its permitted
mineral reserves are together identified as the Strategic Site for Minerals in Kent.
The site location is shown on Figure 17.

Planning permission will not be granted for any development other than chalk
extraction for cement manufacture, cement manufacture and restoration of the
resulting void.

Mineral working and processing at the Strategic Site for Minerals will be permitted
subject to meeting the requirements of the development plan and the following
criteria:

1. an assessment of the impact of mineral working upon views from the Kent
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, with suitable sufficient landscaping
mitigation measures to minimise the impacts upon views, protect the amenity
of nearby residents and enhance and restore the landscape character

2. the development not generating more traffic movements than can be
accommodated without any unacceptable adverse impacts upon the local
highway network

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard and
where appropriate after-use that supports and enhances the long-term local
landscape character

61 ‘Plant and equipment’ is taken to mean that used in the processing of minerals and its use in
industrial and manufacturing processes.

49
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 186



T
M

M
E

Le
ge

nd
Ho

lbo
ro

ug
h C

em
en

t W
or

ks
 

St
rat

eg
ic 

Mi
ne

ral
 Si

te
Mi

ne
ral

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n A

rea
Sit

es
 of

 Sp
ec

ial
 Sc

ien
tifi

c I
nte

res
t

© 
Cr

ow
n C

op
yri

gh
t a

nd
 da

tab
as

e
 rig

ht 
20

16
. O

rd
na

nc
e S

ur
ve

y 1
00

01
92

38

¯
1:2

5,0
00

0
83

0
1,6

60Me
tre

s
Fig

ur
e 1

7 :
 St

ra
teg

ic 
Mi

ne
ral

 Si
te

To
nb

rid
ge

 &
 M

all
ing

 

Ke
nt 

Mi
ne

ral
s &

 
Wa

ste
 Lo

ca
l 

Pla
n

at 
 A4

Me
dw

ay

Gr
av

es
ha

m

Page 187



5.4 Policy CSM 4: Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites

5.4.1 Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals, together with the other Plan policies
and the sites identified in the Mineral Sites Plan, will provide the framework that seeks
to enable a stock of planning permissions for aggregates, chalk, brickearth, clay, silica
sand and minerals for cement manufacture to be maintained at the required levels
throughout the plan period.

5.4.2 The sites identified in the Minerals Sites Plan will have been subject to a detailed
assessment that will seek to balance demand for the mineral and any other benefits
against potential adverse impacts, with a view to securing a steady and adequate supply
of aggregates and industrial minerals, having regard to national planning policy and the
objectives and policies of this plan, including sustainability objectives. The presumption
is that provision will be made by means of the allocated sites coming forward and
providing the mineral required at the appropriate time. Planning applications for minerals
development on non-allocated sites (other than with respect to silica sand, where no
allocations are proposed to be made) will be considered having regard to the relevant
objectives and policies of the development plan as a whole, in particular the need to
plan for a steady and adequate supply of mineral.

5.4.3 Where a proposal for minerals development on a non-allocated site fails to
comply with the development plan or is otherwise shown to cause harm to its objectives,
planning permission will be granted only if sustainable benefits are clearly demonstrated
that are sufficient to outweigh the harm identified. Examples of criteria that may justify
permission being granted include:

the possibility of prior extraction of an economic mineral ahead of other development
taking place within the safeguarded mineral resource(62)

the possibility of borrow pit developments that can supply materials in a sustainable
manner to major infrastructure developments including road, rail and ports

locations of consented reserves and any alternative supply options(63) being remote
from main market areas necessitating unduly long road journeys from the source
to the market

the nature and qualities of the mineral such as suitability for particular use

known constraints on the availability of consented reserves that might limit output
over the plan period

the extent to which permitted reserves are within inactive sites that are unlikely to
ever be worked

62 Safeguarding of mineral resources is dealt with by Policies CSM 5, DM 7 and DM 8 and prior
extraction principally by Policy DM 9.

63 Alternative supply options include secondary or recycled materials and imports through wharves
and rail depots.

51
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 188



the assurance that large landbanks bound up in very few sites do not stifle
competition

sites in the Minerals Sites Plan not coming forward as anticipated.

Policy CSM 4

Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites

With the exception of proposals for the extraction of silica sand provided for under
Policy CSM 2, proposals for mineral extraction other than the Strategic Site for
Minerals and sites identified in the Minerals Sites Plan will be considered having
regard to the policies of the development plan as a whole and in the context of the
Vision and Objectives of this Plan, in particular the objective to plan for a steady
and adequate supply of aggregates and industrial minerals. Where harm to the
strategy of the development plan is shown, permission will be granted only where
it has been demonstrated that there are overriding benefits that justify extraction
at the exception site.

5.5 Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral Safeguarding

5.5.1 Protecting mineral resources from unnecessary sterilisation is a very important
part of minerals planning policy, it is central to supporting sustainable development.
Minerals are a finite natural resource which need to be used prudently. The purpose of
safeguarding minerals is to ensure that sufficient economic minerals are available for
future generations to use. The viability of extracting resources may change over time
and is likely to increase as resources become more scarce. Mineral transportation
infrastructure is also important because, as described in section 5.2, imported minerals
make a major contribution to the County's requirements and production facilities convert
materials into useable products. Such transportation infrastructure also allows for the
export of minerals from Kent to other areas. The British Geological Society (BGS)
Mineral Resource maps provide the best available geological data on the extent of
mineral resources in Kent and so have been used as the starting point for safeguarding
mineral resources in Kent.

5.5.2 Policy CSM 5 describes how land-wonminerals will be safeguarded and Policies
CSM 6 and CSM 7 describe how mineral infrastructure will be safeguarded. Policy DM
7 describes the circumstances in which non-mineral developments that are incompatible
with safeguarding a resource or a safeguarded wharf or rail depot would be acceptable.
Policies CSM 4 and DM 9 set out how applications for prior extraction of safeguarded
mineral resources, that would otherwise be sterilised by non-minerals development,
would be considered. Policy DM 8 describes the circumstances in which non-mineral
developments that might be incompatible with safeguarding minerals and/or waste
infrastructure would be acceptable.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202052

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 189



5.5.3 Land-won mineral safeguarding is carried out through the designation of Mineral
Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) andMineral Consultation Areas (MCAs). Further explanation
is provided below.

5.5.4 MSAs cover areas of known mineral resources that are, or may in future be, of
sufficient value to warrant protection for future generations. MSAs ensure that such
resources are adequately and effectively considered in land-use planning decisions so
that they are not needlessly sterilised. The level of information used to indicate the
existence of a mineral resource can vary from geological mapping to more in-depth
geological investigations. Defining MSAs carries no presumption for extraction and
there is no presumption that any areas within MSAs will ultimately be acceptable for
mineral extraction.

5.5.5 National policy expects all MPAs, both unitary and two-tier authorities, to include
policies and proposals in their local plans to safeguard mineral resources and to set
out their extent on maps of MSAs. In two-tier authority areas, such as Kent, MSAs
should be included on the Policies Maps of the Development Plan maintained by the
District and Borough Councils. This is intended to alert prospective promoters of
development and the local planning authority, to the existence of mineral resources
and shows where local mineral safeguarding policies may apply.

5.5.6 Geological mapping is indicative of the existence of a mineral resource. It is
possible that the mineral has already been extracted and/or that some areas may not
contain any of mineral resource being safeguarded. Nevertheless, the onus will be on
promoters of non-mineral development to demonstrate satisfactorily(64) at the time that
the development is promoted that the indicated mineral resource does not actually exist
in the location being promoted, or extraction would not be viable or practicable under
the particular circumstances.

5.5.7 TheMCA designation is intended to ensure that consultation takes place between
county and district/borough planning authorities when mineral interests might be
compromised by non-minerals development, especially in close proximity to a known
mineral resource. The designation of MCAs is not obligatory, but consultation on
development within an MCA is. The MCAs within Kent cover the same areas as the
MSAs, other than that around the safeguarded mineral reserves at Holborough Works
as shown in Figure 17.

5.5.8 Where an application is made for non-mineral development within a MSA
identified in this Plan, then the determining authority will consult the MPA for its views
on the application and take them into account in its determination. For non-minerals
development determined by the County Council e.g. schools and waste management,
the safeguarding policies will equally apply.

5.5.9 Economic land-won minerals that are identified for safeguarding in Kent are
sharp sand and gravel, soft sand, silica sand, crushed rock, building stone and brickearth.
As chalk and clay (other than brickearth) are abundant across the county, they are not
being safeguarded. The mineral resource areas identified for safeguarding are shown
in the MSAs in Chapter 9: Adopted Policies Maps. The MSAs are based on mapping

64 Non-minerals development will mainly be promoted through planning applications or through
proposed allocations in Local Plans. Advice will be provided by Kent County Council (as the Minerals
Planning Authority).

53
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 190



of the mineral resource prepared by the BGS. Current guidance advises that mineral
safeguarding should not be curtailed by any other planning designation, such as
environmental designations without sound justification. The mineral resources within
the Plan area are extensive and whilst they continue beneath urban areas they are
already sterilised by non-mineral development with very little prospect of future working.
Therefore in order for the safeguarding to be practical such areas have been excluded
from the MSAs.

5.5.10 The surface working area of the proposed East Kent Limestone Mine is not
identified for safeguarding. This is because there has been no advancement in the
mine's development since the identification of this resource as a possible area of mining
in the 1993 Minerals Subject Plan.(65) There is no certainty where the built footprint for
the surface aggregate processing facility is likely to be situated (if it is ever developed)
and planning policies should avoid the long-term protection of sites identified for
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that
purpose. Any proposals for prospecting the Carboniferous Limestone deposit will be
considered under Policy CSM 11.(66)

5.5.11 Coal, oil, and deep pennant sandstone resources are also not being
safeguarded, as they are located at considerable depth underground andmay potentially
form extensive resources. The safeguarding of these deep underground minerals would
dilute the focus of safeguarding mineral resources, access to which is more likely to be
lost to built development.

5.5.12 Following the adoption of this Plan, the MSAs will be reviewed and updated
as necessary. Further reviews of the MSAs will take place at least every five years.
Matters to be taken into account in these reviews will be set out in a Supplementary
Planning Document on minerals safeguarding to be prepared following adoption of this
Plan. Such matters will include the following:

1. Previously worked land (provided the mineral resource is exhausted)

2. Transport infrastructure

3. Land within urban areas

4. Proposed urban extensions and site allocations for non-minerals uses in adopted
local plans

5. The importance of minerals resources

6. The accessibility of the minerals resource i.e. whether it can be practicably and
viably worked

5.5.13 At the same time, the need to safeguard sites hosting specific infrastructure
(transportation and production) will also be reviewed.

65 KCC (1993) Mineral Subject Plan Construction Aggregates.
66 DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework, para. 22.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202054

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 191



5.5.14 The process of allocating land for non-minerals uses in local plans will take
into account the need to safeguard minerals resources and mineral infrastructure. The
allocation of land within an MSA will only take place after consideration of the factors
that would be considered if a non-minerals development were to be proposed in that
location, or in proximity to it, as set out in Policies DM 7, DM 8, CSM 5 and CSM 6. The
Minerals Planning Authority will support the District and Borough Councils in this process.

Policy CSM 5

Land-won Mineral Safeguarding

Economic mineral resources are safeguarded from being unnecessarily sterilised
by other development by the identification of:

1. Mineral Safeguarding Areas for the areas of brickearth, sharp sand and gravel,
soft sand (including silica sand), ragstone and building stone as defined on
the Mineral Safeguarding Area Policies Maps in Chapter 9

2. Mineral Consultation Areas which cover the same area as the Minerals
Safeguarding Areas and a separate area adjacent to the Strategic Site for
Minerals at Medway Works, Holborough as shown in Figure 17

3. Sites for mineral working within the plan period identified in Appendix C and
in the Mineral Sites Plan.

5.6 Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots

5.6.1 Kent has a range of mineral transportation facilities around its coast as well as
inland. The importance of safeguarding these facilities to enable the on-going supply
of essential minerals is identified in national planning policy. Development in proximity
to a mineral transportation facility could prejudice or constrain current or future
operations. It is important therefore, that the Plan ensures that wharves and rail depots
are safeguarded and are not put at risk by non-minerals developments. The locations
of the safeguarded wharves and rail depots are shown in Figure 13: Minerals Key
Diagram and in Chapter 9: Adopted Policies Maps.

5.6.2 Policy DM 8 identifies situations where development at, or in proximity to,
safeguarded infrastructure including wharves and rail depots, would be acceptable.

55
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 192



Policy CSM 6

Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots

Planning permission will not be granted for non-minerals development that may
unacceptably adversely affect the operation of existing,(67) planned or potential
sites, such that their capacity or viability for minerals transportation purposes may
be compromised.

The following sites, and the allocated sites included in the Minerals Sites Plan, are
safeguarded:

1. Allington Rail Sidings

2. Sevington Rail Depot

3. Hothfield Works

4. East Peckham

5. Ridham Dock (both operational sites)

6. Johnson's Wharf, Greenhithe

7. Robins Wharf, Northfleet (both operational sites)

8. Clubbs Marine Terminal, Gravesend

9. East Quay, Whitstable

10. Red Lion Wharf, Gravesend

11. Ramsgate Port

12. Wharf 42, Northfleet (including Northfleet Cement Wharf)

13. Dunkirk Jetty (Dover Western Docks)

14. Sheerness

15. Northfleet Wharf

16. Old Sun Wharf, Gravesend

67 Existing sites are taken as sites that have permanent planning permission for minerals
transportation purposes.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202056

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 193



Their locations are shown in Figure 13: Minerals Key Diagram in Chapter 2 and
their site boundaries are shown in Chapter 9: Adopted Policies Maps.

The Local Planning Authorities will consult the Minerals Planning Authority and
take account of its views before making a planning decision (in terms of both a
planning application and an allocation in a local plan) for non-mineral related
development (other than that of the type listed in policy DM 8 (clause 1) on all
development proposed at, or within 250m of, safeguarded minerals transportation
facilities.

5.7 Policy CSM 7: Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure

5.7.1 National policy requires other types of mineral infrastructure to be safeguarded.
This includes existing, planned and potential sites for concrete batching, the manufacture
of coatedmaterials, other concrete products and the handling, processing and distribution
of substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate materials.

5.7.2 As there are many sites within the county, with considerable numbers being
located on industrial estates identified in local plans for general industrial and commercial
uses, a generic (non-site specific) policy for safeguarding these facilities and their
ongoing, overall capacities is necessary. Policy CSM 7 addresses the need to safeguard
mineral production infrastructure, while being flexible to the needs of the industry by
enabling the loss of capacity (potentially required for the industry to remain competitive
and viable) provided there is replacement capacity available elsewhere of a type that
is at least equal to that provided by the original facility. Policy DM 8 identifies situations
where development at, or in proximity to safeguarded mineral plant infrastructure would
be acceptable.

Policy CSM 7

Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure

Facilities for concrete batching, the manufacture of coated materials, other concrete
products and the handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and
secondary aggregate material in Kent are safeguarded for their on-going use.
Where these facilities are situated within a host quarry, wharf or rail depot facility,
they are safeguarded for the life of the host site.

Where other development is proposed at, or within 250m of, safeguarded minerals
plant infrastructure, Local Planning Authorities will consult the Minerals Planning
Authority and take account of its views before making a planning decision (in terms
of both a planning application and an allocation in a local plan).

57
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 194



5.8 Policy CSM 8: Secondary and Recycled Aggregates

5.8.1 The use of secondary and recycled aggregates is generally more sustainable
than extracting primary land-won aggregates. It is for this reason that national policy
expects MPAs to take account of the contribution that secondary and recycled materials
would make, before considering extraction of primary materials so far as practicable.
As considered in Section 5.2, the replacement of primary aggregates with secondary
and recycled supplies materials is becoming increasingly important as indigenous
land-won primary supplies diminish. The County Council is therefore keen to see the
quantities of secondary and recycled aggregates being produced within Kent increase.

5.8.2 The consented secondary and recycled aggregates processing capacity within
Kent currently exceeds 2.7mtpa, 0.63 mtpa of which is identified as temporary capacity.
Inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation (CDE) waste is the main source of
recycled aggregate and arisings of this waste in Kent are estimated to be 2.6 mtpa
which indicates that some capacity may be utilised for imported materials. In addition,
arisings of materials suitable for conversion into secondary aggregates such as furnace
bottom ash are expected to increase as more Energy fromWaste capacity is developed
during the plan period in line with Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous
Waste.

5.8.3 Policy CSM 8 sets out criteria to be used in the consideration of additional
secondary and recycled aggregate production capacity. Where permanent consent is
being sought, to avoid adverse amenity impacts the presumption will be that processing
activities will be contained within a covered building or similar structure. While sites with
permanent consent will be safeguarded under Policy CSM 7, to compensate for the
loss of capacity located on temporary sites, sites will be identified in the Minerals Sites
Plan to ensure processing capacity is maintained to allow the production of at least 2.7
million tonnes per annum of secondary and recycled aggregates, throughout the Plan
period.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202058

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 195



Policy CSM 8

Secondary and Recycled Aggregates

Sites will be identified in the Minerals Sites Plan to ensure processing capacity is
maintained to allow the production of at least 2.7 million tonnes per annum of
secondary and recycled aggregates, throughout the Plan period.

Proposals for additional capacity for secondary and recycled aggregate production
including those relating to the expansion of capacity at existing facilities that
increases the segregation and hence end product range/quality achieved, will be
granted planning permission if they are well located in relation to the source of input
materials or need for output materials, have good transport infrastructure links and
accord with the other relevant policies in the development plan, at the following
types of sites:

1. temporary demolition, construction, land reclamation and regeneration projects
and highways developments where materials are either generated or to be
used in the project or both for the duration of the project (as defined by the
planning permission)

2. appropriate mineral operations (including wharves and rail depots) for the
duration of the host site permission.

3. appropriate waste management operations for the duration of the host site
permission.

4. industrial estates, where the proposals are compatible with other policies set
out in the development plan including those relating to employment and
regeneration.

5. any other site that meets the requirements cited in the second paragraph of
this policy above.

The term ‘appropriate’ in this policy is defined in terms of the proposal demonstrating
that it will not give rise to unacceptable adverse impacts on communities or the
environment as a whole over and above the levels that had been considered to be
acceptable for the host site when originally permitted without the additional facility.

Planning permission will be granted to re-work old inert landfills and dredging
disposal sites to produce replacement aggregate material where it is demonstrated
that net gains in landscape, biodiversity or amenity can be achieved by the operation
and environmental impacts can be mitigated to an acceptable level.

5.9 Policy CSM 9: Building Stone in Kent

5.9.1 Only two ragstone quarries have consented reserves at the time of the
preparation of this Plan: Hermitage Quarry and Blaise Farm in mid Kent. Although
building stone has been produced from both quarries, only Hermitage Quarry has the
ability to produce high-quality cut stone from the full sequence of ragstone beds in the
Hythe Formation, and it continues to provide building stone for building conservation
uses. However, in the past, small-scale quarries have provided locally distinctive stone

59
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 196



including Paludina Limestone (found near Bethersden), Tunbridge Wells Sandstone
and flint (from chalk strata). Calcareous tufa found in small outcrops near Ditton has
also been used in a few buildings, including Leeds Castle in Kent. These have been
popular building materials and supplies may be needed in the future to maintain and
restore the buildings that use them.

5.9.2 Small quarries for building stone can play an important part in providing
historically authentic building materials in the conservation and repair of historic and
cultural buildings and structures. Policy CSM 9 addresses the potential need for granting
planning permission for small-scale, local restoration building stone quarrying in Kent.

Policy CSM 9

Building Stone in Kent

Planning permission will be granted for small-scale proposals(68) that are needed
to provide a supply of suitable local building stone necessary for restoration work
associated with the maintenance of Kent's historic buildings and structures and
new build projects within conservation areas, subject to:

1. development taking place in appropriate locations where the proposals do not
have unacceptable adverse impacts on the local environment and communities

2. there being no other suitable, sustainable sources of the stone available

3. the site is restored to a high quality standard and appropriate after-use that
supports the local landscape character

5.10 Policy CSM 10: Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons

5.10.1 Oil and gas are important mineral resources and primary sources of energy
in the United Kingdom. They underpin key aspects of modern society and remain an
important part of the UK’s energy mix. Maximising economic production of UK oil and
gas reserves to provide reliable energy supplies is a key activity the Government are
taking forward to minimise international energy supply risks.

5.10.2 All hydrocarbons are owned by the State, in the form of the Oil and Gas
Authority, the Coal Authority and the Department of Energy and Climate Change.
Companies who wish to exploit these minerals are invited to bid for licences by the
Government. A conditional underground licence does not give an operator the power
to exploit underground resources and is conditional upon planning permission (and
other rights) being granted too.

68 A small-scale building stone extraction site is one that produces predominantly building stone
for conservation and restoration of old buildings or for new build purposes in areas where the
stone provides historically authentic materials in keeping with the local built environment.
Operations are likely to be intermittent and volumes produced are low.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202060

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 197



5.10.3 Where possible reserves have been identified there is a need to establish,
through exploratory drilling, whether or not there are sufficient recoverable quantities
of unconventional hydrocarbons present to facilitate economically viable full scale
production. There are three phases of onshore hydrocarbon extraction: exploration,
testing (appraisal) and production.

5.10.4 In the case of appraisal wells, decisions will not take account of hypothetical
future activities, since the further appraisal and production phases will be the subject
of separate planning applications and assessments. When determining applications for
subsequent phases, the fact that exploratory drilling has taken place on a particular site
is only likely to be material in determining the suitability of continuing to use that site
insofar as it establishes the presence of hydrocarbon resources. There is no presumption
that because permission is granted for one phase, then permission will be granted for
a subsequent one, i.e. permission granted for exploration should not be assumed to
lead to permission for appraisal, nor for appraisal to production. Each application will
be considered on its merits. Proposals associated with exploration, appraisal and
production might reasonably include underground gas storage and associated
infrastructure, for which encouragement is sought in the NPPF.

5.10.5 The Mineral Planning Authority is one of four key regulators for hydrocarbon
extraction. Its role is to provide clear guidance and criteria for the local assessment of
hydrocarbon extraction within Petroleum Licence Areas and to grant planning permission
for the location of any wells and wellpads and impose conditions to ensure that the
impact on the use of land is acceptable. There are clear roles and responsibilities for
each of the regulators and an expectation that the Mineral Planning Authority should
assume non-planning regimes will operate effectively and should not ordinarily need
to carry out its own assessments where it can rely on the assessments of other regulatory
bodies. However, before granting planning permission the MPA will need to be satisfied
that these issues can or will be adequately addressed by taking and considering advice
from the relevant regulatory body relating to the specific risks/concerns posed by
particular proposals. For example in the case of proposals involving hydraulic fracturing
mitigation of seismic risks; well design and construction; well integrity during operation;
operation of surface equipment on the well pad; mining waste; chemical content of
hydraulic fracturing fluid flaring or venting; final off-site disposal of water and well
decommissioning/abandonment.

5.10.6 Where it is intended to utilise new or existing infrastructure, the MPA will need
to be satisfied that any associated environmental and amenity impacts are mitigated
to ensure that there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the local environment or
communities.

61
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 198



Resources and Potential

Oil

5.10.7 Kent is part of the Southern Permian Basin Area, an area of potential for oil
resource that stretches across northern Europe from Dorset to Yorkshire in the west,
across northern France, Belgium, Holland, Denmark, Germany and Poland. On-going
exploration has established a series of oil and gas fields across the Basin Area. Notable
commercial discoveries in the English sector of this basin, associated with the Weald
and south coast, areWytch Farm (Dorset) which is the largest onshore oil field in western
Europe, Alvington (Hampshire), Storrington (West Sussex) and PalmersWood (Surrey).
The Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) issues Petroleum Exploration
and Development Licenses (PEDLs). In the past, parts of west and east Kent have
been included. These licensing areas are subject to periodic revision by DECC.

5.10.8 A planning permission was granted in 2012 for exploratory drilling and
subsequent oil and gas field testing at Bidborough in West Kent. In 2015 the planning
permission had not been implemented. Exploratory drilling has also taken place in
Cowden near Tunbridge Wells from August 1999 (planning permission SE/98/234).
Subsequent extensions were granted to complete planned testing operations on the
capped well at Cowden to establish the extent of productive capacity of the oil field, the
last of which expired in 2012 (SE/11/1396).

Gas

5.10.9 Minor reserves of natural gas have been exploited in the past in East Sussex
however only two resources have been detected following exploration undertaken more
recently as a result of licences issued.

Unconventional hydrocarbons

5.10.10 Unconventional hydrocarbons refers to oil and gas which comes from sources
such as shale or coal seams which act as the reservoirs. Shale gas, shale oil and coal
bedmethane are often referred to as unconventional hydrocarbons as they are extracted
using technologies that enables oil and gas locked into rock formations that were
previously considered to be unsuitable or uneconomic to be exploited.

5.10.11 Coal Bed Methane is methane that is trapped within the pore spaces of coal
in coal seams, such as the East Kent Field. In coal, methane is held in an almost liquid
state within the porous elements so that if pressure is reduced by human intervention
such as mining or drilling into a coal seam, the gas is liberated. As the gas is combustible
it is a potential resource. The East Kent Coalfield covers an area of 157,900 hectares
beneath the Kent landmass. It was exploited for its coal reserves between 1912 and
1989. Underground licence applications to investigate the East Kent Coalfield are being
processed by the Coal Authority at the time of writing this Plan. There is currently no
information available on the potential of coal bed methane resources in Kent. However
interest has been shown in Kent and permission was granted to drill an exploratory
borehole to test the in situ coals, Lower Limestone Shales and associated strata in 2011
at Woodnesborough, in East Kent. During the preparation of the Plan, a further three
planning applications for test drilling in East Kent were received by KCC but were
subsequently withdrawn.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202062

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 199



5.10.12 Underground coal gasification is a technique that gasifies coal underground
and then brings the resultant gas to the surface for subsequent use in heating or power
generation. It requires precision drilling of two boreholes: one to supply oxygen and
water/steam and the other to bring the resulting gas back to the surface. Currently there
are no commercial scale underground coal gasification processes present in the UK.

5.10.13 Hydraulic fracturing (often called fracking) is a technique used to extract gas
or oil from shale rock strata whereby water (and additives) is pumped under pressure
into productive shale rocks via a drilled bore to open up pore spaces releasing the gas
or oil for pumping to the surface for use.(69)

5.10.14 The BGS completed a resource study for the Weald Basin, which includes
part of Kent . The study concluded that with the current level of geological data and
information there is no significant shale gas potential within the Weald Basin. There is
however potentially a significant volume of unconventional shale oil. The study estimates
that the oil in place (OIP) across the whole Weald Basin, which is the resource estimate,
ranges from 2.2 to 8.6 billion barrels (billion bbl). There is currently insufficient information
and data to estimate how much of that oil resource is economically and technically
viable to extract; further exploratory drilling, sampling and socio-economic and
environmental studies would be required.

5.10.15 Section 50 of the Infrastructure Act 2015 inserts section 4A of the Petroleum
Act 1998, which sets out a number of safeguards for developments involving onshore
hydraulic fracturing. This includes no hydraulic fracturing within protected groundwater
source areas and within "other protected areas". "Other protected areas" are defined
in the secondary legislation, Onshore Hydraulic Fracturing (Protected Areas) Regulations
2016. Section 3 of these Regulations define "other protected areas" in the following
manner, as areas of land at a depth of less than 1,200 metres beneath a National Park,
the Broads, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty or a World Heritage site. Decisions
on planning applications will be made in accordance with the Infrastructure Act and the
associated secondary legislation.

5.10.16 The Act also places a duty on the Mineral Planning Authority to take account,
where relevant, of the cumulative effects of an application for onshore hydraulic
fracturing, and any other applications relating to exploitation of onshore oil and gas
obtainable by hydraulic fracturing. It is important to examine how differences in context
such as geological and environmental characteristics might lead to differing levels of
risk, for example this may include consideration of the depth of shale exploration and
mitigation measures such as restricting water use to wetter seasons or requiring
recirculation. Each application will be considered on its merits.

5.10.17 Provision has also been made in the Infrastructure Act (in section 49) for the
Secretary of State to request the Committee on Climate Change to provide advice (in
accordance with section 38 of the Climate Change Act 2008) on the impact which
combustion of, and fugitive emissions from, petroleum produced through onshore
activity, is likely to have. The way in which minerals produced in Kent are subsequently
used is not within the control of the Plan. However, the Council will review any such

69 Information on unconventional hydrocarbon extraction is available in the Planning Practice Guidance
website at: http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/minerals/
planning-for-hydrocarbon-extraction/annex-a-shale-gas-and-coalbed-methane-coal-seam-gas/

63
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 200

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/minerals/planning-for-hydrocarbon-extraction/annex-a-shale-gas-and-coalbed-methane-coal-seam-gas/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/minerals/planning-for-hydrocarbon-extraction/annex-a-shale-gas-and-coalbed-methane-coal-seam-gas/


advice to consider whether it raises any consideration that needs to be taken into
account in determining an application for planning permission relating to hydraulic
fracturing and whether any review of policy CSM 10 is required. Any such reviews will
take into account any relevant national planning policy and guidance.

5.10.18 There are several issues associated with the extraction of oil and gas and
unconventional hydrocarbons which need careful attention at the planning application
stage. The nature and significance of these issues will vary between the technology
utilised and the phases of exploration, testing (appraisal) and production. These issues
are set out below, together with the development management policies which ensure
they are adequately addressed:

The discharge of artesian groundwater to the surface (Policy DM 10)

Impact on ground and surface waters (both quantity and quality) (Policy DM 10)

Visual and amenity (e.g. noise, lighting, PROW) impacts of surface operations
(including those resulting from 24 hour operations) (Policies DM 2, DM 11, DM 12,
DM 14)

Impacts of vehicles transporting staff and materials to and from the drill site (Policy
DM 13)

Impacts on biodiversity (Policy DM 3)

Stability of land (Policy DM 18)

Restoration of the surface operations following their cessation (Policy DM 19)

Cumulative effects (Policy DM 12)

5.10.19 Policy CSM 10 sets out the matters that need to be taken into account when
considering proposals for the exploration, appraisal and development of oil, gas and
unconventional hydrocarbons.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202064

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 201



Policy CSM 10

Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons

Planning permission will be granted for proposals associated with the exploration,
appraisal and production of oil, gas and unconventional hydrocarbons subject to:

1. well sites and associated facilities being sited, so far as is practicable, to
minimise impacts on the environment and communities

2. developments being located outside Protected Groundwater Source Areas(70)

3. there being no unacceptable adverse impacts (in terms of quantity and quality)
upon sensitive water receptors including groundwater, water bodies and wetland
habitats

4. all other environmental and amenity impacts being mitigated to ensure that
there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the local environment or
communities

5. exploration and appraisal operations being for an agreed, temporary length of
time

6. the drilling site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard
and appropriate after-use that reflects the local landscape character at the
earliest practicable opportunity

7. it being demonstrated that greenhouse gases associated with fugitive emissions
from the exploration, testing and production activities will not lead to
unacceptable adverse environmental impacts

Particular consideration will be given to the location of hydrocarbon development
involving hydraulic fracturing having regard to impacts on water resources,
seismicity, local air quality, landscape, noise and lighting impacts. Such development
will not be supported within protected groundwater source protection zones or
where it might adversely affect or be affected by flood risk or within Air Quality
Management Areas or protected areas for the purposes of the Infrastructure Act
2015, section 50.

70 Advice will be sought from the Environment Agency

65
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 202



5.11 Policy CSM 11: Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone

5.11.1 While the East Kent Limestone mine has not been progressed since it was
included in the Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction Aggregates Written Statement
(1993) (71) as a possible area of mining, it is still considered to be a possible long-term
source of construction aggregates in Kent. The location of the underground limestone
resource is in the vicinity of calcareous grassland which is an important habitat, being
registered with both the national and Kent BAPs and as a Habitat of Principal Importance
under the NERC Act 2006. There are also Natura 2000 sites, SSSIs and LWSs
throughout the area. If prospecting is proposed in the plan period, it will have to be
undertaken sensitively with sufficient controls to avoid any impacts upon sensitive
receptors.

Policy CSM 11

Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone

Planning permission will be granted at suitable locations for the drilling operations
associated with the prospecting for underground limestone resources in East Kent
subject to:

1. exploration and appraisal operations are for an agreed, temporary length of
time

5.12 Policy CSM 12: Sustainable Transport of Minerals

5.12.1 While there have not been any proposals for new wharves and rail depots for
consideration in the Mineral Sites Plan, in line with the requirements of sustainable
development it is important to encourage the sustainable transportation of minerals by
rail and water wherever possible. Policy CSM 12 encourages an increase in sustainable
transport modes for minerals and encourages the development of new mineral
importation facilities or facilities that have fallen out of use.

71 KCC (1993) Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction Aggregates Written Statement.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202066

5
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Page 203



Policy CSM 12

Sustainable Transport of Minerals

Planning permission for any new wharf and rail depot importation operations, or
for wharves and rail depots that have been operational in the past (having since
fallen out of use), that includes the transport of the minerals by sustainable means
(i.e. sea, river or rail) as the dominant mode of transport will be granted planning
permission, where:

1. they are well located in relation to the Key Arterial Routes(72) across Kent and

2. the proposals are compatible with other local employment and regeneration
policies set out in the development plan.

72 These are made up of Motorways and Trunk Roads, County Primary Routes and County Principal
Routes. County Primary Routes link major urban centres, including the A228/A26 between
Medway and Tonbridge, the A229 between Medway and East Sussex, the A299 between
Faversham and Thanet, the A28 between Thanet and East Sussex, the A256 between Dover
and Thanet, the A26 between Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells and the A25 between Wrotham
and Sevenoaks. County Principal routes are generally A class roads with relatively high traffic
flows, including the A225 between Sevenoaks and Dartford and the A251 between Faversham
and Ashford. These are shown on Figure 2.

67
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
5
D
elivery

S
trategy

forM
inerals

Page 204



6 Delivery Strategy for Waste

6.0.1 The following policies give the delivery strategy for waste management
development in Kent up to the end of 2030.

6.1 Policy CSW 1: Sustainable Development

6.1.1 As stated in paragraph 5.1.1, the purpose of the planning system is to contribute
to the achievement of sustainable development.(73) At the heart of the NPPF is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF requires that policies in
local plans should follow the approach of this presumption. The Kent MWLP is therefore
based on the principle of sustainable development. This is demonstrated in the Spatial
Vision, the Strategic Objectives and the policies that seek sustainable solutions.

6.1.2 Planning law requires planning decisions to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF
states that it does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting
point for decisionmaking. Policy CSW1 ensures the presumption in favour of sustainable
development is taken into account in KCC's approach to waste development.

Policy CSW 1

Sustainable Development

When considering waste development proposals the Council will take a positive
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework, National Planning Policy for
Waste and the Waste Management Plan for England.

Waste development that accords with the development plan should be approved
without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application, or relevant policies are out
of date at the time of decision making, the Council will grant permission unless
material considerations indicate otherwise, taking into account where either:

1. any unacceptable adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies
in the National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole, or

2. specific policies in that Framework(74) indicate that development should be
restricted.

73 DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework: Ministerial Foreword.
74 For example, those policies relating to land within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Green

Belt, sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and/or as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, designated heritage assets, and locations at risk of flooding.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202068

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 205



6.2 Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy and Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction

6.2.1 It is Government policy to break the link between economic growth and the
environmental impact of waste by moving the management of waste up the Waste
Hierarchy, as shown in Figure 18.(75)

Figure 18 Waste Hierarchy

6.2.2 The Kent MWLP mainly implements this policy through influence over waste
and minerals developments. However, the Plan also includes a policy (Policy CSW 3)
seeking to influence/reduce waste arising from all forms of development. The Kent
MWLP forms part of the development plan, along with the district local plans, and is
therefore relevant to the determination of planning applications for all forms of
development in Kent.

6.2.3 In accordance with the Waste Hierarchy, the Plan gives priority to planning for
waste management developments that prepare waste for re-use or recycling. The most
recent assessment of waste management capacity requirements(76) shows that Kent's
current recycling and processing facilities have sufficient capacity for the anticipated
rate of usage with the exception of facilities for green and kitchen wastes. It should be
appreciated that these calculations are based upon a rate of use that should only be
regarded as a minimum, as the aspiration is to encourage more of the waste that is
produced in Kent to be managed by methods at this tier of the hierarchy.

6.2.4 Encouraging more waste to be managed via re-use or recycling will be achieved
by enabling policies for the development of additional waste management capacity for
recycling and processing including a policy presumption to grant planning permission

75 The Waste Hierarchy diagram is a copy of the version in Appendix A of DCLG National Planning
Policy for Waste.

76 BPP Consulting Waste Needs Assessment 2018.

69
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 206



for redevelopment or extensions to lawful existing waste management facilities to enable
more waste to be recycled or processed for re-use providing the proposal is in
accordance with the locational and development management policies in the Plan.

6.2.5 The application of the Waste Hierarchy is a legal requirement under the Waste
(England and Wales) Regulations 2011. It is anticipated that there will be a transition
over time to forms of waste management at the higher end of the Waste Hierarchy. The
Kent MWLP addresses this transition by seeking to rapidly provide a more sustainable
option for the mixed non-hazardous waste that is going to landfill by applying ambitious
but achievable landfill diversion targets presented in Policy CSW 4.

Policy CSW 2

Waste Hierarchy

To deliver sustainable waste management solutions for Kent, proposals for waste
management must demonstrate how the proposal will help drive waste to ascend
the Waste Hierarchy whenever possible.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202070

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 207



Policy CSW 3

Waste Reduction

All new development should minimise the production of construction, demolition
and excavation waste and manage any waste in accordance with the objectives of
Policy CSW 2.

The following details shall be submitted with the planning application, except for
householder applications:

1. the measures to be taken to show compliance with this policy
2. the details of the nature and quantity of any construction, demolition and

excavation waste and its subsequent management

New development should include detailed consideration of waste arising from the
occupation of the development including consideration of how waste will be stored,
collected and managed.

In particular proposals should ensure that:

1. there is adequate temporary storage space for waste generated by that
development allowing for the separate storage of recyclable materials; and

2. as necessary, there is adequate communal storage for waste, including
separate recyclables, pending its collection; and

3. storage and collection systems (e.g. any dedicated rooms, storage areas and
chutes or underground waste collection systems), for waste are of high quality
design and are incorporated in a manner which will ensure there is adequate
and convenient access for users and waste collection operatives and will
contribute to the achievement of waste management targets; and

4. adequate contingency measures are in place to manage any mechanical
breakdowns. All relevant proposals should be accompanied by a recycling &
waste management strategy which considers the above matters and
demonstrates the ability to meet local authority waste management targets.

71
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 208



6.3 Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste Management Capacity

Net Self-sufficiency and Waste Movements

6.3.1 Kent currently achieves net self-sufficiency in waste management capacity for
all waste streams. I.e. the annual capacity of the waste management facilities (excluding
transfer) in Kent is sufficient to manage the equivalent quantity of waste to that predicted
to arise in Kent. The continued achievement of net self-sufficiency and the management
of waste close to its source are key Strategic Objectives of the Kent MWLP, because
it shows that Kent is not placing any unnecessary burden on other WPAs to manage
its waste. Net self-sufficiency recognises that existing (and future) waste management
capacity within Kent may not necessarily be for the exclusive management of Kent’s
waste. Moreover, proposals that would result in more waste being managed in Kent
than is produced may be acceptable if they resulted in waste moving up the hierarchy.
Achievement of net self-sufficiency is the baseline aspiration and can be monitored on
an annual basis and will provide an indicator as to whether the policies in the Plan need
to be reviewed. The purpose in adopting the principle of net self-sufficiency is not to
restrict the movement of waste as such restriction of waste catchment areas could have
an adverse effect upon the viability of the development of new waste management
facilities needed to provide additional capacity for Kent’s waste arisings.

6.3.2 In reality, different types of waste are managed at different types of facilities.
To assess the future needs for waste facilities in Kent, net self-sufficiency has been
studied for the individual waste streams of inert, non-inert (also called nonhazardous)
and hazardous wastes. While Kent currently achieves net self-sufficiency, this position
will be monitored to ensure this remains the case throughout the plan period. The
purpose in adopting the principle of net self-sufficiency is not to restrict the movement
of waste as such restriction of waste catchment areas could have an adverse effect
upon the viability of the development of additional waste management capacity.

Provision for Waste From London

6.3.3 Specific provision in the calculations for capacity required for non-hazardous
waste going to landfill or EfW has been made for waste from London. The reason for
this is that due to land constraints London's residual waste cannot all be managed within
London itself and so, as a neighbouring waste planning authority, Kent County Council
has some responsibility to make provision for an element of this waste. Historical data
indicates the tonnage to be provided for is in the region of 35,000 tonnes per annum.
It is also recognised that closure of Rainham Landfill in the London Borough of Havering
in 2026 may result in the displacement of waste from Kent currently managed there.
Therefore, an additional tonnage of 20,000 tpa has been planned for on a contingency
basis.

6.3.4 An assessment has been made of the current profile of management of the
principal waste streams. The targets applied reflect ambitious (but realistic) goals for
moving waste up the hierarchy and seek to ensure that the maximum quantity of
non-hazardous waste is diverted from landfill.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202072

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 209



Policy CSW 4

Strategy for Waste Management Capacity

The strategy for waste management capacity in Kent is to provide sufficient waste
management capacity to manage at least the equivalent of the waste arising in
Kent plus some residual non-hazardous waste from London. As a minimum it is to
achieve the targets set out below for recycling and composting and other forms of
recovery.

Table 1

Milestone Year

2030/312025/262020/212015/16

Local Authority Collected Waste

60%55%50%n/aRecycling/Composting(77)

38%43%45%n/aOther Recovery

2%2%2%n/aRemainder to Landfill

Commercial and Industrial Waste

60%55%50%n/aRecycling/Composting(78)

30%32.5%35%n/aOther Recovery

10%12.5%15%n/aRemainder to Landfill

Construction & Demolition Waste (Non-Inert only)

14%13%12%n/aRecycling

1%1%1%n/aComposting

5%5%5%n/aOther Recovery

0.5%1%2%n/aRemainder to Landfill

6.4 Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for Waste

6.4.1 To meet the Kent MWLP objective of reducing the amount of waste being
landfilled, the Plan is using policies to drive a major change in the way that waste is
managed in Kent. Enabling the change in perception of waste from being something
that has to be disposed to something that can be used as a resource will be helped by
the development of such additional capacity further up the hierarchy.

77 This is taken to include organic waste (including green and kitchen waste) treatment by Anaerobic
Digestion.

78 This is taken to include organic waste (including green and kitchen waste) treatment by Anaerobic
Digestion.

73
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 210



6.4.2 The landfill at Norwood Quarry on the Isle of Sheppey accommodates the
hazardous flue ash residues from the Allington EfW facility that features heavily in the
Waste Management Unit (WMU) contracts for residual MSW, but it has limited consented
void space remaining. To make provision for this waste for the duration of the Plan an
extension to Norwood Quarry is identified. Enabling the continued management of
hazardous flue ash within Kent has the added benefit of contributing to achieving net
self-sufficiency in hazardous waste management capacity(79)

6.4.3 While there is a risk that identifying the extension area at Norwood Quarry as
a Strategic Site for Waste could hinder the development of alternative treatment solutions
for the flue ash, there is a need to make provision for this waste stream.

6.4.4 The proposed extension areas to Norwood Landfill are identified as the Strategic
Site for Waste. The location of these extension areas is shown on Figure 19.

79 KCC (May 2011) TRW5: Hazardous Waste Management.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202074

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 211



Policy CSW 5

Strategic Site for Waste

The proposed extension areas for Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site, Isle of Sheppey
are together identified as the Strategic Site for W aste in Kent. The site location is
shown on Figure 19. Unless criterion 1 below is satisfied, planning permission will
not be granted for any other development other thanmineral working with restoration
through the landfilling of hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from Energy from
Waste plants.

Mineral working and restoration by hazardous landfill and any ancillary treatment
plant at the Strategic Site for Waste will be permitted subject to meeting the
requirements of the development plan and the following criteria:

1. Demonstration that the site can be suitably restored in the event that landfilling
of hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants were to
cease before completion of the final landform due to changes in treatment
capacity and/or government policy that may result in the diversion of these
wastes from landfill

2. an air quality assessment is made of the impact of the proposed development
and its associated traffic movements (80) on the Medway Estuary and Marshes
Special Protection Area and the Swale Special Protection Area sites and if
necessary mitigation measures are required through planning condition and/or
planning obligation

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high-quality standard and
appropriate after-use that accords with the local landscape character

4. Any proposal for this site would need to consider the requirements of other
relevant polices of this Plan and in particular would need to consider any
impacts on the A2500 Lower Road. Depending on the nature of any proposal
it may be necessary for the developer to make a contribution to the
improvement of this road.

80 Traffic movements consist of the total vehicles entering and leaving the site.

75
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 212



Fig
ur

e 1
9: 

St
rat

eg
ic 

Wa
ste

 Si
te 

Ke
nt 

Mi
ne

ral
s &

 
Wa

ste
 Lo

ca
l 

Pla
n

¯
1:1

2,0
00

Le
ge

nd
No

rw
oo

d Q
ua

rry
 an

d L
an

dfi
ll,

Isl
e o

f S
he

pp
ey

St
rat

eg
ic 

Wa
ste

 Si
te 

Ex
ist

ing
 N

or
wo

od
 Q

ua
rry

 an
d L

an
dfi

ll
© 

Cr
ow

n C
op

yr
igh

t a
nd

 da
tab

as
e r

igh
t 2

01
5. 

Or
dn

an
ce

 Su
rv

ey
 10

00
19

23
8

0
18

0
36

0
54

0
72

0Me
tre

s
at 

A4

Page 213

CutleR01
Typewritten Text
MM6/6



6.5 Policy CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities

6.5.1 The preference identified in response to earlier consultations during the
formulation of the Plan was for a mix of new small and large sites for waste management.
This mix gives flexibility and assists in balancing the benefits of proximity to waste
arisings while enabling developers of large facilities to exploit economies of scale.
National policy recognises that new facilities will need to serve catchment areas large
enough to secure economic viability and this is particularly relevant when considering
the possible sizing and location of facilities required to satisfy any emerging need
indicated by monitoring e.g. in the relevant AMR.

6.5.2 The location of waste sites in appropriate industrial estates was also the
preference identified from the consultation. This has the benefit of using previously
developed land and enabling waste uses to be located proximate to waste arisings.
Employment land availability is monitored by KCC and the district and borough
councils.(81). It should be appreciated that all industrial estate locations may not be
suitable for some types of waste uses, because of their limited size or close proximity
to sensitive receptors or high land and rent costs.

6.5.3 Certain types of waste or waste management facilities, such as Construction,
Demolition and Excavation (CDE) recycling facilities are often co-located on mineral
sites for aggregates or landfills, which are usually found in rural areas. Also, in rural
areas where either the non-processed waste arisings or the processed product can be
of benefit to agricultural land (as is the case with compost and anaerobic digestion),
the most proximate location for the waste management facility will likely be within the
rural area.

6.5.4 The development of waste management facilities on previously developed land
will be given preference over the development of greenfield sites. In particular, the
redevelopment of derelict or contaminated land may involve treatment of soil to facilitate
the redevelopment. Also, redundant agricultural or forestry buildings may be suitable
for waste uses where such uses are to be located within the rural areas of the county.
Waste management facilities located in the Green Belt are generally regarded as
inappropriate development. Developers proposing a waste management facility within
the Green Belt shall demonstrate the proposed use complies with Green Belt policy
(See Policy DM4).

6.5.5 The development of built waste management facilities on greenfield sites is not
precluded. This is because the goal of achieving sustainable development will lead to
new development which may incorporate facilities to recycle or process the waste
produced on the site, or to generate energy for use on the site.

6.5.6 Existing mineral and waste management sites may offer good locations for
siting certain waste management facilities and for expansion to deliver further capacity
to that which exists because of their infrastructure and location. In such cases, the
developer will need to demonstrate the benefits of co-location such as connectivity with
the existing use of the site while also demonstrating that any cumulative impact is
acceptable. For example, the co-location of CDE recycling (i.e. aggregate recycling) at

81 KCC (January 2013) Kent County Council & District Authorities Commercial Information Audit
Summary Report for 2011/2012.

77
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 214



an aggregate quarry that can enable the blending of recycled and virgin aggregates to
increase the marketability of the product or the addition of a facility that will move waste
further up the hierarchy at an existing EfW site.

6.5.7 Policy CSW 6 applies to all proposals for built waste management facilities.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202078

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 215



Policy CSW 6

Location of Built Waste Management Facilities

Planning permission will be granted for proposals that:

a. do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon national and international
designated sites, including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Sites
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC),
Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Ramsar sites, Ancient Monuments and
registered Historic Parks and Gardens. (See Figures 4, 5 & 6).

b. do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon Local Wildlife Sites (LWS),
Local Nature Reserves (LNR), Ancient Woodland, Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) and groundwater resources. (See Figures 7, 8, 10 & 15)

c. are well located in relation to Kent's Key Arterial Routes, avoiding proposals
which would give rise to significant numbers of lorry movements through villages
or on unacceptable stretches of road.

d. do not represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

e. avoid Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1 or Flood Risk Zone 3b

f. avoid sites on or in proximity to land where alternative development exists/
has planning permission or is identified in an adopted Local Plan for alternate
uses that may prove to be incompatible with the proposed waste management
uses on the site.

g. for energy producing facilities - sites are in proximity to potential heat users.

h. for facilities that may involve prominent structures (including chimney stacks)
- the ability of the landscape to accommodate the structure (including any
associated emission plume) after mitigation.

i. for facilities involving operations that may give rise to bioaerosols (e.g.
composting) to locate at least 250m away from any potentially sensitive
receptors.

79
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 216



Where it is demonstrated that waste will be dealt with further up the hierarchy, or
it is replacing capacity lost at existing sites, facilities that satisfy the relevant criteria
above on land in the following locations will be granted consent, providing there is
no adverse impact on the environment and communities and where such uses are
compatible with the development plan:

1. within or adjacent to an existing mineral development or waste management
use

2. forming part of a new major development for B8 employment or mixed uses

3. within existing industrial estates

4. other previously developed, contaminated or derelict land not allocated for
another use

5. redundant agricultural and forestry buildings and their curtilages

Proposals on greenfield land will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that
there are no suitable locations identifiable from categories 1 to 5 above within the
intended catchment area of waste arisings. Particular regard will be given to whether
the nature of the proposed waste management activity requires an isolated location.

6.6 Identifying Sites for Household Waste Recycling Centres

6.6.1 The county has an existing well-established network of facilities for MSW for
receiving household waste delivered by residents of Kent. These Household Waste
Recycling Centres (HWRC) play an important role in meeting waste recovery and landfill
diversion targets. The intention for the Plan period is to ensure facilities are provided
to meet local population needs accounting for economic and projected housing growth.
During the lifetime of the Plan, there is an intention to rationalise facilities. Proposals
for Household Waste Recycling Centres will be considered against Policy CSW6:
Location of Built Waste Management Facilities and relevant Development Management
Policies.

6.7 Policy CSW 7: Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste

6.7.1 Policy CSW 7 provides a strategy for the provision of new waste management
capacity for non-hazardous waste. The policy will allow the provision of new waste
management capacity recognising the need to drive waste up the hierarchy.

6.7.2 The term non-hazardous waste is regarded, for purposes of the Plan, as being
synonymous with MSW(82) and C&I(83) waste and the non inert, non-hazardous,
component of CDEW.

82 MSW is Municipal Solid Waste.
83 C&I is Commercial and Industrial waste.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202080

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 217



6.7.3 There is no intention to restrict the amount of new capacity for waste
management for recycling or preparation of waste for reuse or recycling (84), or for the
provision of additional capacity for green and/or kitchen waste treatment since the
sooner it is delivered, the greater the impact will be on reducing organic waste going
to landfill, the most significant source of methane production.

6.7.4 Implementing Policy CSW 7 will result in reducing the amount of Kent
non-hazardous waste going for disposal to landfill and by doing so conserve existing
non-hazardous landfill capacity in Kent for any non-hazardous waste that cannot be
reused, recycled, composted or recovered.

Policy CSW 7

Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste

Wastemanagement capacity for non-hazardous waste that assists Kent in continuing
to be net self-sufficient while providing for a reducing quantity of London's waste,
will be granted planning permission provided that:

1. it moves waste up the hierarchy,

2. recovery of by-products and residues is maximised

3. energy recovery is maximised (utilising both heat and power)

4. any residues produced can be managed or disposed of in accordance with
the objectives of Policy CSW 2

5. sites for the management of green waste and/or kitchen waste in excess of
100 tonnes per week are Animal By Product Regulation compliant (such as
invessel composting or anaerobic digestion)

6. sites for small-scale open composting of green waste (facilities of less than
100 tonnes per week) that are located within a farm unit and the compost is
used within that unit.

6.8 Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste

6.8.1 One of the fundamental aims of the Plan is to reduce the amount of MSW and
C&I waste being sent to non-hazardous landfill.

6.8.2 Proposals for additional recovery capacity will need to be designed to harness
the maximum practicable quantity of energy produced.

84 A definition of recycling is included in the glossary. Recycling includes composting

81
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 218



6.8.3 Such capacity might be developed in conjunction with waste processing facilities
on the same site, or as standalone plants where the waste is processed to produce a
fuel off-site. In order to avoid the risk of under provision by double counting both fuel
preparation capacity and fuel use capacity, only one of the two facility contributions will
be counted towards meeting any emerging need identified by annual monitoring in
future. Where fuel preparation takes place as a stand-alone activity, e.g. Mechanical
Biological Treatment, the recovery contribution will only be counted as the difference
between the input quantity and the output quantity unless the output fuel has a proven
market. Where that is the case, if the output fuel is to be used in a combustion plant
beyond Kent, then this contribution will also be counted(85).

Policy CSW 8

Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste

Facilities using waste as a fuel will only be permitted if they qualify as recovery
operations as defined by the Revised Waste Framework Directive(86).

When an application for a combined heat and power facility has no proposals for
use of the heat when electricity production is commenced, the development will
only be granted planning permission if the applicant and landowner enter into a
planning agreement to market the heat and to produce an annual public report on
the progress being made toward finding users for the heat.

6.9 Policy CSW 9: Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent

6.9.1 The lack of response to the call for sites for non-hazardous landfill is indicative
of a lack of demand by the waste industry to develop non-hazardous landfill.
Nevertheless, a proposed development might come forward during the plan period and
if so it will be granted permission providing it complies with both Policy CSW 9 and the
DM policies in this Plan. In addition, proposed additional capacity for hazardous waste
landfill will be assessed against this policy.

6.9.2 Following the completion of a non-inert waste landfill site, the site will need to
be restored and there will be a considerable period of aftercare during which such sites
need to be managed in order to prevent unacceptable adverse impacts to the
environment. Aftercare management can require new development in order to either
prepare the site for re-use or to manage the landfill gas or leachate production. Policy
DM 19 sets out the Plan’s provisions with regard to restoration, aftercare and after-use.

85 For example, if 100 tonnes is fed into the plant: 20 tonnes are lost as moisture; 30 tonnes are
diverted as recyclate; 50 tonnes of waste is converted into material that may be suited for use as
a fuel. Unless that fuel has a proven market then the contribution counted will be 50 tonnes as the
remaining material may end up going to landfill. If the 50 tonnes of fuel goes to a plant built within
Kent the recovery contribution will be counted at the combustion plant rather than the fuel preparation
plant. If the 50 tonnes of fuel is exported beyond the county then the recovery contribution will be
counted at the fuel preparation plant.

86 Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on
waste and repealing certain Directives.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202082

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 219



Policy CSW 9

Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent

Planning permission will only be granted for non inert(87) waste landfill if:

1. it can be demonstrated that the waste stream that needs to be landfilled cannot
be managed in accordance with the objectives of Policy CSW2 and for which
no suitable disposal capacity exists; and

2. environmental or other benefits will result from the development

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard and
appropriate after-use that accords with the local landscape character as
required by Policy DM 19.

6.10 Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites

6.10.1 Following the completion of a landfill there needs to a considerable period of
aftercare during which the site needs to be managed in order to prevent unacceptable
adverse impacts to the environment and to bring the site into use. A 5-year aftercare
programme following site restoration is normally required as part of the planning
permission for the development of landfill site. However, potential problems can occur
after the 5-year aftercare period, such as differential settlement, which can have an
adverse effect upon land drainage. In particular, any landfill sites that contain
biodegradable wastes need to be managed in order to prevent unacceptable adverse
impacts to the environment from leachate or gas for a period considerably longer than
five years. While the management of closed landfill sites is regulated by the Environment
Agency (EA), there may be a need for new development at the site to ensure that the
protection of the environment is continued. Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed
Landfill Sites should be read in conjunction with Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of
Inert Waste, and any development at a closed landfill that includes the bringing of
additional waste onto the site will need to demonstrate that the amount of waste being
used is kept to a minimum.

87 Non inert waste landfill includes non hazardous waste landfill, separate cells within a non
hazardous waste landfill provided to accept stable hazardous waste and dedicated hazardous
waste landfill.

83
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 220



Policy CSW 10

Development at Closed Landfill Sites

Planning permission will be granted for development for any of the following
purposes:

1. development for the improvement of restoration for an identified after use for
the site; or

2. development for the reduction of emissions of gases or leachate to the
environment; or

3. development making use of gases being emitted and which will reduce the
emission of gases to the environment.

6.11 Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste

6.11.1 The most recent capacity assessment shows that there is currently permitted
capacity at permanent CD recycling sites of over 2 mtpa. It is considered more
sustainable to use recycled aggregates than to extract primary aggregates. The term
CD recycling is synonymous with the term aggregate recycling and the criteria for
assessing further site proposals for such sites can be read in Policy CSM 8: Secondary
and Recycled Aggregates in Chapter 5.

6.11.2 Themost recent capacity assessment shows that Kent has existing consented
inert waste landfill capacity that is more than sufficient to meet Kent's need for the plan
period. It is known that Kent receives a lot of waste originating out of the county,
particularly from London, which goes into inert waste landfill in Kent. It has been
concluded that continuation of this waste import throughout the plan period at a rate of
300,000 tpa can be accommodated by the existing consented capacity.

6.11.3 Another important issue is that without the import of inert waste the ability to
restore existing permitted mineral workings would take a lot longer. Policy CSW 11:
Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste seeks to ensure that a high priority is given to using
inert waste that cannot be recycled in the restoration of existing permitted mineral
workings, in preference to uses where inert waste is deposited on land (e.g. bund
formation or raising land to improve drainage etc).

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202084

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 221



Policy CSW 11

Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste

Planning permission for the disposal of inert waste will be granted where:

1. it can be demonstrated that the waste cannot be managed in accordance with
the objectives of Policy CSW2

2. it is for the restoration of landfill sites and mineral workings

3. environmental benefits will result from the development, in particular the
creation of priority habitat

4. sufficient material is available to restore the site within agreed timescales.

6.12 Policy CSW 12: Identifying Sites for Hazardous Waste

6.12.1 Hazardous waste arising in Kent is one of the smaller streams of waste. The
management of hazardous waste is typically characterised by the following: Hazardous
waste is often produced in small quantities and hazardous waste management facilities
are often highly specialised with regional or even national catchment areas involving
movement of hazardous waste with both waste originating in Kent going outside the
county for management and hazardous waste coming into the county for management.

6.12.2 When hazardous waste management in Kent is viewed as a whole, net
self-sufficiency in hazardous waste management is achieved. However, Kent could
cease to be net self-sufficient in hazardous waste capacity if changes in the production
and management profile of hazardous waste occur as follows:

the continued demand for disposal capacity for flue residues from Allington EfW
facility

the likely increase in hazardous residues from air pollution control from additional
EfW capacity requiring management

if the existing asbestos landfill closes then a significant amount of asbestos based
hazardous waste will cease to be imported into the county.

6.12.3 The former issue is partly dealt with through the identification of a Strategic
Site for Waste in Policy CSW 5. The need for management capacity of additional EfW
APC residues can be addressed through Policy CSW 12 should it be required.

6.12.4 Any proposals for future provision for asbestos landfill capacity will be
addressed using Policy CSW9.

85
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 222



Policy CSW 12

Hazardous Waste Management

To maintain net self-sufficiency in the management of hazardous waste throughout
the plan period, development proposals for built hazardous waste management
facilities will be granted planning permission in locations consistent with Policy
CSW 6, regardless of whether their catchment areas for waste extend beyond Kent

6.13 Policy CSW 13: Remediation of Brownfield Land

6.13.1 Recent changes in the environment permitting regime has enabled soil
decontamination and the subsequent reuse in the redevelopment of the decontaminated
soil within the site. Policy CSW 13 seeks to ensure that contaminated land is treated
in situ or in combination with other contaminated land when those sites are to be
redeveloped.

Policy CSW 13

Remediation of Brownfield Land

Planning permission will be granted for a temporary period for waste related
developments on brownfield land that facilitate its redevelopment by reducing or
removing contamination from previous development, where:

1. the site is identified in a local plan for redevelopment or has planning permission
for redevelopment, or

2. the site is part of a network of brownfield sites that are identified in a local plan
or local plans for redevelopment or that have planning permission for
redevelopment and is to receive waste for treatment from those sites as well
as treating the land within the site.

6.14 Policy CSW 14: Disposal of Dredgings

6.14.1 Retaining the navigable channels within the estuaries within Kent is the statutory
duty of the Port of London Authority (PLA) and the Medway Ports Authority. When the
dredged materials do not consist of aggregates or cannot be accommodated within
projects to enhance the biodiversity of the estuaries, then landfill is the only option
currently available.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202086

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 223



Policy CSW 14

Disposal of Dredgings

Planning permission will be granted for new sites for the disposal of dredging
materials where it can be demonstrated that:

1. the re-use of the material to be disposed of is not practicable
2. there are no opportunities to use the material to enhance the biodiversity of

the Kent estuaries

87
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 224



6.15 Policy CSW 15: Wastewater Development

6.15.1 Water treatment undertakers have a range of rights to carry out development
without the need to obtain planning permission under the Town and Country (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (GPDO). However, new proposals for wastewater
treatment works, sludge treatment and disposal facilities as well as extensions and
some modifications to existing facilities will invariably require planning permission. In
view of the need to locate new wastewater treatment works where they can service
other developments and to connect to the existing wastewater network, the locational
criteria Policy CSW 6 will not always be appropriate.

Policy CSW 15

Wastewater Development

Wastewater treatment works and sewage sludge treatment and disposal facilities
will be granted planning permission, subject to:

1. there being a proven need for the proposed facility.

6.16 Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management Facilities

6.16.1 The current stock of waste management facilities are important to maintaining
net self-sufficiency. The loss of annual capacity at an existing permitted waste site could
have an adverse effect upon delivering the waste strategy and so the protection of the
existing stock of sites with permanent waste permission is as important to achieving
the aims of the Plan as identifying new sites. Existing permitted sites with permanent
permission for waste facilities can be protected through refusing permission for the
redevelopment of these sites to non-waste uses. A list of waste sites is updated and
published each year in the Kent MWLP AMR(88) Policy DM 8 identifies situations where
development at, or in proximity to safeguarded waste management facilities would be
acceptable.

Policy CSW 16

Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management Facilities

Sites that have permanent planning permission for waste management, or are
allocated in the Waste Sites Plan are safeguarded from being developed for non
waste management uses.

Where other development is proposed at, or within 250m of, safeguarded waste
management facilities Local Planning Authorities will consult the Waste planning
Authority and take account of its views before making a planning decision (in terms
of both a planning application and an allocation in a local plan).

88 Available online from: www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202088

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 225

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


6.17 Radioactive Waste Management

6.17.1 The subject of radioactive waste is complex as it covers waste arisings from
nuclear power stations as well as small quantities of radioactive waste that arise from
hospitals and other medical activities and research establishments. Details of national
policy on this subject, as well as the details of Kent arisings and current management
routes are given in the evidence base topic paper on radioactive wastes.(89) The following
paragraphs define the various types of radioactive waste.

6.17.2 High Level Wastes (HLW) are defined as wastes in which the temperature
may rise significantly as a result of their radioactivity, so that this factor has to be taken
into account in designing storage or disposal facilities.(90)

6.17.3 Intermediate Level Wastes (ILW) are wastes with radioactivity levels
exceeding the upper boundaries for low level wastes, but which do not require heating
to be taken into account in the design of storage or disposal facilities.(91) ILW is retrieved
and processed to make it passively safe and then stored pending the availability of the
Geological Disposal Facility (GDF).

6.17.4 Low Level Wastes (LLW) are radioactive wastes, other than those suitable
for disposal with ordinary refuse, but not exceeding 4 gigabecquerels per tonne of alpha
activity, or 12 gigabecquerels per tonne of beta or gamma activity.(92) LLW does not
normally require shielding during handling or transport. LLW consists largely of paper,
plastics and scrapmetal items that have been used in hospitals, research establishments
and the nuclear industry. Across the UK, large volumes of soil, concrete and steel will
need to be managed as nuclear power plants are decommissioned. LLW makes up
more than 90% by volume of UK radioactive wastes (but contains less than 0.1% of
the radioactivity).(93) Historically most of LLW from the nuclear industry was transferred
to the Low Level Waste Repository (LLWR) in Cumbria. In recent years it has been
recognised that the capacity of the LLWR is limited and that most types of LLW do not
require the level of protection offered by such a highly engineered facility. Not all LLW
needs to be transferred to the LLWR for subsequent disposal there. Some types of
solid LLW arisings from nuclear power stations can be disposed of at suitably licensed
landfill sites,(94) or can be incinerated.(95) The Waste Hierarchy has to be considered
in order to deal with LLW in the most effective way, so minimising the use of the capacity
at the LLWR in order to extend its life. Some LLW arisings are incinerated and some
metals are recycled, so there are a number of routes that these waste streams take.

89 KCC (Updated January 2013) TRW6: Radioactive Waste.
90 Defra, BERR and the Devolved Administrations for Wales and Northern Ireland (June 2008)

Managing Radioactive Waste Safely: A framework for Implementing Geological Disposal. HLW is
largely a by-product from the reprocessing of spent fuel.

91 Defra, BERR and the Devolved Administrations for Wales and Northern Ireland (June 2008).
Managing Radioactive Waste Safely: A framework for Implementing Geological Disposal.

92 A becquerel is the unit of radioactivity, representing one disintegration per second. A gigabecquerel
is 1000 million becquerels.

93 DECC, the Welsh Government, DOE and the Scottish Government (12 March 2012). Strategy for
the management of solid low level radioactive waste from the non nuclear industry in the UK. Part
1 -Anthropogenic radionuclide.

94 There are no radioactive waste landfills in Kent at the time of plan preparation.
95 Source: Note from the EA (October 2012) attached to KCC (January 2013) Update Note to

Dungeness Site Stakeholder Group on the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan.

89
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 226



6.17.5 Very Low Level Waste (VLLW) is a subcategory of LLW that contains limited
amounts of solid radioactive waste that can be disposed of conveniently and without
causing unacceptable environmental impacts, provided that it is mixed with large
quantities of non-radioactive wastes which are themselves being disposed of.(96)

6.17.6 The term higher activity waste embraces ILW and any LLW that requires
disposal to a GDF. This waste stream has no disposal routes at the time of writing the
Plan. Legacy waste refers to all of the radioactive waste streams that arise from the
nuclear power stations across the UK.

6.18 Policy CSW 17: Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at Dungeness

6.18.1 Kent has two nuclear power stations sites (Dungeness A and B) located on
Dungeness (Figure 20 shows their location). Dungeness A (a twin reactor Magnox
power station) operated from 1965 to the end of 2006 and is undergoing
decommissioning that will continue until around 2097. Dungeness B (an Advanced Gas
Cooled twin reactor) started operation in 1983 and is scheduled to end power generation
in 2028, but operations may continue beyond then. The decommissioning of Dungeness
B is likely to continue until 2111.(97)

6.18.2 Both stations lie within an environmentally sensitive area adjacent to sites of
international and national importance designated for their geology and biodiversity
interests. Dungeness is the largest shingle site in Europe comprising approximately
2000 hectares of vegetated shingle, approximately half the English shingle habitat
resource. The extent and compositions of shingle habitats found at Dungeness is unique
in the UK and rare in northwest Europe. Designated European Sites, protected by the
Habitats and Wild Birds Directives, cover large parts of the Dungeness Peninsula.

6.18.3 If Dungeness C power station is built it will need storage facilities for radioactive
wastes until the GDF is available, as well as facilities for the storage and/or management
of other radioactive waste streams. Policy CSW 17 for the management of nuclear
waste at Dungeness does not preclude Dungeness C being planned and constructed.

6.18.4 Policy CSW 17 does not foreclose possible future solutions for consolidation
and waste movements between sites (for treatment and/or storage). At the time of plan
preparation, each Magnox site is currently planned to have its own ILW store and be
‘self-sufficient’ but the best options for consideration in the future may be for movements
of waste between sites for storage. The nuclear power companies are looking at options
for local, regional or national storage consolidation to compare these with the current
plans. Options include co-locating waste from both Dungeness power stations (A and
B) on one of those sites. The study looking at these issues was initiated in 2012. The
nuclear power operators are required to make best use of processing facilities to
minimise the overall impact of radioactive waste processing and disposal subject to
due process and Best Available Techniques (BAT) assessment.

96 NIEA, SEPA and EA. (September 2011) The Radioactive Substances Act 1993. The Environmental
Permitting (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2011. VLLW Guidance Version 1.0.

97 Source: KCC (May 2011) TRW6: Nuclear Wastes, quoting information from both Magnox Ltd and
EDF Energy.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202090

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 227



6.18.5 In 2012, Shepway District Council considered whether to submit an expression
of interest to host the GDF in Shepway. As part of this consideration Shepway District
Council held a public referendum and on 19th September 2012 decided to recommend
not to submit an expression of interest for hosting the GDF. Policy CSW 17 specifically
precludes the management of waste from anywhere other than the nuclear power
stations at this location and would preclude the development of a GDF at Dungeness.

Policy CSW 17

Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at Dungeness

Facilities for the storage and/or management of radioactive waste will be acceptable
within the Nuclear Licensed area at Dungeness where:

1. this is consistent with the national strategy(98) for managing radioactive waste
and discharges

2. the outcome of environmental assessments justify it being managed on site.

The only waste arisings from Dungeness Nuclear Licensed Site that will be
acceptable as fill material for the back-filling of voids within the nuclear licensed
site are inert (non-radioactive) wastes generated by the demolition of existing
buildings and structures. Landfill or landraise activities that use radioactive wastes
within the nuclear licensed site will not be granted planning permission.

98 National strategy for radioactive wastes is the NDA Strategy at the time of this plan preparation.

91
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 228



Fi
gu

re
20
:D

un
ge

ne
ss

Po
w
er

St
at
io
ns

&
R
om

ne
y
M
ar
sh

N
at
ur
e
D
es
ig
na

tio
ns

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202092

6
D
el
iv
er
y
S
tra

te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Page 229



6.19 Policy CSW18: Non-nuclear Radioactive LowLevelWaste (LLW)Management
Facilities

6.19.1 There may also be a need for new facilities for the storage and/or treatment
of non-nuclear sources of LLW (including VLLW) from institutions such as research
establishments, universities and hospitals. At the time of plan preparation, there is no
data on these waste arisings in Kent. They are likely to be in low volumes. However,
to address the requirements of DCLG's, guidance on the EU WFD 2008/98/EC,(99) an
enabling policy for sites that will manage this waste stream is required.

Policy CSW 18

Non-nuclear Industry Radioactive Low Level Waste Management

Planning permission will be granted for facilities that manage non-nuclear industry
low level waste and very low level waste arisings where they meet the requirements
of all relevant development plan policies, in the following circumstances:

1. where there is a proven need for the facility

2. some of the source material to be managed arises from within Kent.

99 DCLG (December 2012) Guidance on the EU Waste Framework Directive.

93
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
6
D
elivery

S
trategy

forW
aste

Page 230



7 Development Management Policies

7.0.1 The DM policies in this chapter address a range of subjects relevant to minerals
and waste developments in Kent. Together with the minerals and waste delivery strategy
policies, and theMinerals andWaste Site Plans, the policies form a robust DM framework
for the determination of minerals and waste applications. These policies should also
be considered in the context of the relevant local plan for the district or borough where
the proposal is situated.

7.0.2 The DM policies in the Plan avoid duplication with other regulatory functions,
such as the environmental permitting regime carried out by the EA.

7.1 Policy DM 1: Sustainable Design

7.1.1 It is important that all minerals and waste developments are designed to minimise
the impact upon the environment and Kent's communities. There is a need to reduce
the amount of greenhouse gas emissions and other forms of emissions, minimise energy
and water consumption, reduce waste production and reuse or recycle materials.

7.1.2 Sustainable design initiatives can be achieved by a variety of means such as
the incorporation of renewable energy, energy management systems, grey water
recycling systems, sustainable drainage systems, energy efficient appliances and the
use of recycled and recyclable building materials. Policy DM 1 supports some of the
key priorities in the County Council's environmental strategy.(100)

Policy DM 1

Sustainable Design

Proposals for minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate that
they have been designed to:

1. minimise greenhouse gas emissions and other emissions

2. minimise energy and water consumption and incorporate measures for water
recycling and renewable energy technology and design in new facilities where
possible

3. maximise the re-use or recycling of materials

4. utilise sustainable drainage systems wherever practicable

5. protect and enhance the character and quality of the site's setting and its
biodiversity interests or mitigate and if necessary compensating for any
predicted loss

6. minimise the loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land.

100 KCC (July 2011) Growing the Garden of England: A Strategy for Environment and Economy in
Kent.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202094

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 231



7.2 Policy DM 2: Environmental and Landscape Sites of International, National
and Local Importance and Policy DM 3: Ecological Impact Assessment

7.2.1 Minerals and waste developments can have adverse impacts on sites of
international, national and local importance. Kent has a wide range of landscapes and
habitats that play an important role in supporting a variety of flora and fauna. The county
also has an abundance of important heritage assets. Significant weight in planning
terms is given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs in which the
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations.

7.2.2 Locally important sites are also designated in recognition of their significance
at the local level but do not normally carry the same level of protection as international
or nationally designated sites. These sites include LWSs, priority habitat identified in
BAP, Local Geological Sites, Locally Listed Heritage Assets, LNRs, Country Parks,
Ancient Woodland and aged or veteran trees, waterbodies and other green infrastructure
features.

7.2.3 Policy DM 2 relates to these sites of international, national, and local
environmental and landscape importance. The policy aims to ensure that there are no
unacceptable adverse impacts on these important assets and sets out the circumstances
where impacts upon themwould be acceptable. In the case of a demonstrated overriding
need for the development, any impacts would be required to be mitigated or
compensated for in order to provide a net gain or improvement to their condition.

7.2.4 In addition to Policy DM 2, Policy DM 3 seeks to ensure that an adequate level
of ecological assessment will be undertaken for Kent's biodiversity assets.

7.2.5 In terms of selecting and screening the suitability of sites for identification in the
Minerals and Waste Sites Plans, the following criteria will be taken into account:

the requirements set out in Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals, Policy
CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities and Policy CSW 7: Waste
Management for Non-hazardous Waste

all policies set out in Chapter 7: Development Management Policies

relevant policies in district local plans

strategic environmental information, including landscape assessment and HRA as
appropriate

The scope of the above information to be considered will be appropriate for a Strategic
Site selection process. More detailed information will be required for consideration at
the planning applications stage.

95
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 232



Policy DM 2

Environmental and Landscape Sites of International, National and Local
Importance

Proposals for minerals and/or waste development will be required to ensure that
there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the integrity, character, appearance
and function, biodiversity interests, or geological interests of sites of international,
national and local importance.

1. International Sites

Minerals and/or waste proposals located within or considered likely to have any
unacceptable adverse impact on international designated sites, including Ramsar,
Special Protection Areas and Special Areas of Conservation (European Sites), will
need to be evaluated in combination with other projects and plans. Before any such
proposal will be granted planning permission or identified in the Minerals andWaste
Sites Plans, it will need to be demonstrated that:

a. there are no alternatives

b. there is a robust case established as to why there are imperative reasons of
overriding public interest

c. there is sufficient provision for adequate timely compensation

2. National Sites

2.1 Designated Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)(101) have the highest
status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. Regard must be
had to the purpose of the designation when exercising or performing any functions
in relation to, or so as to affect land, in an AONB. For the purposes of this policy,
such functions include the determination of planning applications and the allocation
of sites in a development plan.

Planning permission for major minerals and waste development in a designated
AONB will be refused except in exceptional circumstances and where it can be
demonstrated that it is in public interest. In relation to other minerals or waste
proposals in an AONB, great weight will be given to conserving its landscape and
scenic beauty. Proposals outside, but within the setting of an AONB will be
considered having regard to the effect on the purpose of conserving and enhancing
the natural beauty of the AONB.

Consideration of such applications will assess;

101 The purpose of an AONB is set out in Section 82(1) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act
2000 states as follows: the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area
of outstanding natural beauty.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202096

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 233



a. the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations
and the impact of granting, or refusing, the proposal upon the local economy

b. the cost of, and scope for developing elsewhere outside the designated area,
or meeting the need in some other way

c. any detrimental impact on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities, and the extent to which the impact could be moderated taking
account of the relevant AONB Management Plan.

Sites put forward for allocation for minerals or waste development in the Minerals
Site Plan or the Waste Sites Plan will be considered having regard to the above
tests. Those that appear to the Minerals andWaste Planning Authority to be unlikely
to meet the relevant test(s) will not be allocated.

97
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 234



2.2 Proposals for minerals and/or waste developments within or outside of
designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest, that are considered likely to have
any unacceptable adverse impact on a Site of Special Scientific Interest, will not
be granted planning permission or identified in the Minerals and Waste Sites Plans
except in exceptional circumstances where it can be demonstrated that:

a. the benefits of the development outweigh any impacts that it is likely to have
on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest

b. the benefits of the development outweigh any impacts that it is likely to have
on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest

2.3 Minerals and/or waste proposals located within or considered likely to have any
unacceptable adverse impact on Ancient Woodland will not be granted planning
permission, or identified in the Minerals and Sites Plans, unless the need for, and
the benefits of the development in that location clearly outweigh any loss.

3. Local Sites

Minerals and/or waste proposals within the Local Sites listed below will not be
granted planning permission, or identified in the Minerals and Sites Plans, unless
it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for the development and
any impacts can be mitigated or compensated for, such that there is a net planning
benefit:

a. Local Wildlife Sites

b. Local Nature Reserves

c. Priority Habitats and Species

d. land that is of regional or local importance as a wildlife corridor or for the
conservation of biodiversity

e. Local Geological Sites

f. irreplaceable habitat including aged and veteran trees

g. Country Parks, common land and village greens and other important areas of
open space or green areas within built-up areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
202098

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 235



Policy DM 3

Ecological Impact Assessment

Proposals for minerals and waste developments will be required to ensure that they
result in no unacceptable adverse impacts on Kent’s important biodiversity assets.
These include internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, European
and nationally protected species, and habitats and species of principal importance
for the conservation of biodiversity / Biodiversity Action Plan habitats and species.

Proposals that are likely to have unacceptable adverse impacts upon important
biodiversity assets will need to demonstrate that an adequate level of ecological
assessment has been undertaken and will only be granted planning permission
following:

1. an ecological assessment of the site, including preliminary ecological appraisal
and, where likely presence is identified, specific protected species surveys

2. consideration of the need for, and benefits of, the development and the reasons
for locating the development in its proposed location

3. the identification and securing of measures to mitigate any adverse impacts
(direct, indirect and cumulative)

4. the identification and securing of compensatory measures where adverse
impacts cannot be avoided or mitigated for

5. the identification and securing of opportunities to make a positive contribution
to the protection, enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity

7.3 Policy DM 4: Green Belt

7.3.1 The western area of Kent is situated within the Green Belt around London (see
Figure 6 in Chapter 2.2). The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban
sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts
are their openness and their permanence.

7.3.2 Proposals for minerals and waste development within the Green Belt will be
considered in light of their potential impacts, national policy and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

7.3.3 There is a presumption against inappropriate development within the Green
Belt. Inappropriate development is, by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should
not be approved except in very special circumstances. When considering any planning
application, the planning authority will ensure that substantial weight is given to any
harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.

99
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 236



7.3.4 The National Planning Policy Framework provides guidance on the purposes
of the Green Belt and what constitutes inappropriate development. It states that minerals
extraction, engineering operations and the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings
are of permanent and substantial construction are not inappropriate development in
the Green Belt provided that they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and proposals
do not conflict with the purpose of including land in the Green Belt. Processing plant,
although commonly associated with mineral extraction, is unlikely to preserve openness,
owing to its size, height and industrial appearance and would therefore be inappropriate
development. Elements of many renewable energy projects will also comprise
inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate very
special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special circumstances may
include the wider environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy
from renewable sources.

7.3.5 Within the Green Belt, the planning authority will plan positively to enhance the
beneficial use of the Green Belt, such as looking for opportunities to provide access;
to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; to retain and enhance
landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve damaged and derelict land.

Policy DM 4

Green Belt

Proposals for minerals and waste development within the Green Belt will be
considered in light of their potential impacts, and shall comply with national policy
and the NPPF.

7.4 Policy DM 5: Heritage Assets and Policy DM 6: Historic Environment
Assessment

7.4.1 Kent's historic environment requires protection for the enjoyment and benefit
of future generations. The historic environment covers all aspects of the environment
resulting from the interaction between people and places through time, including all
surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged
as well as landscaped and planted or managed flora.(102) The NPPF identifies the
conservation of such heritage assets as one of the core land-use planning principles
that underpin both plan-making and decision-taking; it states that heritage assets should
be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed
for their contribution to the quality of life by today's and future generations.(103)

102 As defined by DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework, para. 52.
103 DCLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework, para.17.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020100

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 237



Policy DM 5

Heritage Assets

Proposals for minerals and waste developments will be required to ensure that
Kent's heritage assets and their settings, including locally listed heritage assets,
registered historic parks and gardens, Listed Buildings, conservation areas, World
Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, archaeological sites and features
and defined heritage coastline,(104) are conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance.

Proposals should result in no unacceptable adverse impact on Kent's historic
environment and, wherever possible, opportunities must be sought to maintain or
enhance historic assets affected by the proposals. Minerals and/or waste proposals
that would have an impact on a heritage asset will not be granted planning
permission unless it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for
development and any impacts can be mitigated or compensated for, such that there
is a net planning benefit.

Policy DM 6

Historic Environment Assessment

Proposals for minerals and waste development that are likely to affect important
heritage assets will only be granted planning permission following:

1. preliminary historic environment assessment, including field archaeological
investigation where appropriate, to determine the nature and significance of
the heritage assets

2. appropriate provision has been secured for preservation in situ, and/or
archaeological excavation and recording and/or other historic environment
recording as appropriate, including post-excavation analysis and reporting,
archive deposition and access, and interpretation of the results for the local
community, in accordance with the significance of the finds

3. agreement of mitigation of the impacts on the significance of the heritage
assets, including their fabric, their setting, their amenity value and arrangements
for reinstatement

104 Two sites in Kent: (1.) South Foreland and (2.) Dover - Folkestone.

101
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 238



7.5 Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources

7.5.1 As set out in section 5.5, it is important that certain mineral resources in Kent
are safeguarded for potential use by future generations. However, from time to time,
proposals to develop areas overlying safeguarded minerals resources for non-minerals
purposes will come forward where for genuine planning reasons it would not be
practicable to extract the otherwise economic underlying reserves before surface
development is carried out.

7.5.2 In such circumstances, when determining proposals, a judgement will be required
which weighs up the need for such development against the need to avoid sterilisation
of the underlying mineral taking account of the objectives and policies of the development
plans as a whole will need to be considered when determining proposals.

7.5.3 Policy DM 7 sets out the circumstances when non-minerals development may
be acceptable at a location within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. This policy recognises
that the aim of safeguarding is to avoid unnecessary sterilisation of resources and
encourage prior extraction of themineral where practicable and viable before non-mineral
development occurs.

7.5.4 The process of Local Plan formulation, including consultation, independent
examination and subsequent adoption provides the opportunity to take account of, and
address, the need for the safeguarding of mineral resources. In doing so, it can make
a clear judgement that where land is allocated in a Local Plan for surface development,
such as housing, the presence of a mineral resource, and the need for its safeguarding,
has been factored into the consideration of whether the allocation is appropriate. For
sites allocated for non-mineral development it will therefore usually be the case that an
assessment of the relevant considerations (criteria 1 to 6 in Policy DM7) has already
taken place. In some cases, the assessment will conclude that an allocated site should
be exempt frommineral safeguarding. The approach to be taken to mineral assessment
during the plan-making stage will be set out in the Safeguarding SPD.

7.5.5 However, applications for non-mineral development located in MSAs, which
are promoted as a ‘windfall site’ (sites not allocated in a development plan) or which
are being promoted on allocated sites that have not been the subject of a ‘Minerals
Assessment, will usually need to be accompanied by such an assessment. This
assessment will be prepared by the promoter and will include information concerning
the availability of the mineral, its scarcity, the timescale for the development, the
practicability and the viability of the prior extraction of the mineral. Guidance on
undertaking Minerals Assessments is included in the BGS Good Practice Advice on
Safeguarding. (105)

7.5.6 In certain cases it is possible that the need for a particular type of development
in a particular location is so important that it overrides the need to avoid sterilisation of
the safeguardedmineral resource. Such cases will be exceptional and it will be necessary
to demonstrate, amongst other things, why the identified need cannot practically be
met elsewhere.

105 The Supplementary Planning Document will be maintained by the County Council and updated as
required.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020102

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 239



7.5.7 Criterion 7 of Policy DM7 recognises that the allocation of land in adopted Local
Plans for non-mineral development, such as housing, should have considered the
presence of an economic mineral resource and the need for its safeguarding at this
time, and, where that is shown to be the case to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning
Authority, there is no need to revisit mineral safeguarding considerations at the planning
application stage. The Mineral Planning Authority and the district/borough planning
authority will consider mineral safeguarding during the preparation of Local Plans
including during preparation of Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments.

7.5.8 Where proposals are determined by a district/borough planning authority, the
Mineral Planning Authority will work with the relevant authority and/or the promoter to
assess the viability and practicability of prior extraction of the minerals resource. As
necessary the Minerals Planning Authority will provide information that helps determine
the economic viability of the resource.

7.5.9 In the case of the Sandstone-Sandgate Formation and the Limestone Hythe
Formation (Kentish Ragstone) the low probability of utility of the Sandgate Beds and
the significant available reserves (in 2019) of the Kentish Ragstone, it is anticipated
that any future allocations in local plans for non-mineral development that are coincident
with these safeguarded minerals will be unlikely to be found to be in conflict with the
presumption to safeguard these minerals. This will need to be evidenced by a Minerals
Assessment prepared to a proportionate level of detail. Further guidance will be provided
in a revised SPD.

103
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 240



Policy DM 7

Safeguarding Mineral Resources

Planning permission will only be granted for non-mineral development that is
incompatible with minerals safeguarding,(106) where it is demonstrated that either:

1. the mineral is not of economic value or does not exist; or
2. that extraction of the mineral would not be viable or practicable; or
3. the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily, having regard to Policy DM9, prior

to the non-minerals development taking place without adversely affecting the
viability or deliverability of the non-minerals development; or

4. the incompatible development is of a temporary nature that can be completed
and the site returned to a condition that does not prevent mineral extraction
within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or

5. material considerations indicate that the need for the development overrides
the presumption for mineral safeguarding such that sterilisation of the mineral
can be permitted following the exploration of opportunities for prior extraction;
or

6. it constitutes development that is exempt from mineral safeguarding policy,
namely householder applications, infill development of a minor nature in existing
built up areas, advertisement applications, reserved matters applications, minor
extensions and changes of use of buildings, minor works, non-material
amendments to current planning permissions; or

7. it constitutes development on a site allocated in the adopted development plan
where consideration of the above factors (1-6) concluded that mineral resources
will not be needlessly sterilised.

Further guidance on the application of this policy is included in a Supplementary
Planning Document.

7.6 Policy DM 8: SafeguardingMinerals Management, Transportation, Production
& Waste Management Facilities

7.6.1 It is essential to the delivery of this Plan's minerals and waste strategy that
existing facilities(107) used for the management of minerals (including wharves and rail
depots) and waste are safeguarded for the future, in order to enable them to continue
to be used to produce and transport the minerals needed by society and manage its
waste.

106 In this context ‘mineral safeguarding’ should be taken to mean safeguarding certain minerals
identified within a Mineral Safeguarding Area shown in the policies maps in Chapter 9 and
allocations in the Minerals Sites Plan.

107 ‘Existing facilities’ are taken as those have permanent planning permission for minerals and waste
uses.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020104

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 241



7.6.2 Policy DM 8 sets out the circumstances when safeguarded minerals and waste
development may be replaced by non-waste and minerals uses. This includes ensuring
that any replacement facility is at least equivalent to that which it is replacing and it
specifies how this should be assessed.

7.6.3 In the case of mineral wharves the factors to be considered include the depths
of water at the berth, accessibility of the wharf at various states of the tide, length of
the berth, the size and suitability of adjacent land for processing plant, weighbridges
and stockpiles, and existing, planned or proposed development that may constrain
operations at the replacement site at the required capacity.

7.6.4 There also are circumstances when development proposals in the vicinity of
safeguarded facilities will come forward. The need for such development will be weighed
against the need to retain the facility and the objectives and policies of the development
plan as a whole will need to be considered when determining proposals. Policy DM 8
sets out the circumstances when development may be acceptable in a location proximate
to such facilities. The policy recognises that the aim of safeguarding is to avoid
development which may impair the effectiveness and acceptability of the infrastructure.

7.6.5 Certain types of development which require a high quality amenity environment
(e.g. residential) may not always be compatible with minerals production or waste
management activities which are industrial in nature. Policy DM 8 therefore expects
the presence of waste and minerals infrastructure to be taken into account in decisions
on proposals for non-waste and minerals development (known as ‘agents of change’)
made in the vicinity of such infrastructure.

7.6.6 Criterion 2 of Policy DM8 recognises that the allocation of land in adopted Local
Plans for development, such as housing, should have considered the presence of waste
management and minerals supply infrastructure and the need for its safeguarding at
that time, and, where this has been shown to be the case to the satisfaction of the
Mineral Planning Authority, there is no need to revisit the safeguarding considerations
at planning application stage.

7.6.7 Further guidance on the implementation of this policy is included in a
Supplementary Planning Document.

105
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 242



Policy DM 8

Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation Production & Waste
Management Facilities

Planning permission will only be granted for development that is incompatible with
safeguarded minerals management, transportation or waste management facilities,
where it is demonstrated that either:

1. it constitutes development of the following nature: advertisement applications;
reserved matters applications; minor extensions and changes of use and
buildings; minor works; and non-material amendments to current planning
permissions; or

2. it constitutes development on the site that has been allocated in the adopted
development plan where consideration of the other criteria (1, 3-7) can be
demonstrated to have taken place in formulation of the plan and allocation of
the site which concluded that the safeguarding of minerals management,
transportation production and waste management facilities has been fully
considered and it was concluded that certain types non-mineral and waste
development in those locations would be acceptable; or

3. replacement capacity, of the similar type, is available at a suitable alternative
site, which is at least equivalent or better than to that offered by the facility that
it is replacing; or

4. it is for a temporary period and will not compromise its potential in the future
for minerals transportation; or

5. the facility is not viable or capable of being made viable; or

6. material considerations indicate that the need for development overrides the
presumption for safeguarding; or

7. It has been demonstrated that the capacity of the facility to be lost is not
required.

Replacement capacity must be at least equivalent in terms of tonnage, accessibility,
location in relation to the market, suitability, availability of land for processing and
stockpiling of waste (and materials/residues resulting from waste management
processes) and minerals, and:

in the case of wharves, the size of the berth for dredgers, barges or ships

in the case of waste facilities, replacement capacity must be at least at an
equivalent level of the waste hierarchy and capacity may be less if the
development is at a higher level of the hierarchy

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020106

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 243



There must also be no existing, planned or proposed developments that could
constrain the operation of the replacement site at the required capacity.

Planning applications for development within 250m of safeguarded facilities need
to demonstrate that impacts, e.g. noise, dust, light and air emissions, that may
legitimately arise from the activities taking place at the safeguarded sites would
not be experienced to an unacceptable level by occupants of the proposed
development and that vehicle access to and from the facility would not be
constrained by the development proposed.

Further guidance on the application of this policy will be included in a Supplementary
Planning Document.

7.7 Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development

7.7.1 When development is proposed within an MSA, promoters will be encouraged
to extract the mineral in advance of the main development. Policy DM 9 aims to manage
situations where built development located on a safeguarded mineral resource is to be
permitted, so as to avoid the needless sterilisation of economic mineral resources (in
accordance with Policy DM 7).

Policy DM 9

Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development

Planning permission for, or incorporating, mineral extraction in advance of
development will be granted where the resources would otherwise be permanently
sterilised provided that:

1. the mineral extraction operations are only for a temporary period; and,
2. the proposal will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts to the environment

or communities

Where planning permission is granted for the prior extraction of minerals, conditions
will be imposed to ensure that the site can be adequately restored to a satisfactory
after-use should the main development be delayed or not implemented.

7.8 Policy DM 10: Water Environment

7.8.1 Minerals and waste development can have significant impacts on flooding and
water quantity and water quality. In Kent there are many catchments where there is
little or no water available for abstraction during dry periods. Pressures are particularly
notable in Kent as it is one of the driest parts of England and Wales, coupled with high
population density and household water use (see Figure 21). Areas of mineral excavation

107
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 244



can often provide opportunities for water storage at times of flood and therefore mitigate
against the effects of flooding. There are five sources of flooding that are considered
in the SFRA:(108)

flooding from rivers

flooding from the sea

flooding from rainfall

flooding from groundwater

flooding from sewers

Figure 21 Water Availability Status (Source: Environment Agency, State of Water
in Kent, 2012)

7.8.2 Flood zones are used to determine the probability of land experiencing flooding
from a river or the sea. The aims of national flood policy is to steer development towards
areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The EA has identified four flood zones:

Flood Zone 1: Land within this zone has been assessed as having a low probability
of experiencing flooding from the rivers and sea (less than a 1 in 1000 annual
probability of river or sea flooding (<0.1%). Any land-use is appropriate in this zone.
Flood Zone 1 is normally shown as unshaded on flood maps.

108 Barton Willmore (June 2013) Mineral and Waste Plan 2013-2030 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
(on Behalf of KCC).

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020108

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 245



Flood Zone 2: Land within this flood zone has been assessed as having a medium
probability of experiencing flooding from rivers and the sea (i.e. having between a
1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding (1%-0.1%), or between
a 1 in 200 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability of sea flooding (0.5%-0.1%) in any
year). Sand and gravel workings, wharves, mineral workings and processing, waste
treatment and landfill sites are appropriate developments for land within this flood
zone.

Flood Zone 3: Land within this zone has been assessed as having a high probability
of experiencing flooding from rivers and the sea (between a 1 in 100 or greater
annual probability of river flooding (>1%), or between a 1 in 200 or greater annual
probability of sea flooding (>0.5%) in any year). Development within this flood zone
should seek opportunities to reduce the overall level of flood risk through layout
and form and appropriate use of sustainable drainage systems, relocating existing
development to land in zones with lower risks of flooding and creating space for
flooding to occur by restoring functional floodplain and flood flow pathways and by
identifying and safeguarding open space for flood storage. Sand and gravel
workings, wharves, mineral workings and the processing and treatment of waste
(except landfill and hazardous waste facilities) are considered suitable for land-use
in this zone.

Flood Zone 3b (The Functional Floodplain): Land within this zone has been
assessed as land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood.
Development within this zone should seek opportunities to reduce the overall level
of flood risk in the area through the layout and form of the development and the
appropriate application of sustainable drainage systems, or to relocate existing
development to land with a lower probability of flooding. Sand and gravel workings
and wharves are considered appropriate land-uses within this zone.

7.8.3 Both flood water and groundwater may become contaminated if it comes into
contact with certain types of wastes. It is therefore necessary for waste sites to be
managed to ensure that the risk of water contamination from waste is minimised.
Planning applications for sites located in areas prone to flooding must be accompanied
by a suitable Flood Risk Assessment.

7.8.4 Groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZ) for Kent are set out in Figure 15.
Groundwater accounts for over 70% of public water supply in Kent. This reliance on
groundwater resources makes it important that mineral and waste developments do
not adversely affect groundwater supplies in any way.

SPZ 1 is the inner zone which is within the 50-day travel time from any point below
the water table to the source. This zone around the groundwater supply abstraction
point has a minimum radius of 50 metres.

SPZ 2 is the outer protection zone and refers to the 400-day travel time from a
point below the water table.

109
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 246



SPZ 3 is the Source Protection Catchment Zone and refers to the area around a
source within which all groundwater recharge is presumed to be discharged at the
source.

SPZ4 is a surface water catchment which drains into the aquifer feeding
groundwater supply.

7.8.5 To ensure compliance with theWater FD,(109)minerals and waste developments
must not cause any unacceptable adverse impact on local water bodies. Applications
for minerals and waste proposals within SPZs should be accompanied by a
hydrogeological assessment. Waste operations are not usually considered compatible
within SPZ1.

7.8.6 Policy DM 10 embraces issues of flood, groundwater, SPZs and the protection
of waterbodies.

Policy DM 10

Water Environment

Planning permission will be granted for minerals or waste development where it
does not:

1. result in the deterioration of physical state, water quality or ecological status
of any water resource and waterbody, including rivers, streams, lakes and
ponds

2. have an unacceptable impact on groundwater Source Protection Zones (as
shown in Figure 15)

3. exacerbate flood risk in areas prone to flooding (as shown in Figure 15) and
elsewhere, both now and in the future

All minerals and waste proposals must includemeasures to ensure the achievement
of both no deterioration and improved ecological status of all waterbodies within
the site and/or hydrologically connected to the site. A hydrogeological assessment
may be required to demonstrate the effects of the proposed development on the
water environment and how these may be mitigated to an acceptable level.

7.9 Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity

7.9.1 Minerals and waste development can have unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment and local communities. The use of machinery and lighting can result
in noise, light and air pollution and also affect the amenity of nearby communities and
businesses and other land uses such as sport, recreation or tourism. It is important that

109 EU Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EC.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020110

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 247



the minerals and waste industry in Kent does not adversely impact upon the health and
amenity of surrounding environment and communities, and appropriate suitablemitigation
measures are used to reduce the risk of unacceptable adverse impacts occurring.

Policy DM 11

Health and Amenity

Minerals and waste development will be permitted if it can be demonstrated that
they are unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from noise, dust,
vibration, odour, emissions, bioaerosols, illumination, visual intrusion, traffic or
exposure to health risks and associated damage to the qualities of life and wellbeing
to communities and the environment. This may include production of an air quality
assessment of the impact of the proposed development and its associated traffic
movements and necessary mitigationmeasures required through planning condition
and/or planning obligation. This will be a particular requirement where a proposal
might adversely affect the air quality in an AQMA. (See Figure 15)

Proposals for minerals and waste development will also be required to ensure that
there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the use of other land for other purposes.

7.10 Policy DM 12: Cumulative Impact

7.10.1 Impacts from one development in any particular area may give rise to impacts
that, when controlled by mitigation are acceptable and do not give rise to any
unacceptable adverse impacts. However, two or more developments of a similar nature
within close proximity to each other may act together to cause impacts that are not
acceptable, even with mitigation incorporated into the design for each development.

7.10.2 Proposals likely to have a significant effect on internationally important interest
features of internationally important wildlife sites, will need to be assessed through
consideration of the possible effects of any other plans and projects, as well as the
minerals and/or waste development proposed.

7.10.3 The following policy requires cumulative impacts to be considered when two
or more developments are potentially capable of causing significant effects on the
environment (including climate change), biodiversity interests or on the amenity of the
local community. It is also relevant where a new development may affect communities
or the environment cumulatively with existing developments.

111
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 248



Policy DM 12

Cumulative Impact

Planning permission will be granted for minerals and waste development where it
does not result in an unacceptable adverse, cumulative impact on the environment
or communities. This is in relation to the collective effect of different impacts of an
individual proposal, or in relation to the effects of a number of developments
occurring concurrently and/or successively.

7.11 Policy DM 13: Transportation of Minerals and Waste

7.11.1 One of the roles of the Kent MWLP is to encourage the use of sustainable
transportation methods including rail and water. However, in view of the limited
opportunities that are available within the county to increase the use of sustainable
transportation methods, it is acknowledged that most minerals and waste movements
across Kent will continue to be made by road.

7.11.2 Any minerals or waste developments that are likely to result in an increase of
more than 200 Heavy Duty Vehicles (HDVs)/day(110) on any road that lies within 200m
of a designated European Site will need to be subject to HRA screening to evaluate air
quality impacts. It will be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that either:

the increased traffic will not lead to an increase in nitrogen deposition within all
European Sites that lie within 200m that constitutes more than 1% of the critical
load for the most sensitive habitat within the site, or

If the increase in deposition will be greater than 1% of the critical load it will
nonetheless be sufficiently small that no adverse effect on the interest features
and integrity of the European Site will result.

7.11.3 The aim of the Policy DM 13 is to minimise road miles in relation to the
transportation of minerals and waste across Kent.

110 Department for Transport (May 2007) The design manual for Roads and Bridges, Volume 11,
Section 3, Part 1; regarding air quality Environmental Impact Assessment from roads indicates that
if the increase in traffic will amount to less than 200 HDVs per day the development can be scoped
out of further assessment. A Heavy Goods Vehicles is a vehicle with over 3.5 tonnes maximum
permissible gross weight (mgw).

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020112

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 249



Policy DM 13

Transportation of Minerals and Waste

Minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate that emissions
associated with road transport movements are minimised as far as practicable and
by preference being given to non-road modes of transport. Where development
requires road transport, proposals will be required to demonstrate that:

1. the proposed access arrangements are safe and appropriate to the scale and
nature of movements associated with the proposed development such that
the impact of traffic generated is not detrimental to road safety

2. the highway network is able to accommodate the traffic flows that would be
generated, as demonstrated through a transport assessment, and the impact
of traffic generated does not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment or local community.

3. emission control and reduction measures, such as deployment of low emission
vehicles and vehicle scheduling to avoid movements in peak hours. Particular
emphasis will be given to such measures where development is proposed
within an AQMA. (Figure 15)

7.12 Policy DM 14: Public Rights of Way

7.12.1 Public Rights of Way (PROW) play an important role in enabling access to the
countryside. Minerals and waste sites can often be located close to a PROWor a PROW
may cross an area of mineral bearing land. It is important that PROWs remain accessible
to users throughout the lifetime of the minerals and waste operations and that users'
safety is not compromised by any activity on site. New sites or extended sites should
not have an adverse impact on the network of PROWs. In some circumstances it will
be necessary for a PROW to be diverted during operations. Temporary diversions will
only be acceptable if the restoration scheme provides routes to the same standard of
surface level as the original PROW. If this is not possible, it may be preferable to divert
the route permanently.

113
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 250



Policy DM 14

Public Rights of Way

Planning permission will only be granted for minerals and waste development that
adversely affect a Public Right of Way, if:

1. satisfactory prior provisions for its diversion are made which are both convenient
and safe for users of the Public Rights of Way

2. provision is created for an acceptable alternative route both during operations
and following restoration of the site

3. opportunities are taken wherever possible to secure appropriate, improved
access into the countryside

7.13 Policy DM 15: Safeguarding of Transportation Infrastructure

7.13.1 Non-hazardous landfill and water-filled mineral operations attract birds which
may give rise to the possibility of increased hazard to air traffic due to bird strike. EfW
plants can cause air turbulence in the vicinity of the site which together with the physical
structures necessary for these operations can cause obstruction to air safety, in particular
to light aircraft. Local planning authorities are required to consult local aerodromes
before granting planning permission for development that might endanger the safety
of aircraft. Such developments include buildings and structures that exceed certain
heights and development that is likely to attract birds within the relevant radius of
aerodromes as identified on safeguarding maps provided by the Civil Aviation Authority
or Ministry of Defence.

7.13.2 The Port of London Authority has a network of navigational equipment that
needs to be maintained to ensure the continued safety of vessels navigating on the
River Thames, in addition to the existing, varied operations that currently take place. It
is important that this network of equipment is not compromised by other developments.

7.13.3 If, following consultation with relevant organisations, the nature of the mineral
extraction or waste management development is considered to give rise to new or
increased risks to aerodromes and their associated uses, or increased hazards to rail,
river, sea, waterways or road transport then planning permission will not be granted.

Policy DM 15

Safeguarding of Transport Infrastructure

Minerals and waste proposals will be granted planning permission where
development would not give rise to unacceptable impacts on aviation, rail, river,
sea, other waterways or road transport or where these impacts are mitigated.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020114

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 251



7.14 Policy DM 16: Information Required in Support of an Application

7.14.1 The minerals and waste planning authority is entitled to request appropriate
information from applicants when the required information is a material consideration
in the determination of the planning application. If the additional information is not
supplied, the application may be refused planning permission on the grounds of
insufficient information.

7.14.2 The planning authority carefully considers all aspects of a planning application
to establish whether planning permission should be granted. It involves using the
available information to consider the merits of proposals against any potential impacts;
a judgement is made regarding the need for the development weighed against any
residual impacts after mitigation is taken into consideration. A system of planning controls
can be established through the imposition of conditions or planning obligations to further
ensure that the development proposals do not have an unacceptable adverse impact
on local communities or the environment.

7.14.3 The details of the information required within a planning application can be
determined through pre-application discussions and meetings with the Minerals and
Waste Planning Authority, which applicants are strongly encouraged to undertake.
Applications that are not supported by suitable, sufficient material information will
invariably take longer to determine and are at risk of being refused.

7.14.4 Certain types of minerals and waste developments may require an
Environmental Statement (ES) to accompany the planning application.(111) The
information contained within the ES will be taken into account in determining the
application. If applicants consider that their proposals are likely to require an ES, they
should seek guidance at an early stage on the need for and scope of the ES. All
submitted applications will be screened and applicants advised if an ES is required, if
one has not already been submitted.

7.14.5 European Sites (including SPAs, Ramsar sites and SACs) are protected by
European legislation. HRAs are required to be carried out where proposals may have
a significant impact upon the European Site. To assess whether a proposal will have
likely significant effects upon a designated site, the criteria in the following paragraphs
7.14.6 - 7.14.8 are used to determine when a HRA will be required for a development
project.

7.14.6 Any proposal for an EfW facility should undertake HRA screening with regard
to all European Sites within 10 km. It will be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate
that either:

increases in nitrogen deposition within all European Sites that lie within 10 km
constitute less than 1% of the critical load for the most sensitive habitat within the
site or

if the increase in nitrogen deposition will be greater than 1% of the critical load, it
will nonetheless be sufficiently small that no adverse effect on the interest features
and integrity of the European Site will result.

111 Required under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and
Wales) Regulations 2011 (as amended).

115
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 252



7.14.7 Any minerals or waste development that is likely to result in an increase of
HDVs on any road that lies within 200 m of a European Site should also be subject to
HRA screening in order to evaluate air quality impacts within the context of the critical
load, or critical level, and the 1% criterion cited above.

Table 2 Indicative screening distances for considering whether a Habitat
Regulations Assessment is required for a development.

Screening Distance from a European
Site(1)

Pathway

10 kmAir Quality - Energy from Waste

1 kmAir Quality - Landfill Gas Flares

1 kmAir Quality - Biopathogens

500 mAir Quality - Dust

200 mAir Quality - Vehicle Exhaust
Emissions

No standard distance (use
source/pathway/receptor approach)

Water Quality and Flow

1 km from a European Site supporting
disturbance sensitive species/populations

Disturbance (noise/visual)

5 km from a European site supporting
sensitive ground nesting breeding species

Gull/Corvid (rooks and crows)
predation

No standard distance - evaluate on a
case-by-case basis

Coastal Squeeze

1. International Designated Sites, Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and Ramsar
sites.

7.14.8 Table 1 identifies the screening distances from European Sites associated
with particular impact pathways. Development projects that will lead to the pathways
and fall within these zones will require HRA. The table does not preclude HRA being
required in other circumstances.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020116

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 253



Policy DM 16

Information Required In Support of an Application

Planning applications for minerals or waste management development must be
supported by sufficient, relevant drawings, plans and information, including the
information specified in the County Council's guidance notes for minerals and waste
applications.(112)

7.15 Policy DM 17: Planning Obligations

7.15.1 Where the use of planning conditions is not possible, in some circumstances,
development proposals could be considered to be acceptable if planning obligations
are used. These can either take the form of legal agreements entered into by planning
authorities or a unilateral undertaking made by the developer and any person with an
interest in the development and the relevant land. The types of matters that may need
to be covered in planning obligations are listed in Policy DM 17, which is neither
exhaustive nor are the listed matters relevant to every development.

Policy DM 17

Planning Obligations

Planning obligations will be sought where appropriate, to achieve suitable control
over, and to mitigate and/or compensate for, the effects of minerals and waste
development where such objectives cannot be achieved by planning conditions.
Matters to be covered by such planning obligations may include those listed below
as appropriate to the proposed development:

1. revocation and consolidation of planning permissions

2. highways and access improvements

112 Applicants should refer to the following website for the most recent guidance on local information
requirements and validation of applications: http://www.kent.gov.uk/planningapplications. Guidance
will be reviewed and updated periodically.

117
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 254

http://www.kent.gov.uk/planningapplications


3. traffic management measures including the regulation of lorry traffic

4. provision and management of off-site or advance tree planting and screening

5. extraction in advance of future development

6. environmental enhancement and the delivery of Local Biodiversity Action Plan
Targets

7. protection and enhancement of internationally, nationally and locally important
sites

8. landscape enhancement

9. protection of internationally, nationally and locally notable and protected species

10. long term management and monitoring of mitigation or compensation sites
and their protection from further development

11. provision and long term maintenance of an alternative water supply should
existing supplies be affected

12. archaeological investigation, analysis, reporting, publication and archive
deposition

13. establishment of a liaison committee

14. long-term site management provision to establish and/or maintain beneficial
after-use

15. improvement to the public rights of way network

16. financial guarantees to ensure restoration and long term maintenance is
undertaken

17. measures for environmental, recreational, economic and community gain in
mitigation or compensation for the effects of minerals and waste development

18. codes of construction practice for large(113)waste developments that incorporate
the requirement for the majority of the construction workforce to be recruited
locally. Opportunities for modern apprenticeships to be made available for a
proportion of the construction workforce

19. the majority of the operational staff at large waste developments to be sourced
from the local area and opportunities for modern apprenticeships and other
nationally recognised training schemes to be available for a proportion of the
workforce

113 A large waste development is one that has a capacity of over 100,000 tpa.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020118

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 255



7.16 Policy DM 18: Land Stability

7.16.1 Minerals and waste development can give rise to land instability if proposals
are not properly planned and implemented. The issue needs to be considered and
satisfactorily addressed when planning applications are determined. Where there is the
possibility of land instability, applications for minerals and waste development should
be accompanied by a stability report. Such a report should assesses the physical
capability of the land, possible adverse impacts of any instability, possible adverse
impacts on adjacent land, possible impacts on local amenity and conservation interests
and any proposed remedial or precautionary measures.

7.16.2 The aim of Policy DM 18 is to ensure that land stability is properly addressed
during the operational phase(s) of minerals and waste development. Policy DM 19
addresses the issue in so far as it relates to restoration, aftercare and after-use.

Policy DM 18

Land Stability

Planning permission will be granted for minerals or waste development where it is
demonstrated that it will not result in land instability.

All minerals and waste proposals that could give rise to land instability must include
a stability report and measures to ensure land stability.

7.17 Policy DM 19: Restoration, Aftercare and After-use

7.17.1 The nature of restoration activity depends on the choice of after-use, which is
influenced by a variety of factors including the aspirations of the landowner(s) and the
local community, the present characteristics of the site and its environs, any strategies
for the area (e.g. biodiversity priorities), the nature, scale and duration of the proposed
development and the availability and quality of soil resources. Where the proposal is
to restore the site to agricultural use at existing ground levels, ensuring the availability
of clean inert fill material is important to the deliverability of the scheme as is the
availability of suitable topsoil (Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites
seeks to address this). Quarries have been restored through importation of
non-hazardous and/or hazardous waste and the acceptability of this in principle would
be considered against Policy CSW 9: Non Inert Landfill in Kent. It may be appropriate
to retain some industrial archaeological features, geological exposures or landscapes
within a quarry.

119
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 256



7.17.2 Restoration, aftercare and after-use will usually seek to assure that the land
is restored back to a quality that is at a level at least equivalent to that which it was prior
to development commencing and wherever possible provide for the enhancement of
the quality of the landscape, local environment or the setting of historic assets to the
benefit of the local or wider community. Wherever possible, restoration schemes should
include measures to improve biodiversity interests whatever the proposed after-use of
the site. Restoration, aftercare and after-use may be secured through Planning
Obligations as set out in Policy DM 17.

7.17.3 To achieve high-quality restoration to an agricultural use or certain leisure
uses (e.g. to parkland), a supply of suitable soils is normally required. In such cases all
soil resources should be retained and managed on site for use in restoration. The way
that soils are handled is also a key element for successful restoration to these uses.
Details of the management and storage of soils, including timing and means of soil
movements and types of machinery to be used will be required.

7.17.4 In cases where insufficient soils exist on site the applicant will need to make
provision for the supply of soils or soil making materials within an agreed timescale to
ensure the timely restoration of the site. Planning consent will only be granted for the
importation and processing of such materials (where soil making materials require prior
processing) if proven necessary to ensure timely restoration. Stockpiles will need to be
controlled such that soil quality is not adversely affected and there are no unintended
adverse impacts resulting from, for example, visual appearance and drainage. No
subsequent export of material will be allowed.

7.17.5 For the initial years following restoration (usually a 5-year period but this may
be extended e.g. when restoration is to a particular wildlife habitat) site aftercare
measures are required to ensure that the reinstatement of soils and the planting or
seeding carried out to meet restoration requirements is being managed so that the site
will return to its intended after-use in a timely manner. Thesemeasures involve improving
the structure, stability and nutrient value of soils, ensuring adequate drainage is available
and securing the establishment and management of the grass sward, crop or planting
areas, together with any other maintenance as may be required. The aftercare scheme
normally requires two levels of details to be provided, these are:

the outline strategy for the whole of the aftercare period

a detailed strategy for the forthcoming year

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020120

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 257



7.17.6 Restoration and aftercare plans should take into consideration community
needs and aspirations. Local interest groups and community representatives should
be consulted and their viewpoints incorporated into the proposals wherever possible
and appropriate. Restoration and aftercare plans for mineral development need to be
reviewed and updated periodically, in accordance with legislation.(114) Policy DM 19
identifies the issues that need to be addressed in relation to the restoration, aftercare
and after-use of minerals extraction and temporary waste management development.

Policy DM 19

Restoration, Aftercare and After-use

Planning permission for minerals extraction and temporary waste management
development will be granted where satisfactory provision has been made for high
standards of restoration and aftercare such that the intended after-use of the site
is achieved in a timely manner, including where necessary for its long-term
management.

Restoration plans should be submitted with the planning application which reflect
the proposed after-use and, where appropriate, include the details set out below:

1. a site-based landscape strategy for the restoration scheme

2. the key landscape and biodiversity opportunities and constraints ensuring
connectivity with surrounding landscape and habitats

3. the geological, archaeological and historic heritage and landscape features
and their settings

4. the site boundaries and areas identified for soil and overburden storage

5. an assessment of soil resources and their removal, handling and storage

6. an assessment of the overburden to be removed and stored

7. the type and depth of workings and information relating to the water table

114 The Environment Act (1995) introduced a requirement for an initial review and updating of of all old
mineral planning permissions (known as the ‘Review of Mineral Permissions’ or ‘ROMP’ process).
There is no fixed period when periodic reviews should take place so long as the first review is no
earlier than 15 years after planning permission is granted or, in the case of an old permission, 15
years of the date of the initial review. Any further reviews should be at least 15 years after the date
of the last review.

121
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 258



8. storage locations and quantities of waste/fill materials and quantities and types
of waste/fill involved

9. proposed infilling operations, sources and types of fill material

10. the arrangements for monitoring and the control and management of landfill
gas

11. consideration of land stability after restoration

12. directions and phasing of working and restoration and how they are integrated
into the working scheme

13. the need for and provision of additional screening taking account of degrees
of visual exposure

14. details of the proposed final landform including pre and post settlement levels

15. types, quantities and source of soils or soil making materials to be used

16. a methodology for management of soils to ensure that the pre-development
soil quality is maintained

17. proposals for meeting targets or biodiversity gain in relation to the Kent Priority
Habitats (or its replacement), the Kent Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and the
Greater Thames Marshes Nature Improvement area

18. removal of all buildings, plant, structures, accesses and hardstanding not
required for long term management of the site

19. planting of new native woodlands

20. installation of drainage to enable high quality restoration and after-use

21. measures to incorporate flood risk mitigation opportunities

22. details of the seeding of grass or other crops and planting of trees, shrubs and
hedges

23. a programme of aftercare to include details of vegetation establishment,
vegetation management, biodiversity habitat management, field drainage,
irrigation and watering facilities

24. the restoration of the majority of the site back to agriculture, if the site consists
of the best and most versatile agricultural land

Aftercare schemes should incorporate an aftercare period of at least five years.
Where appropriate, voluntary longer periods for certain uses will be sought through
agreement between the applicant and minerals planning authority.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020122

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 259



7.18 Policy DM 20: Ancillary Development

7.18.1 Policy DM 20 seeks to provide certainty that proposals for ancillary development
within or close to minerals and waste development will be permitted, even when there
may be an adverse environmental impact, so long as it is possible to demonstrate that
there are environmental benefits in providing the close link with the existing site that
outweighs the likely environmental impacts.

Policy DM 20

Ancillary Development

Proposals for ancillary development(115) within or in close proximity to mineral and
waste development will be granted planning permission provided that:

1. the proposal is necessary to enable the main development to proceed

2. it has been demonstrated that there are environmental benefits in providing a
close link with the existing site that outweigh the environmental impacts.

Where permission is granted, the operation and retention of the associated
development will be limited to the life of the linked mineral or waste facility.

115 "Ancillary Development" is defined in the Town and Country Planning Act S90. In relation to
minerals and waste developments “ancillary development” only includes development that is
directly related to the minerals or waste development proposed.

123
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
7
D
evelopm

entM
anagem

entP
olicies

Page 260



7.19 Policy DM 21: Incidental Mineral Extraction

7.19.1 Policy DM 21 seeks to provide certainty that proposals for incidental mineral
extraction will be permitted provided that operations do not cause unacceptable adverse
impacts to the environment or communities.

Policy DM 21

Incidental Mineral Extraction

Planning permission for mineral extraction that forms a subordinate and ancillary
element of other development will be granted provided that operations are only for
a temporary period. Where planning permission is granted, conditions will be
imposed to ensure that the site can be restored to an alternative after-use in
accordance with Policy DM 19 should the main development be delayed or not
implemented.

7.20 Policy DM 22: Enforcement

7.20.1 The Plan seeks to promote sustainable development within Kent. Positive and
balanced policies have been designed to help support and encourage this principle.
Hand-in-hand with this objective is the need to ensure a general upholding of planning
law. Within this context, informal and negotiated solutions to planning control problems
are sought, acting with discretion and in a proportionate way. However, there will be
occasions when determined planning breaches cause significant environmental and
amenity issues and may threaten the integrity of the planning system. To fully meet
such challenges requires the actions of a local control and management regime and
the support of a recognised policy base.

Policy DM 22

Enforcement

The County Council will carry out its planning enforcement functions within the
terms of its own Enforcement Plan/Protocols (and any subsequent variations) and
specifically for waste-related matters, in light of the European Union Waste
Framework Directive 2008/98/EC.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020124

7
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

Page 261



8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
St
ra
te
gy

8.
0.
1

M
on

ito
rin

g
is
an

im
po

rta
nt

pa
rt
of

ev
id
en

ce
-b
as
ed

po
lic
y
m
ak
in
g.

Th
e
N
P
P
F
st
at
es

th
at

lo
ca
lp
la
nn

in
g
au

th
or
iti
es

sh
ou

ld
en

su
re

th
at

th
e
lo
ca
lp
la
n
is
ba

se
d
on

ad
eq

ua
te
,u

p-
to
-d
at
e
an

d
re
le
va
nt

ev
id
en

ce
.(1

16
)
Th

e
K
en

tM
W
LP

th
er
ef
or
e
re
qu

ire
s
a
m
on

ito
rin

g
sc
he

du
le

to
en

su
re

it
re
m
ai
ns

ba
se
d
on

up
-to

-d
at
e
ev
id
en

ce
an

d
to

m
ea

su
re

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
of

it'
s
vi
si
on

an
d
ob

je
ct
iv
es
.

8.
0.
2

Th
e
m
on

ito
rin

g
an

d
im
pl
em

en
ta
tio
n
fra

m
ew

or
k
se
to

ut
in
th
is
se
ct
io
n
sh
ow

s
ho

w
th
e
S
tra

te
gi
c
O
bj
ec
tiv
es

of
th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

w
ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

by
m
on

ito
rin

g
da

ta
in
di
ca
to
rs
re
le
va
nt
to
ea

ch
of
th
e
Pl
an

's
po

lic
ie
s.
Th

e
fra

m
ew

or
k
in
cl
ud

es
ta
rg
et
s
ag

ai
ns
tw

hi
ch

th
e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
th
e
po

lic
ie
s
ca
n
be

m
on

ito
re
d,

pl
us

as
so
ci
at
ed

'tr
ig
ge

rp
oi
nt
s'
to

in
di
ca
te

w
he

n
co
rr
ec
tiv
e
ac
tio
n
m
ay

be
re
qu

ire
d.

Th
e
m
on

ito
rin

g
of

ea
ch

in
di
ca
to
rw

ill
be

ca
rr
ie
d
ou

ta
s
pa

rt
of

th
e
pr
od

uc
tio
n
of

th
e
K
en

tA
nn

ua
lM

on
ito
rin

g
R
ep

or
t.
P
ol
ic
ie
s
m
ay

be
su
bj
ec
tt
o
re
vi
ew

if
an

nu
al

m
on

ito
rin

g
in
di
ca
te
s
th
at

si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
,a

dv
er
se

tre
nd

s
ar
e
lik
el
y
to

co
nt
in
ue

.

8.
0.
3

Fo
llo
w
in
g
th
e
en

ac
tm

en
to

ft
he

Lo
ca
lis
m
Ac

t2
01
1
it
is
no

w
th
e
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
of

ea
ch

lo
ca
la
ut
ho

rit
y
to

de
ci
de

w
ha

tt
o
in
cl
ud

e
in
its

m
on

ito
rin

g
re
po

rts
,w

hi
le
sa
tis
fy
in
g
th
e
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
of

re
le
va
nt

U
K
an

d
E
U
le
gi
sl
at
io
n.

K
C
C
st
ill
at
ta
ch
es

im
po

rta
nc
e
to

th
e

fo
rm

er
co
re

na
tio
na

lo
ut
pu

ti
nd

ic
at
or
s,
us
ed

as
th
e
ba

si
s
fo
rm

on
ito
rin

g
in
pr
ev
io
us

ye
ar
s,
an

d
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue

to
re
po

rt
on

th
es
e
in
di
ca
to
rs
.

Th
es
e
ar
e:

pr
od

uc
tio
n
of

pr
im
ar
y
la
nd

-w
on

ag
gr
eg

at
es

pr
od

uc
tio
n
of

se
co
nd

ar
y
an

d
re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
es

ca
pa

ci
ty
of

w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s
by

ty
pe

am
ou

nt
of

m
un

ic
ip
al
w
as
te

ar
is
in
g
an

d
m
an

ag
ed

,b
y
m
an

ag
em

en
tt
yp
e
an

d
th
e
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

ea
ch

m
an

ag
em

en
tt
yp
e
re
pr
es
en

ts
of

th
e

to
ta
lw

as
te

m
an

ag
ed

11
6

D
C
LG

(2
01

2)
N
at
io
na

lP
la
nn

in
g
P
ol
ic
y
Fr
am

ew
or
k,
pa

ra
.1

58
.

125
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 262



8.
0.
4

In
ad

di
tio
n,

K
C
C
al
so

m
on

ito
rs

lo
ca
lo
ut
pu

ti
nd

ic
at
or
s
as

fo
llo
w
s:

ne
w
m
in
er
al
re
se
rv
es

gr
an

te
d
pe

rm
is
si
on

co
ns
tru

ct
io
n
ag

gr
eg

at
e
la
nd

ba
nk
s

ot
he

rm
in
er
al
s
la
nd

ba
nk
s

sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

of
w
ha

rv
es

an
d
ra
il
de

po
ts

sa
le
s
of

co
ns
tru

ct
io
n
ag

gr
eg

at
es

at
w
ha

rv
es

an
d
ra
il
de

po
ts

w
as
te

gr
ow

th
ra
te

ex
po

rts
an

d
im
po

rts
of

w
as
te
.

ca
pa

ci
ty
fo
rm

an
ag

in
g
w
as
te

in
K
en

t

8.
0.
5

D
at
a
fo
rm

an
y
of

th
e
m
in
er
al
re
la
te
d
in
di
ca
to
rs

is
su
pp

lie
d
by

th
e
S
ou

th
E
as
tE

ng
la
nd

A
gg

re
ga

te
W
or
ki
ng

P
ar
ty
(S
E
E
AW

P
).
K
C
C

in
te
nd

s
to

in
cl
ud

e
th
es
e
lo
ca
lo
ut
pu

ti
nd

ic
at
or
s
in
th
e
A
M
R
an

d/
or

th
e
Lo

ca
lA

gg
re
ga

te
A
ss
es
sm

en
t(
LA

A
)f
or

as
lo
ng

as
th
e
da

ta
re
m
ai
ns

av
ai
la
bl
e.

In
ac
co
rd
an

ce
w
ith

th
e
ag

re
em

en
ts
w
ith

in
du

st
ry

an
d
th
ei
rt
ra
de

as
so
ci
at
io
ns
,t
hi
s
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
is
on

ly
av
ai
la
bl
e
in
a
co
lla
te
d
fo
rm

,
so

in
di
vi
du

al
si
te

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
ca
nn

ot
be

ea
si
ly
id
en

tif
ie
d.

Th
is
ca
n
ca
us
e
pr
ob

le
m
s
fo
rp

la
nn

in
g
fo
rm

in
er
al
s,
es
pe

ci
al
ly
w
he

re
th
er
e
is
a

lim
ite
d
nu

m
be

ro
fs
up

pl
ie
rs

of
pa

rti
cu
la
rt
yp
es

of
m
in
er
al
su
ch

as
br
ic
ke
ar
th

or
cr
us
he

d
ro
ck
.T

he
S
E
E
AW

P
re
po

rts
al
so

pr
ov
id
e
a
lim

ite
d

am
ou

nt
of

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
on

se
co
nd

ar
y
an

d
re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
es
.T

he
po

te
nt
ia
lp
ro
bl
em

w
ith

th
is
so
ur
ce

of
m
at
er
ia
li
s
th
at

so
m
e
op

er
at
or
s
ar
e

re
lu
ct
an

tt
o
pr
ov
id
e
su
rv
ey

re
tu
rn
s
an

d
so

th
e
va
lu
es

ob
ta
in
ed

ar
e
co
ns
id
er
ed

lik
el
y
to

be
an

un
de

r-
re
pr
es
en

ta
tio
n
of

th
e
ac
tu
al
am

ou
nt

of
se
co
nd

ar
y
an

d
re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
es

pr
od

uc
ed

in
K
en

ti
n
an

y
on

e
ye
ar
.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020126

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 263



8.
0.
6

Th
e
N
at
io
na

lP
la
nn

in
g
Po

lic
y
fo
rW

as
te
(1
17
) a
ls
o
re
fe
rs
to
sp
ec
ifi
c
pa

ra
m
et
er
s
be

in
g
m
on

ito
re
d
to
in
fo
rm

th
e
de

te
rm

in
at
io
n
of
pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns
.I
n
pa

rti
cu
la
r:

ta
ke
-u
p
in
al
lo
ca
te
d
si
te
s
an

d
ar
ea

s;

ex
is
tin
g
st
oc
k
an

d
ch
an

ge
s
in
th
e
st
oc
k
of

w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s,
an

d
th
ei
rc

ap
ac
ity

(in
cl
ud

in
g
ch
an

ge
s
to

ca
pa

ci
ty
);
an

d

th
e
am

ou
nt
s
of

w
as
te

re
cy
cl
ed

,r
ec
ov
er
ed

or
go

in
g
fo
rd

is
po

sa
l.

8.
0.
7

Th
e
su
pp

or
tin
g
P
la
nn

in
g
P
ra
ct
ic
e
G
ui
da

nc
e(
11
8)
al
so

re
fe
rs
to
th
e
ne

ed
to
m
on

ito
ra

nn
ua

la
ris
in
gs

to
al
lo
w
fo
rr
ev
ie
w
of
th
e
fo
re
ca
st
s

th
at

un
de

rp
in
th
e
st
ra
te
gy
.

8.
0.
8

D
at
a
on

Lo
ca
lA

ut
ho

rit
y
C
ol
le
ct
ed

W
as
te

is
re
ad

ily
av
ai
la
bl
e
an

d
re
po

rte
d
to

ce
nt
ra
lG

ov
er
nm

en
to

n
an

an
nu

al
ba

si
s.
D
at
a
on

C
&
I

w
as
te

ar
is
in
gs

is
le
ss

re
ad

ily
av
ai
la
bl
e.

S
im
ila
rly
,u

nt
il
no

w
th
er
e
ha

s
no

tb
ee

n
an

y
re
gu

la
rr
ep

or
tin
g
of

ha
za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

ar
is
in
gs

in
K
en

to
r

th
e
am

ou
nt

of
ha

za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

m
an

ag
ed

in
th
e
co
un

ty
.T

hi
s
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
w
as

co
lla
te
d
as

pa
rt
of

th
e
ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
fo
rt
he

P
la
n.
(1
19
)
It
is

pr
op

os
ed

to
in
cl
ud

e
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
ad

di
tio
na

ln
ew

lo
ca
lo
ut
pu

ti
nd

ic
at
or
s
to

m
on

ito
rt
he

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
of

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

po
lic
ie
s
re
ga

rd
in
g

th
es
e
w
as
te

st
re
am

s
in
fu
tu
re

A
M
R
s:

C
&
Iw

as
te

ge
ne

ra
te
d
in
K
en

tt
ha

ti
s
la
nd

fil
le
d
w
ith
in
K
en

ta
nd

ou
ts
id
e
K
en

t

ha
za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

ar
is
in
g
in
K
en

tt
ha

ti
s
m
an

ag
ed

w
ith
in
K
en

ta
nd

ou
ts
id
e
K
en

t

8.
0.
9

Th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
m
on

ito
rin

g
sc
he

du
le
in
cl
ud

es
co
ns
id
er
s
ho

w
ea

ch
of

th
e
P
la
n'
s
S
tra

te
gi
c
O
bj
ec
tiv
es

w
ill
be

im
pl
em

en
te
d
th
ro
ug

h
th
e

P
la
n'
s
po

lic
ie
s
an

d
ho

w
th
ei
ra

ch
ie
ve
m
en

tw
ill
be

m
on

ito
re
d.

11
7

D
C
LG

(O
ct
ob

er
20

14
)N

at
io
na

lP
la
nn

in
g
P
ol
ic
y
fo
rW

as
te
,p

ar
a.
9

11
8

D
C
LG

(u
pd

at
ed

O
ct
ob

er
20

14
)N

at
io
na

lP
la
nn

in
g
P
ol
ic
y
Fr
am

ew
or
k
P
la
nn

in
g
P
ra
ct
ic
e
G
ui
da

nc
e
on

W
as
te
,p

ar
a.

05
4

11
9

K
C
C
(M

ay
20

11
)T

R
W
5:

H
az
ar
do

us
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
t

127
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 264



M
on

ito
rin

g
Sc

he
du

le
:S

us
ta
in
ab

le
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tP
ol
ic
ie
s

Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
1;

S
O
2

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to
na

tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y
an

d
gu

id
an

ce

N
o
ap

pl
ic
at
io
n

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

co
nt
ra
ry

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
M

1
&

C
S
W

1:
S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t

1.
M
in
er
al
an

d
w
as
te

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
co
nt
ra
ry
to

na
tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y
an

d
gu

id
an

ce
.

to
na

tio
na

lp
ol
ic
y

an
d
gu

id
an

ce

S
O
1;

S
O
2

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de

te
rm

in
ed

be
yo
nd

th
e
ag

re
ed

tim
es
ca
le

10
0%

w
ith
in
th
e

ta
rg
et
/a

gr
ee

d
tim

es
ca
le

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

2.
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
w
as
te

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

de
te
rm

in
ed

w
ith
in

13
/1
6
w
ee

ks
.(1

20
)

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
5;

S
O
11
;S

O
12

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to
th
e
ci
te
d
gu

id
an

ce

10
0%

of
m
aj
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d

pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

lo
ca
lp
la
n

ad
op

tio
n

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

D
M

1:
S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

1.
M
in
er
al
s
an

d
w
as
te

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
th
at
ac
co
rd

w
ith

th
e
K
en

t
D
es
ig
n
G
ui
de

an
d/
or

K
C
C
's

en
vi
ro
nm

en
ta
l

st
ra
te
gy
.

O
ne

au
th
or
ity

w
ith
ou

tt
he

ad
op

te
d
su
pp

le
m
en

ta
ry

gu
id
an

ce

10
0%

ad
op

tio
n
as

su
pp

le
m
en

ta
ry

pl
an

ni
ng

gu
id
an

ce

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

lo
ca
lp
la
n

ad
op

tio
n

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

2.
A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e

K
en

tD
es
ig
n
G
ui
de

by
di
st
ric
t

au
th
or
iti
es

12
0

Fo
ra

pp
lic
at
io
ns

w
ith
ou

ta
n
ex
te
ns
io
n
of

tim
e
ag

re
ed

w
ith

th
e
ap

pl
ic
an

t.
16

w
ee

ks
fo
ra

pp
lic
at
io
ns

ac
co
m
pa

ni
ed

by
an

E
nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lS

ta
te
m
en

t

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020128

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 265



M
on

ito
rin

g
Sc

he
du

le
:D

el
iv
er
y
St
ra
te
gy

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
10

%
ab

ov
e
su
pp

ly
ta
rg
et

M
ai
nt
ai
n
at
le
as
t1
0.
08

m
t

an
d
at

le
as
ta

7
ye
ar

la
nd

ba
nk

(5
.4
6m

t)
w
hi
le

re
so
ur
ce
s
al
lo
w

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

A
gg

re
ga

te
s

M
on

ito
rin

g
S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

C
S
M

2:
S
up

pl
y

of
La

nd
-w
on

M
in
er
al
s
in
Ke

nt

1.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

sh
ar
p
sa
nd

an
d

gr
av
el

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
10

%
ab

ov
e
la
nd

ba
nk

ta
rg
et

M
ai
nt
ai
n
a
ro
lli
ng

la
nd

ba
nk

of
at

le
as
t7

ye
ar
s
su
pp

ly
eq

ui
va
le
nt

to
11
.0
5m

t

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

A
gg

re
ga

te
s

M
on

ito
rin

g
S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

2.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

so
ft
sa
nd

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
10

%
ab

ov
e
la
nd

ba
nk

ta
rg
et

M
ai
nt
ai
n
a
ro
lli
ng

la
nd

ba
nk

of
at

le
as
t1

0
ye
ar
s
su
pp

ly
eq

ui
va
le
nt

to
at

le
as
t2

0.
5m

t)

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

A
gg

re
ga

te
s

M
on

ito
rin

g
S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

3.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

cr
us
he

d
ro
ck

(c
on

fid
en

tia
l)(
12
1)

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
le
ss

th
an

th
re
e
ye
ar
s
ab

ov
e
th
e

S
to
ck

of
pe

rm
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

of
at

le
as
t2

5
ye
ar
s
fo
rb

ric
ke
ar
th

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

K
C
C

S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

4.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

br
ic
ke
ar
th

an
d

cl
ay

fo
rb

ric
k
an

d
til
e
m
an

uf
ac
tu
re

m
in
im
um

st
oc
k
of

pe
rm

itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

ta
rg
et

M
ai
nt
en

an
ce

of
su
ffi
ci
en

t
re
se
rv
es

of
cl
ay

ba
se
d
on

pa
st
sa
le
s
an

d
m
ar
ke
t

de
m
an

d

12
1

Th
e
sa
le
s
an

d
re
se
rv
es

of
la
nd

-w
on

cr
us
he

d
ro
ck

ar
e
no

tp
ub

lis
he

d
as

th
er
e
ar
e
on

ly
tw
o
si
te
s
cu
rr
en

tly
pr
od

uc
in
g
cr
us
he

d
ro
ck

in
K
en

t;
th
e
to
ta
ls
al
es

da
ta

fro
m

th
re
e
or

m
or
e
si
te
s
ar
e
re
qu

ire
d
in
or
de

rt
o
pr
ot
ec
tc
om

m
er
ci
al
co
nf
id
en

tia
lit
y.

129
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 266



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
le
ss

th
an

S
to
ck

of
pe

rm
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

fo
ri
nd

iv
id
ua

l
A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

K
C
C

S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

5.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

si
lic
a
sa
nd

th
re
e
ye
ar
s
ab

ov
e
th
e

m
in
im
um

st
oc
k
of

pe
rm

itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

ta
rg
et

si
te
s
of

at
le
as
t1

0
ye
ar
s

an
d
15

ye
ar
s
fo
rs

ite
s

w
he

re
si
gn

ifi
ca
nt

ne
w

ca
pi
ta
li
s
re
qu

ire
d

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
le
ss

th
an

M
ai
nt
en

an
ce

of
su
ffi
ci
en

t
re
se
rv
es

to
m
ee

ts
up

pl
y

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

K
C
C

S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

6.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

ch
al
k
fo
r

ag
ric
ul
tu
ra
la
nd

en
gi
ne

er
in
g

pu
rp
os
es

th
re
e
ye
ar
s
of
re
se
rv
es

at
cu
rr
en

t(
an

nu
al
)

ra
te
s

re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
fo
rt
he

pl
an

pe
rio

d

S
O
5;

P
er
m
itt
ed

re
se
rv
es

eq
ui
va
le
nt

to
le
ss

th
an

M
ai
nt
en

an
ce

of
su
ffi
ci
en

t
re
se
rv
es

to
m
ee

ts
up

pl
y

A
nn

ua
ld
at
a

co
lle
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ca
le
nd

ar
ye
ar

K
C
C

S
ur
ve
y

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s

op
er
at
or
s

7.
R
es
er
ve

da
ta

fo
r

cl
ay

en
gi
ne

er
in
g

pu
rp
os
es

th
re
e
ye
ar
s
of
re
se
rv
es

at
cu
rr
en

t(
an

nu
al
)

ra
te
s

re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
fo
rt
he

pl
an

pe
rio

d

S
O
5;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
10

0%
re
fu
sa
lf
or

pr
op

os
al
s
w
ith

an
O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

To
nb

rid
ge

&
M
al
lin
g

B
or
ou

gh
C
ou

nc
il

C
S
M

3:
S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
rM

in
er
al
s

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
r

al
te
rn
at
iv
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

w
ith
in
th
e

S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
r

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
C
ou

nt
y

C
ou

nc
il

M
in
er
al
s
at

M
ed

w
ay

C
em

en
t

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020130

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 267



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

W
or
ks

an
d
th
e

M
in
er
al
s

C
on

su
lta
tio
n
Ar
ea

.

S
O
5;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
M

4:
N
on

-id
en

tif
ie
d

La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
S
ite
s

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
r

m
in
er
al
ex
tra

ct
io
n

at
al
te
rn
at
iv
e
si
te
s

ou
ts
id
e
al
lo
ca
te
d

si
te
s

S
O
2;

S
O
6;

S
O
10

P
ro
ce
ss
in
g
ca
pa

ci
ty

fa
lls

by
th
e
eq

ui
va
le
nt

to
10

%
be

lo
w
th
e

ta
rg
et

ca
pa

ci
ty

To
m
ai
nt
ai
n
at

le
as
t

2.
7m

tp
a
of

pr
oc
es
si
ng

ca
pa

ci
ty
th
ro
ug

ho
ut

th
e

pl
an

pe
rio

d

A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e

M
in
er
al
S
ite
s

P
la
n

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

M
in
er
al

S
ite
s
P
la
n

K
C
C

S
ec
on

da
ry

an
d

re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
e

op
er
at
or
s

C
S
M

8:
S
ec
on

da
ry

an
d

R
ec
yc
le
d

A
gg

re
ga

te
s

1.
Id
en

tif
ic
at
io
n
of

se
co
nd

ar
y
an

d
re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
e

ca
pa

ci
ty
in
th
e

M
in
er
al
s
S
ite
s

P
la
n.

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

2.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
r

se
co
nd

ar
y
an

d
re
cy
cl
ed

ag
gr
eg

at
e

pr
od

uc
tio
n.

131
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 268



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
5;

S
O
8;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
SM

9:
Bu

ild
in
g

S
to
ne

in
K
en

t

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
r

bu
ild
in
g
st
on

e
ex
tra

ct
io
n.

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;
S
O
9

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
M

10
:O

il,
G
as

an
d

U
nc
on

ve
nt
io
na

l
H
yd
ro
ca
rb
on

s

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d

as
so
ci
at
ed

w
ith

th
e
ex
pl
or
at
io
n,

ap
pr
ai
sa
la
nd

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

f
oi
l,
ga

s
an

d
un

co
nv
en

tio
na

l
hy
dr
oc
ar
bo

ns
.

S
O
5;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
M

11
:

P
ro
sp
ec
tin
g
fo
r

C
ar
bo

ni
fe
ro
us

Li
m
es
to
ne

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
r

un
de

rg
ro
un

d
lim

es
to
ne

pr
os
pe

ct
in
g.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020132

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 269



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at
do

es
no

t
m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
M

12
:

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
Tr
an

sp
or
to

f
M
in
er
al
s

1.
P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rt
he

su
st
ai
na

bl
e

S
O
3;

S
O
5;

tra
ns
po

rt
of

m
in
er
al
s
(e
.g
.

w
at
er

or
ra
il)
.

S
O
7;

S
O
12

;
S
O
14

;

M
on

ito
rin

g
Sc

he
du

le
:D

el
iv
er
y
St
ra
te
gy

fo
rW

as
te

Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

R
el
at
iv
e
an

d
to
ta
lf
al
li
n

th
e
pr
op

or
tio
n
of

w
as
te

In
cr
ea

si
ng

th
e

pr
op

or
tio
ns

of
w
as
te

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g,

E
A
w
as
te

m
an
ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
y
da

ta
K
C
C

E
A

C
S
W

2:
W
as
te

H
ie
ra
rc
hy

1.
E
xi
st
in
g
w
as
te

ca
pa

ci
ty
by

fa
ci
lit
y
ty
pe

an
d
W
as
te

H
ie
ra
rc
hy

ca
te
go

ry
.

S
O
11
;

S
O
12

;
S
O
13

ca
pa

ci
ty
pr
ov
id
ed

fu
rth

er
up

th
e
w
as
te

hi
er
ar
ch
y

m
an

ag
em

en
t

ca
pa

ci
ty
fu
rth

er
up

th
e
w
as
te

hi
er
ar
ch
y

w
he

n
da

ta
is
m
ad

e
pu

bl
ic
)

D
M

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

w
ith
ou

tt
he

re
qu

ire
d

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

10
0%

of
pr
op

os
al
s

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

pr
ov
id
in
g

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
an

d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

K
C
C

W
as
te

op
er
at
or
s

2.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

fo
r

w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tt
o

in
cl
ud

e
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
on

ho
w

th
e
pr
op

os
al
w
ill
he

lp
dr
iv
e

w
as
te

to
as
ce
nd

th
e
W
as
te

th
e
re
qu

ire
d

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
w
he

re
re
le
va
nt

H
ie
ra
rc
hy

w
he

re
ve
rp

os
si
bl
e

an
d
pr
ac
tic
ab

le

133
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 270



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
6;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

w
ith
ou

tt
he

re
qu

ire
d

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d

pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

pr
ov
id
in
g
th
e

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
tho

riti
es

C
S
W

3:
W
as
te

R
ed

uc
tio
n

1.
A
ll
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

(1
22
) s
ub

m
itt
ed

w
ith

de
ta
ils

of
th
e

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e
to

po
lic
y
C
S
W

3
as

ap
pl
ic
ab

le
S
O
10

;
S
O
11
;

S
O
13

re
qu

ire
d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

w
he

re
re
le
va
nt

S
O
1;

S
O
6;

C
ap

ac
ity

fa
lle
n
to

10
%

ab
ov
e
th
e
ta
rg
et

ca
pa

ci
ty

be
yo
nd

th
e
ye
ar
s
st
at
ed

LA
C
W
:

R
ec
yc
lin
g/

co
m
po

st
in
g
ra
te
s
at

le
as
t5

0%
by

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

P
la
nn

in
g

pe
rm

is
si
on

da
ta

D
at
a
on

flo
w
s
to
an

d
fro

m
K
C
C

E
A

C
S
W

4:
S
tra

te
gy

fo
r

W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
t

C
ap

ac
ity

1.
A
nn

ua
lc
ap

ac
ity

of
w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s.

S
O
10

;
S
O
11
;

S
O
13

20
20

/2
1,

55
%

by
20

25
/2
6
an

d
60

%
by

20
30

/3
1;

La
nd

fil
lin
g
no

m
or
e

th
an

2%
by

20
20

/2
1,

2%
in
20

25
/2
6
an

d
2%

in
20

30
/3
1

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
as
te

m
an
ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
of

w
as
te

ar
is
in
g
fro

m
K
en

t
C
&
IW

as
te
:

R
ec
yc
lin
g/

co
m
po

st
in
g
ra
te
s
at

le
as
t5

0%
by

12
2

E
xc
ep

th
ou

se
ho

ld
er

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020134

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 271



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

20
20

/2
1,

55
%

by
20

25
/2
6
an

d
60

%
by

20
30

/3
1

La
nd

fil
lin
g
no

m
or
e

th
an

15
%

by
20

20
/2
1,

12
.5
%

in
20

25
/2
6
an

d
10

%
in

20
30

/3
1

C
%
D
W
as
te

(N
on

-in
er
t):

R
ec
yc
lin
g

ra
te
s
at

le
as
t1

2%
by

20
20

/2
1,

13
%

by
20

25
/2
6
an

d
14

%
by

20
30

/3
1

C
om

po
st
in
g

ra
te
s

at
le
as
t1

%
by

20
20

/2
1,

1%
in

20
25

/2
6
an

d
1%

in
20

30
/3
1

La
nd

fil
lin
g
no

m
or
e

th
an

2%
by

20
20

/2
1,

1%
in
20

25
/2
6
an

d
0.
5%

in
20

30
/3
1

135
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 272



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

M
or
e
th
an

-1
0%

di
ffe

re
nc
e
in
th
e
an

nu
al

le
ve
ls
of

im
po

rts
an

d
ex
po

rts

To
nn

ag
es

of
w
as
te

ar
is
in
gs

fro
m

K
en

t
eq

ui
va
le
nt

to
th
e

to
nn

ag
es

of
w
as
te

m
an

ag
ed

w
ith
in

K
en

t

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
at
a
on

flo
w
s
to
an

d
fro

m
pe

rm
itt
ed

w
as
te

m
an
ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
in

K
en

t

K
C
C

E
A

2.
N
et

se
lf-
su
ffi
ci
en

cy
pl
us

pr
op

or
tio
n
of

Lo
nd

on
's

w
as
te
.

Sp
ar
e
co
ns
en

te
d
ca
pa

ci
ty

fa
lls

be
lo
w
fo
re
ca
st
ne

ed
fo
rK

en
tb

y
10

%
C
ap

ac
ity

fo
rr
es
id
ua

l
w
as
te

fro
m

Lo
nd

on

S
O
13

;
S
O
14

;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

10
0%

re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

S
w
al
e

Bo
ro
ug

h
C
ou

nc
il

C
S
W

5:
S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
rW

as
te

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
de

ci
si
on

s
re
su
lti
ng

in
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t(
ot
he

rt
ha

n
m
in
er
al
w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

re
st
or
at
io
n
th
ro
ug

h
th
e
la
nd

fil
lin
g
of

ha
za
rd
ou

s
flu
e
du

st
fro

m
E
ne

rg
y
fro

m
W
as
te

pl
an

ts
in
K
en

t(1
23
) )

on
or

ne
ar

th
e
S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
rW

as
te

th
at

co
ul
d

ad
ve
rs
el
y
af
fe
ct

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fr
eq

ui
re
d

ca
pa

ci
ty
to

se
rv
e
A
lli
ng

to
n

E
fW

.

12
3

N
ot
e
th
at

in
th
e
ev
en

tt
ha

tg
ov
er
nm

en
tp

ol
ic
y
ch
an

ge
s
su
ch

th
at

ha
za
rd
ou

s
flu
e
du

st
fro

m
E
ne

rg
y
fro

m
W
as
te

pl
an

ts
ca
n
no

lo
ng

er
be

la
nd

fil
le
d,

re
st
or
at
io
n
by

ot
he

rm
ea

ns
m
ay

be
po

ss
ib
le

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020136

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 273



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

2.
A
n
ap

pr
op

ria
te

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
gr
an

te
d
on

th
e

S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
rW

as
te

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
an

d
co
nd

iti
on

s

K
C
C

C
S
W

7:
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tf
or

N
on

-H
az
ar
do

us
W
as
te

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rn

on
-h
az
ar
do

us
w
as
te

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

S
O
11
;

S
O
13

;
S
O
14

;
gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

W
ith
in
10

%
of

th
e
ta
rg
et

m
ax
im
um

fo
rt
he

La
nd

fil
lin
g
of

no
m
or
e
th
an

5%
of

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g-

E
A
w
as
te

m
an
ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
y
da

ta

K
C
C

W
M
U

K
C
C

C
S
W

8:
R
ec
ov
er
y

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s
fo
r

N
on

-h
az
ar
do

us
W
as
te

1.
P
er
ce
nt
ag

e
of

w
as
te

m
an

ag
ed

in
K
en

td
iv
er
te
d

fro
m

la
nd

fil
l.

S
O
11

S
O
12

;
S
O
13

;
S
O
14

;

ho
us
eh

ol
d
w
as
te

la
nd

fil
l

di
ve
rs
io
n
ta
rg
et

at
or

be
yo
nd

th
e
da

te
s
st
at
ed

ho
us
eh

ol
d
w
as
te

by
20

20
/2
1

w
he

n
na

tio
na

l
da

ta
is

m
ad

e
pu

bl
ic
)

N
at
io
na

l
su
rv
ey

da
ta

E
A

S
uf
fic
ie
nt

ca
pa

ci
ty
fo
rn

et
se
lf
su
ffi
ci
en

cy
(im

po
rt

an
d
ex
po

rt
le
ve
ls
)f
or

no
n-
in
er
tm

an
ag

em
en

t
ca
pa

ci
ty
pl
us

10
%

M
ai
nt
ai
n
su
ffi
ci
en

t
vo
id
sp
ac
e
fo
r

re
si
du

al
w
as
te
to
th
e

en
d
of

th
e
pl
an

pe
rio

d
O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g

E
A
w
as
te

m
an
ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
y
da

ta

D
M

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

an
d

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

W
M
U

K
C
C

E
A

2.
R
em

ai
ni
ng

ca
pa

ci
ty
of

no
n-
ha

za
rd
ou

s
la
nd

fil
l.

3.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rE

fW
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

an
d
th
ei
rc

ap
ac
ity
.

In
su
ffi
ci
en

tc
ap

ac
ity

fo
r

no
n
ha

za
rd
ou

s
la
nd

fil
lt
o

m
an

ag
e
pr
ed

ic
te
d
le
ve
lo
f

Pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

gr
an

te
d
fo
ra

m
ax
im
um

of
no

n
ha

za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

43
7,
50

0
to
nn

es
of

137
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 274



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

no
n
ha

za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

re
co
ve
ry

fa
ci
lit
y

re
qu

iri
ng

fin
al
di
sp
os
al

pl
us

10
%

at
en

d
of

th
e

pl
an

pe
rio

d
10

0%
of

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

S
O
3;

S
O
11
;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

K
C
C
&

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
tho

riti
es

C
S
W

9:
N
on

- In
er
tW

as
te

La
nd

fil
li
n
K
en

t

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
de

ci
si
on

s
re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
in
er
tw

as
te

la
nd

fil
lin
g

S
O
14

;
S
O
15

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
W

10
:

D
ev
el
op

m
en

ta
t

C
lo
se
d
La

nd
fil
l

S
ite
s

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
on

cl
os
ed

B
io
de

gr
ad

ab
le
La

nd
fil
lS

ite
s

fo
rt
he

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
lis
te
d

in
P
ol
ic
y
C
S
W

10

S
O
10

;
S
O
11
;

S
O
15

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020138

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 275



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
3;

S
O
10

;

D
el
ay

in
re
st
or
at
io
n

tim
et
ab

le
of

la
nd

fil
ls
an

d
m
in
er
al
w
or
ki
ng

s
du

e
to

la
ck

of
av
ai
la
bl
e
su
ita
bl
e

fil
lm

at
er
ia
l

Ti
m
el
y
re
st
or
at
io
n
of

la
nd

fil
ls
an

d
m
in
er
al

w
or
ki
ng

w
he

re
th
ei
r

re
st
or
at
io
n
re
qu

ire
s

fil
lm

at
er
ia
l

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g-
w
he

n
na

tio
na

l
da

ta
av
ai
la
bl
e)

N
at
io
na

l
su
rv
ey

da
ta

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
an

d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

K
C
C

C
S
W

11
:

P
er
m
an

en
t

D
ep

os
it
of

In
er
t

W
as
te

1.
A
nn

ua
lv
ol
um

e
of

C
D
E

w
as
te

ar
is
in
gs
.

S
O
11
;

S
O
14

;
S
O
15

D
el
ay

in
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

f
m
in
er
al
ex
tra

ct
io
n
si
te
s

w
he

re
ph

as
in
g
re
qu

ire
s

pr
og

re
ss
iv
e
re
st
or
at
io
n.

M
or
e
th
an

10
%

de
fic
it
in

th
e
ac
tu
al
ca
pa

ci
ty

S
ui
ta
bl
e
si
te
s

al
lo
ca
te
d
in
th
e

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g-

N
at
io
na

l
su
rv
ey

da
ta

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
an

d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

K
C
C

2.
An

nu
al
C
D
E
w
as
te
re
cy
cl
in
g

ca
pa

ci
ty
.

pr
ov
id
ed

at
or

be
yo
nd

th
e

da
te
s
st
at
ed

in
C
S
W

8

W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
n
to

m
ai
nt
ai
n
th
e

m
in
im
um

ca
pa

ci
tie
s

st
at
ed

in
C
S
W

8
th
ro
ug

ho
ut

th
e
P
la
n

pe
rio

d

w
he

n
na

tio
na

l
da

ta
av
ai
la
bl
e)

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

3.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rp

er
m
an

en
t

de
po

si
to

fi
ne

rt
w
as
te
.

139
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 276



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
10

;
S
O
3;

S
O
14

;

C
ap

ac
ity

fa
lle
n
to

90
%

of
ca
pa

ci
ty
fo
rn

et
se
lf

su
ffi
ci
en

cy

A
nn

ua
ln
et

se
lf-
su
ffi
ci
en

cy
in

ha
za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

E
A
da

ta
on

ha
za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

m
ov
em

en
ts

K
C
C

E
A

1.
C
ap

ac
ity

of
ha

za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s.

C
S
W

12
:

Id
en

tif
yi
ng

S
ite
s

fo
rH

az
ar
do

us
W
as
te

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lr
el
ev
an

tp
ol
ic
y

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

K
C
C
&

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
tho

riti
es

2.
P
la
nn

in
g
de

ci
si
on

s
re
su
lti
ng

in
pe

rm
itt
ed

bu
ilt
ha

za
rd
ou

s
w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tf
ac
ili
tie
s

cr
ite
ria

in
C
S
W

6
gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

S
ite
s

id
en

tif
ie
d
in

an
ad

op
te
d

di
st
ric
tl
oc
al

pl
an

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
tho

riti
es

C
S
W

13
:

R
em

ed
ia
tio
n
of

Br
ow

nf
ie
ld
La

nd

1.
Te
m
po

ra
ry

w
as
te

re
la
te
d

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
on

br
ow

nf
ie
ld
la
nd

th
at

fa
ci
lit
at
e
its

re
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

S
O
4;

S
O
14

;
S
O
15

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
3;

S
O
14

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
W

14
:

D
is
po

sa
lo
f

D
re
dg

in
gs

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rt
he

di
sp
os
al
of

dr
ed

gi
ng

s.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020140

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 277



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
1;

S
O
3;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e
W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
n

S
ite
s

id
en

tif
ie
d
in

th
e
W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
n

K
C
C

C
S
W

15
:

W
as
te
w
at
er

D
ev
el
op

m
en

t

1.
W
as
te
w
at
er

tre
at
m
en

t
w
or
ks
,s
ew

ag
e
sl
ud

ge
tre

at
m
en

ta
nd

di
sp
os
al

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

.
S
O
12

;
S
O
14

;
gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
W

17
:

N
uc
le
ar

W
as
te

Tr
ea

tm
en

ta
nd

S
to
ra
ge

at
D
un

ge
ne

ss

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rs

to
ra
ge

an
d/
or

m
an

ag
em

en
to

fr
ad

io
ac
tiv
e

w
as
te
in
th
e
lic
en

se
d
ar
ea

at
D
un

ge
ne

ss
.

S
O
12

;
S
O
14

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
3;

S
O
12

;
S
O
14

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

C
S
W

18
:

N
on

-n
uc
le
ar

In
du

st
ry

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
fo
rf
ac
ili
tie
s

m
an

ag
in
g
no

n-
nu

cl
ea

rL
LW

an
d
V
LL
W

w
as
te
.

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

R
ad

io
ac
tiv
e
Lo

w
Le

ve
l(
LL
W
)

W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
t

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

w
ith
ou

tt
he

re
qu

ire
d

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d

pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

P
la
nn

in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

K
C
C

2.
M
on

ito
rin

g
of
w
as
te
m
at
er
ia
l

so
ur
ce
.

pr
ov
id
in
g
th
e

re
qu

ire
d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

141
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 278



M
on

ito
rin

g
Sc

he
du

le
:M

in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

Sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

St
ra
te
gy

R
el
ev
an

t
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
3;
S
O
5

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

10
0%

re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an
O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct
/

B
or
ou

gh
C
ou

nc
il
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

C
S
M

5:
La

nd
-w
on

M
in
er
al

S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
m
in
er
al
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith
in
Ke

nt
M
SA

s.
w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
10

0%
re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an
O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct
/

B
or
ou

gh
C
ou

nc
il

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

2.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
m
in
er
al
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith
in
th
e

se
pa

ra
te

M
C
A
ad

ja
ce
nt

to
th
e
S
tra

te
gi
c
S
ite

fo
r

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
M
in
er
al
s
at
M
ed

w
ay

W
or
ks
,

H
ol
bo

ro
ug

h.

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
10

0%
re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct
/

B
or
ou

gh
C
ou

nc
il

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

3.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
m
in
er
al
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

itt
ed

on
si
te
s
fo
r

m
in
er
al
w
or
ki
ng

w
ith
in
th
e

pl
an

pe
rio

d
id
en

tif
ie
d
in

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e
M
in
er
al

S
ite
s
P
la
n

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

M
in
er
al
Si
te
s

P
la
n

A
pp

en
di
x
C
an

d
in
th
e

M
in
er
al
s
S
ite
s
P
la
n.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020142

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 279



R
el
ev
an

t
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

M
S
A
s
no

tr
ev
ie
w
ed

in
an

y
on

e
ye
ar

Th
e
ne

ed
to

re
vi
se

th
e
bo

un
da

rie
s
of

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
K
C
C

K
C
C

4.
R
ev
ie
w
of

M
in
er
al
s

Sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

Ar
ea

s
(M

SA
s)

th
e
M
S
A
s
ha

s
be

en
re
vi
ew

ed
at

le
as
t

on
ce

ea
ch

ye
ar

S
O
1;

S
O
2;
S
O
7

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
10

0%
re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

C
S
M

6:
S
af
eg

ua
rd
ed

W
ha

rv
es

an
d

R
ai
lD

ep
ot
s

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
m
in
er
al
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith
in
25

0m
of

sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
m
in
er
al
s

tra
ns
po

rta
tio
n
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
lis
te
d

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

ob
je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e
M
in
er
al
s

S
ite
s
P
la
n

in
P
ol
ic
y
C
S
M

6(
12
4)
an

d
al
lo
ca
te
d
si
te
s
in
th
e

M
in
er
al
S
ite
s
P
la
n
(o
th
er

th
an

th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ts

lis
te
d
in
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
8
cr
ite
ria

1)

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
6;
S
O
7

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

10
0%

re
fu
sa
lf
or

pr
op

os
al
s
w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

K
C
C
&

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

C
S
M

7:
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

O
th
er

M
in
er
al

P
la
nt

In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
ot
he

r
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tp

er
m
itt
ed

on
,

or
w
ith
in
25

0m
of
,s
ite
s

sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

fo
ro

th
er

m
in
er
al
pl
an

ti
nf
ra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

12
4

B
ou

nd
ar
ie
s
of

th
e
sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
ar
e
ar
e
sh
ow

n
in
C
ha

pt
er

9.
1
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s
-S

af
eg

ua
rd
ed

W
ha

rv
es

an
d
R
ai
lI
m
po

rta
tio
n
D
ep

ot

143
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 280



R
el
ev
an

t
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
1;

S
O
4;

S
O
12

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

10
0%

re
fu
sa
lf
or

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

A
do

pt
io
n
of

th
e
W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
n

D
is
tri
ct
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

C
S
W

16
:

S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

of
E
xi
st
in
g

W
as
te

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
no

n-
w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
t

us
es

pe
rm

itt
ed

on
,o
rw

ith
in

25
0m

of
,s
ite
s
w
ith

pe
rm

an
en

tp
la
nn

in
g

pe
rm

is
si
on

fo
rw

as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
tu
se
s
an

d
si
te
s

al
lo
ca
te
d
in
th
e
W
as
te
Si
te
s

P
la
n

S
O
3;
S
O
5

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at

do
es

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

K
C
C

D
M

7:
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

M
in
er
al

R
es
ou

rc
es

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
in
co
m
pa

tib
le
no

n-
m
in
er
al

de
ve
lo
pm

en
tp

er
m
itt
ed

in
m
in
er
al
sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
ar
ea

s
(a
s
de

fin
ed

in
P
ol
ic
y
C
S
M

5)
.

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y

cr
ite
ria

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

S
O
3;
S
O
5

Fa
ilu
re

to
ad

op
tS

P
D

by
of

en
d
20

16
S
P
D
ad

op
te
d
by

of
en

d
of

20
16

20
15

-2
01

7
K
C
C

K
C
C

2.
A
do

pt
io
n
of

a
S
up

pl
em

en
ta
ry

P
la
nn

in
g

D
oc
um

en
t(
SP

D
)s
et
tin
g
ou

t
fu
rth

er
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
ab

ou
tt
he

ap
pr
oa

ch
to

M
in
er
al
s

S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020144

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 281



R
el
ev
an

t
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

S
O
3

An
al
lo
ca
tio
n
in
a
lo
ca
l

P
la
n
th
at

do
es

no
t

m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

10
0%

of
lo
ca
lp
la
n

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

(e
xc
ep

tc
rit
er
io
n
7)

N
o
C
ha

ng
e

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

pl
an

ni
ng

po
lic
y

de
ci
si
on

s

D
is
tri
ct

A
ut
ho

rit
ie
s

an
d
K
C
C

3.
A
llo
ca
tio
ns

in
ad

op
te
d
Lo

ca
l

P
la
ns

fo
rd

ev
el
op

m
en

t
in
co
m
pa

tib
le
w
ith

th
e

pr
es
um

pt
io
n
to

sa
fe
gu

ar
d

m
in
er
al
s
w
ith
in
m
in
er
al

sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
ar
ea

s
(a
s
de

fin
ed

by
C
S
M

5)
.

(e
xc
ep

tc
rit
er
io
n
7)

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at

do
es

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

K
C
C

D
M

8:
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

M
in
er
al
s

M
an

ag
em

en
t,

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n

1.
D
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
in
co
m
pa

tib
le
no

n-
m
in
er
al
s

or
w
as
te

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm

itt
ed

w
ith
in
,o

ri
n
th
e

vi
ci
ni
ty
of
,e

xi
st
in
g

S
O
4;

S
O
7;

S
O
12

;

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y

cr
ite
ria

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
m
in
er
al
s

&
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
t

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

m
an

ag
em

en
t,
tra

ns
po

rta
tio
n

or
w
as
te

m
an

ag
em

en
t

fa
ci
lit
ie
s.

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
4;

S
O
7;

S
O
12

;

An
al
lo
ca
tio
n
in
a
lo
ca
l

P
la
n
th
at

do
es

no
t

m
ee

ta
ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

(e
xc
ep

tc
rit
er
io
n
2)

w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e
C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il

10
0%

of
lo
ca
lp
la
n

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

m
ee

tin
g

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

(e
xc
ep

tc
rit
er
io
n
2)

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

D
is
tri
ct

A
ut
ho

rit
y

pl
an

ni
ng

po
lic
y

de
ci
si
on

s

D
is
tri
ct

A
ut
ho

rit
ie
s

an
d
K
C
C

2.
A
llo
ca
tio
ns

in
ad

op
te
d
Lo

ca
l

P
la
ns

co
ns
id
er
ed

in
co
m
pa

tib
le

w
ith

th
e
pr
es
um

pt
io
n
to

sa
fe
gu

ar
d
m
in
er
al
s
an

d
w
as
te

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
fro

m
di
re
ct
lo
ss

an
d/
or

w
ith
in
25

0m
of

a
sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
fa
ci
lit
y
w
he

re
th
er
e
w
ill
be

th
e

hi
gh

pr
ob

ab
ili
ty
of
in
co
m
pa

tib
ili
ty

th
at

m
ay

le
ad

to
th
e
la
w
fu
l

op
er
at
io
n
of

th
e
sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d

145
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 282



R
el
ev
an

t
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
In
di
ca
to
r(
s)

Po
lic
y

fa
ci
lit
y
to

ce
as
e
or

be
co
m
pr
om

is
ed

su
ch

th
at
w
ill
af
fe
ct

its
la
w
fu
lo
pe

ra
tio
na

lv
ia
bi
lit
y

S
O
3;
S
O
5

O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

pe
rm

itt
ed

th
at

do
es

10
0%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g

O
n-
go

in
g

(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)

K
C
C
an

d/
or

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
ity

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct

au
th
or
iti
es

D
M

9:
P
rio

r
E
xt
ra
ct
io
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
in

A
dv
an

ce
of

S
ur
fa
ce

D
ev
el
op

m
en

t

1.
P
la
nn

in
g
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

gr
an

te
d
/d
ec
is
io
ns

re
su
lti
ng

in
,o

ri
nc
or
po

ra
tin
g,

m
in
er
al

ex
tra

ct
io
n
in
ad

va
nc
e
of

bu
ilt
de

ve
lo
pm

en
tw

he
re

th
e

re
so
ur
ce
s
w
ou

ld
ot
he

rw
is
e

be
pe

rm
an

en
tly

st
er
ili
se
d.

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y

cr
ite
ria

(w
ith

an
ob

je
ct
io
n
fro

m
th
e

C
ou

nt
y
C
ou

nc
il
in
th
e

ca
se

of
D
is
tri
ct

de
ci
si
on

s)

al
lp
ol
ic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020146

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 283



A
pp

ro
ac
h
to

th
e
M
on

ito
rin

g
of

D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
ie
s

8.
0.
10

Th
e
P
la
n'
s
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tp

ol
ic
ie
s
w
ill
be

m
on

ito
re
d
us
in
g
th
e
re
le
va
nt

pl
an

ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

da
ta

as
an

in
di
ca
to
r.
Th

e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
ea

ch
po

lic
y
w
ill
be

m
on

ito
re
d
on

an
an

nu
al
ba

si
s
an

d
re
co
rd
ed

in
th
e
A
M
R
in
ac
co
rd
an

ce
w
ith

th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
st
ra
te
gy
:

Ta
rg
et
:1

00
%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
la
pp

lic
ab

le
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

.T
o
in
cl
ud

e
th
e
su
bm

is
si
on

of
th
e

re
qu

ire
d
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
w
he

re
re
le
va
nt
.

Tr
ig
ge

r:
O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
re
le
va
nt

po
lic
y
cr
ite
ria

an
d
re
qu

ire
m
en

ts
,u

nl
es
s
cl
ea

rly
ju
st
ifi
ed

.

8.
0.
11

P
ol
ic
y
D
M

2
ap

pl
ie
s
to

bo
th

pr
op

os
al
s
fo
rm

in
er
al
s
an

d
w
as
te

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ta

nd
th
e
id
en

tif
ic
at
io
n
of

si
te
s
in
th
e
K
en

tM
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
ns
:

Ta
rg
et
:1

00
%

of
ap

pl
ic
at
io
ns
/p

ro
po

se
d
si
te

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

m
ee

tin
g
al
la
pp

lic
ab

le
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

gr
an

te
d
pl
an

ni
ng

pe
rm

is
si
on

/a
llo
ca
te
d

in
th
e
M
in
er
al
s
or

W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
n.

To
in
cl
ud

e
th
e
su
bm

is
si
on

of
th
e
re
qu

ire
d
po

lic
y
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
w
he

re
re
le
va
nt
.

Tr
ig
ge

r:
O
ne

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
pe

rm
itt
ed

/a
do

pt
ed

si
te

al
lo
ca
tio
n
th
at

do
es

no
tm

ee
ta

ll
po

lic
y
cr
ite
ria

,u
nl
es
s
cl
ea

rly
ju
st
ifi
ed

.

Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
Po

lic
y

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
M

2:
E
nv
iro

nm
en

ta
la
nd

La
nd

sc
ap

e
S
ite
s
of

In
te
rn
at
io
na

l,
N
at
io
na

la
nd

Lo
ca
lI
m
po

rta
nc
e

A
do

pt
io
n
of

M
in
er
al
an

d
W
as
te

S
ite
s
P
la
ns

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

3:
E
co
lo
gi
ca
lI
m
pa

ct
A
ss
es
sm

en
t

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

4:
G
re
en

B
el
t

S
O
3;

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

5:
H
er
ita
ge

A
ss
et
s

147
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 284



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
Po

lic
y

S
O
3;

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

6:
H
is
to
ric

E
nv
iro

nm
en

tA
ss
es
sm

en
t

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

10
:W

at
er

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
4;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

11
:H

ea
lth

an
d
A
m
en

ity

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
12

;S
O
14

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

12
:C

um
ul
at
iv
e
Im

pa
ct

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
6;

S
O
7;

S
O
10

;
S
O
12

;S
O
14

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

13
:T

ra
ns
po

rta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

S
O
3;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
M

14
:P

ub
lic

R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

M
in
er
al
s/
w
as
te

op
er
at
or
s

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
7;

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M
15

:S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
of
Tr
an

sp
or
tI
nf
ra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
4;

S
O
9;

S
O
11
;S

O
13

;
S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

M
in
er
al
s/
w
as
te

op
er
at
or
s

D
M

16
:I
nf
or
m
at
io
n
R
eq

ui
re
d
In

S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

S
O
3;

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
M

18
:L

an
d
S
ta
bi
lit
y

M
in
er
al
s/
w
as
te

op
er
at
or
s

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
4;

S
O
9;

S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
M

19
:R

es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

M
in
er
al
s/
w
as
te

op
er
at
or
s

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020148

8
M
an

ag
in
g
an

d
M
on

ito
rin

g
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

th
e
S
tra

te
gy

Page 285



Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
Po

lic
y

S
O
1;

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
6;

S
O
9
S
O
10

;
S
O
11
;S

O
12

;S
O
15

D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

20
:A

nc
ill
ar
y
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t

S
O
3;

S
O
4;

S
O
5;

S
O
9

K
C
C
an

d
di
st
ric
ta

ut
ho

rit
y
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s

K
C
C

D
is
tri
ct
au

th
or
iti
es

D
M

21
:I
nc
id
en

ta
lM

in
er
al
E
xt
ra
ct
io
n

8.
0.
12

Th
e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tM
an

ag
em

en
tp

ol
ic
ie
s
D
M

17
an

d
D
M

22
w
ill
be

m
on

ito
re
d
as

fo
llo
w
s:

Li
nk

to
St
ra
te
gi
c

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
Tr
ig
ge

r
Ta
rg
et

W
he

n?
H
ow

?
W
ho

?
Po

lic
y

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
4

O
ne

un
im
pl
em

en
te
d
le
ga

l
ag

re
em

en
tw

ith
in
3
ye
ar
s
of

co
ns
en

tb
ei
ng

im
pl
em

en
te
d

10
0%

of
P
la
nn

in
g
O
bl
ig
at
io
ns

ag
re
ed

an
d
im
pl
em

en
te
d
on

a
ca
se

by
ca
se

ba
si
s

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

M
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

17
:P

la
nn

in
g

O
bl
ig
at
io
ns

S
O
2;

S
O
3;

S
O
4

A
ny

al
le
ge

d
br
ea

ch
es

be
in
g

re
so
lv
ed

w
ith
in
6
m
on

th
s
of

de
te
ct
io
n

10
0%

of
ca
se
s
re
po

rte
d
to

th
e

R
eg

ul
at
io
n
C
om

m
itt
ee

on
a

qu
ar
te
rly

ba
si
s

O
n-
go

in
g
(a
nn

ua
l

m
on

ito
rin

g)
D
M

de
ci
si
on

s
K
C
C

D
M

22
:

E
nf
or
ce
m
en

t

149
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
8
M
anaging

and
M
onitoring

the
D
elivery

ofthe
S
trategy

Page 286



9 Adopted Policies Maps

9.1 Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Transportation Depots

Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Transportation Adopted Policies Maps(1)

Site CodeOperatorSite Name

AHansonAllington Rail Depot

BBrettSevington Rail Depot

CTarmacHothfield Works Rail Depot

DClubbEast Peckham Rail Depot

EBrett & TarmacRidham Dock

FLafargeJohnsons Wharf

GAggregate Industries & BrettRobin's Wharf, Northfleet

HClubbClubbs Marine Terminal

JBrettEast Quay, Whitstable

KStema Shipping LtdRed Lion Wharf

LBrettRamsgate Port

MBrettDunkirk Jetty, Dover Western Docks

NLafargeWharf 42, Northfleet (including Northfleet
Cement Wharf)

OAggregate IndustriesSheerness

PCemexNorthfleet Wharf

QFleetmix LtdOld Sun Wharf

1. Excludes Medway Wharves and Rail Depots.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020150

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 287



Site A: Allington Rail Depot

Site B: Sevington Rail Depot

151
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 288



Site C: Hothfield Works

Site D: East Peckham

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020152

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 289



Site E: Ridham Dock

Site F: Johnsons Wharf

153
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 290



Site G: Robins Wharf, Northfleet

Site H: Clubbs Marine Terminal

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020154

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 291



Site J: East Quay, Whitstable

East Quay Whitstable Harbour

(C) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved 100019238, 2015

¯
1:3000

0 40 80

Metres

G

AS

SE

SH

MA
CA

TW

DO
SW

TM

ME
THSWGRDA

ME

¯

Legend
Area to be Safeguarded 

at A6

Site K: Red Lion Wharf

155
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 292



Site L: Ramsgate Port

Site M: Dunkirk Jetty, Dover Western Docks

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020156

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 293



Site N: Wharf 42, Northfleet

Site O: Sheerness

157
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 294



Site P: Northfleet Wharf

Site Q: Old Sun Wharf

(C) Crown Copyright. All rights reserved 100019238, 2015

¯
1:2500

0 30 60
Metres

G

AS

SE

SH

MA
CA

TW

DO
SW

TM

THSW
ME

GRDA ME

¯

Legend
Area to be Safeguarded 

at A6

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020158

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 295



9.2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas

9.2.1 The following Policies Maps display the Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs)
in Kent. The maps cover the following authority's areas in Kent:

Ashford Borough Council

Canterbury City Council

Dartford Borough Council

Dover District Council

Gravesham Borough Council

Maidstone Borough Council

Sevenoaks District Council

Shepway District Council

Swale Borough Council

Thanet District Council

Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

159
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 296



Ashford Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020160

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 297



Canterbury Mineral Safeguarding Areas

161
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 298



Dartford Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020162

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 299



Dover Mineral Safeguarding Areas

163
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 300



Gravesham Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020164

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 301



Maidstone Mineral Safeguarding Areas

165
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 302



Sevenoaks Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020166

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 303



Shepway Mineral Safeguarding Areas

167
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 304



Swale Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020168

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 305



Thanet Mineral Safeguarding Areas

169
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 306



Tonbridge & Malling Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020170

9
A
do

pt
ed

P
ol
ic
ie
s
M
ap

s

Page 307



Tunbridge Wells Mineral Safeguarding Areas

171
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
9
A
dopted

P
olicies

M
aps

Page 308



Appendix A: Glossary

A

Measures to bring land up to the required standard following
restoration which enables it to be used for the intended after-use.
The aftercare period normally extends for 5 years following

Aftercare

compliance with restoration conditions but may be extended
where agreed between the applicant and the minerals planning
authority.

The use to which a quarry or landfill site is put following its
restoration, such as forestry, agriculture, recreation or biodiversity.

After-use

Inert particulate matter that is suitable for use (on its own or with
the addition of cement or bituminous material) in construction as
concrete, mortar, finishes, road stone, asphalt, or drainage
course, or for use as constructional fill or railway ballast.

Aggregate

An annual survey undertaken by the MPAs in England to gather
data on aggregate sales and reserves on behalf of the regional
aggregate working parties. Each regional aggregate working

Aggregate
Monitoring Survey

party prepares an annual report which includes the results of the
aggregate monitoring survey and which is submitted to the
Government. The data from the aggregate monitoring survey is
also used by the MPAs in their AMRs and their LAAs.

Rubble, hardcore and soil from construction and demolition
projects can often be re-used on-site. Alternatively it can be taken
to purpose-built facilities for crushing, screening and re-sale.
There are also temporary facilities at some quarries and landfill
sites where material can be recovered for re-sale or use on-site.

Aggregates and
soils recycling

This mostly covers animal slurry/by products and organic waste,
but also scrap metals, plastics, batteries, oils, tyres, etc. The
regulations for this waste stream have been altered meaning

Agricultural waste

farmers can no longer manage all of their own waste within the
farm. The agricultural waste regulations affect whether or not
waste can be burnt, buried, stored, used on the farm or sent
elsewhere.

Amenity is a broad concept and is not specifically defined in
Planning legislation. It is a matter of interpretation by the local
planning authority and is usually understood to be the pleasant

Amenity

or normally satisfactory aspects of a location which contribute to
its overall character and the enjoyment of residents, business
users and visitors. A land-use that is not productive agriculture,
forestry or industrial development. This can include formal and
informal recreation and nature conservation.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020172

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 309



A natural process comprising the breakdown of organic material
in the absence of air. It is carried out in an enclosed vessel and
produces methane that powers an engine used to produce

Anaerobic
Digestion (AD)

electricity. The useful outcomes of AD are electricity, heat, and
the solid material left over called the digestate. Both the heat and
the electricity can be sold if there is a market and the digestate
can either be sold or used for agricultural purposes (landspread).
Its use is currently small-scale and it can only be used for part
of the waste stream e.g. sewage sludge, agricultural waste and
some organic municipal and industrial waste.

The AMR documents progress in meeting the milestones of the
adopted Minerals and Waste Development Scheme and will
monitor the impact of policies when the plans are adopted.

Annual Monitoring
Report (AMR)

Related to Kent’s share of the regional South East Plan's waste
management capacity to be provided and Kent's share of the
regional SEP's aggregate provision. The regional planning

Apportionment

function has been repealed by the Localism Act 2011 and the
Regional Plan has been substantially revoked (certain habitat
conservation elements still being in force) to date.

This phase follows exploration when the existence of oil or gas
has been proven, and the operator needs further information
about the extent of the deposit or its production characteristics
to establish whether it can be economically exploited.

Appraisal of
hydrocarbon
extraction

Broad areas where certainty of knowledge of mineral resources
may be less than in other types of site allocations. Within these
areas, planning permissions could be granted to meet any
shortfall in mineral supply, if suitable applications are made. AoS
are no longer being used in strategic planning in Kent.

Area of Search
(AoS)

B

A Becquerel is a unit of radioactivity, representing one
disintegration per second.

Becquerel

Any waste that is capable of undergoing natural decomposition,
such as food and garden waste, paper and cardboard.

Biodegradable
waste

The variety of all life on earth (mammals, birds, fish, invertebrates,
plants, etc).

Biodiversity

A plan that sets objectives and actions for the conservation of
biodiversity, with measurable targets.

Biodiversity Action
Plan (BAP)

Site previously used for or affected by development. It may be
abandoned or in a derelict condition.

Brownfield site

173
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 310



A zone or area that separates minerals and/or waste
management facilities from other land-uses to safeguard local
amenity.

Buffer zone

A naturally formed deposit where the sand grains are rounded
in shape. The individual grains tend towards being
equidimensional and the particle size variation is low. When soft

Building sand or
soft sand

sands are mixed with cement the mixture (called mortar) can be
easily smoothed by hand to facilitate brick and block laying in
construction.

C

The call for sites is an early opportunity for individuals and
organisations to suggest sites within the administrative area of
a local planning authority which could be identified for

Call for sites

development in a local plan. The call for sites exercise does not
in itself determine whether a site should be allocated for
development. This is determined by the local planning authority
and the sites promoted in the call for sites exercise have no status
until they are identified in an adopted local plan.

This is also known as a Lawful Development Certificate. These
certificates exist in two forms:

Certificate of
Lawful Use

1. a determination by a local planning authority as to whether
an unauthorised development or use has become lawful
through the passage of time, and can be continued without
the need for planning permission

2. a determination by a local planning authority as to whether
a proposed use or building can occur or be built without the
need for planning permission

A technology producing power (electricity) while capturing the
usable heat produced in the process.

Combined Heat
and Power

Waste from premises used mainly for trade, business, sport,
recreation or entertainment, as defined under Section 5.75(7) of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. For example, it is likely
to include timber, metal, paints, textiles, chemicals, oils and food
waste, as well as paper, card, plastic and glass.

Commercial waste

The breakdown of plant matter by the action of micro-organisms
and other organisms into usable end-products. It is an important
method of processing organic waste because it reduces the
amount of potentially polluting waste going to landfill or
incineration.

Composting

In conformity means being in compliance.Conformity

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020174

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 311



Unwanted material arising from construction projects. It includes
vegetation and soils from land clearance, discarded materials
and off-cuts from building sites, road schemes and landscaping
projects. It is mostly made up of stone, concrete, rubble and soils
but may include timber, metal and glass.

Constructionwaste
(also see
demolition waste)

Critical load or level as the threshold below which emissions from
a facility or changes in road emissions can be considered to be
sufficiently small as to be essentially trivial whether alone or in
combination with other projects and plans.

Critical load or
Level

D

This is also called non-hazardous waste. This is a waste that will
biodegrade or decompose, releasing environmental pollutants.
For example this includes wood and wood products, paper,
plasterboard, cardboard, vegetable matter, food processing
wastes and vegetation.

Degradable or
putrescible waste

This is also called construction waste. This is a waste arising
from any development, redevelopment, or demolition of existing
schemes. It includes vegetation and soils from land clearance,

Demolition waste

discarded materials and off-cuts from building sites, road
schemes and landscaping projects. It is mostly made up of stone,
concrete, rubble and soils but may include timber, metal and
glass.

The Kent MWLP forms part of the statutory Development Plan
for Kent together with the adopted local plans prepared by the
Kent district planning authorities. The development plan has

Development Plan

statutory status as the starting point for decision making. Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and
Section 70(2) of the TCPA 1990 require that planning applications
should be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

E

The use of waste to generate energy (power and/or heat) or
produce a gas that can be used as a fuel including the processing
of waste to produce a fuel suitable for use in such plants.

Energy from
Waste (EfW)

The process by which the impact on the environment of a
proposed development can be assessed. Certain types and scale
of waste proposals will require an Environmental Statement (ES)

Environmental
Impact
Assessment (EIA)

to be prepared. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended) and the
Planning Practice Guidance on Environmental Impact
Assessment set out the circumstances when planning
applications will be required to be accompanied by an EIA. The
information contained in the EIA will be taken into account when
local planning authorities determine such proposals.

175
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 312



These are defined by Regulation 8 of the Habitat Regulations
2010 and originate from a list of designated areas produced by
the European Community which can be amended. These include

European Sites

fully designated Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Sites
of Community Importance (SCIs). Also included in the list of such
sites are: sites hosting a priority habitat or species during the
period in which the EC is consulting the UK Government as to
its inclusion in the list of SCIs and pending a decision of the
Council of the EU as to its inclusion, classified Special Protection
Areas (SPAs), sites submitted by the UK government or the EC
as eligible for identification as an SCI until such time as it is
placed on the list of SCIs (usually referred to as candidate SACs).

In England, as a matter of Government policy, the following sites
should be given the same protection as statutory European Sites:
a potential SPA, a possible or proposed SAC, a listed or a
proposed Ramsar site, and sites identified or required as
compensatory measures for adverse effects on (statutory)
European Sites, SPAs, SAC and listed or proposed Ramsar sites.

The process in which all local plans are subject to an independent
examination by a planning inspector before they can be adopted.

Examination in
Public

Sites of small-scale waste management activities that do not
require a licence or permit from the Environment Agency. They
still require planning permission before they can operate and are
subject to general rules (e.g. types and quantities of waste).

Exempt sites

The exploratory phase seeks to acquire geological data to
establish whether hydrocarbons are present. It may involve
seismic surveys, exploratory drilling and in the case of shale gas,
(possibly) hydraulic fracturing.

Exploratory phase
of hydrocarbon
extraction

G

A technology that converts carbon containing material into gas
(mostly methane). The gas can either be used as a substitute
for natural gas or used to power electricity generation.

Gasification

The variety of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms,
together with the natural processes that shape the landscape.

Geodiversity

This is a secure facility which the Government is working towards
finding a location for and which will be used for either the
long-term storage or disposal of higher-activity radioactive wastes.

Geological
Disposal Facility
(GDF)

Site selection is a process to determine sites where the geological
conditions are suitable to contain the wastes and to find a site
where the local community are in agreement with the
development of a GDF.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020176

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 313



The scientific study of landforms and the processes that shape
them.

Geomorphological

A becquerel is a unit of radioactivity, representing one
disintegration per second. A gigabecquerel is 1,000 becquerels.

Gigabecquerel

Gases such as carbon dioxide and methane which when their
atmospheric concentrations exceed certain levels can contribute
to climate change by forming a barrier in the earth’s atmosphere
that traps the sun’s heat.

Greenhouse gas

A measure of output i.e. the value of the goods and services
produced in the economy. It is primarily used to monitor the
performance of the national economy and is now the measure

Gross Value
Added (GVA)

preferred by the Office for National Statistics to measure the
overall economic wellbeing of an area. While the Gross Domestic
Product and the GVA are both measures of value, the GVA
excludes taxes and subsidies.

Water contained within underground strata (aquifers) of various
types across the country. Groundwater is usually of high quality
and often requires little treatment prior to use. It is however

Groundwater

vulnerable to contamination from pollutants. Aquifer remediation
is difficult, prolonged and expensive and therefore the prevention
of pollution is important.

H

Controlled waste that is dangerous or difficult to treat, keep, store
or dispose of, so that special provision is required for dealing
with it. Hazardous wastes are the more dangerous wastes and

Hazardous waste

include toxic wastes, acids, alkaline solutions, asbestos,
fluorescent tubes, batteries, oil, fly ash (flue ash), industrial
solvents, oily sludges, pesticides, pharmaceutical compounds,
photographic chemicals, waste oils, wood preservatives. If
improperly handled, treated or disposed of, a waste that, by virtue
of its composition, carries the risk of death, injury or impairment
of health, to humans or animals, the pollution of waters, or could
have an unacceptable environmental impact. It should be used
only to describe wastes that contain sufficient of these materials
to render the waste as a whole hazardous within the definition
given above.

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified
as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in
planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage
asset includes designated heritage assets and assets identified
by the local planning authority (including local listing).

Heritage assets

Areas of undeveloped coastline that are managed to conserve
their natural beauty and, where appropriate, to improve
accessibility for visitors.

Heritage Coast

177
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 314



One of four broad categories of radioactive waste, HLW are
wastes in which the temperature may rise significantly as a result
of their radioactivity, so that this factor has to be considered in
designing storage and disposal facilities.

High Level Wastes
(HLW)

This is also known as Municipal Solid Waste (MSW). This is a
waste from a domestic property, caravan, residential home or
from premises forming part of a university or school or other
educational establishment and premises forming part of a hospital
or nursing home.

Household waste

I

In carrying out a Habitat Regulations Assessment it is important
to determine the various ways in which land-use plans can impact
on European Sites by following the pathways along which

Impact pathways

development can be connected with European Sites. Impact
pathways are routes by which a change in activity associated
with a development can lead to an effect upon a European Site.

Minerals imported through wharves and rail depots. In Kent this
includes Marine Dredged Aggregates, crushed rock, sand and
gravel, secondary aggregates and cement.

Imported minerals

Waste from any of the following premises: factory, provision of
transport services (land, water and air), purpose of connection
of the supply of gas, water, electricity, provision of sewerage
services, provision of postal or telecommunication services.

Industrial waste

Waste that will not biodegrade or decompose (or will only do so
at a very slow rate). Types of materials include uncontaminated
topsoil, subsoil, clay, sand, brickwork, stone, silica and glass.

Inert waste

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste, ILW are wastes
with radioactivity levels exceeding the upper boundaries of LLW
that are retrieved and processed to make them passively safe
and then stored pending the availability of the GDF.

Intermediate Level
Wastes (ILW)

L

A stock of mineral reserves with planning permission for their
winning and working.

Landbank

The deposition of waste onto hollow or void space in the land,
usually below the level of the surrounding land or original ground
level in such a way that pollution or harm to the environment is
prevented. Former mineral workings have historically been used
for this purpose.

Landfill

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020178

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 315



A by-product from the digestion by anaerobic bacteria (rotting)
of biodegradable matter present in waste deposited on landfilled
sites. The gas is predominantly methane together with carbon
dioxide and trace concentrations of a range of other vapours and
gases.

Landfill gas

Mineral extracted from a quarry situated on the mainland, as
opposed to off-shore mineral supplies such as MDAs.

Land-wonminerals

A public report prepared annually by MPAs to gather together
up-to-date information on aggregate sales and reserves from
land-won sources together with data on secondary and recycled
aggregates and mineral imports.

Local Aggregate
Assessment (LAA)

The timetable for the preparation of the local plans.Local
Development
Scheme

Any geological or geomophological sites, excluding SSSIs, that
are considered worthy of protection for their educational,
research, historical or aesthetic importance. They are broadly

Local Geological
Sites

analogous to non-statutory wildlife sites and are often referred
to locally by the same name. They can include important teaching
sites, wildlife trust reserves, LNRs and a wide range of other
sites. They are not regarded as inferior to SSSIs but as sites of
regional importance in their own right.

A Local Plan is a Development Plan Document that includes
planning policies for a local area. A Local Plan forms part of the
Development Plan for an Area.

Local Plan

An economy that has a minimal output of greenhouse gas
emissions into the biosphere, but specifically refers to the
greenhouse gas carbon dioxide.

Low-carbon
Economy (LCE) or
low-fossil-fuel
economy

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste that reflect the
degree of radioactivity and hazard. LLW does not normally require
shielding during handling or transport. It consists largely of paper,
plastics and scrap metal items that have been used in hospitals,
research establishments and the nuclear industry.

Low Level
RadioactiveWaste
(LLW)

M

Aggregates excavated from the seabed, as opposed to aggregate
minerals extracted from the earth on the mainland.

Marine Dredged
Aggregates (MDA)

A facility where waste can be taken in bulk for separation,
recycling or recovery of waste materials. This is usually Municipal
Solid Waste, but some sites take Commercial & Industrial waste.
Some may also take Construction and Demolition waste to be
crushed and screened.

Materials
Recovery Facility

179
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 316



A colourless, odourless, flammable gas, formed during the
decomposition of biodegradable waste.

Methane

An area identified in order to ensure consultation between the
relevant local planning authority and the MPA before certain
non-mineral planning applications made within the area are
determined.

Mineral
Consultation Area
(MCA)

Natural concentrations of minerals or bodies of rock that are, or
may become, of potential economic interest due to their inherent
properties.

Mineral resources

Known areas of mineral resources that are of sufficient economic
value to warrant protection for generations to come. There is no
presumption that any areas within an MSA will ultimately be

Mineral
Safeguarded Area
(MSA)

environmentally acceptable for mineral extraction. The purpose
of MSAs is not to automatically preclude other forms of
development, but to make sure that mineral reserves are
considered in land-use planning decisions.

Waste collected and disposed of by or on behalf of a local
authority. It will generally consist of household waste, some
commercial waste, and waste taken to Household Waste

Municipal Solid
Waste (MSW)

Recycling Centres (HWRCs) by the general public. In addition,
it may include road and pavement sweepings, gully emptying
wastes, and some construction and demolition waste arising from
local authority activities. It is typically made up of card, paper,
plastic, glass, kitchen and garden waste.

N

All EU member states are required to create a network of
protected wildlife areas, known as Natura 2000 Sites, consisting
of SACs and SPAs, established to protect wild birds under the

Natura 2000 Sites

European Birds Directive. These sites are part of a range of
measures aimed at conserving important or threatened habitats
and species. In the UK they are also known as European Sites.

Areas designated for creating more and better-connected
habitats, recreational opportunities, flood protection, cleaner
water and carbon storage as well as uniting local stakeholders.

Natural
Improvement
Areas (NIAs)

This is also called non-inert waste. This is a waste that will
biodegrade or decompose, releasing environmental pollutants.
Examples include wood and wood products, paper and
cardboard, vegetation and vegetable matter, leather, rubber and
food precessing wastes.

Non-hazardous
Waste

(Non-inert Waste)

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020180

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 317



O

The process used to park lorries on a part of the M20 when cross
channel services from the Port of Dover or through the Channel
Tunnel are disrupted.

Operation Stack

P

Saleable minerals in the ground with planning permission for
winning and working. Usually expressed in million tonnes.

Permitted reserves

Conditions attached to a planning permission for the purpose of
regulating and controlling the development.

Planning
conditions

Naturally occurring sand, gravel and crushed rock used for
construction purposes, which have either been extracted from
the sea bed or the earth's crust.

Primary
aggregates

This normally involves the drilling of a number of wells. This may
be wells used at the sites at the exploratory and/or appraisal
phases of hydrocarbon development, or from a new site.
Associated equipment such as pipelines, processing facilities
and temporary storage tanks are also likely to be required.

Production phase
of Hydrocarbon
Extraction

Prospecting is the first stage of the geological analysis of a
territory or area. It includes the physical search for minerals,
fossils, precious metals or mineral specimens. Prospecting can

Prospecting

be a small-scale form of mineral exploration that can extend to
an organised, large scale effort undertaken by commercial mineral
companies to find economically viable materials such as ores,
gas, oil, coal and aggregates.

Waste readily able to be decomposed by bacterial action. Landfill
gas and leachate can occur as by-products of decomposition.

Putrescible waste

Both systems involve heating the waste in varying amounts of
oxygen to produce a gas. The gas could either be used as a
substitute for natural gas or used to power electricity generation.

Pyrolisis and
Gasification

R

Sites of international importance to birds that inhabit wetlands.
Ramsar is the name of the place where theWetlands Convention
was signed.

Ramsar sites

The combined processes of restoration and aftercare following
completion of mineral working.

Reclamation of
mineral workings

The collection, reclamation and separation of materials from the
waste stream.

Recovery

181
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 318



A facility that recovers value, such as resources and energy,
fromwaste prior to disposal, includes recycling, thermal treatment,
biological treatment and composting facilities.

Recovery facilities

Aggregates produced from recycled CD waste such as crushed
concrete and planings from road surfacing.

Recycled
aggregates

The collection and separation of materials from waste and
subsequent processing to produce new marketable products.

Recycling

The use of technology requiring less waste generation from
production, or the production of longer lasting products with lower
pollution potential, or the removal of material from the waste

Reduction

stream, e.g. paper being taken straight from a waste producer
to a paper re-processing facility, avoiding it being handled at any
waste management operation.

The remaining concentration or occurrence of workable material
of intrinsic economic interest. Generally used for those economic
mineral deposits that have the benefit of planning permission.

Reserve

A concentration or occurrence of material of intrinsic economic
interest in or on the Earth's crust in such a form, quality and
quantity that they are reasonable prospects for eventual economic
extraction.

Resource

The elements of the waste streams that remain following
recovery, recycling or composting operations.

Residual waste

The extraction of useful materials or energy from solid waste.Resource recovery

Operations designed to return an area to an acceptable
environmental state, whether for the resumption of the former
land-use or for a new use following mineral working. Involves the
reinstatement of land by contouring, the spreading of soils or soil
making materials, etc.

Restoration

Reuse of waste is encouraged by the Government’s national
waste policy requirements. Typically it involves re-using materials
so that they can be used again without further processing.

Reuse

S

The process of protecting sites and areas that have potential for
relevant development (minerals and waste ) from other forms of
development.

Safeguarding

Retaining a local plan (or policies from it) until replacement by a
new local plan. Normally lasts for three years only, but extended
saving can occur if policies need to stay in place for a longer
period.

Saved policies

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020182

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 319



Nationally important monuments and archaeological areas that
are protected under the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological
Areas Act 1979.

Scheduled Ancient
Monument

Construction materials that are produced as by-products of other
processes and used instead of primary aggregates. Secondary
aggregates include boiler ashes, colliery shale, burned clay,
pulverised fuel ash, chalk and shale.

Secondary
aggregates

A key aim of sustainable waste management is self-sufficiency
in waste disposal, i.e. the waste generated within the region can
be disposed or managed within the same region.

Self-sufficiency

Habitable residential accommodation including, but not limited
to, hospitals, schools, childcare facilities, elderly housing,
churches and convalescent facilities.

Sensitive receptors

Mostly methane (CH4) and is found in the pore spaces of shale,
a fine grained sedimentary rock, that contains hydrocarbon
materials. Methane, often referred to as natural gas has an

Shale gas

occurrence that is geologically variable in that it can be found in
a reservoir as well as held within the source rock such as shale.
It is combustible and is used to generate electricity and for
domestic heating and cooking. Shale gas is often referred to as
an unconventional hydrocarbon as it is extracted using
technologies developed since the 1940s that has enabled gas
to be recovered from shale (a fine grained sedimentary rock
mainly of marine origin) that were previously considered to be
unsuitable or uneconomic for the extraction of natural gas. One
process, hydraulic fracturing (often called fracking) is a technique
where water (and additives) is pumped under pressure into
productive shale rocks via a drilled bore to open up pour spaces
and allow the shale gas to be pumped to the surface for
collection.(125)

A naturally occurring mineral deposit found in Kent and
elsewhere. When extracted it is mainly used in the production of
concrete products.

Sharp sand and
gravel

A naturally occurring mineral deposit that is extracted and used
in industrial processes including glass manufacture and the
production of foundry castings. It is also used in horticulture and

Silica sand or
industrial sand

for sports surfaces including horse menages and golf course
bunker sand. It is also known as industrial sand. It is a mineral
of national importance.

These sites are notified under Section 28 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 by English Nature (now Natural England)
whose responsibility is to protect these areas. These are

Sites of Special
Scientific Interest
(SSSIs)

125 Information on unconventional hydrocarbon extraction is on the following DECC website at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/about-shale-gas-and-hydraulic-fracturing-fracking

183
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 320

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/about-shale-gas-and-hydraulic-fracturing-fracking


important areas for nature conservation i.e. valuable flora, fauna
or geological strata. Natural England needs to be notified of
planning proposals in or adjacent to the designated areas.
National Nature Reserves, terrestrial Ramsar sites, SPAs and
SACs are also SSSIs under national legislation.

See Building sand.Soft sand

A document setting out how a local authority is to ensure that
suitable sufficient consultation occurs for different elements of
the planning process. This is a requirement as amended under
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Statement of
Community
Involvement

When a change of use or the development of land on or near a
minerals or waste facility prevents possible mineral extraction or
continued use of a wharf, rail depot or other facility in the
foreseeable future.

Sterilisation

An evaluation process for assessing the environmental impacts
of plans and programmes. This is a statutory requirement of the
Kent MWLP system.

Strategic
Environmental
Assessment

A stage of the plan preparation process where the document is
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination
by a planning inspector. The document is published for public
consultation prior to submission.

Submission

Aspects of the surrounding environment include such features
as water resources including surface water, groundwater and
rivers and their settings, heritage interests including listed

Surrounding
environment

buildings, conservation areas and their settings, and World
Heritage Sites, nature reserves, local sites designated for
biodiversity and geodiversity, species and habitats of importance
for conservation and biodiversity, nationally designated areas
including SSSIs and AONBs and their setting, internationally
designated sites including SPAs, SACs, Ramsar sites, Heritage
Coast and NIAs. The surrounding environment also includes
those areas that are non designated but contribute to the whole
environment.

An evaluation process for assessing the environmental, social,
economic and other sustainability effects of plans and
programmes from the outset of the preparation process. This is
a statutory requirement.

Sustainability
Appraisal (SA)

Development that meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own
needs. The definition also encompasses the efficient use of
natural resources.

Sustainable
development

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020184

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 321



T

Facilities that receive waste (normally from a local area), where
the waste is bulked up and transported further afield in larger
lorries for disposal or recovery. Some transfer stations sort out
the recoverable wastes, such as CD waste and scrap metal prior
to onward transportation for disposal or processing.

Transfer stations

V

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste that reflect the
degree of radioactivity and hazard. The radioactive concentration
of VLLW is similar to the natural activity of soils and is well within
the normal range of natural radioactivity in the Earth's crust.

Very Low Level
RadioactiveWaste
(VLLW)

A hole created by mineral working or nature that may have
potential for landfilling with waste.

Void space

W

The TCPA 1990 has been amended so there is no dispute over
whether waste, in terms of the planning regime, is defined in
accordance with European law. It states that: Waste includes

Waste

anything that is waste for the purposes of Directive 2006/12/EC
of the European Parliament and of the Council on waste, and
that is not excluded from the scope of that Directive by Article
2(1) of that Directive.

Waste is therefore defined as any substance or object that the
holder or the possessor either discards or intends or is required
to discard. (126)

The amount of waste generated in a given locality over a given
period of time.

Waste arisings

A local authority with a statutory responsibility to provide a waste
collection service to each household in its area, and on request,
to local businesses.

Waste Collection
Authority (WCA)

A local authority that is legally responsible for the safe disposal
of household waste collected by the WCAs. Long-term contracts
are let to private sector companies who provide the facilities to

Waste Disposal
Authority

handle this waste. These contracts are awarded on the basis of
detailed cost and environmental criteria as well specific targets
for recycling and reducing landfill.

126 This definition is inserted into s.336(1) of the TCPA 1990, as part of the consequential amendments
made by the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2007 SI 2007/3528 (the
EPR 2007), as from 6 April 2008. See Schedule 21, para 19 of the EPR 2007 (and its commencement
- see reg.1).

185
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

A
:G

lossary

Page 322



Discarded electrical or electronic equipment, including all
components, sub-assemblies and consumables that are part of
the product at the time of discarding.

Waste electrical
and electronic
equipment

A concept devised by EUWFD (2008/98/EC) conveying waste
management options in order of preference; waste prevention
(most preferred) followed by reduction, recycling, recovery and
disposal (least preferred). Figure 18 shows the Waste Hierarchy
in Chapter 6.

Waste hierarchy

A permit granted by the Environment Agency (EA) authorising
treatment, keeping or disposal of any specified description of
controlled waste in or on specified land by means of specified
plant.

Waste
management
permit

A KCC department that manages all aspects of MSW (household
waste) arisings in Kent.

Waste
Management Unit
(WMU)

The reduction of unwanted outputs from the manufacturing and
construction processes that are likely to result in less waste being
produced.

Waste
minimisation

A local authority with responsibility for waste planning, including
the determination of waste related planning applications. In areas
with two tiers of local government (counties and districts), the

Waste Planning
Authority (WPA)

county councils are the WPAs. National Parks are also WPAs.
Unitary authorities, such as Medway Council, deal with waste
planning and all other planning issues within their areas.

To make waste production and waste management practices
more sustainable. Key national objectives are to reduce the
amount of waste that is produced, make the best use of waste

Waste reduction

produced and choose practices which minimise the risks of
pollution and harm to human health. Waste reduction is
concerned with reducing the quantity of solid waste that is
produced and reducing the degree of hazard represented by
such waste.

Water discharged to the sewers and includes MSW, C&I waste
in addition to surface water run off. This raw wastewater is
collected in sewers and transferred to wastewater treatment

Wastewater

works where it is treated in such a way that it produces largely
reusable sewage sludge and effluent that is discharged to
watercourses.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020186

A
pp

en
di
x
A
:G

lo
ss
ar
y

Page 323



Appendix B: List of Replaced, Deleted and Retained Policies

B.1 All the previously adopted minerals and waste policies are replaced by the Kent
MWLP 2013-30 and the Mineral Sites Plans. The Kent Minerals and Waste Plans
previously in force are listed below:

Kent Minerals Local Plan: Brickearth (1986)

Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction Aggregates (1993)

Kent Minerals Local Plan Chalk and Clay (1997)

Kent Minerals Local Plan Oil and Gas (1997)

Kent Waste Local Plan (1998)

B.2 All of these plans were prepared before Medway Council was formed and these
plans therefore covered areas which are now within Medway.

B.3 The Secretary of State for the Government Office for the South East wrote
separately to both KCC andMedway Council on 21 September 2007 providing a direction
on the policies in the previously adopted minerals and waste plans. Any polices not
listed by the Secretary of State expired and those listed in the Direction are known as
the 'saved policies'. It is the saved policies that are deleted by the Minerals and Waste
Plan, and theMineral Sites Plan once adopted. KCC andMedway Council have separate
letters of direction from the Secretary of State and therefore the deletion of saved policies
by KCC has no effect on Medway Council's saved policies.

187
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

B
:ListofR

eplaced,D
eleted

and
R
etained

P
olicies

Page 324



Li
st

of
Sa

ve
d
Po

lic
ie
s
in

Pr
ev
io
us

ly
A
do

pt
ed

Pl
an

s
to

be
D
el
et
ed

Th
is
lis
ti
de

nt
ifi
es

th
e
sa
ve
d
po

lic
ie
s
w
ith
in
th
e
pr
ev
io
us
ly
ad

op
te
d
m
in
er
al
s
an

d
w
as
te

pl
an

s
fo
rK

en
ta

lo
ng

si
de

th
e
ne

w
po

lic
ie
s
in
th
e
K
en

t
M
W
LP

20
13

-2
03

0
th
at

w
ill
re
pl
ac
e
th
em

.T
he

se
po

lic
ie
s
w
ill
be

de
le
te
d
up

on
th
e
ad

op
tio
n
of

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13

-2
03

0.

Sa
ve
d
Po

lic
ie
s
be

in
g
D
el
et
ed

Eq
ui
va
le
nt

Po
lic
ie
s
in

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13
-2
03
0

K
en

tM
in
er
al
s
Lo

ca
lP

la
n
C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n
A
gg

re
ga

te
s
(1
99
3)

Sa
ve
d

Po
lic
ie
s

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
Tr
an

sp
or
to

fM
in
er
al
s

C
S
M

12
Ac

ce
ss

C
on

si
de

ra
tio
ns

(fo
ra

gg
re
ga

te
w
ha

rv
es

an
d

ra
il
de

po
ts
)

C
A
1

N
o
ne

w
si
te
s
ca
m
e
fo
rw
ar
d
in
th
e
ca
ll
fo
rs

ite
s
bu

t
Po

lic
y
C
SM

11
id
en

tif
ie
s
sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
si
te
s
fo
rw

ha
rv
es

an
d
ra
il
de

po
ts
fo
rt
he

pl
an

pe
rio

d

-
P
rim

ar
y
P
la
nn

in
g
C
on

st
ra
in
ts
(fo

ra
gg

re
ga

te
w
ha

rv
es

an
d
ra
il
de

po
ts
)

C
A
2C

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
Tr
an

sp
or
to

fM
in
er
al
s

C
S
M

12
Lo

ca
lC

on
si
de

ra
tio
ns

C
A
3

(fo
ra

gg
re
ga

te
w
ha

rv
es

an
d
de

po
ts
)

N
o
ne

w
si
te
s
ca
m
e
fo
rw
ar
d
in
th
e
ca
ll
fo
rs

ite
s
bu

t
Po

lic
y
C
SM

11
id
en

tif
ie
s
sa
fe
gu

ar
de

d
si
te
s
fo
rw

ha
rv
es

an
d
ra
il
de

po
ts
fo
rt
he

pl
an

pe
rio

d

-
P
ro
po

se
d
Lo

ca
tio
ns

(fo
ra

gg
re
ga

te
w
ha

rv
es

an
d

de
po

ts
)

C
A
4

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
R
eq

ui
re
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

D
M

16
P
ro
vi
si
on

of
G
eo

lo
gi
ca
lI
nf
or
m
at
io
n
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

C
A
7

N
on

-id
en

tif
ie
d
La

nd
-w
on

M
in
er
al
S
ite
s

C
S
M

4
E
xc
ep

tio
ns

to
A
re
as

of
S
ea

rc
h

C
A
8D

P
ol
ic
y
w
ill
be

de
le
te
d.

H
ow

ev
er

bo
rr
ow

pi
ts
ca
n
be

co
ns
id
er
ed

as
pa

rt
of

P
ol
ic
y
C
S
M

4
-

B
or
ro
w
P
its

C
A
9

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020188

A
pp

en
di
x
B
:L

is
to

fR
ep

la
ce
d,

D
el
et
ed

an
d
R
et
ai
ne

d
P
ol
ic
ie
s

Page 325



La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g,

S
af
eg

ua
rd
ed

W
ha

rv
es

an
d
R
ai
lD

ep
ot
s,
an

d
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
M
in
er
al
R
es
ou

rc
es

an
d
Im

po
rta

tio
n

In
fra

st
ru
ct
ur
e

C
S
M

5,
C
S
M

11
D
M

7

M
in
er
al
C
on

su
lta
tio
n
A
re
as

(s
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
m
in
er
al

re
so
ur
ce
s
an

d
po

te
nt
ia
ls
up

pl
y
po

in
ts
)

C
A
10

S
up

pl
y
of

La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
s
in
K
en

t
C
S
M

2
Th

e
S
tru

ct
ur
e
P
la
n
(r
eg

ar
di
ng

si
lic
a
sa
nd

)
C
A
12

P
ro
sp
ec
tin
g
fo
rC

ar
bo

ni
fe
ro
us

Li
m
es
to
ne

C
S
M

11
Lo

ca
tio
n
fo
rM

in
in
g
an

d
P
ro
ce
ss
in
g
C
ar
bo

ni
fe
ro
us

Li
m
es
to
ne

C
A
13

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

13
Tr
af
fic

C
on

si
de

ra
tio
ns

C
A
16

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
N
oi
se
,V

ib
ra
tio
n
an

d
D
us
t

C
A
18

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

D
M

1
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
g

C
A
19

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
g

C
A
20

A
nc
ill
ar
y
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t
D
M

20
A
nc
ill
ar
y
O
pe

ra
tio
ns

C
A
20

A

P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

D
M

13
P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

C
A
21

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
La

nd
sc
ap

in
g

C
A
22

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
W
or
ki
ng

an
d
R
ec
la
m
at
io
n

C
A
23

189
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

B
:ListofR

eplaced,D
eleted

and
R
etained

P
olicies

Page 326



Eq
ui
va
le
nt

Po
lic
ie
s
in

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13
-2
03
0

K
en

tM
in
er
al
s
Lo

ca
lP

la
n
C
ha

lk
an

d
C
la
y(
19
97
)S

av
ed

Po
lic
ie
s

S
up

pl
y
of

La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
s
in
K
en

t
C
S
M

2
P
ro
vi
si
on

fo
rD

ev
el
op

m
en

t
C
C
1

P
ol
ic
y
is
de

le
te
d.

Th
er
e
is
no

ne
ed

fo
ra

po
lic
y

su
pp

or
tin
g
th
e
pr
ep

ar
at
io
n
of

su
ita
bl
e
se
co
nd

ar
y
or

w
as
te

ch
al
k
or

cl
ay

m
at
er
ia
ls
fo
rr
e-
us
e.

It
is

co
ns
id
er
ed

th
at

th
is
is
re
la
te
d
to

po
te
nt
ia
ls
up

pl
y
of

re
cy
cl
ed

or
se
co
nd

ar
y
m
at
er
ia
ls
fo
rc

em
en

tw
or
ki
ng

s

-
P
ro
vi
si
on

fo
rD

ev
el
op

m
en

t(
se
co
nd

ar
y
or

w
as
te

m
at
er
ia
lr
e-
us
e)

C
C
1A

A
ll
po

te
nt
ia
lr
es
er
ve
s
ar
e
no

w
ex
ha

us
te
d.

P
ol
ic
y
w
ill

be
de

le
te
d

-
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
ex
is
tin
g
w
or
ki
ng

ar
ea

s
in
th
e

so
ut
h-
ea

st
er
n
an

d
w
es
te
rn

pa
rts

of
E
as
te
rn

Q
ua

rr
y

C
C
5

S
af
eg

ua
rd
ed

W
ha

rv
es

an
d
R
ai
lD

ep
ot
s
an

d
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
M
in
er
al
R
es
ou

rc
es

C
S
M

6
D
M

7
D
M

8

C
em

en
tW

ha
rv
es

(s
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g)

C
C
9

S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
M
in
er
al
s
M
an

ag
em

en
t,
Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n

&
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tF

ac
ili
tie
s

La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

C
S
M

5
M
in
er
al
s
C
on

su
lta
tio
n
A
re
as

(s
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g)

C
C
10

A

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
N
oi
se
,V

ib
ra
tio
n
an

d
D
us
t

C
C
12

W
at
er

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t
D
M

10
La

nd
D
ra
in
ag

e,
Fl
oo

d
C
on

tro
la
nd

La
nd

S
ta
bi
lit
y

C
C
14

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
N
at
ur
e
C
on

se
rv
at
io
n

C
C
15

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

D
M

1
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
gs

C
C
16

A
nc
ill
ar
y
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t
D
M

20
A
nc
ill
ia
ry

O
pe

ra
tio
ns

C
C
18

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020190

A
pp

en
di
x
B
:L

is
to

fR
ep

la
ce
d,

D
el
et
ed

an
d
R
et
ai
ne

d
P
ol
ic
ie
s

Page 327



P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

D
M

14
P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

C
C
20

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

13
R
oa

d,
Tr
af
fic

an
d
A
cc
es
s

C
C
24

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
La

nd
sc
ap

in
g

C
C
26

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
A
fte

rc
ar
e

C
C
27

Eq
ui
va
le
nt

Po
lic
ie
s
in

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13
-2
03
0

K
en

tM
in
er
al
s
Lo

ca
lP

la
n
O
il
an

d
G
as
(1
99
7)

Sa
ve
d
Po

lic
ie
s

P
ol
ic
y
w
ill
be

de
le
te
d

C
oa

st
al
P
la
nn

in
g

O
G
1A

A

O
il,
G
as

an
d
C
oa

l-b
ed

M
et
ha

ne
C
S
M

10
E
xp
lo
ra
tio
n

O
G
2

O
il,
G
as

an
d
C
oa

l-b
ed

M
et
ha

ne
C
S
M

10
A
pp

ra
is
al

O
G
3

O
il,
G
as

an
d
C
oa

l-b
ed

M
et
ha

ne
C
S
M

10
D
ev
el
op

m
en

t
O
G
4

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
N
oi
se
,V

ib
ra
tio
n,

D
us
ta

nd
G
as

O
G
5

W
at
er

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t
D
M

10
La

nd
D
ra
in
ag

e,
Fl
oo

d
C
on

tro
la
nd

U
ns
ta
bl
e
La

nd
O
G
7

O
il,
G
as

an
d
C
oa

l-b
ed

M
et
ha

ne
R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

C
S
M

10
D
M

19
N
at
ur
e
C
on

se
rv
at
io
n

O
G
8

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

D
M

1
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
gs

O
G
9

191
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

B
:ListofR

eplaced,D
eleted

and
R
etained

P
olicies

Page 328



In
fo
rm

at
io
n
re
qu

ire
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n
an

d
H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

16
D
M

11
H
ou

rs
of

W
or
ki
ng

O
G
10

P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

D
M

14
P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

O
G
11

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

13
R
oa

d,
Tr
af
fic

an
d
A
cc
es
s

O
G
15

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
R
oa

d,
Tr
af
fic

an
d
A
cc
es
s

O
G
16

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
La

nd
sc
ap

in
g

O
G
17

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
W
or
ki
ng

an
d
R
es
to
ra
tio
n/
A
fte

rc
ar
e

O
G
18

Eq
ui
va
le
nt

Po
lic
ie
s
in

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13
-2
03
0

K
en

tM
in
er
al
s
Lo

ca
lP

la
n:

B
ric

ke
ar
th

(1
98
6)

Sa
ve
d
Po

lic
ie
s

La
nd

-w
on

M
in
er
al
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g

S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g
M
in
er
al
R
es
ou

rc
es

C
S
M

5
D
M

7
S
af
eg

ua
rd
ed

La
nd

B
2

E
xt
ra
ct
io
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
in
A
dv
an

ce
of

S
ur
fa
ce

D
ev
el
op

m
en

t
D
M

9
D
ev
el
op

m
en

tL
an

d
B
3

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
R
eq

ui
re
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

D
M

16
E
co
no

m
ic
al
ly
W
or
ka
bl
e
R
es
er
ve
s

B
4

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
R
eq

ui
re
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

D
M

16
M
at
er
ia
lR

eq
ui
re
d
fo
rR

es
to
ra
tio
n
(s
oi
ld
ep

th
s)

B
5

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
W
or
ki
ng

an
d
R
es
to
ra
tio
n
S
ch
em

e
R
eq

ui
re
m
en

ts
B
6

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
A
gr
ic
ul
tu
ra
lA

fte
rc
ar
e

B
7

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

12
A
cc
es
s

B
9

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
R
eq

ui
re
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n

D
M

16
M
ud

an
d
S
to
ne

s
on

th
e
P
ub

lic
H
ig
hw

ay
B
10

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
G
en

er
al
P
ol
ic
y
on

E
nv
iro

nm
en

ta
lI
m
pa

ct
B
11

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020192

A
pp

en
di
x
B
:L

is
to

fR
ep

la
ce
d,

D
el
et
ed

an
d
R
et
ai
ne

d
P
ol
ic
ie
s

Page 329



H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
an

d
Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

11
D
M

13
N
oi
se
,D

us
ta

nd
Tr
af
fic

B
12

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
re
qu

ire
d
in
S
up

po
rt
of

an
A
pp

lic
at
io
n,

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

16
D
M

19
La

nd
sc
ap

in
g

B
13

P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

D
M

14
P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

B
14

Eq
ui
va
le
nt

Po
lic
ie
s
in

th
e
K
en

tM
W
LP

20
13
-2
03
0

K
en

tW
as
te

Lo
ca
lP

la
n
(1
99
8)

Sa
ve
d
Po

lic
ie
s

Lo
ca
tio
n
of

B
ui
lt
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tS

ite
s
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

C
S
W

6
Lo

ca
tio
na

lC
rit
er
ia

W
3

N
on

In
er
tW

as
te

La
nd

fil
li
n
K
en

t
P
er
m
an

en
tD

ep
os
it
In
er
tW

as
te

C
S
W

9
C
S
W

11
La

nd
R
ai
si
ng

W
5

Lo
ca
tio
n
of

B
ui
lt
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tS

ite
s
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

C
S
W

6
N
ee

d
(fo

rw
as
te

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
ou

ts
id
e
id
en

tif
ie
d

lo
ca
tio
ns
)

W
6

P
ol
ic
y
D
el
et
ed

N
/A

Lo
ca
tio
ns

S
ui
ta
bl
e
in
P
rin

ci
pl
e
fo
rI
ne

rt
W
as
te

to
be

P
re
pa

re
d
fo
rR

ec
yc
lin
g
or

R
eu

se
W
7

D
is
po

sa
lo
fD

re
dg

in
gs

C
S
W

14
R
iv
er

D
re
dg

in
gs

W
8A

P
ol
ic
y
D
el
et
ed

N
/A

Lo
ca
tio
ns

Su
ita
bl
e
in
Pr
in
ci
pl
e
fo
rW

as
te
Se

pa
ra
tio
n

an
d
Tr
an

sf
er

P
ro
po

sa
ls

W
9

W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tf
or

N
on

-h
az
ar
do

us
W
as
te

C
S
W

7
C
om

po
st
in
g
an

d
D
ig
es
tio
n

W
10

P
ol
ic
y
D
el
et
ed

N
/A

Lo
ca
tio
ns

w
ith

P
ot
en

tia
lf
or

E
fW

P
ro
po

sa
ls

W
11

N
on

In
er
tW

as
te

La
nd

fil
li
n
K
en

t
D
ev
el
op

m
en

ta
tC

lo
se
d
La

nd
fil
lS

ite
s

C
S
W

9
C
S
W

10
La

nd
fil
lo
fM

in
er
al
Vo

id
s

W
12

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

D
M

1
P
FA

W
13

193
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

B
:ListofR

eplaced,D
eleted

and
R
etained

P
olicies

Page 330



H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
In
ci
ne

ra
tio
n

W
17

H
ea

lth
an

d
A
m
en

ity
D
M

11
N
oi
se
,D

us
t,
O
do

ur
s
et
c

W
18

W
at
er

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t
D
M

10
W
at
er

R
es
ou

rc
es
/L

ea
ch
at
e/

G
ro
un

dw
at
er

W
19

W
at
er

E
nv
iro

nm
en

t
R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

10
D
M

19
La

nd
fil
l:
S
ur
ch
ar
gi
ng

/U
ns
ta
bl
e
La

nd
/L
an

d
W
at
er
,

D
ra
in
ag

e
an

d
Fl
oo

d
C
on

tro
l

W
20

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
N
at
ur
e
C
on

se
rv
at
io
n
P
ol
ic
y

W
21

Tr
an

sp
or
ta
tio
n
of

M
in
er
al
s
an

d
W
as
te

D
M

12
R
oa

d
Tr
af
fic

an
d
A
cc
es
s

W
22

S
us
ta
in
ab

le
D
es
ig
n

D
M

1
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
gs

W
25

Lo
ca
tio
n
of

B
ui
lt
W
as
te

M
an

ag
em

en
tS

ite
s
Fa

ci
lit
ie
s

C
S
W

6
P
la
nt

an
d
B
ui
ld
in
gs

W
25

A

P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

D
M

14
P
ub

lic
R
ig
ht
s
of

W
ay

W
27

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
La

nd
sc
ap

in
g

W
31

R
es
to
ra
tio
n,

A
fte

rc
ar
e
an

d
A
fte

r-
us
e

D
M

19
R
es
to
ra
tio
n/
A
fte

rc
ar
e

W
32

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020194

A
pp

en
di
x
B
:L

is
to

fR
ep

la
ce
d,

D
el
et
ed

an
d
R
et
ai
ne

d
P
ol
ic
ie
s

Page 331



S
av
ed

P
ol
ic
y
C
A
6
–
‘A
re
as

of
S
ea

rc
h
w
ith
in
w
hi
ch

th
e
E
xt
ra
ct
io
n
of

m
in
er
al
s
is
A
cc
ep

ta
bl
e
in
P
rin

ci
pl
e’
is
de

le
te
d
an

d
re
pl
ac
ed

by
th
e
K
en

t
M
in
er
al
S
ite
s
P
la
n

S
av
ed

P
ol
ic
y
B
1
–
‘L
oc
at
io
ns

S
ui
ta
bl
e
in
P
rin

ci
pl
e
fo
rt
he

E
xt
ra
ct
io
n
of

B
ric
ke
ar
th
’i
s
de

le
te
d.

N
ot
e
th
at
th
e
pr
op

os
ed

de
le
tio
n
of
sa
ve
d
po

lic
ie
s
C
A
6
an

d
B
1
is
a
re
su
lt
of
th
e
pr
ep

ar
at
io
n
of
th
e
M
in
er
al
S
ite
s
P
la
n
th
at
w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
up

da
te
d

po
lic
y
on

th
e
al
lo
ca
tio
n
of

la
nd

fo
rm

in
er
al
s
ex
tra

ct
io
n

195
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

B
:ListofR

eplaced,D
eleted

and
R
etained

P
olicies

Page 332



Appendix C: List of Mineral Sites that are included in
Landbank Calculations

C.1 The table below lists the permitted land-wonmineral working sites in Kent included
in landbank calculations at the time of plan preparation. Sites that have been inactive
for more than 10 years are not included in the landbank calculations. Sites that were
inactive in 2013 are shown in italics.

Table 3 Land-Won Mineral Sites in Kent included in calculations of permitted
reserves

Operator Details
Predominant
Aggregate
Type

Sites

1. Aggregate Sites

Gallagher Aggregates LtdCrushed
Rock

Hermitage Quarry, Maidstone

Hanson Aggregates LtdCrushed
Rock

Blaise Farm, West Malling

Lafarge Aggregates LtdSandstone
Sand and
Gravel

Stone Castle Farm, Whetsted

Brett Aggregates LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Faversham Quarries,
Faversham

Brett Aggregates LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Lydd Quarry (Scotney Court
Farm), Lydd

Brett Aggregates LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Allens Bank, Lydd

Brett Aggregates LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Conningbrook Quarry

Brett Aggregates LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Highstead Quarry, Chislet

CEMEX UKSharp Sand
and Gravel

Denge Quarry, Lydd

J Clubb LtdSharp Sand
and Gravel

Darenth & Joyce Green Quarry,
Dartford

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020196

A
pp

en
di
x
C
:L

is
to

fM
in
er
al
S
ite
s
th
at

ar
e
in
cl
ud

ed
in
La

nd
ba

nk
C
al
cu
la
tio
ns

Page 333



Operator Details
Predominant
Aggregate
Type

Sites

J Clubb LtdSandstone
Sand and
Gravel

East Peckham Quarry, East
Peckham

Hanson (Joyce Green Aggregates)
Ltd

Sharp Sand
and Gravel

Joyce Green Quarry, Dartford

Aylesford Heritage LtdSoft SandAylesford Quarry, Aylesford

Borough Green Sandpits LtdSoft SandBorough Green Sand Pit,
Sevenoaks

Brett Aggregates LtdSoft SandCharing Quarry, Charring

Brett Aggregates LtdSoft SandLenham Quarry, Maidstone

H&H LtdSoft SandIghtham Sand Pit, Sevenoaks

Hanson AggregatesSoft SandWrotham Quarry (Addington
Sand Pit), Wrotham

J Clubb LtdSoft SandNepicar Sand Quarry,
Sevenoaks

Tarmac LtdSoft SandGreatness Farm, Sevenoaks

2. Silica Sand

J Clubb LtdSilica sandNepicar Sand Pit, Wrotham

Hanson Aggregates LtdSilica sandAddington Sand Pit (Wrotham
Quarry), Addington

3. Brickearth and Brickclays

Wienerberger LtdBrickearthClaxfield Farm, Sittingbourne

Ibstock Brick LtdBrickearthHempstead House,
Sittingbourne

Mr M GashTiles (Weald
Clay)

Babylon Tileworks, Tonbridge

4. Clay

FCC Environment (UK) LtdEngineering
(London
Clay)

Norwood Quarry, Isle of
Sheppey

197
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

C
:ListofM

ineralS
ites

thatare
included

in
Landbank

C
alculations

Page 334



Operator Details
Predominant
Aggregate
Type

Sites

5. Chalk

Lafarge Cement LtdCementMedway Works, Holborough

J Clubb LtdAgricultural
uses

Darenth Rd Quarry, Dartford

SBS LtdAgricultural
uses

Pinden Quarry, Dartford

John Bourne & Co LtdAgricultural
uses

Detling Quarry, Maidstone

John Bourne & Co LtdAgricultural
uses

Beacon Hill Quarry, Ashford

C PeachAgricultural
uses

Crundale Quarry, Ashford

R H Ovenden LtdAgricultural
uses

Hegdale Quarry, Ashford

R H Ovenden LtdAgricultural
uses

Rowling Quarry, Dover

C.2 Table 3 gives the sand and gravel and agricultural chalk permitted reserve
calculations based on the data for the 2013 calendar year. The total permitted reserve
figure per mineral type is given where data is available. Reserve details for the individual
sites cannot be published due to operator confidentiality requirements. Table 4 shows
hard rock, clay and brickearth quarries where there is commercial sensitivity due to
there being less than three operational sites (or simply limited data). These reserves
are expressed as an estimated supply in years rather than an available tonnage.(127)

C.3 Permitted reserve figures for all the economic minerals in Kent are reviewed
annually in the Kent AMR. Further details of these calculations are given in the Kent
LAA (updated annually) and in topic report TRM3: Other Minerals.(128)

127 The years of supply are estimates based on the data from ten year sales averages, operator surveys
or planning application information.

128 Available from: www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp.

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted
2020198

A
pp

en
di
x
C
:L

is
to

fM
in
er
al
S
ite
s
th
at

ar
e
in
cl
ud

ed
in
La

nd
ba

nk
C
al
cu
la
tio
ns

Page 335

http://www.kent.gov.uk/mwlp


Table 4 Mineral Reserves in Kent without Tonnage Confidentiality Restriction
(2013)

Millions of tonnes (mt) (1)Mineral Reserves in Kent without Confidentially
Restrictions

10.6 mtSoft Sand

2.2 mtSoft Sand (non-aggregate uses including silica or
industrial sand)

3.61 mtSharp Sand and Gravel

0.50 mtSharp Sand and Gravel (non-aggregate uses)

1.9 mtChalk (for agricultural uses)

1. Figures rounded to nearest decimal place

Table 5 Kent Mineral Landbank Subject to Tonnage Confidentiality Restriction
(2013)

Landbank expressed as
supply in years

Mineral Reserves in Kent with Confidentially
Restrictions

Over 20 years supplyHard Rock (that can be crushed to form aggregate)

Over 46 years supplyHard Rock (that is only suitable for construction fill
and/or industrial uses)

Over 25 years supplyChalk (for cement manufacture)

Over 25 years supplyBrick Clay (peg tile manufacture)

Less than 15 years supplyBrickearth (brick manufacture)

Approximately 12 years
supply

Clay for engineering uses

199
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 to be adopted 2020 Kent County

Council
A
ppendix

C
:ListofM

ineralS
ites

thatare
included

in
Landbank

C
alculations

Page 336



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 – 
Proposed textual changes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

July 2020 

  

Page 337



 
 

 
 

This document sets out the elements of the KMWLP which would be amended by the Early 
Partial Review, demonstrating how the text has been altered. 

 

1 Introduction 

 
[Paragraphs 1.0.1 – 1.1.2 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
1.1.3 The specific sites for mineral and waste developments will be are set out in the 
separate Kent Minerals and Waste Sites Plans. The site selection process for the final sites 
included in the Mineral Sites Plans will be was based on the policies in the Kent MWLP. 
 
[Paragraphs 1.1.4 – 1.2.1 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
1.2.2 The policies in this Plan replace the earlier versions of the saved Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan policies. Appendix B lists the schedules of saved Kent Local Plan policies 
replaced, deleted or retained. Site specific policies from the saved Kent Minerals and W aste 
Local Plan policies will be retained until the Kent Minerals Sites Plan and the Kent W aste 
Sites Plan are adopted. 
 
[Paragraphs 1.2.3 – 1.5 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 
 
  

Page 338



 
 

 
 

5 Delivery Strategy for Minerals 

 

5.2 Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent 

 

[Paragraphs 5.2.1 – 5.2.29 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 

Brickearth and Clay for Brick and Tile Manufacture 

 

5.2.30 At the time of plan preparation, Kent only has one operational brickworks near 
Sittingbourne, which is supplied by brickearth extracted from sites in the Sittingbourne to 
Faversham area to make yellow London stock bricks. Brickearth extracted from another site 
in north Kent provides the raw materials for a brickworks in East Sussex. National planning 
policy requires the provision of a stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years for brick 
clay. (53) There is a need to identify ensure sufficient sites reserves are available to 
provide brickearth for these two brickworks to ensure that the locally characteristic yellow 
London stock bricks can continue to be manufactured. 
 
[Paragraphs 5.2.31 – 5.2.34 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
Chalk 

 

5.2.35 Chalk is abundant in Kent. It is used for agricultural and construction purposes 
(primarily as a bulk fill material) across the county. (57) Since there are no plants dependant 
on the supply of chalk there is no policy requirement to make provision. However local sales 
data for agricultural and engineering use combined indicates that sales vary considerably 
from year to year. The indicative Kent landbank of chalk for agricultural and engineering use 
is estimated to be around 19.4 17.6 years according to 2013 sales rates as of 2018 (58). In 
view of the possible under reporting of sales for certain uses it is considered that some 
provision for additional chalk supplies should be made and sufficient chalk extraction sites, 
based on an assessment at that time, of likely future requirements, will be identified in the 
Mineral Sites PlanReserves of chalk and rates of demand will be monitored and 

reported in the Annual Monitoring Report and taken into account when any proposals 

for new sites come forward. 
 
[Footnote 58] KCC (2015) Kent’s 10th Annual Kent Minerals and Waste Monitoring Report 
2013/14 KCC (2018) Kent's 12th Annual Kent Minerals and Waste Monitoring Report 

2017/18. 
 
[Paragraphs 5.2.36 – 5.2.37 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
Policy CSM 2 

 

Supply of Land-won Minerals and Kent 

Page 339



 
 

 
 

 

[Parts 1, 3 and 5 of Policy CSM 2 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
2. Brickearth and Clay for Brickearth Tile Manufacture 

 

Sites will be identified in the Mineral Sites Plan for the supply of brickearth by providing a 
stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years to support the level of actual and proposed 
investment required for new or existing plant and the maintenance and improvement of 
existing plant and equipment. The stock of existing planning permissions for clay for brick 
and tile making is sufficient for the plan period.The stock of existing planning 

permissions at Paradise Farm, Orchard Farm, Hempstead House and Claxfield Road 

for brickearth clay for brick and tile making is sufficient for the plan period. 

Applications for sites supplying brickearth and clay for brick and tile making will be 

dealt within in accordance with the policies of this Plan. The existence of a stock of 

permitted reserves of at least 25 years (as reported in the latest Annual Monitoring 

report) to support the level of actual and proposed investment required for new or 

existing plant and the maintenance and improvement of existing plant and equipment 

will be a material consideration. 
 
4. Chalk for Agriculture and Engineering Purposes 

 

Sites will be identified to enable sufficient chalk extraction to continue through the plan 
period to supply Kent’s requirement for agricultural and engineering chalk.The stock of 

existing planning permissions for chalk is sufficient to supply Kent's requirements for 

agricultural and engineering chalk over the plan period. Applications for sites 

supplying chalk for agriculture and engineering purposes will be dealt with in 

accordance with the policies of this Plan. The need for additional supplies of chalk 

will be assessed based on the latest assessment of supply and demand set out in the 

Annual Monitoring Report. 
  

Page 340



 
 

 
 

6 Delivery Strategy for Waste 

 
[Policy CSW1 and paragraphs 6.1.1- 6.1.2 remain unchanged and as shown in the 

adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
6.2 Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy and Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction 

 
[Paragraph 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and Figure 18 Waste Hierarchy remains unchanged and as 

shown in the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 

6.2.3 In accordance with the Waste Hierarchy, the Plan gives priority to planning for waste 
management developments that prepare waste for re-use or recycling. The most recent 
assessment of waste management capacity requirements Needs Assessment for 
waste (76) shows that Kent's current recycling and processing facilities have sufficient 
capacity for the anticipated rate of usage with the exception of facilities for green and 
kitchen wastes. It should be appreciated that these calculations are based upon a rate of 
use that should only be regarded as a minimum, as the aspiration is to encourage more of 
the waste that is produced in Kent to be managed by methods at this tier of the 
hierarchy through this method of waste management. 
 
6.2.4 Encouraging more waste to be managed via re-use or recycling will be achieved by 
enabling policies for the development of additional waste management capacity facilities 
for recycling and processing including through the following measures: The identification in 
the W aste Sites Plan of all of the deliverable, sustainable sites for these forms of waste 
management that have been promoted for inclusion by landowners or the waste industry a 
policy presumption to grant planning permission for redevelopment or extensions to lawful 
existing waste management facilities to enable more waste to be recycled or processed for 
re-use providing the proposal is in accordance with the locational and development 
management policies in the Plan if the facility's capacity for the maximum annual tonnage 
of waste is not increased. 
 
6.2.5 The application of the Waste Hierarchy is a legal requirement under the Waste 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2011. is most appropriate to producers of waste when 
assessing how to manage waste. The Kent MW LP has to plan for all forms of waste 
management in the W aste Hierarchy to make this possible. W hile It is anticipated that there 
will be a transition over time to forms of waste management at the higher end of the Waste 
Hierarchy, there will still be a need for disposal at the end of the plan period for difficult to 
treat wastes, or wastes such as asbestos for which there is no present alternative. The Kent 
MWLP addresses this transition by seeking to rapidly provide a more sustainable option for 
the mixed non-hazardous waste that is going to landfill by applying ambitious but 
achievable landfill diversion targets presented in Policy CSW 4 identifying sites for 
energy recovery. Due to other recovery being at the lower end of the W aste Hierarchy, the 
total amount of new energy recovery capacity to be permitted will be capped. It is envisaged 
that this method of waste management will become displaced as recycling and waste 
processing become more economically viable. 
 
Footnote 76 Jacobs (January 2012) Addendum to the Needs Assessment Modelling 
Technical Report - Needs Assessment 2011 Update BPP Consulting Waste Needs 
Assessment 2018. 
 

Page 341



 
 

 
 

[Policies CSW 2 and CSW 3 remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
6.3 Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste Management Capacity 

Net Self-sufficiency and Waste Movements 
 
6.3.1 Kent currently achieves net self-sufficiency in waste management facilities capacity 
for all waste streams. I.e. the annual capacity of the waste management facilities (excluding 
transfer) in Kent is sufficient to manage the equivalent quantity of waste to that predicted 
to arise in Kent. The continued achievement of the principle of net self-sufficiency and the 
management of ing waste close to its source is a are key Strategic Objectives of the Kent 
MWLP, because it shows that Kent is not placing any unnecessary burden on other WPAs to 
manage its waste. Net self- sufficiency recognises that existing (and future) waste 
management capacity within Kent ma y not necessarily be for the exclusive 
management of Kent’s waste. Proposals that would result in more waste being 
managed in Kent than is produced may be acceptable if it was demonstrated that 
these would result in waste produced in Kent being managed at a higher level of the 
waste hierarchy. Achievement of nNet self-sufficiency can be monitored on an annual 
basis and will provide an indicator as to whether the policies in the Plan need to be 
reviewed. 
 
6.3.2 In reality, different types of waste are managed at different types of facilities. To assess 
the future needs for waste facilities in Kent, net self-sufficiency has been studied for the 
individual waste streams of inert, non-inert (also called non- hazardous) and hazardous 
wastes. While Kent currently achieves net self-sufficiency for each of these wastes 
separately, new facilities this position will be monitored to ensure this will need to be 
developed for each of these waste streams if it is to remains the case net self-sufficient 
throughout the plan period. 
 
6.3.3 The Kent AMR 11/12 (77) shows that there was a considerable movement of waste 
both into and out of Kent for management. In 2010, just over 1,000,000 tonnes of waste 
originating in Kent was managed outside Kent and facilities in Kent managed approximately 
750,000 tonnes of waste that did not originate in Kent. The purpose in adopting the principle 
of net self-sufficiency is not to restrict the movement of waste as such restriction of waste 
catchment areas could have an adverse effect upon the viability of the development of new 
additional waste management capacity facilities needed to provide additional capacity for 
Kent’s waste arisings. 
 
Provision for Waste From London 

 
6.3.43 Specific provision in the calculations for new capacity required for non- hazardous 
waste going to landfill or EfW has been made for waste from London. The reason for this is 
twofold: 1. The evidence base prepared for the partially revoked SEP (the SEP and its 
evidence base are still relevant to the Plan and form part of its evidence base) shows a 
continuing need for the disposal of residual non-hazardous waste arising from London in the 
South East. The SEP quantified the amounts arising and apportioned the provision of 
capacity to be provided by each of the W PAs. In the absence of any more recent 
quantification of the amount of residual non-hazardous waste arising in London that might 
come into Kent for management, the Plan uses a provision allowance based on the partially 
revoked SEP apportionment. 2. The major non-hazardous landfill site in Havering, east 
London, (78) which includes in its catchment area waste arising from the parts of London 

Page 342



 
 

 
 

closest to Kent, is set to close by 2018 and could cause a potential influx of additional waste 
into Kent. If this is not taken into account, the increase in management of non-hazardous 
waste originating in London within waste facilities in Kent could have an adverse effect on 
the capacity of Kent's facilities to manage its own waste originating in the county.that due to 
land constraints London's residual waste cannot all be managed within London itself 
and so, as a neighbouring waste planning authority, Kent County Council has some 
responsibility to make provision for an element of this waste. Historical data indicates 
the tonnage to be provided for is in the region of 35,000 tonnes per annum. It is also 
recognised that closure of Rainham Landfill in the London Borough of Havering in 
2026 may result in the displacement of waste from Kent currently managed there. 
Therefore, an additional tonnage of 20,000 tpa has been planned for on a contingency 
basis. 
 
6.3.5 The Plan's approach to non-hazardous waste originating in London differs from the 
approach set out in the partially revoked SEP as follows:  
 
The SEP's apportionment of London's waste was to be provided by the provision of non-
hazardous landfill. The Plan is instead making provision for London's non-hazardous waste 
through EfW capacity. (79) 

 

The SEP required provision to be made in Kent for landfilling 158,880 tpa of London's non-
hazardous waste for the period for 2006 to 2015. There is no evidence of this rate of 
London's waste being landfilled in Kent. The maximum quantity of London waste that has 
been deposited in Kent's landfills in recent years is 21,259 tpa. The Plan makes provision for 
21,259 tpa to be disposed in either non-hazardous landfill or EfW in Kent. 
 
The SEP anticipated a dramatic decrease in the amount of London non-hazardous waste 
being exported into the South East by 2016, due to the expectation that the only non-
hazardous waste exported would be EfW residues. The Plan anticipates an increase in 
the amount of waste coming into Kent for disposal in 2018 since the non-hazardous 
landfill in Havering is expected to close by the end of 2017.  
 
For the period of 2017 to 2030, the Plan makes provision for 87,000 tpa of London non-
hazardous waste being disposed in Kent at non-hazardous landfill and EfW facilities. This 
is the SEP figure for the period of 2016 to 2025 and is used in the Plan as there is no 
other up-to-date assessment of the amount of London's non-hazardous waste that might 
be exported to Kent for disposal. 
 
78 The Veolia Rainham landfill in the Borough of Havering. 
79 It is anticipated that London's non-hazardous waste might go to either Kent non-
hazardous landfill or EfW , or both. No specific, additional provision is being made for new 
non-hazardous landfill as 
the provision of new EfW is expected to free up some capacity at existing landfill sites given 
that 
EfW is expected to be a more cost effective option. 

 

6.3.64 For the plan period, An assessment has been made of the current profile of 
management of the principal waste streams. The targets applied reflect ambitious 
(but realistic) goals for moving waste up the hierarchy and seek to ensure that the 
maximum quantity of non-hazardous waste is diverted from landfill. new types of 
facilities that will be required in terms of broad categories of waste management facilities, 
such as landfill, recycling and composting, and other recovery, which roughly correspond to 

Page 343



 
 

 
 

stages in the W aste Hierarchy. In this Needs Assessment for different categories of 
facilities has been based on the targets for recycling and recovery (and by deduction for 
landfill) as set out in the Kent JMW MS (80) and its Refreshed Objectives and Policies, (81) 
and the revised W FD. (82) 
 
Policy CSW 4 
 
Strategy for Waste Management Capacity 
 
The strategy for waste management capacity in Kent is to provide sufficient waste 
management capacity to manage at least the equivalent of the waste arising in Kent plus 
some residual non-hazardous waste from London. As a minimum it is to achieve the targets 
set out below for recycling and composting and other forms of recovery., reuse and 
landfill diversion identified in the Kent Joint Municipal W aste Management Strategy (as 
amended). 
 

 Milestone Year 

 2015/16 2020/21 2025/26 2030/31 

Local Authority Collected Waste 

Recycling/composting8  
n/a 

 
50% 

 
55% 

 
60% 

Other Recovery n/a 48% 43% 38% 

Remainder to Landfill n/a 2% 2% 2% 

Commercial & Industrial Waste 

Recycling/composting9  
n/a 

 
50% 

 
55% 

 
60% 

 
 
8. This is taken to include organic waste (including green and kitchen waste) 

treatment by Anaerobic Digestion 
 
9. This is taken to include organic waste (including green and kitchen waste) 

treatment by Anaerobic Digestion 
 

Other Recovery n/a 35% 32.5% 30% 

Remainder to Landfill n/a 15% 12.5% 10% 

Construction & Demolition Waste (Non Inert Only) 

Recycling  
n/a 

 
12% 

 
13% 

 
14% 

Composting n/a 1% 1% 1% 

Other Recovery n/a 5% 5% 5% 

Remainder to Landfill n/a 2% 1% 0.5% 

 

Page 344



 
 

 
 

 

It should be noted that the values shown for ‘Remainder to Landfill’ are not 
targets but are included to show the predicted requirement for landfill in light of 
the achievement of the targets to move waste up the hierarchy. 

 
6.4 Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for Waste 

6.4.1 To meet the Kent MWLP objective of reducing the amount of waste being landfilled, 
the Plan is using policies to drive a major change in the way that waste is managed in Kent. 
To do this will require increasing numbers of facilities for recycling, composting and 
Anaerobic Digestion (AD) as well as additional facilities for EfW . Enabling the change in 
perception of waste from being something that has to be disposed to something that can 
be waste being used as a resource will be helped by the development of such additional 
capacity further up the hierarchy. This will need sufficient local capacity for the treatment 
or disposal of the residues arising from the existing and future EfW plants. 
 
6.4.2 Kent has the benefit of a major EfW plant at Allington that features heavily in the W 
aste Management Unit (W MU) contracts for residual MSW . While this plant currently has 
spare capacity, additional EfW facilities will be required during the plan period to deal 
primarily with the volumes of C&I waste arising in Kent that are currently sent to landfill. 
 
6.4.23 The landfill at Norwood Quarry on the Isle of Sheppey accommodates the hazardous 
flue ash residues from the Allington EfW facility that feature heavily in the Waste 
Management Unit (WMU) contracts for residual MSW, but it has limited consented 
void space remaining. To make provision for this waste for the duration of the Plan, it is 
considered essential that Kent has the capacity to deal with these residues an extension to 
Norwood Quarry is identified. Enabling the continued management of hazardous flue ash 
within Kent has the added benefit of contributing to achieving the continued net self-
sufficiency in hazardous waste management capacity. (83) 
 
6.4.4 Therefore, a matter fundamental to the central achievement of the Plan is the 
identification of a suitable location for the treatment or disposal of the hazardous waste 
residues within Kent. No site for the treatment of this waste was submitted to the County 
Council in response to the call for sites in 2010 and only one site was put forward for its 
disposal. The submission for hazardous waste disposal was for an extension to the existing 
facility at Norwood Quarry, which benefits from suitable geology for engineering a hazardous 
landfill. Norwood Quarry is also the only site put forward in the 2010 call for sites for clay 
extraction for engineering purposes, that would enable a continuation of supply in Kent and, 
thereby, the need to restore the land with waste. 
 
6.4.35 There are no realistic alternatives to the disposal of the Allington EfW flue ash in 
landfill for the foreseeable future. While there is a risk that identifying the extension area at 
Norwood Quarry as a Strategic Site for Waste could hinder the development of alternative 
treatment solutions for the flue ash, there is a need to make provision for this waste stream. 
 
6.4.46 The proposed extension areas to Norwood Landfill are identified as the Strategic Site 
for Waste. The location of these extension areas is shown on Figure 19. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 345



 
 

 
 

 

Policy CSW 5 

 
Strategic Site for Waste 

The proposed extension areas for Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site, Isle of Sheppey are 
together identified as the Strategic Site for W aste in Kent. The site location is shown on 
Figure 19. Unless criterion 1 below is satisfied, planning permission will not be granted 
for any other development other than mineral working with restoration through the landfilling 
of hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants. 

Mineral working and restoration by hazardous landfill and any ancillary treatment plant at 
the Strategic Site for Waste will be permitted subject to meeting the requirements of the 
development plan and the following criteria: 
 
1. Demonstration that the site can be suitably restored in the event that landfilling of 
hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants were to cease 
before completion of the final landform due to changes in treatment capacity and/or 
government policy that may result in the diversion 
of these wastes from landfill. an assessment has-been made that alternative treatment 
technologies for hazardous flue dust from Energy from Waste plants are not economically 
viable 
 
2. an air quality assessment is made of the impact of the proposed development and its 
associated traffic movements (84) on the Medway Estuary and Marshes Special Protection 
Area and the Swale Special Protection Area sites and if necessary mitigation measures are 
required through planning condition and/or planning obligation  
 
3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard and appropriate 
after-use that accords with the local landscape character 
 
4. Any proposal for this site would need to consider the requirements of other relevant 
polices of this Plan and in particular would need to consider any impacts on the A2500 
Lower Road. Depending on the nature of any proposal it may be necessary for the 
developer to make a contribution to the improvement of this road. 
 
6.5 Policy CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities 

6.5.1 The preference identified in response to earlier consultations during the formulation of 
the Plan was for a mix of new small and large sites for waste management. This mix gives 
flexibility and assists in balancing the benefits of proximity to waste arisings while enabling 
developers of large facilities to exploit economies of scale. National policy recognises that 
new facilities will need to serve catchment areas large enough to secure the economic 
viability of the plant and this is particularly relevant when considering the possible sizing and 
location of facilities required to satisfy the strategic need identified in Policy CSW 7 any 
emerging need indicated by monitoring e.g. in the relevant AMR. 
 
6.5.2 The location of waste sites in appropriate industrial estates was also the preference 
identified from the consultation. This has the benefit of using previously developed land and 
enabling waste uses to be located proximate to waste arisings. There is vacant 
Employment land throughout Kent and its availability is monitored annually by KCC and the 

Page 346



 
 

 
 

district and borough councils. (85) W hile vacancy rates of premises in industrial estates 
generally preclude identification of any particular unit, unless it is being promoted by an 
operator/landowner, whole industrial estates may be identified as suitable locations. It 
should be appreciated that all industrial estate locations may not be suitable for some types 
of waste uses, because of their limited size or close proximity to sensitive receptors or high 
land and rent costs. 
 
6.5.3 There will still be a need for other locations for Certain types of waste or waste 
management facilities, such as Construction, Demolition and Excavation (CDE) recycling 
facilities that are often co-located on mineral sites for aggregates or landfills, which are 
usually found in rural areas. Also, in rural areas where either the non-processed waste 
arisings or the processed product can be of benefit to agricultural land (as is the case with 
compost and anaerobic digestion), the most proximate location for the waste management 
facility will likely be within the rural area. 
 
6.5.4 Specific identification of sites for EfW plants will be made regardless of whether the 
sites are within an appropriate industrial estate because large sites are needed. The 
protection afforded through policy will prevent these sites from either being developed or 
partially developed by other uses 
 
6.5.54 The development of waste management facilities on previously developed land will be 
given preference over the development of greenfield sites. In particular, the redevelopment of 
derelict or contaminated land may involve treatment of soil to facilitate the redevelopment. 
Also, redundant agricultural or forestry buildings may be suitable for waste uses where such 
uses are to be located within the rural areas of the county. Waste management facilities 
located in the Green Belt are generally regarded as inappropriate development. Developers 
proposing a waste management facility within the Green Belt shall demonstrate the proposed 
use complies with Green Belt policy (See Policy DM4). 
 
6.5.56 The development of built waste management facilities on greenfield sites is not 
precluded. This is because the goal of achieving sustainable development will lead to new 
development which may incorporate facilities to recycle or process the waste produced on 
the site, or to generate energy for use on the site. 
 
6.5.67 Existing mineral and waste management sites may offer good locations for siting 
certain waste management facilities and for expansion to deliver further capacity to that 
which exists because of their infrastructure and location. In such cases, the developer will 
need to demonstrate the benefits of co-location such as connectivity with the existing use of 
the site while also demonstrating that any cumulative impact is acceptable. For 
example, the co-location of CDE recycling (i.e. aggregate recycling) at an aggregate quarry 
that can enable the blending of recycled and virgin aggregates to increase the marketability 
of the product or the addition of a facility that will move waste further up the hierarchy 
at an existing EfW site. 
 
6.5.8 In order to reinforce and maintain a network of facilities across the county (See Figure 
16), the W aste Sites Plan will identify suitable development locations and give clear 
guidance on the type of facility that may be developed in such locations, based 
o n this Plan ’s  vision , strategic objectives and policies. The criteria in  Policy 
CSW 6 will be taken into account when selecting and screening the suitability of 
sites for identification in the W aste Sites Plan. 
 

Page 347



 
 

 
 

6.5.79 Policy CSW 6 applies to all proposals for built waste management facilities. Sites 
identified for allocation in the W aste Sites Plan will be assessed for their suitability to 
accommodate certain types of waste management facility and therefore certain sites may 
only accommodate certain types of facility deemed appropriate to that location. 
 
Policy CSW 6 
Location of Built Waste Management Facilities 
Planning permission will be granted for proposals that uses identified as appropriate to the 
sites allocated in the W aste Sites Plan to meet the need identified in Policy CSW 7 
providing that such proposals: 
 

a) do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon national and international 
designated sites, including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs), Ramsar sites, Ancient Monuments and registered Historic 
Parks and Gardens. (See Figures 4, 5 & 6). 

 
b) do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon Local Wildlife Sites (LWS), Local 

Nature Reserves (LNR), Ancient Woodland, Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) 
and groundwater resources. (See Figures 7, 8, 10 & 15) 

 
c) are well located in relation to Kent's Key Arterial Routes, avoiding proposals which 

would give rise to significant numbers of lorry movements through villages or on 
unacceptable stretches of road. 

 
d) do not represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

 
e) avoid Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1 or Flood Risk Zone 3b. 

 
f) avoid sites on or in proximity to land where alternative development exists/ has 

planning permission or is identified in an adopted Local Plan for alternate uses that 
may prove to be incompatible with the proposed waste management uses on the site. 
 

g) for energy producing facilities - sites are in proximity to potential heat users.  
 
h) for facilities that may involve prominent structures (including chimney stacks) - the 

ability of the landscape to accommodate the structure (including any associated 
emission plume) after mitigation. 

 
i) for facilities involving operations that may give rise to bioaerosols (e.g. 

composting) to locate at least 250m away from any potentially sensitive 
receptors. 

 
Where it is demonstrated that provision of capacity additional to that required by Policy 
CSW 7, or that waste will be dealt with further up the hierarchy, or it is replacing capacity 
lost at existing sites, facilities that satisfy the relevant criteria above on land in the 
following locations will be granted consent, providing there is no adverse impact on the 
environment and communities and where such uses are compatible with the 
development plan: 

 
1. within or adjacent to an existing mineral development or waste management use 
2. forming part of a new major development for B8 employment or mixed uses 

Page 348



 
 

 
 

3. within existing industrial estates 
4. other previously developed, contaminated or derelict land not allocated for 

another use 
5. redundant agricultural and forestry buildings and their curtilages 

 
Proposals on a greenfield land other than in the circumstances of category 2 above will 
only be permitted if either: 

A. it can be demonstrated that there are no suitable locations identifiable from 
categories 1 to 5 above within the intended catchment area of waste arisings., or 
B. Particular regard will be given to whether if the nature of the proposed 
waste management activity requires an isolated location. 

 

[Paragraph 6.6.1 remains unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

 
6.7 Policy CSW 7: Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste 
 
6.7.1 Policy CSW 7 provides a strategy for the provision of new waste management 
capacity for non-hazardous waste. The policy will allow increase the provision of new 
waste management capacity for recovery while recognising the need to drive waste up the 
hierarchy. 
 
6.7.2 The term non-hazardous waste is regarded, for purposes of the Plan, as being 
synonymous with MSW (86) and C&I (87) waste and the non inert, non-hazardous, 
component of CDEW. 
 
6.7.3 There is no intention to restrict the amount of new capacity for waste management for 
recycling or preparation of waste for reuse or recycling (87A), or for the provision of 
additional capacity for green and/or kitchen waste treatment since the sooner it is delivered, 
the greater the impact will be on reducing organic waste going to landfill, the most 
significant source of methane production. 

6.7.4 There is no intention to restrict the amount of new capacity for waste management for 
recycling or preparation of waste for reuse or recycling, or for the . Furthermore, there is 
also no intention to restrict provision of the additional capacity of for green and/or kitchen 
waste treatment facilities to the later part of the plan period since the sooner it is delivered, 
the greater the impact will be on reducing organic waste going to landfill, the most 
significant source of methane production. 
 
6.7.5 Implementing Policy CSW 7 will result in reducing the amount of Kent 
non-hazardous waste going for disposal to landfill to less than 76,000 tpa by the end of the 
plan period. It will also assist in retaining and by doing so conserve existing non-
hazardous landfill capacity in Kent at the end of the plan period for any non- hazardous 
waste that cannot be reused, recycled, composted or recovered. The reliance being placed 
upon a major increase in additional future capacity through the recovery of waste is 
regarded as being deliverable due to the responses received to the call for sites for the W 
aste Sites Plan, which include sufficient EfW proposals to meet the required additional 
capacity. 
 

Page 349



 
 

 
 

[Footnote 87A -A definition of recycling is included in the glossary. Recycling includes 
composting)] 

 

Policy CSW 7 
Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste 
 
In seeking to be as self-sufficient as possible in managing non-hazardous waste arisings 
in Kent, and for providing for limited amounts of non-hazardous waste from London, 
sufficient sites for waste management facilities will be identified in the Waste Sites Plan to 
meet identified needs as a minimum, including the following capacity. 
 
1. Calculation of capacity at any proposed sites may include recycling and 

composting in an integrated waste management facility providing the total 
capacity calculated results in no significant amount of residue having to go to 
non-hazardous landfill. These figures are based on the high growth forecasts. 

2. The actual number of facilities required will depend on the throughput capacity 
of proposed facilities brought forward to meet the identified need. Facilities with 
a sm aller capacity will result in more facilities than indicated being required. 

3. Additional capacity required to achieve composting rates of 65% C&I waste and 60% 
MSW 
by 2025. 

 
Waste management capacity for non-hazardous waste will be provided through sites for 
managing waste, including Energy from Waste, recycling, in-vessel 
(enclosed) composting facilities and anaerobic digestion plants. 
Sites for anaerobic digestion, composting, Energy from W aste, mechanical biological 
treatment and other energy and value recovery technologies that assists Kent in meeting 
the capacity gap identified in this policy continuing to be net self 
sufficient while providing for a reducing quantity of London's waste, will be 
granted planning permission provided that: 

 
1. it moves waste up the hierarchy, pre-sorting of the waste is carried out unless 
proven not to be technically practicable for that particular waste stream 
2. recovery of by-products and residues is maximised  
3. energy recovery is maximised (utilising both heat and power) 
4. any residues produced can be managed or disposed of in accordance with the 
objectives of Policy CSW 2 
5. sites for the management of green waste and/or kitchen waste in excess of 
100 tonnes per week are Animal By Product Regulation compliant (such as in-
vessel composting or anaerobic digestion) 
6. sites for small-scale open composting of green waste (facilities of less than 
100 tonnes per week) that are located within a farm unit and the compost is used 
within that unit. 

 

6.8 Policy CSW 8: Other Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste 

6.8.1 One of the fundamental aims of the Plan is to reduce the amount of MSW and C&I 
waste being sent to non-hazardous landfill. There will need to be a substantial increase in 
waste recovery capacity during the plan period if a rapid shift away from landfill is to occur. 
 
6.8.2 To give sufficient flexibility for waste management in Kent up to 2030, high growth 
forecasts used to estimate the amount of additional recovery capacity indicate that 

Page 350



 
 

 
 

562,000 tpa will be required (as shown in the table in Policy CSW 7). Proposals for 
additional recovery capacity will need to be designed to operate as Waste Directive 
Framework compliant recovery processes harness ing the maximum practicable 
quantity of energy produced. 
 
6.8.3 Such capacity might be developed in conjunction with waste processing facilities on 
the same site, or as standalone plants where the waste is processed to produce a fuel off-
site. In order to avoid the risk of under provision by double counting both fuel preparation 
capacity and fuel use capacity, only one of the two facility contributions will be counted 
towards meeting any emerging need identified by annual monitoring in future the 
requirement set out in Policy CSW 7. Where fuel preparation takes place as a stand-
alone activity, e.g. Mechanical Biological Treatment, the recovery contribution will only be 
counted as the difference between the input quantity and the output quantity unless the 
output fuel has a proven market. Where that is the case, if the output fuel is to be used in 
a combustion plant beyond Kent, then this contribution will also be counted. (89) 
 
[Footnote 89 - For example, of 100 tonnes is fed into the plant: 20 tonnes are lost as 
moisture; 30 tonnes are diverted as recyclate; 50 tonnes of waste is converted into 
material that may be suited for use as a fuel. Unless that fuel has a proven market then 
the contribution counted will be 50 tonnes as the remaining material may end up going 
to landfill. If the 50 tonnes of fuel goes to a plant built within Kent the recovery 
contribution will be counted at the combustion plant rather than the fuel preparation 
plant. If the 50 tonnes of fuel is exported beyond the county then the recovery 
contribution will be counted at the fuel preparation plant.] 
 
Policy CSW 8 
Other Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste 
 
Sites for additional recovery facilities will be identified in the W aste Sites Plan to treat 
a capacity of 562,500 tonnes per annum. Permission will be granted for a maximum of 
437,500 tonnes in total capacity until such time that the results of annual monitoring 
indicate that this restriction would result in the loss of all non-hazardous landfill 
capacity in the county before the end of the plan period.  
 
Facilities using waste as a fuel will only be permitted if they qualify as recovery 
operations as defined by the Revised Waste Framework Directive (90) When an 
application for a combined heat and power facility has no proposals for use of the 
heat when electricity production is commenced, the development will only be granted 
planning permission if 1. the applicant and landowner enter into a planning 
agreement to market the heat and to produce an annual public report on the progress 
being made toward finding users for the heat. 
 
[Footnote 90 – Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 
November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives] 
 

6.9 Policy CSW 9: Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent 

6.9.1 The lack of response to the call for sites for non-hazardous landfill is indicative of a 
lack of demand by the waste industry to develop non-hazardous landfill. Nevertheless, a 
proposed development might come forward during the plan period and if so it will be 
granted permission providing it complies with both Policy CSW 9 and the DM policies in 

Page 351



 
 

 
 

this Plan. In addition, proposed additional capacity for hazardous waste landfill identified in 
CSW 12 will be assessed against this policy. 
 
6.9.2 Following the completion of a non-inert waste landfill site, the site will need to be 
restored and there will be a considerable period of aftercare during which such sites need 
to be managed in order to prevent unacceptable adverse impacts to the environment. 
Aftercare management can require new development in order to either prepare the site for 
re-use or to manage the landfill gas or leachate production. Policy DM 19 sets out the 
Plan’s provisions with regard to restoration, aftercare and after-use. 
 

[Policy CSW 9 remains unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

[Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites including paragraph 6.10.1 

preamble remain unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan 2013-30] 

6.11 Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste 

 

6.11.1 The most recent capacity assessment Needs Assessment for waste facilities (92) 
shows that there is currently permitted capacity at permanent CD recycling sites of over 2 
mtpa which already exceeds the partially revoked SEP recycling target for the later part of 
the plan period of 1.56 mtpa. However, the target is only a minimum requirement because 
It is considered more sustainable to use recycled aggregates than to extract primary 
aggregates. The term CD recycling is synonymous with the term aggregate recycling and 
the criteria for assessing further site proposals for such sites can be read in Policy CSM 8: 
Secondary and Recycled Aggregates in Chapter 5. 
 
6.11.2 The most recent capacity assessment Needs Assessment shows that Kent has 
existing permitted consented inert waste landfill capacity that is more than sufficient to 
meet Kent's need for the plan period. It is known that Kent receives a lot of waste 
originating out of the county, particularly from London, which goes into inert 
waste landfill in Kent. It has been concluded that The Needs Assessment tested the effects 
of this import continuing continuation of this waste import throughout the plan period at a 
rate of 300,000 tpa and concluded that this would still result in a surplus of inert waste landfill 
capacity of over 10 mt at the end of the plan period can be accommodated by the existing 
consented capacity. 
 
[Paragraph 6.11.3 and Policy CSW11 remains unchanged and as shown in the adopted 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

12 Policy CSW 12: Identifying Sites for Hazardous Waste Management 
 
6.12.1 Hazardous waste arising in Kent is one of the smaller streams of waste; in 2008 it only 
accounted for 3.1% of the total waste arising in the county. The management of hazardous 
waste is typically characterised by the following: Hazardous waste is often produced in small 
quantities and hazardous waste management facilities are often highly specialised with 
regional or even national catchment areas involving considerable movement of hazardous 
waste occurs with both waste originating in Kent going outside the county for management 
and hazardous waste coming into the county for management. 
 

Page 352



 
 

 
 

6.12.2 When hazardous waste management in Kent is viewed as a whole, net self-
sufficiency in hazardous waste management is achieved. However, the Hazardous 
Waste Topic Paper (93) identified that Kent could cease to be net self- sufficient in 
hazardous waste capacity if changes in the production profile and management profile 
of hazardous waste occur as follows: 

• the continued demand for disposal capacity for flue residues from Allington 
EfW facility 

• the likely increase in hazardous residues from air pollution control from 
additional EfW capacity requiring management 

• if the existing asbestos landfill closes then Kent will cease to import a 
significant amount of asbestos based hazardous waste will cease to be 

imported into the county. 
 

6.12.3 The former issue is partly dealt with through the identification of a Strategic Site for 
Waste in Policy CSW 5. The need for management capacity of additional EfW APC 
residues can be addressed through Policy CSW 12 should it be required. Any proposals 
for future provision for asbestos landfill capacity will be addressed using by Policy 
CSW9 through identification of a site in the W aste Sites Plan. 
 
Policy CSW 12 

 
Identifying Sites for Hazardous Waste Management To maintain net self-sufficiency in the 
management of hazardous waste throughout the plan period, developments proposals for 
built hazardous waste management facilities will be granted planning permission in locations 
specified in consistent with Policy CSW 6, regardless of whether their catchment areas for 
waste extend outside beyond Kent. A site will also be identified in the W aste Sites Plan for 
the landfilling of asbestos waste that is consistent with the criteria in Policy CSW 11: 
Permanent Deposit of Inert W aste to enable the continuation of asbestos disposal within the 
county. 
 

[Policy CSW 13 remains unchanged and as shown in the adopted Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30] 

6.14 Policy CSW 14: Disposal of Dredgings 

6.14.1 Retaining the navigable channels within the estuaries within Kent is the statutory duty 
of the Port of London Authority (PLA) and the Medway Ports Authority. When the dredged 
materials do not consist of aggregates or cannot be accommodated within projects to 
enhance the biodiversity of the estuaries, then landfill is the only option currently available. A 
landfill site with river access is needed. A site for the disposal of dredgings will be 
safeguarded through identification in the W aste Sites Plan. 
 
Policy CSW 14 

 
Disposal of Dredgings 
A site for the disposal of dredgings will be identified in the W aste Sites Plan and the site 
will be safeguarded from other development. Planning permission will be granted for new 
sites for the disposal of dredging materials where it can be demonstrated that: 
1. the re-use of the material to be disposed of is not practicable 
2. there are no opportunities to use the material to enhance the biodiversity of the 
Kent estuaries 

Page 353



 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 354



 
 

 
 

7 Development Management Policies 

7.5 Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources 

7.5.1 As set out in section 5.5, it is important that certain mineral resources in Kent are 
safeguarded for potential use by future generations. However, from time to time, proposals to 
develop areas overlying safeguarded minerals resources for non-minerals purposes will come 
forward where for genuine planning reasons it would not be practicable to extract the 

otherwise economic underlying reserves before surface development is carried out. 

7.5.2 In such circumstances, when determining proposals, a judgement will be required 

which weighs up the need for such development will be weighed against the need to avoid 
sterilisation of the underlying mineral taking account of and the objectives and policies of the 
development plans as a whole will need to be considered when determining proposals. 

7.5.23 Policy DM 7 sets out the circumstances when non-minerals development may be 
acceptable at a location within a Minerals Safeguarding Area. This policy recognises that the 
aim of safeguarding is to avoid unnecessary sterilisation of resources and encourage prior 
extraction of the mineral where practicable and viable before non-mineral development 
occurs. 

7.5.4 The process of Local Plan formulation, including consultation, independent 

examination and subsequent adoption provides the opportunity to take account of, and 

address, the need for the safeguarding of mineral resources. In doing so, it can make a 

clear judgement that where land is allocated in a Local Plan for surface development, 

such as housing, the presence of a mineral resource, and the need for its 

safeguarding, has been factored into the consideration of whether the allocation is 

appropriate. For sites allocated for non-mineral development it will therefore usually be 

the case that an assessment of the relevant considerations (criteria 1 to 6 in Policy 

DM7) has already taken place. In some cases, the assessment will conclude that an 

allocated site should be exempt from mineral safeguarding. The approach to be taken 

to mineral assessment during the plan-making stage will be set out in the Safeguarding 

SPD. 

7.5.45 However, applications for non-mineral development located in MSAs, which are 

promoted as a ‘windfall site’ (sites not allocated in a development plan) or which are 

being promoted on allocated sites that have not been the subject of a ‘Minerals 

Assessment, Proposals located in MSA’s will usually need to be accompanied by such an 

assessment. A Minerals Assessment This assessment will be prepared by the promoter 
whichand will include information concerning the availability of the mineral, its scarcity, the 
timescale for the development, the practicability and the viability of the prior extraction of the 
mineral. Guidance on undertaking Minerals Assessments is included in the BGS Good 
Practice Advice on Safeguarding. Further guidance is provided through a Supplementary 
Planning Document. (111) 

7.5.56 In certain cases it is possible that the need for a particular type of development in a particular 
location is so important that it overrides the need to avoid sterilisation of the safeguarded mineral 
resource. Such cases will be highly exceptional and it will be necessary to demonstrate, amongst 

Page 355



 
 

 
 

other things, the overriding importance of the development, such as whether the development is of 
strategic national importance, and why the identified need cannot practically be met elsewhere. 
 
7.5.67 Criterion 7 of Policy DM7 recognises that the allocation of land in adopted Local Plans 
for non-mineral development, such as housing, should have considered the presence of an 
economic mineral resource and the need for its safeguarding at this time, and, where that is 
shown to be the case to the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority, there is no need to 
revisit mineral safeguarding considerations at the planning application stage. The Mineral 
Planning Authority and the district/borough planning authority will consider mineral 
safeguarding during the preparation of Local Plans including during preparation of Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessments. 

7.5.78 Where proposals are determined by a district/borough planning authority, the Mineral 
Planning Authority will work with the relevant authority and/or the promoter to assess the 
viability and practicability of prior extraction of the minerals resource. As necessary the 
Minerals Planning Authority will provide information that helps determine the economic 
viability of the resource. 

7.5.9 In the case of the Sandstone-Sandgate Formation and the Limestone Hythe 

Formation (Kentish Ragstone) the low probability of utility of the Sandgate Beds and 

the significant available reserves (in 2019) of the Kentish Ragstone, it is anticipated 

that any future allocations in local plans for non-mineral development that are 

coincident with these safeguarded minerals will be unlikely to be found to be in conflict 

with the presumption to safeguard these minerals. This will need to be evidenced by a 

Minerals Assessment prepared to a proportionate level of detail. Further guidance will 

be provided in a revised SPD. 

 

[Footnote 111] The Supplementary Planning Document will be maintained by the County 
Council and updated as required. 
 

Policy DM 7 

Safeguarding Mineral Resources 
 
Safeguarding Mineral Resources 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for non-mineral development that is incompatible 
with minerals safeguarding (112) where it is demonstrated that either: 
 

1. the mineral is not of economic value or does not exist; or 
2. that extraction of the mineral would not be viable or practicable; or 
3. the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily, having regard to Policy DM9, 
prior to the non-minerals development taking place without adversely affecting 
the viability or deliverability of the non-minerals development; or 
4. the incompatible development is of a temporary nature that can be 
completed and the site returned to a condition that does not prevent mineral 
extraction within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

Page 356



 
 

 
 

5. material considerations indicate that the need for the development overrides the 
presumption for mineral safeguarding such that sterilisation of the mineral can be 
permitted following the exploration of opportunities for prior extraction; or 
6. it constitutes development that is exempt from mineral safeguarding policy, 
namely householder applications, infill development of a minor nature in existing 
built up areas, advertisement applications, reserved matters applications, minor 
extensions and changes of use of buildings, minor works, non-material 
amendments to current planning permissions; or 
7. it constitutes development on a site allocated in the adopted development 
plan where consideration of the above factors (1-6) concluded that 

mineral resources will not be needlessly sterilised. 
 

Further guidance on the application of this policy will be is included in a Supplementary 
Planning Document. 

[Footnote 112] In this context ‘mineral safeguarding’ should be taken to mean safeguarding 
certain minerals identified within a Mineral Safeguarding Area shown in the policies maps in 
Chapter 9 and allocations in the Mineral Sites Plan.  

7.6 Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation, 

Production & Waste Management Facilities 

 
7.6.1 It is essential to the delivery of this Plan's minerals and waste strategy that existing 
facilities (113) used for the management of minerals (including wharves and rail depots) 
and waste are safeguarded for the future, in order to enable them to continue to be used 
to produce and transport the minerals needed by society and manage its waste. 
 
7.6.2 Policy DM 8 sets out the circumstances when safeguarded minerals and waste 
development may be replaced by non-waste and minerals uses. This includes ensuring that 
any replacement facility is at least equivalent to that which it is replacing and it specifies 
how this should be assessed. 
 
7.6.3 In the case of mineral wharves the factors to be considered include the depths of 
water at the berth, accessibility of the wharf at various states of the tide, length of the berth, 
the size and suitability of adjacent land for processing plant, weighbridges and stockpiles, 
and existing, planned or proposed development that may constrain operations at the 
replacement site at the required capacity. 
 
7.6.4 There also are circumstances when development proposals in the vicinity of 
safeguarded facilities will come forward. The need for such development will be weighed 
against the need to retain the facility and the objectives and policies of the development 
plan as a whole will need to be considered when determining proposals. Policy DM 8 sets 
out the circumstances when development may be acceptable in a location proximate to 
such facilities. The policy recognises that the aim of safeguarding is to avoid development 
which may impair the effectiveness and acceptability of the infrastructure. 
 
7.6.5 Certain types of development which require a high quality amenity environment (e.g. 
residential) may not always be compatible with minerals production or waste management 
activities which are industrial in nature. Policy DM 8 therefore expects the presence of waste 
and minerals infrastructure to be taken into account in decisions on proposals for non-waste 

Page 357



 
 

 
 

and minerals development (known as ‘agents of change’) made in the vicinity of such 
infrastructure. 
 
7.6.6 Criterion 2 of Policy DM8 recognises that the allocation of land in adopted 
Local Plans for development, such as housing, should have considered the 
presence of waste management and minerals supply infrastructure and the need 
for its safeguarding at that time, and, where this has been shown to be the case to 
the satisfaction of the Mineral Planning Authority, there is no need to revisit the 
safeguarding considerations at planning application stage. 
 
7.6.7 Further guidance on the implementation of this policy is included in a 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Policy DM 8 
 
Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation Production 
& Waste Management Facilities 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for development that is incompatible with 
safeguarded minerals management, transportation or waste management facilities, where it 
is demonstrated that either: 
 
1. it constitutes development of the following nature: advertisement applications; reserved 
matters applications; minor extensions and changes of use and buildings; minor works; and 
non-material amendments to current planning permissions; or 
 
2. it constitutes development on the site that has been allocated in the adopted development 
plan where consideration of the other criteria (1, 3-7) can be demonstrated to have 
taken place in formulation of the plan and allocation of the site which concluded that 
the safeguarding of minerals management, transportation production and waste 
management facilities has been fully considered and it was concluded that certain 
types non-mineral and waste development in those locations would be acceptable; or 
 
3. replacement capacity, of the similar type, is available at a suitable 
alternative site, which is at least equivalent or better than to that offered by the facility that it 
is replacing; or 
 
4. it is for a temporary period and will not compromise its potential in the future for 
minerals transportation; or 
 
5. the facility is not viable or capable of being made viable; or 
 
6. material considerations indicate that the need for development overrides the presumption 
for safeguarding; or 
 
7. It has been demonstrated that the capacity of the facility to be lost is not required. 
Replacement capacity must be at least equivalent in terms of tonnage, accessibility, 
location in relation to the market, suitability, availability of land for processing and 
stockpiling of waste (and materials/residues resulting from waste management 
processes) and minerals, and: 
 

• in the case of wharves, the size of the berth for dredgers, barges or ships 

Page 358



 
 

 
 

• in the case of waste facilities, replacement capacity must be at least at an 
equivalent level of the waste hierarchy and capacity may be less if the 
development is at a higher level of the hierarchy. 

 
There must also be no existing, planned or proposed developments that could constrain the 
operation of the replacement site at the required capacity. 
 
Planning applications for development within 250m of safeguarded facilities need to 
demonstrate that impacts, e.g. noise, dust, light and air emissions, that may legitimately 
arise from the activities taking place at the safeguarded sites would not be experienced to 
an unacceptable level by occupants of the proposed development and that vehicle access 
to and from the facility would not be constrained by the development proposed. 
 
Further guidance on the application of this policy is included in a Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 
 

 

  

Page 359



 
 

 
 

Appendix A – Glossary 

 
Local Plan: The Kent MW LP comprises all adopted local plans that will include the Kent MW 
LP, the Minerals Sites Plan, the W aste Sites Plan and the district local plan. A Local Plan is 
a Development Plan Document that includes planning policies for a local area. A Local 
Plan forms part of the Development Plan for an Area. 
 
 

  

Page 360



 
 

 
 

Appendix B: List of Replaced, Deleted and Retained Policies 

It is KCCs Intention to replace aAll the previously adopted minerals and waste policies 
are replaced by plans with the Kent MWLP 2013-30 and the Mineral and Waste Sites 
Plans. The Kent Minerals and Waste Plans previously in force are listed below: 

• Kent Minerals Local Plan: Brickearth (1986) 

• Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction Aggregates (1993) 

• Kent Minerals Local Plan Chalk and Clay (1997) 

• Kent Minerals Local Plan Oil and Gas (1997) 

• Kent Waste Local Plan (1998) 

All of these plans were prepared before Medway Council was formed and these plans 
therefore covered areas which are now within Medway. 

The Secretary of State for the Government Office for the South East wrote separately to both 
KCC and Medway Council on 21 September 2007 providing a direction on the policies in the 
previously adopted minerals and waste plans. Any polices not listed by the Secretary of State 
expired and those listed in the Direction are known as the 'saved policies'. It is the saved 
policies that are deleted by the Minerals and Waste Plan, and the Mineral and Waste Sites 
Plan once adopted. KCC and Medway Council have separate letters of direction from the 
Secretary of State and therefore the deletion of saved policies by KCC has no effect on 
Medway Council's saved policies. 
 
There are five saved policies which will not be deleted until the Minerals and Waste Sites 
Plans are adopted. These saved policies identify land where it would be considered 
acceptable in principle for developments as mineral or waste sites. 

 

Page 361



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Non-Technical Summary 
– SA of the draft Kent 
Minerals Sites Plan 
Report to Environment and Transport Committee 

CO04300759 

June 2020 
 

 

Page 363



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

1 

Document Control Sheet 

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 

Project Number: CO04300759 

Report Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan 

Report Number: SR4 

 

Issue 

Status/Amendment 

Prepared Reviewed Approved 

Rev 0 Name:  

Hilary Livesey 

Signature:  

 

Date: 25/6/20 

Name:  

Jenefer Taylor  

Signature:  

 

Date: 26/6/20 

Name:  

Jenefer Taylor  

Signature:  

 

Date: 26/6/20 

 Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

 Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

 

Page 364



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

1 

Executive Summary 

 

Amey is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (KMWLP) Minerals Sites Plan (MSP) preparation process. This report presents a non-technical 

summary of the final outcome of this process up to Main Modifications stage.  The full findings of the SA are 

set out in a separate SA Report, the purpose of which is to provide information to the Kent County Council 

Environment and Transport Committee about the sustainability of the MSP as proposed and its likely impacts 

when adopted. 

The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 2016 and sets out the vision and 

objectives for Kent’s minerals supply and waste management capacity from 2013 to 2030. It identified that 

the specific sites for minerals developments would be set out in the separate MSP which is the subject of this 

SA Report.  The MSP is a land use plan produced by Kent County Council which identifies and allocates 

mineral sites within the county for the working and winning of minerals.  The main objective of the MSP is to 

ensure that Kent has enough permitted mineral reserves over the plan period (until 2030) and 7 years 

beyond to meet plan making requirements.  The following sites are proposed for allocation in the MSP: 

▪ M3 Chapel Farm (western part only) 

▪ M10 Moat Farm 

▪ M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension 

Various environmental, social and economic issues have been identified through reviewing a wide variety of 

plans and strategies, collecting baseline information and identifying sustainability issues and problems.  

These issues have informed the development of the sustainability appraisal framework, which consists of a 

set of sustainable development policy objectives as set out in Table 1 of the report.  The Main Modifications  

MSP has been appraised against this set of sustainability objectives. 

Each of the sites contain or are adjacent to some form of biodiversity asset or biodiversity value and impacts 

are possible in each case.  It will be important for planning applications to fully assess the impacts on 

biodiversity and to provide mitigation and a net gain in biodiversity.  Restoration proposals at two of the 

sites aim to restore the site to biodiversity habitat which will help to mitigate any potential loss. 

Some negative impacts are possible on community wellbeing, mainly due to the potential for negative 

impacts on residential amenity from operations and transport, and also on the diversion of footpaths.  

Developments are required to adequately minimise impacts from dust, noise, vibration, light and visual 

impacts and cumulative impacts are not likely to be significant. 

Minerals sites generate vehicle movements accessing and leaving the sites. The scale of the cumulative 

impact of the MSP overall is not expected to be great given the predicted number of movements and the 

Page 365



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

2 

context of all traffic movements in the county. 

Each of the minerals sites have the potential for significant impacts on hydrology/hydrogeology and water 

quality. However, the cumulative impacts from all sites in the Minerals Sites Plan is not expected to be 

significant for the county as a whole. 

Two of the minerals sites lie within Flood Zone 3.  In these cases, it must be demonstrated that 

development can take place without adversely affecting flood risk and where possible contributing to a 

reduction in overall flood risk. 

Two of the sites lie within the Metropolitan Green Belt, in which case it must be demonstrated that 

operations will not constitute inappropriate development or constitute very special circumstances.  Given 

that sites will be restored to wetland habitat, lasting cumulative impacts on the Green Belt are not 

envisaged. 

There is the potential for the sites to have limited impacts on landscape and on the historic environment.  

However, it will be possible to provide mitigation such that the significance of impacts is minimised.  Adverse 

impacts on the AONBs are not likely to be significant.  

The Minerals Sites Plan will help to contribute to economic growth by providing a supply of minerals to 

support construction and potentially other economic sectors that depend on aggregates.  By facilitating the 

extraction of primary aggregates, the Minerals Sites Plan is exploiting a non-renewable resource, which 

cannot be considered sustainable. 

The Minerals Sites Plan is likely to increase emissions of greenhouse gases overall by generating additional 

HGV movements and increasing the energy requirements for mineral processing on site.  However, these are 

not significant when considered in the context of emissions from the county as a whole. 

Recommendations are made in the report for measures to prevent, reduce and offset the likely significant 

adverse effects of the sites proposed for allocation in the MSP.  These recommendations are for measures 

that must be addressed in detailed proposals submitted at planning application stage.  

In November 2017, Kent County Council identified a longer list of 9 site allocation options following a 

consultation and gathering of more detailed information on the potential sites. These site options have been 

appraised as ‘reasonable alternatives’ for the MSP. 

In addition to site alternatives, it was considered that there was potential to consider an alternative to 

allocating some sites for land-won aggregates in Kent.  This alternative is to increase the supply of 

secondary and recycled aggregates, marine dredged aggregates and land-won aggregates from outside of 

Kent.  This alternative has also been appraised and the results of this are set out in this report. 

   

Page 366



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

3 

Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Non-Technical Summary ...................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1. Background .................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.2. What is the plan seeking to achieve? ............................................................................................. 4 

1.3. What’s the situation now and how would it change without the plan (sustainability ‘baseline’)? ......... 5 

1.4. Characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected ................................................................. 7 

1.5. Areas of Particular Environmental Importance ................................................................................ 7 

1.6. SA Framework and Sustainability Objectives ................................................................................... 7 

1.7. Likely Significant Effects of the Main Modifications MSP ................................................................. 10 

1.8. Recommendations for Mitigating Adverse Effects .......................................................................... 11 

1.9. Reasons for Selecting Alternatives Dealt With ............................................................................... 12 

1.10. Methodology ............................................................................................................................. 14 

1.11. Monitoring Recommendations .................................................................................................... 15 

 

Tables 

Table 1 SA Framework .......................................................................................................................... 10 
Table 2: Summary of Findings of SA of MSP Overall ................................................................................ 10 
 

  

Page 367



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

4 

 Non-Technical Summary 

 

1.1. Background 

Amey is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (KMWLP) Minerals Sites Plan (MSP) preparation process. SA is a mechanism for considering and 

communicating the likely effects of a draft plan, and alternatives, with a view to avoiding and mitigating 

adverse effects and maximising positives. This report presents the final outcomes of this process up to Main 

Modifications stage. The purpose of the report is to provide information to the Kent County Council 

Environment and Transport Committee about the sustainability of the MSP as proposed and its likely impacts 

when adopted. 

1.2. What is the plan seeking to achieve? 

The MSP is a land use plan produced by Kent County Council which identifies and allocates mineral sites 

within the county for the working and winning of minerals.  From 11 ‘Reasonable Alternatives’, the following 

sites are proposed for allocation: 

▪ M3 Chapel Farm 

▪ M10 Moat Farm 

▪ M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension 

The main objective of the MSP is to ensure that Kent has enough permitted mineral reserves over the plan 

period (until 2030) and 7 years beyond to meet plan making requirements.  Site M3 is a soft sand site and 

M10 and M13 are sharp sand and gravel sites. 

The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 2016 and sets out the vision and 

objectives for Kent’s minerals supply and waste management capacity from 2013 to 2030.  The KMWLP did 

not allocate specific sites suitable for minerals and waste development except for two strategic sites - one 

for cement production (and related mineral reserves) at Holborough in the Medway Valley and one for 

hazardous waste disposal at Norwood Quarry on the Isle of Sheppey).  The KMWLP identified that the 

specific sites for minerals developments would be set out in the separate MSP which is the subject of this SA 

Report.  The selection of sites will be based on the policies of the KMWLP and sites proposed for 

development will be required to comply with the policies of the KMWLP.  

In parallel with the development of the MSP, Kent County Council is also undertaking a Partial Review of 

the KMWLP.  Policies CSW7, CSW8, CSW 12 and CSW 14 of the KMWLP state that a Waste Sites Plan will 

be prepared that will identify sites suitable for accommodating facilities needed to address the identified 

capacity shortfalls.  A review of the future needs for waste management facilities in Kent has recently 

been undertaken and this has concluded that there is now no need for the development of this additional 

Page 368



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

5 

capacity.  The policies will be amended by the Partial Review to reflect this updated understanding.  

Policies DM7 and DM8 set out criteria to allow development that may affect safeguarded sites to proceed 

in certain prescribed circumstances.  Policies DM 7 and DM 8 will be amended by the Partial Review to 

ensure that the safeguarding is not unduly rigid in its application.  Policy CSM 2 will also be amended by 

the Partial Review to remove the requirement for the MSP to identify and allocate sites for the extraction 

of brickearth and chalk as existing permitted reserves of these minerals are sufficient to meet demand.  

The Partial Review has been subject to SA and the results of this are set out in a separate SA Report. 

1.3. What’s the situation now and how would it change without the plan (sustainability ‘baseline’)? 

The following is a summary of the sustainability baseline characteristics in Kent. 

Environmental baseline 

▪ Kent is considered to be one the UK’s most wildlife-rich counties. This is a result of its varied geology, 

long coastline, landscape history and southerly location / proximity to mainland Europe. 

▪ Natura 2000 habitat is concentrated around the coast, particularly around the Thames Gateway (much 
within Medway UA), the Isle of Thanet, the Stour Estuary and Dungeness. Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI) cover 8.5% of the county. The county contains c.10% of England’s ancient woodland. 

▪ The Thames Gateway is also acknowledged for its national importance due to ‘brownfield’ biodiversity. 

▪ The last century has seen major losses and declines of species within Kent. Amongst the most 
important drivers of biodiversity loss in Kent are: the direct loss of land of value to wildlife to built-

development or intensive farming, which has reduced and fragmented populations; and the effects of 

climate change. 

▪ Analysis at the County level has informed the location of 16 Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (BOAs) 

across Kent covering 40% of the land area (BOAs cover 35% of the South East). 

▪ Since 2008 there has been a reduction in carbon dioxide emissions of 0.8 tonnes per capita. 

Nonetheless, this figure remains higher than regional and national emission levels. 

▪ In 2010 it is estimated that 1050 early deaths occurred as a result of just PM2.5 air pollution across 

Kent & Medway [KMAQM, 2015] 

▪ Kent is considered to be the most at risk lead local flood authority in England. Flooding has a 

significant impact on residents and the economy, with such effects predicted to worsen due to climate 

change. 

▪ In Kent there are many catchments where there is little or no water available for abstraction during 

dry periods. Pressures are particularly notable in Kent as it is one of the driest parts of England and 
Wales, coupled with high population density and household water use. Over the next few decades, 

there will be increasing pressures from the rising population and associated development. Looking 
further ahead, climate change could have a major impact on the water that will be available for 

consumption. [EA, 2012] 

Social baseline 

▪ Kent had an estimated population of 1,466,500 in mid-2011. By 2021 the population of Kent is 

projected to increase by 9.4% from 2012. The age group with the greatest projected percentage 

change in population is 65+ (21.2%). 

Page 369



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

6 

▪ In mid-2011, Kent had the largest rural population of any county in the South East (29%) and 

identified problems of ‘rural deprivation’, e.g. associated with access to services, facilities and housing 

affordability. 

▪ In terms of the ‘Index of Multiple Deprivation’, Kent ranks within England’s least deprived third of 
authorities. However, significant areas within Kent are amongst England’s most deprived 20%. Life 

expectancy is 8.2 years lower for men and 4.5 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 

Kent than in the least deprived areas. 

▪ Early death rates from cancer, heart disease and stroke have fallen and are better than the England 

average. About 18.4% of Year 6 children are classified as being obese, lower than the average for 

England. However, estimated levels of adult obesity are worse than the England average. 

▪ Climate change projections highlight an increase in risk to people from flooding; and hotter and 

sunnier summers leading to public health risks. 

Economic baseline 

▪ In 2011, the Gross Domestic Household Income (GDHI) in Kent was £16,855, 5.1% above the UK 

average, while the South East region was 12.8% above the UK average. 

▪ 2011 was the first year since 2008 that the ‘birth’ of enterprises in the Kent exceeded the number of 

‘deaths’. 

▪ During the period October 2011 to September 2012, the employment rate for residents of Kent was 

71.1%, a lower figure than that for the South East (74.6%) and close to that for England (70.7%). 

▪ In Kent, the unemployment rate for October 2011 to September 2012 was 7.4% of the population 
aged 16 years and over; greater than the rate for the South East (5.8%) and close to the rate for 

England (7.9%). 

▪ The ‘public administration, education and health’ sector employs the highest proportion of persons 

aged 16 to 64 (30.7%). Agriculture and fishing employs the lowest proportion of the population aged 

16 to 64 (1.6%). These are also the lowest / highest employers at regional and national levels. 

How would the baseline change without the Minerals Sites Plan? 

There is a degree of uncertainty about how the baseline might change without the adoption of the MSP.  

Mineral sites will still come forward for development and these will be required to comply with the 

development management policies of the KMWLP.  This includes policies on the protection and enhancement 

of: biodiversity value, landscape, Green Belt, heritage assets, the water environment, health and amenity 

(including air quality) and transportation.  Long term trends in environmental quality are likely to continue. 

However, without the MSP there will be less certainty that Kent would be able to provide enough minerals to 

support the expected future demand for minerals from construction and industry.  In such an event, there 

would be a need to source minerals from elsewhere.  This may mean importing minerals from other parts of 

the country, which will have adverse effects on transport networks and air quality.  Alternatively, increased 

quantities may need to be secured from secondary and recycled aggregates and/or marine dredged 

aggregates.  If sufficient minerals of the right type cannot be found, construction and industrial growth may 

be checked.  This could lead to insufficient homes being provided with adverse effects on people and 

communities.  Minerals in Kent would not provide sufficient material to support economic growth, in which 

case employment levels could reduce and GDP and household incomes may fall.  

Page 370



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

7 

Emissions of carbon dioxide may be unchanged without the MSP.  Mineral sites will still be developed and 

emissions of carbon dioxide from mineral operations will continue largely the same as at current levels.  

However, if imports from other parts of the country are required, this will lead to increased carbon dioxide 

emissions associated with mineral transport and associated risks to people and communities. 

The social baseline is unlikely to be affected without the adoption of the MSP.  Population, levels of 

deprivation and health are unlikely to be significantly different with or without the MSP.  Mineral sites will 

still come forward for development and these must comply with the policies of the KMWLP, including on 

health and amenity.  

1.4. Characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected 

The SEA Directive requires that the appraisal describes the characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 

affected by the MSP.  In deciding which areas are likely to be significantly affected by the MSP, the SA has 

made reference to the spatial distribution of the proposed minerals sites to determine whether there are any 

areas of Kent which contain a particular concentration of minerals sites that could give rise to significant 

effects.  This was not found to be the case. 

1.5. Areas of Particular Environmental Importance 

There are five European sites designated under European Directives 79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC and which 

are located within a 20km radius of the 8 sites which have been considered as ‘reasonable alternatives’ for 

the MSP. These are: 

▪ Dungeness SAC; 

▪ Dungeness, Romney Marsh & Rye Bay SPA & Ramsar site; 

▪ Ashdown Forest SAC and SPA; 

▪ North Downs Woodlands SAC and 

▪ Peter’s Pit SAC. 

The characteristics of these designated sites are described in detail in Section 3.6 of the main report. 

1.6. SA Framework and Sustainability Objectives 

Various environmental, social and economic issues have been identified through reviewing a wide variety of 

plans and strategies, collecting baseline information and identifying sustainability issues and problems.  

These issues have informed the development of the sustainability appraisal framework, which consists of a 

set of sustainable development policy objectives (sustainability objectives) as set out in Table 1.  Following 

due diligence in terms of the context and baseline conditions, the Framework and Sustainability Objectives 

for the SA of the MSP has been developed using that produced by URS (2013). The relationship between the 

2010 Scoping and 2013 SA Report objectives is presented in Table 1 below, which also expands on the detail 

Page 371



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

8 

of the objectives and the additions made following the 2017 Scoping exercise and review of the recent key 

policy developments at national level1. 

Sustainability Objectives 

(URS, 2013) 

Corresponding SO 

(Scott Wilson, 2010) 

Detail – including additions resulting from MPS SA Scoping (Amey, 

2017) and additions resulting from review of recent key policy 

developments 

1 Biodiversity SO2 Ensure that development will not impact on important elements of 

the biodiversity resource and where possible contributes to the 

achievement of the Kent BAP and other strategies 

– Add to the biodiversity baseline by creating opportunities for 

targeted habitat creation (which, ideally, contributes to local or 

landscape scale habitat networks). 

– Avoid hindering plans for biodiversity conservation or 

enhancement 

– Support increased access to biodiversity 

2 Climate change SO5 Address the causes of climate change through reducing emissions 

of greenhouse gases through energy efficiency and energy 

generated from renewable sources 

– Promote sustainable design and construction of facilities and 

support wider efforts to reduce the carbon footprint of minerals 

operations. 

3 Community and 

well-being 

SO9, SO7 Support efforts to create and sustain sustainable communities, 

particularly the improvement of health and well-being; and support 

the delivery of housing targets 

– Help to redress spatial inequalities highlighted by the Index of 

Multiple deprivation. 

– Help to tackle more hidden forms of deprivation and exclusion, 

such as that which is experienced in rural areas and particular 

socio-economic groups within communities. 

– Ensure that the necessary aggregates are available for building, 

and that the necessary waste infrastructure is in place to support 

housing growth 

– Ensure that minerals development does not contribute to poor air 

quality particular reference to PM2.5 and NOx 

– Protect and enhance public rights of way and access 

– Protect local green space 

4 Sustainable 

economic growth 

SO11 Support economic growth and diversification 

– Support the development of a dynamic, diverse and knowledge-

based economy that excels in innovation with higher value, lower 

impact activities 

                                                           
1 NPPF 2019; 25 Year Environment Plan; Clean Air Strategy; Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England; Amendment to Climate 
Change Act 

Page 372



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

9 

– Stimulate economic revival and targeted employment generation 

in deprived areas 

5 Flood risk SO1 Reduce the risk of flooding and the resulting detriment to public 

wellbeing, the economy and the environment 

– Ensure that development does not lead to increased flood risk on 

or off site 

– Seek to mitigate or reduce flood risk through developments that 

are able to slow water flow and promote groundwater recharge 

6 Land SO8 Make efficient use of land and avoid sensitive locations 

– Make best use of previously developed land 

– Avoid locations with sensitive geomorphology 

– Recognise the economic and other benefits of the best and most 

versatile agricultural land 

- Prevent inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

7 Landscape and 

the historic 

environment 

SO3 Protect and enhance Kent’s countryside and historic environment 

– Protect the integrity of the AONBs and other particularly valued or 

sensitive 

landscapes 

– Take account of the constraints, opportunities and priorities 

demonstrated through landscape characterisation assessments and 

other studies at the landscape scale. 

– Protect important heritage assets and their settings, as well as 

take account of the value of the character of the wider historic 

environment 

8 Transport SO6 Reduce and minimise unsustainable transport patterns and facilitate 

the transport of minerals and waste by the most sustainable modes 

possible 

– Minimise minerals and waste transport movements and journey 

lengths; and encourage transport by rail and water. 

– Ensure that minerals and waste transport does not impact on 

sensitive locations, including locations already experiencing 

congestion and locations where planned growth or regeneration is 

reliant on good transport networks. 

9 Water SO4 Maintain and improve the water quality of the Kent’s rivers, ground 

waters and coasts, and achieve sustainable water resources 

management 

– Ensure that minerals and waste development seeks to promote 

the conservation of water resources wherever possible particular 

reference to abstraction. 

– Avoid pollution of ground or surface waters, particularly in areas 

identified as being at risk or sensitive 

Page 373



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

10 

Scoped out of URS 

(2013)  

SO10 [waste]  

Table 1 SA Framework 

1.7. Likely Significant Effects of the Main Modifications MSP 

The sites that are proposed for allocation are M3 Chapel Farm (western part only), M10 Moat Farm and M13 

Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension.  The following table summarises the conclusions about the impact of the 

MSP overall with these three sites proposed for allocation.   

 Sustainability Objective 

Site 

1
 B

io
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

2
 C

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 

3
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
 

4
 S

u
st

a
in

a
b
le

 e
co

n
o
m

ic
 

g
ro

w
th

 

5
 F

lo
o
d
 r

is
k
 

6
 L

a
n
d
 

7
 L

a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

h
is

to
ri
c 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

8
 T

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 

9
 W

a
te

r 

M3 Chapel Farm + - -/? ++/- 0 - -/0 ? 0 

M10 Moat Farm + 0 0/- ++/- ? ? -/0 0/? - 

M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry + 0 0 ++/- ? 0/? ? 0/? 0 

Overall impacts + - -/? ++/- ? ? -/? ? 0 

 Table 2: Summary of Findings of SA of MSP Overall 

Each of the sites contain or are adjacent to some form of biodiversity asset or biodiversity value and impacts 

are possible in each case.  Planning applications are required to fully assess the impacts on biodiversity, to 

provide mitigation to ensure no unacceptable adverse impacts and to provide a net gain in biodiversity.  

Restoration proposals at two of the sites aim to restore the site to biodiversity habitat which will help to 

mitigate any potential loss. 

The Minerals Sites Plan is likely to increase emissions of greenhouse gases overall by generating additional 

HGV movements and increasing the energy requirements for mineral processing on site.  However, these are 

insignificant when considered in the context of emissions from the county as a whole. 

Some negative impacts are possible on community wellbeing, mainly due to the potential for negative 

impacts on residential amenity from operations and transport, and also on the diversion of footpaths. 

However, development management criteria require mitigation to adequately minimise impacts from dust, 

noise, vibration, light and visual impacts and cumulative impacts are not likely to be significant. 

The Minerals Sites Plan will help to contribute to economic growth by providing a supply of minerals to 

support construction and potentially other economic sectors that depend on aggregates.  By facilitating the 

Page 374



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

11 

extraction of primary aggregates, the Minerals Sites Plan is exploiting a non-renewable resource, which 

cannot be considered sustainable. 

Two of the minerals sites lie within Flood Zone 3.  In these cases, it must be demonstrated that 

development can take place without adversely affecting flood risk and where possible contributing to a 

reduction in overall flood risk. 

One of the minerals sites contains soil which is classed as the best and most versatile agricultural land, 

although restoration to agricultural land is proposed and therefore the impact of the MSP on soil quality is 

not likely to be significant.  Two of the sites lie within the Metropolitan Green Belt, in which case it must be 

demonstrated that operations will not constitute inappropriate development or constitute very special 

circumstances.  Given that sites will be restored to wetland habitat, lasting cumulative impacts on the Green 

Belt are not envisaged. 

There is the potential for the sites to have limited impacts on landscape and on the historic environment.  

However, it will be possible to provide mitigation such that the significance of impacts is minimised.  Adverse 

impacts on the AONBs are not likely to be significant.  

 

Minerals sites generate vehicle movements accessing and leaving the sites.  The majority of these are HGV 

movements and it is estimated that these will range between 4 movements per hour to 8 movements per 

hour depending on the site.  In addition, staff vehicles will access the sites, around an estimated 10 

movements per day.  For sites M10 and M13, operations are planned to run sequentially with existing 

extraction in the locality so that the impacts from vehicles are likely to be no greater than existing impacts.  

The scale of the cumulative impact of the MSP overall is not expected to be great given the predicted 

number of movements and the context of all traffic movements in the county.  It is unlikely that the Minerals 

Sites Plan will support the use of sustainable modes of transport for minerals, although the KMWLP 

safeguards railheads and wharves to support rail and water transport of minerals. 

Each of the minerals sites have the potential for significant impacts on hydrology/hydrogeology and water 

quality.  Restoration to wetland could affect local hydrology.  However, development management criteria 

for the sites require assessment and mitigation of impacts and the cumulative impacts from all sites in the 

Minerals Sites Plan is not expected to be significant for the county as a whole. 

1.8. Recommendations for Mitigating Adverse Effects 

Recommendations are made in the detailed appraisal of sites in Appendix D for measures to prevent, reduce 

and offset the likely significant adverse effects of the sites proposed for allocation in the MSP.  These 

recommendations are for measures that must be addressed in detailed proposals submitted at planning 

application stage.  These measures address impacts on: 

• Biodiversity habitats and species 

• Amenity, including on public access, noise, dust, vibration, visual impacts and light 

Page 375



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

12 

• Air quality 

• Flood risk 

• Green Belt 

• Landscape 

• Designated and undesignated heritage assets 

• Road network 

• Water quality and hydrology 

1.9. Reasons for Selecting Alternatives Dealt With 

A Refresh Call for Sites took place from December 2016 to March 2017, resulting in 38 sites being submitted 

to KCC for selection assessment, accompanied by a wide range of detailed technical and operational impact 

data from applicants. For a site to be considered to be a Mineral Site Option it had to:  

▪ Align with the objectives of the adopted KMWLP and scope of the Sites Plan: The KWMLP sets out the 

minerals supply needs and waste management capacity provision over the period 2013-2030 and the 

Sites Plan needs to identify sufficient sites to contribute to this requirement.  

▪ Be justified: The site should represent an appropriate option based on a desktop assessment of the 

opportunities and constraints associated with its location. 

▪ Be deliverable: Development of the site should not result in severe adverse effects that would affect 

its deliverability, and its development should also be supported by the landowner  

A number of sites were ruled out of consideration as reasonable alternatives and therefore were not subject 

to KCC’s Regulation 18 ‘Minerals Sites Plan Options Consultation’. 

Kent County Council published a short list of options2 for minerals sites being considered as allocations in the 

MSP.  These sites were subject to an initial screening as stage 2 of the KCC Site Selection Methodology, 

known as the ‘RAG’ assessment.  The following sites were published as options for consultation with a 

summary of the results of the Stage 2 RAG assessment: 

▪ site M2 Lydd Quarry Extensions 

▪ site M3 Chapel Farm 

▪ site M7 Central Road 

▪ site M8 West Malling Sandpit  

▪ site M9 The Postern 

                                                           
2 Mineral Sites Plan Options Consultation, Kent County Council, September 2017 

Page 376



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

13 

▪ site M10 Moat Farm 

▪ site M11 Joyce Green Quarry 

▪ site M12 Postern Meadows 

▪ site M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension 

In November 2017, Kent County Council identified site allocation options following a review of the 

information obtained through the above consultation on options and gathering of more detailed information 

on the sites.  M9 was no longer being progressed because it was withdrawn by the promoter.  Therefore, 

the following options remained as ‘reasonable alternatives’ to be considered for site allocations: 

▪ site M2 Lydd Quarry Extensions 

▪ site M3 Chapel Farm 

▪ site M7 Central Road 

▪ site M8 West Malling Sandpit  

▪ site M10 Moat Farm 

▪ site M11 Joyce Green Quarry 

▪ site M12 Postern Meadows 

▪ site M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension 

These reasonable alternatives have been subject to SA in this report. 

Following detailed technical assessment, review of further submissions to Kent County Council in relation to 

the sites and the findings of this SA, several of the sites listed as reasonable alternatives were ruled out as 

proposed allocations Main Modifications draft MSP.  Three sites are proposed for allocation in the Main 

Modifications draft MSP.  These sites are judged to have acceptable or mitigable impacts following detailed 

technical assessment, consultation and review of the findings of the SA: 

• M3 Chapel Farm 

The western part of the site is suitable for allocation in the Main Modifications draft MSP, subject to 

meeting development management criteria at planning application stage.  The eastern part of the site 

has been withdrawn by the promoter due to likely unacceptable impact on heritage asset.  

• M10 Moat Farm 

Suitable for allocation in Main Modifications draft MSP, subject to meeting development management 

criteria at planning application stage. 

Page 377



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

14 

• M13 Stonecastle Farm Quarry Extension 

Suitable for allocation in Main Modifications draft MSP, subject to meeting development management 

criteria at planning application stage. 

In addition to site alternatives, it was considered that there was potential to consider an alternative to 

allocating some or any sites for land-won aggregates in Kent. 

With its coastal location, Kent fulfils an important role in the importation of minerals including a range of 

construction aggregates from mainland Europe, as well as marine dredged aggregates (MDA) and imported 

recycled and secondary materials.  Kent benefits from a number of aggregate wharves, into which significant 

quantities of MDA and crushed rock are landed.  Land-won sharp sand and gravel is also imported by rail 

and road from areas beyond Kent.  Assurances regarding the security of these minerals imports during the 

Plan period were obtained in developing the KMWLP. 

In addition to the land-won maintenance of landbanks to support a steady future supply of aggregate in 

Kent, the KMWLP contains strategic objectives and policies to  

▪ Promote and encourage the use of recycled and secondary aggregates in place of land-won minerals.  

▪ Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for mineral infrastructure including wharves and rail 

depots across Kent to enable the on-going transportation of marine dredged aggregates, crushed rock 

and other minerals as well as other production facilities.  

It is therefore reasonable to assume that an increased supply of secondary and recycled aggregates and 

MDA is an alternative to the extraction of some land-won sharp sand and gravels.  It is also reasonable to 

assume that some land-won aggregates could be imported into Kent from sites outside of Kent.  This has 

therefore been appraised as an alternative to the allocation of sites for sharp sand and gravel.  The results 

of this appraisal are set out in detail in Appendix E and summarised in Section 6.3. 

1.10. Methodology 

The SA has appraised each of the sites considered as reasonable alternatives, as well as the alternative to 

allocating some or any land-won aggregate sites in Kent against the appraisal framework set out in Table 1.  

The SA has also appraised the Kent site selection methodology against this framework.  The appraisal was 

done by assessing each site, other alternatives and elements of methodology against the appraisal 

objectives in turn and making a largely qualitative assessment, with reference also to the baseline data from 

the Scoping Report.  

In reporting the results of the appraisal, the following symbols have been used to indicate the broad nature 

of the predicted effect: 

Page 378



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Kent Minerals Sites Plan  

15 

 

Further details on the methodology, including assumptions made, are given in Section 6 of the main report.  

Information on the difficulties encountered is provided in Section 4 of the main report.  These relate to the 

lack of available data in some instances, and uncertainties about detailed matters of implementation. 

1.11. Monitoring Recommendations 

The sustainability appraisal has developed a set of recommendations for monitoring the predicted and 

unforeseen impacts of implementation of the Main Modifications draft MSP as proposed.  These are set out 

as a series of indicators related to the sustainability appraisal framework based on the likely and possible 

impacts of the Main Modifications draft MSP.  The recommended indicators should be incorporated into the 

Annual Monitoring Report for the Local Plan and are set out in Section 7. 

 

Page 379



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Non-Technical Summary 
– SA of the draft Early 
Partial Review of the 
Kent Minerals and Waste 
Plan 2013-30 
Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
CO04300759 

June 2020 
 

 

Page 381



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

1 

Document Control Sheet 

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 

Project Number: CO04300759 

Report Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Plan 

Report Number: SR4 

 

Issue 

Status/Amendment 

Prepared Reviewed Approved 

Rev 0 Name:  

Hilary Livesey 

Signature:  

 

Date: 25/6/20 

Name:  

Jenefer Taylor  

Signature:  

 

Date: 26/6/20 

Name:  

Jenefer Taylor  

Signature:  

 

Date: 26/6/20 

 Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

 Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

 

Page 382



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

1 

Executive Summary 

 

Amey is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (KMWLP) Early Partial Review preparation process. This report presents a non-technical summary 

of the final outcome of this process up to Main Modifications stage. The full findings of the SA are set out in 

a separate SA Report, the purpose of which is to provide information to the Kent County Council 

Environment and Transport Committee about the sustainability of the Early Partial Review as proposed and 

its likely impacts when adopted. The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 2016 

and sets out the vision and objectives for Kent’s minerals supply and waste management capacity from 2013 

to 2030.  The Early Partial Review seeks to amend the KMWLP in several respects: 

• The adopted Plan identifies a shortfall in capacity for some types of waste facility over the Plan 

period, however a review of the future needs for waste management facilities in Kent has recently 

been undertaken and this has concluded that there is now no need for the development of this 

additional capacity.  Through the Early Partial Review there will be no commitment by Kent County 

Council to prepare a Waste Sites Plan.  

• Two policies in the KMWLP set out criteria to allow development that may affect safeguarded sites 

to proceed in certain prescribed circumstances.  These will be amended by the Early Partial 

Review to ensure that the Council’s safeguarding approach is effective.   

• The Early Partial Review proposes to add a clause providing for assurances that the Strategic Site 

Allocation at Norwood Quarry can be suitably restored in the event that the void space may no 

longer be used for management of flue dust residues. In addition, it is proposed to delete the 

requirement for an assessment of alternative management methods for flue ash given that 

significant tonnages are already being managed through other treatment routes. 

• The Early Partial Review amends a policy in the KMWLP which states that sites will be identified 

and allocated in the Mineral Sites Plan for the extraction of brickearth and chalk.  Data shows that 

existing permitted reserves of these minerals are in fact sufficient to meet needs. 

Various environmental, social and economic issues have been identified through reviewing a wide variety of 

plans and strategies, collecting baseline information and identifying sustainability issues and problems.  

These issues have informed the development of the sustainability appraisal framework, which consists of a 

set of sustainable development policy objectives as set out in Table 1 of the report.  The Early Partial Review 

has been appraised against this set of sustainability objectives and the findings of that appraisal are as 

follows. 

The Early Partial Review will promote increased reuse, recycling and recovery, which will have climate 

change benefits and support the move towards a circular economy. 

Ensuring restoration of the landfill in the event that insufficient flue-ash is available to complete the landform 

Page 383



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

2 

will help to improve the landscape impacts of the site and remove any amenity impacts on communities from 

an unrestored site.  Restoration plans include biodiversity benefits and these would be secured earlier than 

with original plans.  

Promotion of energy recovery and heat will reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, helping to attenuate the 

effects of climate change, particularly the pressures resulting on biodiversity and communities including from 

flood risk.  Energy recovery will also recover economic benefits from waste and provide heat for homes and 

communities. 

Improved safeguarding of mineral resources will help to ensure the availability of aggregates to support 

housing construction to sustain communities and support economic/industrial activity, although encouraging 

use of a non-renewable resource is not sustainable.  Improved safeguarding of infrastructure for minerals 

and waste management and transport will also help to support communities and economic/industrial activity 

and help to ensure the economic transport of materials and availability of sustainable modes of transport. 

Not allocating sites for brickearth and chalk will have no impacts. 

The SA has considered whether there is scope for making recommendations for measures to prevent, reduce 

and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects of the Early Partial Review.  In practice, no 

significant adverse effects have been identified and therefore no mitigation recommendations are made. 

The SA is required to appraise reasonable alternatives to the Early Partial Review as proposed.  The 

reasonable alternatives that have been identified largely derive from a ‘do nothing’ option, in other words, 

not to make the changes proposed by the Early Partial Review.  The following have been identified as 

reasonable alternatives to the Early Partial Review, here referred to as ‘options’. 

Option A 

• To allocate land for waste facilities and for extraction of brickearth and chalk as envisaged in the 

adopted KMWLP; 

Option B 

• Option B1: To retain the targets for recycling, recovery and landfill in policy CSW 4 of the adopted 

KMWLP; 

• Option B2: To retain targets for recycling and reduce targets for landfill in policy CSW 4 of the 

adopted KMWLP; 

Option C 

• Not to strengthen safeguarding in policies DM 7 and DM 8. 

These alternatives have been appraised against this set of sustainability objectives and the findings of that 

appraisal are set out in the report.  

Page 384



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

3 

Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Non-Technical Summary ...................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1. Background .................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.2. What is the plan seeking to achieve? ............................................................................................. 4 

1.3. What’s the situation now and how would it change without the plan (sustainability ‘baseline’)? ......... 5 

1.4. Characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected ................................................................. 7 

1.5. Areas of Particular Environmental Importance ................................................................................ 8 

1.6. SA Framework and Sustainability Objectives ................................................................................... 8 

1.7. Likely Significant Effects of the Main Modifications Early Partial Review .......................................... 11 

1.8. Recommendations for Mitigating Adverse Effects .......................................................................... 12 

1.9. Reasons for Selecting Alternatives Dealt With ............................................................................... 12 

1.10. Methodology ............................................................................................................................. 13 

1.11. Monitoring Recommendations .................................................................................................... 14 

 

Tables 

Table 1 SA Framework .......................................................................................................................... 10 
Table 2: Summary of Findings of SA of Partial Review Overall .................................................................. 11 
 

  

Page 385



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

4 

 Non-Technical Summary 

 

1.1. Background 

Amey is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (KMWLP) Early Partial Review preparation process. SA is a mechanism for considering and 

communicating the likely effects of a draft plan, and alternatives, with a view to avoiding and mitigating 

adverse effects and maximising positives. This report presents the final outcome of this process up to Main 

Modifications stage. The purpose of the report is to provide information to the Kent County Council 

Environment and Transport Committee about the sustainability of the Early Partial Review as proposed and 

its likely impacts when adopted. 

1.2. What is the plan seeking to achieve? 

The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 2016 and sets out the vision and 

objectives for Kent’s minerals supply and waste management capacity from 2013 to 2030.  The adopted Plan 

identifies a shortfall in capacity of the following types over the Plan period (to 2030): 

• Waste recovery capacity - energy from waste and organic waste treatment; 

• Hazardous waste (due to the identified need for additional capacity to allow for the continued 

landfilling of asbestos) 

• Disposal of dredgings. 

Policies CSW 7, CSW 8, CSW 12 and CSW 14 of the KMWLP state that a Waste Sites Plan will be prepared 

that will identify sites suitable for accommodating facilities needed to address the identified capacity 

shortfalls.  A review of the future needs for waste management facilities in Kent has recently been 

undertaken and this has concluded that there is now no need for the development of this additional 

capacity.  Through the Early Partial Review there will be no commitment by Kent County Council to 

prepare a Waste Sites Plan.   

Policies DM 7 and DM 8 set out criteria to allow development that may affect safeguarded sites to proceed 

in certain prescribed circumstances.  Policies DM 7 and DM 8 will be amended by the Early Partial Review 

to ensure that the Council’s safeguarding approach is effective.   

Policy CSW 5 sets out the criteria to be applied to the assessment of any forthcoming application relating 

to the Strategic Site Allocation at Norwood Quarry.  The Early Partial Review proposes to add a clause 

providing for assurances that the proposed site can be suitably restored in the event that the void space 

may no longer be used for management of flue dust residues due to a possible change in government 

policy. Currently national policy allows landfilling of such waste under a special derogation from the 

Landfill Directive waste acceptance criteria requirements. This has been subject to review in the past and 

Page 386



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

5 

may change in future.  In addition, it is proposed to delete the requirement for an assessment of 

alternative management methods for flue ash given that significant tonnages are already being managed 

through other treatment routes. 

Policy CSM2 states that sites will be identified in the Mineral Sites Plan for the supply of brickearth and 

chalk.  However, information shows that the existing permissions for these minerals are sufficient to meet 

needs and additional reserves are not required. 

In parallel with the development of the Early Partial Review, Kent County Council is also developing a 

Minerals Sites Plan.  This has identified three sites in the county as being suitable for new mineral 

extraction. 

1.3. What’s the situation now and how would it change without the plan (sustainability ‘baseline’)? 

The following is a summary of the sustainability baseline characteristics in Kent. 

Environmental baseline 

▪ Kent is considered to be one the UK’s most wildlife-rich counties. This is a result of its varied geology, 

long coastline, landscape history and southerly location / proximity to mainland Europe. 

▪ Natura 2000 habitat is concentrated around the coast, particularly around the Thames Gateway (much 

within Medway UA), the Isle of Thanet, the Stour Estuary and Dungeness. Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI) cover 8.5% of the county. The county contains c.10% of England’s ancient woodland. 

▪ The Thames Gateway is also acknowledged for its national importance due to ‘brownfield’ biodiversity. 

▪ The last century has seen major losses and declines of species within Kent. Amongst the most 

important drivers of biodiversity loss in Kent are: the direct loss of land of value to wildlife to built-
development or intensive farming, which has reduced and fragmented populations; and the effects of 

climate change. 

▪ Analysis at the County level has informed the location of 16 Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (BOAs) 

across Kent covering 40% of the land area (BOAs cover 35% of the South East). 

▪ Since 2008 there has been a reduction in carbon dioxide emissions of 0.8 tonnes per capita. 

Nonetheless, this figure remains higher than regional and national emission levels. 

▪ In 2010 it is estimated that 1050 early deaths occurred as a result of just PM2.5 air pollution across 

Kent & Medway [KMAQM, 2015] 

▪ Kent is considered to be the most at risk lead local flood authority in England. Flooding has a 

significant impact on residents and the economy, with such effects predicted to worsen due to climate 

change. 

▪ In Kent there are many catchments where there is little or no water available for abstraction during 

dry periods. Pressures are particularly notable in Kent as it is one of the driest parts of England and 

Wales, coupled with high population density and household water use. Over the next few decades, 
there will be increasing pressures from the rising population and associated development. Looking 

further ahead, climate change could have a major impact on the water that will be available for 

consumption. [EA, 2012] 

 

 

Page 387



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

6 

Social baseline 

▪ Kent had an estimated population of 1,466,500 in mid-2011. By 2021 the population of Kent is 

projected to increase by 9.4% from 2012. The age group with the greatest projected percentage 

change in population is 65+ (21.2%). 

▪ In mid-2011, Kent had the largest rural population of any county in the South East (29%) and 

identified problems of ‘rural deprivation’, e.g. associated with access to services, facilities and housing 

affordability. 

▪ In terms of the ‘Index of Multiple Deprivation’, Kent ranks within England’s least deprived third of 

authorities. However, significant areas within Kent are amongst England’s most deprived 20%. Life 
expectancy is 8.2 years lower for men and 4.5 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 

Kent than in the least deprived areas. 

▪ Early death rates from cancer, heart disease and stroke have fallen and are better than the England 
average. About 18.4% of Year 6 children are classified as being obese, lower than the average for 

England. However, estimated levels of adult obesity are worse than the England average. 

▪ Climate change projections highlight an increase in risk to people from flooding; and hotter and 

sunnier summers leading to public health risks. 

Economic baseline 

▪ In 2011, the Gross Domestic Household Income (GDHI) in Kent was £16,855, 5.1% above the UK 

average, while the South East region was 12.8% above the UK average. 

▪ 2011 was the first year since 2008 that the ‘birth’ of enterprises in the Kent exceeded the number of 

‘deaths’. 

▪ During the period October 2011 to September 2012, the employment rate for residents of Kent was 

71.1%, a lower figure than that for the South East (74.6%) and close to that for England (70.7%). 

▪ In Kent, the unemployment rate for October 2011 to September 2012 was 7.4% of the population 
aged 16 years and over; greater than the rate for the South East (5.8%) and close to the rate for 

England (7.9%). 

▪ The ‘public administration, education and health’ sector employs the highest proportion of persons 
aged 16 to 64 (30.7%). Agriculture and fishing employs the lowest proportion of the population aged 

16 to 64 (1.6%). These are also the lowest / highest employers at regional and national levels. 

How would the baseline change without the Early Partial Review? 

There is a degree of uncertainty about how the baseline might change without the adoption of the Early 

Partial Review.  Developments will still be required to comply with the development management policies of 

the KMWLP.  This includes policies on the protection and enhancement of: biodiversity value, landscape, 

Green Belt, heritage assets, the water environment, health and amenity (including air quality) and 

transportation.  Long term trends in environmental quality are likely to continue. 

However, without the Early Partial Review there is the potential for oversupply in waste capacity as policies 

in the KMWLP identify a capacity need.  This may result in waste being transported from outside the county 

to provide inputs to waste facilities which will have which will have adverse effects on transport networks, air 

quality and greenhouse gas emissions.   

Page 388



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

7 

Without the Early Partial Review it is possible that some mineral resources will be lost to other developments 

through weaker safeguarding policy.  Kent may be less able to provide enough minerals to support the 

expected future demand for minerals from construction and industry.  In such an event, there would be a 

need to source minerals from elsewhere.  This may mean importing minerals from other parts of the 

country, which will have adverse effects on transport networks, air quality and cost.  Alternatively, increased 

quantities may need to be secured from secondary and recycled aggregates and/or marine dredged 

aggregates.  If sufficient minerals of the right type cannot be found, construction and industrial growth may 

be checked.  This could lead to insufficient homes being provided with adverse effects on people and 

communities.  Minerals in Kent would not provide sufficient material to support economic growth and 

industrial activity, in which case employment levels could reduce and GDP and household incomes may fall.  

Loss of transport and other infrastructure for minerals and waste without the Early Partial Review is likely to 

result in materials being transported further with consequent impacts on air quality and transport networks 

and could result in the loss of sustainable transport modes.  This would increase transport and material costs 

which would adversely affect the profitability of industry.  It would also result in loss of capacity and 

increased demand for new sites. 

Without the adoption of the Early Partial Review, emissions of carbon dioxide will be greater than with its 

adoption.  The aim is to reduce the targets for the percentage of waste going to landfill and to manage it at 

higher levels of the waste hierarchy and to promote the recovery of energy from waste.  Without this, there 

could be increased climate change effects including flooding with risks for communities, wildlife and habitats.  

Other climate change pressures may be increased with effects on biodiversity and communities, including 

increased temperatures and more frequent extreme weather events. 

Landscape in the locality of the strategic site for waste could be negatively affected if the Early Partial 

Review is not adopted.  If insufficient flue ash is available to restore the landfill, the landfill may not be 

restored in line with original plans which could have lasting landscape impacts and may affect the amenity of 

nearby residents. 

The social baseline is unlikely to be affected without the adoption of the Early Partial Review.  Population, 

levels of deprivation and health are unlikely to be significantly different with or without the Early Partial 

Review.  

1.4. Characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected 

The SEA Directive requires that the appraisal describes the characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 

affected by the Early Partial Review.  In deciding which areas are likely to be significantly affected, the SA 

has considered whether there is a spatial element to the proposed policy changes and therefore whether 

some parts of the county will be particularly affected.  There is only one policy with a spatial element and 

that is the policy relating to Norwood Quarry, the strategic site for waste.  The appraisal of the change to 

Page 389



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

8 

this policy has not identified any significant effects arising from change to the policy.  It is therefore 

concluded that there are no areas likely to be significantly affected. 

1.5. Areas of Particular Environmental Importance 

A Habitats Regulations Assessment has been undertaken for the Early Partial Review1.  This identified that 

impacts from one strategic site, Norwood Quarry Extension, requires consideration because of the potential 

for impact on two designated sites:  

• Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar; 

• Swale SPA and Ramsar 

The characteristics of these designated sites are described in detail in Section 3.6 of the main report. 

1.6. SA Framework and Sustainability Objectives 

Various environmental, social and economic issues have been identified through reviewing a wide variety of 

plans and strategies, collecting baseline information and identifying sustainability issues and problems.  

These issues have informed the development of the sustainability appraisal framework, which consists of a 

set of sustainable development policy objectives (sustainability objectives) as set out in Table 1.  Following 

due diligence in terms of the context and baseline conditions, the Framework and Sustainability Objectives 

for the SA of the Early Partial Review has been developed using that produced by URS (2013). The 

relationship between the 2010 Scoping and 2013 SA Report objectives is presented in Table 1 below, which 

also expands on the detail of the objectives and the additions made following the 2017 Scoping exercise and 

review of recent key policy developments at national level2. 

                                                           

1 Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 & Kent Mineral Sites Plan: Appropriate Assessment, Ecus 

Ltd, November 2018 

2 NPPF 2019; 25 Year Environment Plan; Clean Air Strategy; Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England; Amendment to Climate 
Change Act 

Page 390



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

9 

Sustainability Objectives 

(URS, 2013) 

Corresponding SO 

(Scott Wilson, 2010) 

Detail – including additions resulting from MPS SA Scoping (Amey, 

2017) and additions resulting from review of recent key policy 

developments 

1 Biodiversity SO2 Ensure that development will not impact on important elements of 

the biodiversity resource and where possible contributes to the 

achievement of the Kent BAP and other strategies 

– Add to the biodiversity baseline by creating opportunities for 

targeted habitat creation (which, ideally, contributes to local or 

landscape scale habitat networks). 

– Avoid hindering plans for biodiversity conservation or 

enhancement 

– Support increased access to biodiversity 

2 Climate change SO5 Address the causes of climate change through reducing emissions 

of greenhouse gases through energy efficiency and energy 

generated from renewable sources 

– Promote sustainable design and construction of facilities and 

support wider efforts to reduce the carbon footprint of minerals 

operations. 

3 Community and 

well-being 

SO9, SO7 Support efforts to create and sustain sustainable communities, 

particularly the improvement of health and well-being; and support 

the delivery of housing targets 

– Help to redress spatial inequalities highlighted by the Index of 

Multiple deprivation. 

– Help to tackle more hidden forms of deprivation and exclusion, 

such as that which is experienced in rural areas and particular 

socio-economic groups within communities. 

– Ensure that the necessary aggregates are available for building, 

and that the necessary waste infrastructure is in place to support 

housing growth 

– Ensure that minerals development does not contribute to poor air 

quality particular reference to PM2.5 and NOx. 

– Protect and enhance public rights of way and access 

– Protect local green space 

4 Sustainable 

economic growth 

SO11 Support economic growth and diversification 

– Support the development of a dynamic, diverse and knowledge-

based economy that excels in innovation with higher value, lower 

impact activities 

– Stimulate economic revival and targeted employment generation 

in deprived areas 

5 Flood risk SO1 Reduce the risk of flooding and the resulting detriment to public 

wellbeing, the economy and the environment 

Page 391



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

10 

– Ensure that development does not lead to increased flood risk on 

or off site 

– Seek to mitigate or reduce flood risk through developments that 

are able to slow water flow and promote groundwater recharge 

6 Land SO8 Make efficient use of land and avoid sensitive locations 

– Make best use of previously developed land 

– Avoid locations with sensitive geomorphology 

– Recognise the economic and other benefits of the best and most 

versatile agricultural land 

- Prevent inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

7 Landscape and 

the historic 

environment 

SO3 Protect and enhance Kent’s countryside and historic environment 

– Protect the integrity of the AONBs and other particularly valued or 

sensitive 

landscapes 

– Take account of the constraints, opportunities and priorities 

demonstrated through landscape characterisation assessments and 

other studies at the landscape scale. 

– Protect important heritage assets and their settings, as well as 

take account of the value of the character of the wider historic 

environment 

8 Transport SO6 Reduce and minimise unsustainable transport patterns and facilitate 

the transport of minerals and waste by the most sustainable modes 

possible 

– Minimise minerals and waste transport movements and journey 

lengths; and encourage transport by rail and water. 

– Ensure that minerals and waste transport does not impact on 

sensitive locations, including locations already experiencing 

congestion and locations where planned growth or regeneration is 

reliant on good transport networks. 

9 Water SO4 Maintain and improve the water quality of the Kent’s rivers, ground 

waters and coasts, and achieve sustainable water resources 

management 

– Ensure that minerals and waste development seeks to promote 

the conservation of water resources wherever possible particular 

reference to abstraction. 

– Avoid pollution of ground or surface waters, particularly in areas 

identified as being at risk or sensitive 

Scoped out of URS 

(2013)  

SO10 [waste]  

Table 1 SA Framework 

  

Page 392



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

11 

1.7. Likely Significant Effects of the Main Modifications Early Partial Review 

The SA has appraised each of the policy amendments which are proposed by the Early Partial Review.  The 

methodology and assumptions used in undertaking the appraisal are set out in Section 5.   

The detailed findings of the SA of policy changes are set out in Appendix B and summarised below.   

 

 Sustainability Objective 

Policy 

1
 B

io
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

2
 C

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 

3
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
 

4
 S

u
st

a
in

a
b
le

 e
co

n
o
m

ic
 

g
ro

w
th

 

5
 F

lo
o
d
 r

is
k
 

6
 L

a
n
d
 

7
 L

a
n
d
sc

a
p
e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 

h
is

to
ri
c 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

8
 T

ra
n
sp

o
rt

 

9
 W

a
te

r 

CSM 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CSWS 4 + 0 + + 0 0 0 ? 0 

CSW 5 + 0 ? 0 0 0 + 0 0 

CSW 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CSW 7 + 0 + + 0 0 0 ? 0 

CSW 8 + + + + + 0 0 0 0 

CSW 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CSW 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

DM 7 0 0 ++ ++/- 0 0 0 0 0 

DM 8 0 0 + ++/- 0 0 0 + 0 

Overall impacts + + ++ ++/- + 0 + + 0 

 Table 2: Summary of Findings of SA of Partial Review Overall 

Increased reuse, recycling and recovery will have climate change benefits and support the move towards a 

circular economy. 

Ensuring restoration of the landfill in the event that insufficient flue-ash is available to complete the landform 

will help to improve the landscape impacts of the site and remove any amenity impacts on communities from 

an unrestored site.  Restoration plans include biodiversity benefits and these would be secured earlier than 

with original plans.  

Promotion of energy recovery and heat will reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, helping to attenuate the 

effects of climate change, particularly the pressures resulting on biodiversity and communities including from 

flood risk.  Energy recovery will also recover economic benefits from waste and provide heat for homes and 

communities. 

Page 393



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

12 

Improved safeguarding of mineral resources will help to ensure the availability of aggregates to support 

housing construction to sustain communities and support economic/industrial activity, although encouraging 

use of a non-renewable resource is not sustainable.  Improved safeguarding of infrastructure for minerals 

and waste management and transport will also help to support communities and economic/industrial activity 

and help to ensure the economic transport of materials and availability of sustainable modes of transport. 

Not allocating sites for brickearth and chalk will have no impacts. 

1.8. Recommendations for Mitigating Adverse Effects 

The SA has considered whether there is scope for making recommendations for measures to prevent, 

reduced and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects of the Early Partial Review.  In 

practice, no significant adverse effects have been identified and therefore no mitigation recommendations 

are made. 

1.9. Reasons for Selecting Alternatives Dealt With 

The SA is required to appraise reasonable alternatives to the Early Partial Review as proposed.  The 

reasonable alternatives that have been identified largely derive from a ‘do nothing’ option, in other words, 

not to make the changes proposed by the Early Partial Review.  The following have been identified as 

reasonable alternatives to the Early Partial Review, here referred to as ‘options’. 

Option A 

• To allocate land for waste facilities and for extraction of brickearth and chalk as envisaged in the 

adopted KMWLP; 

Option B 

• Option B1: To retain the targets for recycling, recovery and landfill in policy CSW 4 of the adopted 

KMWLP; 

• Option B2: To retain targets for recycling and reduce targets for landfill in policy CSW 4 of the 

adopted KMWLP; 

Option C 

• Not to strengthen safeguarding in policies DM 7 and DM 8. 

Option A would be to produce a Waste Sites Plan as originally envisaged in the KMWLP.  It would be 

possible for Kent County Council to identify and allocate sites as suitable for waste-related development 

even though no capacity gap has been identified and therefore this has been appraised as a reasonable 

alternative.  Option A also includes the option to identify sites for the extraction of brickearth and chalk as 

stated in the adopted KMWLP.  It would be possible for Kent County Council to identify and allocate sites for 

extraction of these resources even though existing permitted reserves are sufficient. 

Page 394



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

13 

Options B1 and B2 are alternative waste hierarchy targets to those proposed by the Early Partial Review.  

The Early Partial Review proposes a reduced target for landfill and recycling and an increased target for 

other recovery.  It would be reasonable to retain the targets set by the adopted KMWLP, as these were 

considered reasonable when it was adopted in 2016.  However, a reduced recycling target in the Early 

Partial Review could be considered a reduction in ambition for sustainable waste management, while 

retaining a higher landfill target in the adopted KMWLP could similarly be seen as insufficient ambition for 

sustainable waste management.  A third option would therefore be to avoid both of these situations, 

retaining the recycling ambition of the KMWLP and reducing the landfill target to promote more sustainable 

waste management. 

Option C constitutes the ‘do nothing’ option in regard to safeguarding. 

The ‘do nothing’ option in respect of the restoration of the landfill at Norwood Quarry is not considered a 

reasonable alternative to that proposed in the Partial Review.  To leave the landfill unrestored would not be 

an acceptable approach to waste management activity. 

1.10. Methodology 

The SA has appraised each of the changes to policy proposed by the Early Partial Review, as well as the 

alternatives described in the previous section.  The appraisal was done by assessing each policy amendment 

and each alternative against the appraisal objectives in turn and making a largely qualitative assessment, 

with reference also to the baseline data from the Scoping Report.  

In reporting the results of the appraisal, the following symbols have been used to indicate the broad nature 

of the predicted effect: 

 

Further details on the methodology, including assumptions made, are given in Section 5 of the main report.  

Information on the difficulties encountered is provided in Section 4 of the main report.  These relate to the 

lack of available data in some instances, lack of quantification and uncertainties about the scale and nature 

of some impacts. 

Page 395



  

Project Name: Report to Environment and Transport Committee 
Document Title: Non-Technical Summary – SA of the draft Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan  

14 

1.11. Monitoring Recommendations 

The sustainability appraisal has developed a set of recommendations for monitoring the predicted and 

unforeseen impacts of implementation of the Early Partial Review as proposed.  These are set out as a series 

of indicators related to the sustainability appraisal framework based on the likely and possible impacts of the 

Early Partial Review.  The recommended indicators should be incorporated into the Annual Monitoring Report 

for the KMWLP and are set out in Section 7. 

 

Page 396



Appendix G 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan – Proposed Planning Policy Activities Post 

Adoption of Kent Mineral Sites Plan and Early Partial Review of Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30 

 

Stages Dates 

Evidence gathering to inform review June 2020 – March 2021 

Consultation with key stakeholders on need for review of 
policies 

December 2020 - March 2021 

Report outcome of review to Members including 

recommendations on the need to update policies 

June – July 2021 

If policy update required:  

Consultation on draft updated policy (Regulation 18) October-November 2021 

Publication of draft updated policy (Regulation 19) for 
representations on soundness  

March-April 2021 

Submission to Secretary of State July 2021 

Independent Examination Hearings October 2021 

Inspector's Report December 2021 

Adoption January 2022 

 

 

 

Page 397



This page is intentionally left blank



         1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KCC - Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate (GET) 
 

Kent Minerals and Waste local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) 
Early Partial Review (EPR) 

Equality Analysis / Impact Assessment (EqIA)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 399



         2 

 

GET Document Control 
 
Revision History 

 

Version Date Authors Comment 

V0.1 19 May 2020 Bryan Geake  

    

    

V1 

(this should 
be assigned 
to the version 
the Director 
signs off) 

   

 
 

Equality Analysis/Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 
Directorate/Service: Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate; Environment, 
Planning & Enforcement 
 
Name of decision, policy, policy, procedure or service: Early Partial Review of the adopted 
Kent Mineral and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (the Plan) 

P
age 400



         3 

 
Responsible Owner/Senior Officer: Stephanie Holt-Castle, Interim Director Environment, Planning 
and Enforcement  

 
 

Author: Sharon Thompson, Head of Planning Applications 
 
Pathway of Equality Analysis: 
 
Summary and recommendations of equality analysis/impact assessment 
 

• Context 
 

The County Council is required by statue to produce a development plan for the delivery of mineral resources and the 
management of waste up to 2030. The adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP or the Plan)  sets out 
the vision and strategy to achieve this. Early experience with implementing policies of the adopted Plan demonstrated that 
waste management recovery targets and  certain criteria of the safeguarding policies that allow exemptions from the 
presumption to safeguard land-won minerals, waste management and mineral processing and transportation facilities were 
not considered effective.  
 
The work was informed by more recent waste arisings data that did not support the adopted Plan’s policy for net self-
sufficiency.   Monitoring of future waste capacity requirements in the county indicated that a Waste Sites Plan that allocated 
specific sites for waste management activity was no longer required.  With regard to the safeguarding policies and the 
criteria to exempt from the presumption to safeguard mineral and waste resources  it was considered that the policies were 
open to interpretation, reducing their effectiveness in ensuring adequate minerals and waste safeguarding.  To address 
these matters, the adopted Plan has been subject to an Early Partial Review (EPR) of the relevant waste management and 
safeguarding policies.  In doing so, it must be certain that the outcome of such a plan review does not have any inherent 
adverse impacts on persons with a protected characteristic. 

 
 

P
age 401



         4 

 
 

• Aims and Objectives 
 
The adopted KMWLP is prepared in accordance with national planning policy and guidance. The KMWLP  identifies the 
amount of waste to be manged according to the principle of net self-sufficiency and how much land-won mineral is to be 
supplied to meet objectively identified need. Both objectives are to be achieved over the adopted Plan period. Safeguarding 
of both land-won mineral resources and waste management, and minerals processing and transportation facilities are an 
ongoing objective of the Plan.  Both have to be underpinned by effective policies supported by up-to-date data and how they 
are being implemented in the light of experience. Where policies are shown to be no longer effective, either the entire Plan 
should be reviewed or alternatively depending upon the evidence a partial review.   
 
Changes to the waste recovery targets, as indicated by recent waste arisings data and experience with implementing 
mineral and waste safeguarding policies have demonstrated that a partial review of the adopted KMWLP is justified at this 
time. This EqIA has been prepared to comply with the County Council’s statutory obligations to ensure equality impact 
issues have been properly assessed. 
 

• Summary of Equality Impact 
 
Adverse Equality Impact Rating: Low 

 
Attestation 
 
I have read and paid due regard to the Equality Analysis/Impact Assessment. I agree with the actions to mitigate any adverse 
impact(s) that has /have been identified. 

 

Name Signature Title Date of Issue 

Stephanie Holt-
Castle  

Stephanie Holt-Castle Director (Interim) 
Environment, Planning 
and Enforcement 

29th June 2020 

P
age 402



         5 

Sharon 
Thompson 

Sharon Thompson Head of Planning 
Applications 

26th June 2020 

 
 

Part 1 - Screening 

 
 
Could this policy, procedure, project or service, or any proposed changes to it, affect any Protected Group (listed 
below) less favourably (negatively) than others in Kent?  
 
Could this policy, procedure, project or service promote equal opportunities for this group? 
 
There is no justification for direct discrimination; and indirect discrimination will need to be justified according to the legal 
requirements 
 
Screening Grid Analysis 
 

Protected Group 

 You MUST provide a brief commentary as to your findings, or this 

EqIA will be returned to you unsigned 
 

High Negative Impact 
 

Medium Negative 
Impact 
 

Low negative Impact 
High/Medium/Low 
Favourable Impact 

Age   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 

P
age 403



         6 

sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on the 
differing age elements 
of the community 
would be no different 
to impacts on the 
wider general 
population.    
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies.  

management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on age 
would be beneficial. 
 

Disability   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 

P
age 404



         7 

in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals with a 
disability  would be no 
different to impacts on 
the wider general 
population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 
 

whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on any 
disability within the 
community age would 
be beneficial 
 

P
age 405



         8 

Sex   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
sex in the community 
would be no different 
to impacts on the 
wider general 
population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review would be  
beneficial 
 

P
age 406



         9 

adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 
 

Gender identity/ 
Transgender 

  The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
gender 
identity/transgender in 
the community would 
be no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population. 
 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on the 
gender 
identity/transgender 
elements in the 
community would be 
beneficial. 
 

P
age 407



         10 

Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required. 
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 

Race   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
race in the community 
would be no different 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on race 
in the community 
would be beneficial. 
 

P
age 408



         11 

to impacts on the 
wider general 
population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 

Religion and Belief   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on 
religion and belief in 
the community would 

P
age 409



         12 

Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
religion and belief in 
the community would 
be no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required. 
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 

be beneficial. 
 

Sexual Orientation   The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 

P
age 410



         13 

resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
sexual orientation in 
the community would 
be no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 

Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review would be 
beneficial. 
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

  The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 

P
age 411



         14 

mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals falling into 
the category of being 
within the pregnancy 
and maternity category 
in the community 
would be no different 
to impacts on the 
wider general 
population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 
considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 

resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on 
pregnancy and 
maternity in the 
community would be 
beneficial. 
 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnerships 

Not Applicable   
 
 

 

P
age 412



         15 

Carer’s 
Responsibilities 

  The KMWLP 
establishes that the 
principle of mineral 
and waste 
development required 
in order to address the 
needs of the whole 
community for 
sustainable waste 
management and 
mineral supply 
(including 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and 
facilities) is 
acceptable. 
 
Any impacts on 
individuals who are 
exercising carer’s 
responsibilities in the 
community would be 
no different to impacts 
on the wider general 
population. 
 
Before development 
can take place, 
planning permission 
would be required.  
Applications would be 

Enhanced 
effectiveness of the 
Plan’s policies will 
deliver positive 
outcomes for the 
whole community, in 
terms of enhanced 
sustainable waste 
management and the 
safeguarding of finite 
resources and the 
required waste and 
mineral infrastructure. 
Thus, the impact of the 
Plan’s review on the 
ability of carer’s to 
provide care within the 
community is 
beneficial. 
 

P
age 413



         16 

considered against the 
adopted KMWLP 
development 
management policies 
 

 
 

 
Part 2 - Full Equality Analysis /Impact Assessment 
 
From the screening grid, identify the Protected Groups impacted 
 
Given that planning for sustainable waste management and mineral supply is undertaken in the interests of the whole 
population, all groups are being represented through the KMWLP’s Early Partial Review and the plan making process 
pursuant to the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 
 
Information and Data used to carry out your assessment 
 
Ensuring that the required waste management infrastructure matches the known and reasonably anticipated waste arisings will 
ensure that overall, net waste management self-sufficiency is achieved over the Plan period. Assessing the actual and predicted 
waste arisings data and matching this to Kent’s waste capacity is part of the ongoing annual monitoring that the County Council 
undertakes. Applying this data to the KMWLP’s Early Partial Review was undertaken in an objective manner to ensure that the 
Plan’s original objectives of sustainable waste management are realised.  
 
It is accepted that landwon minerals can only be sourced where they occur and require effective safeguarding to ensure the future 
sustainable supply of needed and finite minerals.   Known geological data on these finite resources was sourced from the British 
Geological Survey (BGS) and this information is integral to the adopted Plan’s evidence base. The relevant safeguarding policy 
(Policy DM 7) and its explanatory text is the matter of the Plan’s Early Partial Review, not the geological data itself.  
 
The same applies to the relevant policy exemption criteria (of Policy DM 8) from the presumption to safeguard the waste 
management and minerals processing and transportation infrastructure.  In that the location of these facilities is well known as they 

P
age 414



         17 

are identified and safeguarded by the adopted Plan. The KMWLP Early Partial Review is concerned with the soundness of the 
policy’s explanatory wording to ensure their effective safeguarding is maintained throughout the Plan period as a whole. 
 
Who have you involved consulted and engaged with? 
 
The community  has been engaged with using a variety of communication methods as set out in the County Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement.  All relevant groups within the county were notified of the KMWLP’s Early Partial Review process without 
bias to any one definable group within the community as a whole.    
 
In addition to local communities, all statutory consultees have been consulted including, where relevant:  
 

• Parish Councils  

• Borough and District Council  

• Environment Agency  

• Natural England  

• Historic England 

• Highways England  

• Health and Safety Executive, 

• Health Protection Agency (Public Health England)  

• Campaign to Protect Rural England  

• Civil Aviation Authority ((Head of Aerodromes Standards Department),  

• Kent Wildlife Trust  

• Gardens Trust  

• Ministry of Defence 

• Network Rail  

• The respective water authority (e.g. South East Water)  

• UK Power Networks  

• Sports England  

• Ramblers Association     
 

P
age 415



         18 

 
Analysis 
 
Any impacts on identifiable groups under equality legislation would essentially be no different to those impacts that would be borne 
by the wider general population.  
 
Adverse Impact,  
 
It is considered that the adopted Plan’s Early Partial Review is unlikely to have any significant adverse impact compared to that of 
the adopted Plan in its unmodified state.  
 
Positive Impact: 
 
Ensuring that the required waste management infrastructure matches the known and reasonably anticipated waste arisings will 
ensure that overall net waste management self-sufficiency is achieved over the remaining Plan period. This will help to ensure that 
the community is not subjected to impacts that would otherwise occur if greater than necessary waste capacity was developed and 
managed in Kent that went beyond attaining net self-sufficiency in waste management. Assessing waste arisings data and 
matching this to Kent’s waste capacity is a matter that is part of ongoing annual monitoring that the County Council undertakes.  
The safeguarding of mineral infrastructure is integral to this objective. 
 
Continued effective safeguarding of finite minerals (and their importation facilities) to ensure needed supply to the communities of 
Kent will facilitate the maintenance of the infrastructure and enable efficient use of local resources for the required new level of 
development to the benefit of all defined groups of the general population of Kent. Similarly, the continued effective safeguarding of 
mineral supply and transportation and waste management facilities will enable sustainable minerals and waste development will be 
maintained over the Plan period to the benefit of all defined groups of the general population of Kent.  
 

P
age 416



         19 

 
JUDGEMENT 
 
It is considered that the adopted Plan’s Early Partial Review is likely to have a positive impact on persons with a protected 
characteristic. The aims of the adopted KMWLP and its policies remain the same, the Early Partial Review of the Plan is to ensure 
the Plan remains sound, effective and justified over its remaining Plan period. It is considered that the Plan, as amended by the 
Early Partial Review will both meet the identified needs of the community for sustainable waste and minerals planning for the 
benefit of the community as a whole, and thus help to eliminate discrimination and inequality and foster good community relations. 

P
age 417



         20 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Kent County Council 

 
 
 

Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate (GET) 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) 
Mineral Sites Plan 

Equality Analysis / Impact Assessment  

P
age 418



         21 

GET Document Control 
 
Revision History 

 

Version Date Authors Comment 

V0.1 18 May 2020 Bryan Geake  

    

    

V1 

(this should 
be assigned 
to the version 
the Director 
signs off) 

   

 

 
Equality Analysis/Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 
Directorate/Service: Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate; Environment, 
Planning & Enforcement 
 
Name of decision, policy, policy, procedure or service: Kent Mineral Sites Plan (the Plan) 
 

P
age 419



         22 

Responsible Owner/Senior Officer:      Stephanie Holt-Castle,  Interim Director Environment, 
Planning and Enforcement  

 
 

Author: Sharon Thompson, Head of Planning Applications 
 
Pathway of Equality Analysis: 
 
Summary and recommendations of equality analysis/impact assessment 
 

• Context 
 

The County Council is required by statue to produce a development plan for the delivery of mineral resources up to 2030. 
This is to be done by the allocation of sites in the plan to deliver the mineral supply needs identified as required in the 
adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30.  In doing so, it has to be certain that such a plan does not have any 
inherent adverse impacts on persons with a protected characteristic. 

 

• Aims and Objectives 
 
The Mineral Sites Plan forms part of the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan strategy (KMWLP) that identifies the 
sites required to ensure that the objectives and vision of the adopted KMWLP are met and comply with the National Planning 
Policy Framework’s requirement to provide for a “steady and adequate supply of aggregates” for construction purposes.  
This EqIA has been prepared to comply with the County Council’s statutory obligations to ensure equality impact issues 
have been properly assessed. 

 
• Summary of Equality Impact 

 
Adverse Equality Impact Rating: Low 

 

P
age 420



         23 

Attestation 

 
I have read and paid due regard to the Equality Analysis/Impact Assessment. I agree with the actions to mitigate any adverse 
impact(s) that has /have been identified. 

 

Name Signature Title Date of Issue 

Stephanie Holt-
Castle  

Stephanie Holt-Castle Director (Interim) June 2020 

Sharon 
Thompson 

Sharon Thompson  Head of Planning 
Applications 

June 2020 

 
Part 1 - Screening 

 
Regarding the decision, policy, procedure, project or service under consideration, could this policy, procedure, project or 
service, or any proposed changes to it, affect any Protected Group (listed below) less favourably (negatively) than others in 
Kent?  
 
Could this policy, procedure, project or service promote equal opportunities for this group? 
 
There is no justification for direct discrimination; and indirect discrimination will need to be justified according to the legal 
requirements 

P
age 421



         24 

Screening Grid Analysis 
 

Protected Group 

 You MUST provide a brief commentary as to your 

findings, or this EqIA will be returned to you unsigned 
 

High Negative 
Impact 
 

Medium 
Negative Impact 
 

Low negative 
Impact 

High/Medium/Low Favourable 
Impact 

Age   Any impacts on the 
differing age 
elements of the 
community would be 
no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required   
 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of all age 
ranges of the community. Thus, the 
impact of the Plan on age is beneficial 
to neutral 
 

Disability   Any impacts on 
individuals with a 
disability would be no 
different to impacts 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 

P
age 422



         25 

on the wider general 
population. 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required.   
 

right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of the 
community, irrespective of a disability.  
 
The amenity and health impacts of any 
mineral operation on any of the Plan’s 
allocated sites have been assessed by 
a detailed technical assessment of 
each site with consultation with 
statutory consultees and community 
engagement.  The appropriateness of 
the sites, including amenity and health 
impacts were subject to Independent 
Examination. Therefore, if any of the 
sites had the potential to adversely 
impact any particular disability in the 
population, this  would have been 
apparent and considered appropriately 
at this time. 
 
Moreover, if any planning applications 
for the allocated sites were to come 
forward the impacts on health and 
amenity, and thus any specific groups 
with any disability would be 
considered  through local authority 
and parish council consultations and 
publicity requirements. The adopted 

P
age 423



         26 

Plan’s Policy DM 11 states: 
Minerals and waste development will 
be permitted if it can be demonstrated 
that they are unlikely to generate 
unacceptable adverse impacts from 
noise, dust, vibration, odour, missions, 
bioaerosols, illumination, visual 
intrusion, traffic or exposure to health 
risks and associated damage to the 
qualities of life and wellbeing to 
communities and the environment. 
This may include production of an air 
quality assessment of the impact of 
the proposed development and its 
associated traffic movements and 
necessary mitigation measures 
required through planning condition 
and/or planning obligation. This will be 
a particular requirement where a 
proposal might adversely affect the air 
quality in an AQMA. (See Figure 15) 
Proposals for minerals and waste 
development will also be required to 
ensure that there is no unacceptable 
adverse impact on the use of other 
land for other purposes 
 
This would further ensure that the 
Plan’s effect is not adverse on any 
disability represented in the 
population. Thus, the impact of the 

P
age 424



         27 

Plan on disability is beneficial to 
neutral 
.  

Sex   Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
sex in the community 
would be no different 
to impacts on the 
wider general 
population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required.   
 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of the 
community irrespective of sex.  Thus, 
the impact of the Plan on sex is 
beneficial to neutral 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gender identity/ 
Transgender 

  Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
gender 
identity/transgender 
in the community 
would be no different 
to impacts on the 
wider general 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 

P
age 425



         28 

population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required.   
 

come forward for the benefit of 
different gender status and 
transgender members of the 
community. Thus, the impact of the 
Plan on gender identity/transgender is 
beneficial to neutral 
 
 
 
 
 

Race   Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
race in the 
community would be 
no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of all 
racial groups. Thus, the impact of the 
Plan on race is beneficial to neutral 
 

P
age 426



         29 

permission would 
also be required   
 

Religion and Belief   Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
religion and belief in 
the community would 
be no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required   
 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of all of 
the community. Thus, the impact of 
the Plan on religious belief is 
beneficial to neutral 
 

Sexual Orientation   Any impacts on 
individuals of different 
sexual orientation in 
the community would 
be no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 

P
age 427



         30 

The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required   
 

come forward for the benefit of all the 
community. Thus, the impact of the 
Plan on sexual orientation within the 
community is beneficial to neutral  
 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

  Any impacts on 
individuals falling into 
the category of being 
within the pregnancy 
and maternity 
category  in the 
community would be 
no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development (i.e. 
homes, hospitals, employment retail, 
roads and community facilities) to 
come forward for the benefit of all the 
community. Thus, the impact of the 
Plan on pregnancy and maternity 
within the community is beneficial to 
neutral 
 

P
age 428



         31 

place, planning 
permission would 
also be required 
 
 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnerships 

Not applicable    P
age 429



         32 

Carer’s 
Responsibilities 

  Any impacts on 
individuals who are 
exercising carer’s 
responsibilities in the 
community would be 
no different to 
impacts on the wider 
general population 
 
The Mineral Sites 
Plan establishes that 
the principle of 
mineral development 
is acceptable in the 
allocated sites.  In 
order for quarrying 
development to take 
place, planning 
permission would 
also be required   
 

The supply of the appropriate amount 
of aggregate mineral will enable the 
efficient maintenance of infrastructure 
required by society.  It will provide the 
right amount of materials to enable the 
delivery of needed development 
(homes, hospitals, employment retail 
and community facilities) to come 
forward for the benefit of all the 
community. Thus, the impact of the 
Plan on carers operating within the 
community would be beneficial  
 
If there are specific impacts on carer’s 
responsibilities as a result of a site 
allocated in the Plan coming forward, 
the Independent Examination, which 
included local community consultation, 
would have identified them.  In 
addition, the adopted Plan’s Policy DM 
11 states: 
 
Minerals and waste development will 
be permitted if it can be demonstrated 
that they are unlikely to generate 
unacceptable adverse impacts from 
noise, dust, vibration, odour, missions, 
bioaerosols, illumination, visual 
intrusion, traffic or exposure to health 
risks and associated damage to the 
qualities of life and wellbeing to 

P
age 430



         33 

communities and the environment. 
This may include production of an air 
quality assessment of the impact of 
the proposed development and its 
associated traffic movements and 
necessary mitigation measures 
required through planning condition 
and/or planning obligation. This will be 
a particular requirement where a 
proposal might adversely affect the air 
quality in an AQMA. (See Figure 15) 
Proposals for minerals and waste 
development will also be required to 
ensure that there is no unacceptable 
adverse impact on the use of other 
land for other purposes 
 
This would further ensure that the 
Plan’s effect would not result in an 
adverse impact on any carer’s 
operating in the community. Thus, the 
impact of the Plan on the ability of 
carer’s to provide care within the 
community is considered beneficial to 
neutral 
 

 

P
age 431



         34 

Part 2 - Full Equality Analysis /Impact Assessment 
 
 
From the screening grid, identify the Protected Groups impacted 
 
Given that planning for sustainable waste management and mineral supply is undertaken in the interests of the whole 
population, all groups are being represented through the Mineral Sites Plan and the plan making process pursuant to the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 
 
Information and Data used to carry out your assessment 
 
Landwon minerals can only be sourced where they occur.  Sites allocated in the Plan are the result of the process of local plan 
formulation, consultation and examination in accordance with guidance and legislative requirements. Engagement has taken place 
with the community, including those in the locality of the proposed site allocations.  The County Council used the available OS data 
to conduct the required public consultations and all groups within the locality of the Plan’s proposed allocated sites in question were 
notified of the Mineral Sites Plan process without bias to any one definable group within the community.    
 
Who have you involved, consulted and engaged with? 
 
In addition to local communities, all statutory consultees have been consulted during the Mineral Site Assessment process, 
including, where relevant:  
 

• Parish Councils  

• Borough and District Council  

• Environment Agency  

• Natural England  

• Historic England 

• Highways England  

• Health and Safety Executive, 

• Health Protection Agency (Public Health England)  

• Campaign to Protect Rural England  

P
age 432



         35 

• Civil Aviation Authority ((Head of Aerodromes Standards Department),  

• Kent Wildlife Trust  

• Gardens Trust  

• Ministry of Defence 

• Network Rail  

• The respective water authority (e.g. South East Water)  

• UK Power Networks  

• Sports England  

• Ramblers Association     
 
Analysis 
 
Any impacts on identifiable groups under equality legislation would essentially be no different to those impacts that would be borne 
by the wider general population. Furthermore, Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity of the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan 2013-30 would require any planning application at the allocated sites of the Plan to be fully assessed to ensure that it can be 
demonstrated that it is unlikely to generate unacceptable adverse impacts from noise, dust, vibration, odour, emissions, bioaerosols 
(though this impact is unlikely with mineral development and applicable to waste development assessments), illumination, visual 
intrusion, traffic or exposure to health risks and associated damage to the qualities of life and wellbeing to communities and the 
environment. Therefore, the Plan’s allocated sites would be subject to further detailed assessment to ensure their acceptability prior 
to any development (quarrying) taking place.  
 
Adverse Impact,  
 
Sites that may have had a significant adverse impact on the local population and where adequate mitigation was not considered 
possible were not allocated in the Submission Mineral Sites Plan. The allocated sites (Chapel Farm, Lenham, Moat Farm, Five Oak 
Green and Stonecastle Farm, Hadlow), are those that have been found following detailed assessment acceptable. In that, amongst 
other matters, they have been assessed as not having the probability of significant adverse impact on the identifiable groups by the 
process of Independent Examination.   
 
 
 

P
age 433



         36 

Positive Impact: 
 
A sustainable community requires good infrastructure including roads, rail, housing, hospitals, schools etc. Continued supply of 
minerals to the communities of Kent will facilitate the maintenance of this infrastructure and enable efficient use of local resources 
for required new development to the benefit of all defined groups of the general population of Kent. 
 
JUDGEMENT 
 
It is considered that the Plan is likely to have a positive or neutral impact(s) on persons with a protected characteristic. The aims of 
the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 and its policies, including the provision of an adequate supply of 
aggregates to meet identified requirements, whilst protecting communities and the environment is accepted. It is considered that 
the Mineral Sites Plan will both realise materials to meet the identified need and thus help to eliminate discrimination and inequality 
and foster good community relations. 

                                                                                                                   

 
 

P
age 434



From:   Mike Hill, Cabinet Member for Community and Regulatory 
Services 

 

   David Whittle, Chair of Kent Resilience Forum’s Recovery Co-

ordinating Group 
 
To:   Cabinet, 20th July 2020 
 
Subject:  COVID-19 Multi-Agency Recovery  
 
Classification: Unrestricted  
 
 

SUMMARY: The unique, complex and significant impacts from the COVID-19 
(coronavirus) global pandemic affect every aspect of life in Kent. Kent County Council 
has played a leading role in both the emergency response to the crisis and now as we 
look forward into recovery.  
 
KCC is the lead statutory agency for multi-agency recovery, chairing the Kent 
Resilience Forum’s Recovery Co-ordinating Group to develop recovery strategy and 
planning across Kent and Medway with our partners. This report provides an update on 
multi-agency recovery arrangements and will be supported by a presentation to 
Cabinet on the latest developments. 
   
Recommendation(s):   
 
Cabinet is asked to:  
 
(1) Note the update on multi-agency recovery arrangements. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 COVID-19 recovery aims to restore, rebuild, and reopen public services and 

community support across Kent and Medway following the global COVID-19 
pandemic emergency. As a statutory lead agency for recovery, Kent County 
Council (KCC) is responsible for chairing the multi-agency recovery 
arrangements within the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF). 
 

1.2 The global significance and unique, wide-ranging impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic necessitates a very different type of recovery. Ordinarily, recovery is 
geared around a short-term and geographically bounded emergency event, to 
recover public services back to business-as-usual. Usually, an emergency 
response is followed by a formal handover to recovery arrangements.  

 
1.3 However, COVID-19 has impacted every aspect of economic, civic and 

community life. It has international, national, and local impacts, affecting the lives 
of every resident, business and organisation in Kent and Medway. The impacts 
have been multi-faceted and are likely to be long lasting. 

 
1.4 COVID-19 has initiated a tremendous collective response within KCC and 

between partners across Kent and Medway, to deal with the immediate impacts 
and provide emergency support arrangements for our residents. Response 
arrangements continue across Public Health, health and social care who are very 
much at the forefront of the crisis. 

 

Page 435

Agenda Item 8



1.5 A pandemic of this significance requires a more involved and longer-term 
recovery process than is ordinarily the case. COVID-19 recovery will run in 
parallel with response arrangements, which is unusual and has only occurred 
very infrequently, for example recurring flooding. COVID recovery needs to 
consider planning and preparations for potential further waves of response and 
localised lockdowns, depending on national and local events. Multi-agency 
recovery and individual organisational recovery needs to run alongside and 
complement each other.  

 
1.6 COVID impacts will continue to unfold and emerge over time, particularly as we 

face a challenging period for recovery in the autumn/winter, as health and social 
care services prepare for the winter flu season, Government emergency support 
schemes transition and begin to end and services and businesses begin a ‘new 
normal’, with ongoing social distancing measures.  

 
1.7 The unique challenge is to deliver a recovery which is flexible and responsive to 

changing events and impacts. This recovery needs to build on the significant 
strengths and positive contributions of partners. It seeks to tackle the most 
substantial shared challenges we all face, as well as maximising opportunities to 
improve the way we work, tackle pre-existing issues, and build individual, 
community, organisational and sector resilience.  

 
1.8 Recovery has been a fast-moving process, which has needed to respond quickly 

to changing resident, community and business needs and emerging Government 
guidance and financial support. This report summarises the latest progress of 
recovery and will be supported by a presentation providing the most up-to-date 
position for Cabinet Members. 

 
2.     MULTI-AGENCY RECOVERY ARRANGEMENTS 
 
2.1 Recovery is an integral part of the emergency response process led by the Kent 

Resilience Forum (KRF), the multi-agency partnership of member agencies 
which leads emergency response and recovery co-ordination. The KRF includes 
all of Kent’s local authorities, emergency services, NHS primary care providers 
and other responders. Multi-agency recovery covers the Kent and Medway area.  
 

2.2 Multi-agency recovery arrangements and planning requirements are part of a 
regulatory framework which includes the Civil Contingencies Act (2004), its 
associated Regulations (2005 and 2013), the National Resilience Capabilities 
Programme and national Government emergency response and recovery 
guidance. This sets out key processes and products which all national and local 
partners work to, including the new Government guidelines relating to the 
Coronavirus Act (2020). 

 
2.3 The KRF recovery process was initiated in April by Strategic Co-ordinating 

Group (SCG, also known as ‘Gold’), as per national requirements. Barbara 
Cooper, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport, is KCC’s 
Lead Chief Officer for SCG, which provides updates and escalations through the 
well-established KRF governance arrangements.  

 
2.4 Government guidance determines that the upper-tier authority should act as the 

statutory lead agency for recovery. As such, KCC is chairing the KRF’s multi-
agency Recovery Co-ordinating Group (RCG). This group is chaired by David 
Whittle, Director of Strategy, Policy, Relationships and Corporate Assurance.  

 
2.5 The RCG reports into the SCG and engages with other Regional and 

National Recovery Co-ordinating arrangements and key stakeholders, including 

Page 436



Kent Joint Chiefs and Kent Leaders. All Kent and Medway councils play an active 
role in recovery, representing the needs of all our residents and communities. 

 

2.6 The RCG’s key role is co-ordinate recovery planning and strategy - it is not 

responsible for recovery delivery. This is a time-limited role, with an appropriate 
exit strategy currently being developed, with an intensive 12-week period of 
recovery activity being undertaken until early August. 

 
2.7 Each individual partner agency maintains their responsibility for reporting to their 

own governance and decision-making arrangements. For KCC this includes the 
Leader, Cabinet, Head of Paid Service and Corporate Management Team. 
Recovery has been a core agenda item at KCC Cabinet Committee briefings, 
which provides opportunities for Member engagement and questions around 
operational and multi-agency recovery within the area of responsibility of the 
committee. 

 
2.8 The KRF engagement with Elected Members has been through regular briefings 

to the Kent Leaders, with those Leaders responsible for engagement with their 
own councillors and residents.  

 

2.9 The RCG is supported by seven multi-agency recovery ‘cells’ which reflect the 

wide-ranging demands of the recovery work. The recovery cells include: 
Economy; Infrastructure, Children and Young People, Health and Social Care, 
Voluntary Sector, District and Community, and Finance. The work is also 
supported by a Media and Communications Cell, which supports both response 
and recovery communications.  

 
2.10 The recovery cells have engaged with a broad network of stakeholders and 

working groups to inform the development of recovery products, which has 
involved contributions from partners across Kent and Medway. There are 
approximately 160 individuals from over 50 organisations supporting the 
development of the recovery strategy. The enormously positive engagement from 
our partners has helped to ensure their work reflects strategic, operational and 
local aspects of recovery.  

 
3. MULTI-AGENCY RECOVERY STRATEGY AND PLANNING 
 
3.1 Multi-agency recovery products are part of the national regulatory framework and 

include developing impact assessments, action plans and a recovery strategy. 
This has been the focus of the work of the RCG and the seven recovery cells 
over the last few months, working towards a Kent and Medway COVID Recovery 
Strategy for approval by August 2020. 

 
3.2 From May to June 2020, partners created Impact Assessments providing a 

strategic overview of impacts, strengths, weaknesses, risks, and opportunities 
linked to COVID-19 that will inform recovery work across the county. Each 
recovery cell developed an impact assessment comprised of three main parts: 
identification, prioritisation and equalities considerations. 

 
3.3 An overarching Impact Assessment was collated by the RCG to summarise the 

cumulative impacts for Kent and Medway and shared with partners for feedback. 
This is attached as Appendix A. The cumulative impacts identified in the Impact 
Assessments included: 

 
 
 

Page 437



Positive cumulative impacts Challenging cumulative impacts  

Strong partnership working Significant and prolonged economic 
impacts 

Flexibility and adaptation Financial sustainability and resilience 

Collaborative commissioning Latent demand 

Strong and committed workforce Increased and new vulnerabilities 

Tackling pre-existing challenges Widening of inequalities 

Opportunities for transformation Data and insight 

 
3.4 The Impact Assessments helped to determine where partners needed to take 

action. From June to July 2020, partners developed 7 Draft Action Plans, which 
mirror the seven recovery cells. These identify timely, specific actions which will 
address the issues raised in the impact assessments and contribute to 
successful recovery. Actions span over the short (less than 6 months), medium 
(6-12 months) and long term (12+ months) and have been rated by priority 
(essential, important and desirable). Each action included has passed five ‘tests’ 
to ensure that actions are specific, realistic, require collaboration, respect 
organisational boundaries and add value to recovery. 

 
3.5 The draft action plans identified 152 actions which are currently being tested and 

refined with partners and will be finalised shortly.  Further information on action 
plans will be included in a presentation to Cabinet summarising the latest 
information on COVID-19 recovery. 

 
3.6 The action plans are being used to develop a draft Recovery Strategy. The 

strategy aims to: 
 

 Set out critical success factors for a successful recovery  

 Summarise the main recovery impacts. 

 Provide an overview of the recovery actions which have been identified to 
support residents, communities, businesses and partners across Kent and 
Medway, which are included in seven detailed action plans which underpin 
the strategy. 

 Summarise the equality considerations and equality actions for recovery. 

 Highlight key action themes and essential, short term actions which need to 
be progressed by partners in the next 6 months. 

 Summarise our media and communications approach for recovery 
 

3.7 The draft strategy will be shared with partners for comment during late July, with 
the intention to share a final strategy with Kent Leaders and approval by the 
Strategic Co-ordinating Group in early August. 
 

3.8 At this point, recovery transitions into individual organisations and partnerships, 
to ensure normal governance and decision-making arrangements oversee 
delivery of agreed recovery actions, with the RCG providing a light-touch 
monitoring and engagement role. 

 
4.      EQUALITY CONSIDERATIONS  
 
4.1 It is important that recovery planning actively considers equality impacts, issues 

and opportunities and identifies appropriate actions. This is part of statutory 
duties in the Equalities Act (2010) and the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). 
We recognise and appreciate the importance of equality and are committed to 
taking collective action and providing community leadership to tackle equality 
issues and make a positive contribution. 

 

Page 438



4.2 COVID-19 has impacted different communities and individuals in different ways. 
Some groups were already experiencing inequalities, and these may have 
changed or become greater as a result of COVID-19. We have also seen positive 
examples of communities coming together to support each other through the 
crisis and opportunities to redesign and improve services for protected groups 
(for example, through digital access where this is the preferred or more 
accessible option for some people).  

 
4.3 Some of these impacts are national and longstanding, deep-rooted societal 

issues, which are not unique to Kent and Medway. Other potential issues and 
impacts are only just emerging, and we will need to develop a greater 
understanding and evidence base based on meaningful data over time. There is 
likely to be a time lag before the data can demonstrate the wider impacts and 
there may be gaps in countywide and local data, where we need to undertake 
further research, insight and analysis. There may also be equality impacts which 
are currently unknown.  

 
4.4 The focus for recovery has been to identify emerging cumulative equality impacts 

and issues in the Impact Assessment process, and use this initial evidence base, 
in addition to national research and local data, to inform the development of 
equality actions, which will feature in the Recovery Strategy and supporting 
Action Plans. 

 
4.5 Looking across all the equality impacts identified by the recovery cells, the 

groups that appear to have the greatest cumulative impacts on them are young 
people, children, older people, BAME people, disabled people and women. In the 
draft recovery action plans 43 actions have been identified to mitigate these 
impacts and explore positive opportunities to improve service delivery for 
protected groups.  

 
4.6 Draft actions include improving digital access to services and opportunities which 

will help widen access for people who struggle to use more traditional channels, 
both in the shorter term due to shielding and social distancing and in the longer 
term due to disabilities, work and caring responsibilities and other needs. Some 
actions aim to maximise opportunities that have emerged during the crisis to 
more effectively join up support between organisations for people with a range of 
vulnerabilities and needs. There are actions that aim to address a potential 
widening of an inequalities gap by providing targeted support to people who need 
it, for example specific actions to support young people into employment and 
training. There are also partnership actions to gather and analyse data and 
intelligence to deepen understanding of equalities impacts. 

 
4.7 An equality analysis of the Kent and Medway COVID-19 Recovery Strategy is 

also being developed, to take a strategic view on impacts and actions. 
 
5. NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1 Further updates on multi-agency recovery will be part of the core remit for KCC 

Committees, including Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and Scrutiny Committee, 
as required. This provides an appropriate mechanism to engage Elected 
Members on aspects of recovery which relate to the KCC services which are 
within the responsibility for each committee.  

 
5.2 The multi-agency Impact Assessments and Recovery Strategy, including 

detailed action plans, are currently out for feedback from partners. These will be 
finalised in the next couple of weeks to be shared with Kent Leaders on 6th 
August, ahead approval by the Strategic Co-ordinating Group w/c 10th August.  

Page 439



 
 
6.        RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 The recommendations are as follows: 
 

Cabinet is asked to:  
 
(1) Note the update on multi-agency recovery arrangements. 

 
7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
  
7.1  None  
 
8.  APPENDICIES 
 

 Appendix A: KRF RGC Covid-19 Overarching Impact Assessment  
 
Author and Relevant Director: 
David Whittle, Director, Strategy, Policy, Relationships and Corporate Assurance 
david.whittle@kent.gov.uk, 03000 416833 

Page 440

mailto:david.whittle@kent.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) 
 

COVID-19 Recovery  
Overarching Impact Assessment 

for Kent and Medway 
 

 
 
 

July 2020, v2.0 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Version Control 
 

Version Date Changes 

0.1 22/06/20 Initial draft incorporating all recovery cell impact assessments 

0.2 23/06/20 Revisions to first draft  

0.3 24/06/20 Revisions for Chair of KRF Recovery Coordinating Group 

1.0 24/06/20 First draft for circulation to partners for feedback 

2.0 10/07/20 Changes made following partner feedback and addition of equality 
cumulative impacts 

 

 
 
 

Page 441



 

 

1. Contents 

 
Contents 

Purpose of the Overarching Impact Assessment 

Development of the Recovery Impact Assessments 

Recovery Impact Assessments – At A Glance 

Cumulative Recovery Impacts  

Priority Impacts for Action 

Strengths, Opportunities and Quick Wins 

Risks for Recovery 

Weaknesses, Gaps and Things to Stop 

Equality Impacts 

Background Document - KRF COVID-19 Recovery Impact Assessment 
Evidence Base 

You Said We Did 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 442



 

 

2. Purpose of the Overarching Impact Assessment 
 
The aim of the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) COVID-19 recovery is to restore, rebuild 

and recover public services and community support across Kent and Medway following 

the COVID-19 pandemic emergency. The recovery process involves creating core 

products to support recovery planning and delivery, including impact assessments and a 

recovery strategy with supporting action plans.  

The overarching impact assessment provides a strategic overview of cumulative impacts 

(including equality impacts), strengths and opportunities linked to COVID-19, to inform 

the prioritisation of essential actions which need to be delivered across Kent and Medway 

to support a successful recovery over the short, medium and long term.  

It also captures a reflection of potential risks, weaknesses, gaps and what activity may be 

stopped, to inform mitigating actions and to help prioritise limited resources effectively. It 

also identifies strengths and opportunities to build on. 

The overarching impact assessment provides an executive summary of 7 individual 

recovery impact assessments, which act as a detailed evidence base to understand 

thematic impacts and equality considerations. The overarching impact assessment 

captures the highest priority impacts identified in the individual impact assessments, 

creating a high-level summary for partners. 

These detailed impact assessments reflect the judgement of the recovery cells and their 

wider reference groups, which could inform future service redesign, strategy and action 

planning in Kent and Medway organisations. The impacts will continue to evolve as 

Covid-19 events unfold, so partners will be able to update the impact assessments over 

time as needed, providing a live evidence base. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 443



 

 

3. Development of the Recovery Impact Assessments 
 

The Impact Assessments have been developed by the KRF Recovery Co-ordinating 

Group (RCG), chaired by Kent County Council, which reports into the KRF’s Strategic 

Co-ordinating Group (Gold) and engages with other Regional and National Recovery Co-

ordinating arrangements and key stakeholders, including Kent Joint Chiefs and Kent 

Leaders. 

The RCG is supported by 7 multi-agency recovery ‘cells’ which reflect the wide-ranging 
demands of the recovery work. The recovery cells have led the development of individual 
impact assessments (Appendix A). The recovery cells are: Economy (ECO); 
Infrastructure (INF); Children and Young People (CYP); Health and Social Care (HSC); 
Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS); District and Community (D&C); and Finance 
(FIN). 

Each cell produced their impact assessment collaboratively with contributions from 

partners across the public, private, voluntary and community sector. Views were also 

engaged from a wider reference group including representatives of service providers, 

parish and town councils and community groups. 

Each cell identified the main impacts for their areas, based on their level of severity (low, 

medium or high) and proximity when the impact may be felt across Kent and Medway 

(less than 6 months, 6 to 12 months or more than 12 months). 

The cells then identified strengths, weakness, opportunities and risks. It was important to 

capture the positive aspects of recovery, as well as highlighting the challenges we need 

to urgently address to recover and restore vital services.  

The cells prioritised the most important system-wide impacts and assessed significant 

gaps in information or knowledge needed to plan for recovery, quick wins and anything 

that should be stopped or not restarted in order to focus on the most significant priorities.  

Cells also identified key equality considerations and impacts. This is important to fulfil our 

statutory responsibilities in the Public Sector Equality Duty and helps us to better 

understand priority areas for action and where there are cumulative impacts on protected 

characteristics or groups, including Age, Disability, Sex, Gender reassignment, Race, 

Religion/belief or none, Sexual orientation, Pregnancy and maternity, Marriage and civil 

partnership. 

The seven impact assessments stand alone as a detailed evidence base of specific 

impacts, captured in Appendix A. This overarching impact assessment summarises the 

key findings and draws together cumulative impacts from all the individual impact 

assessments. This frames key elements which cells will consider in action plan 

development and will inform the Kent and Medway COVID-19 Recovery Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 444



 

 

4. Recovery Impact Assessments – At A Glance 
 
 

Kent and Medway Recovery Impact Assessments 
 

7 impact assessments, identifying 77 impacts 
 

 
Cumulative Impacts - Positives 
 
• Strong partnership working 

• Flexibility and adaptation 

• Collaborative commissioning 

• Strong and committed workforce 

• Tackling pre-existing challenges 

• Opportunities for transformation 

 

 
Cumulative Impacts - Challenges 
 
• Significant and prolonged economic impacts  

• Financial sustainability and resilience 

• Changes in demand 

• Increased and new vulnerabilities  

• Widening of inequalities  

• Data and insight 
 

 
Priority Impacts for Action                                     
 
• 77 impacts, 42 high severity, 48 short term 

• Permanent loss of businesses 

• Loss of employment 

• Increased levels of vulnerability 

• Loss of learning  

• Changes in health and social care activity 

• Cumulative financial impact on VCSE 

• Social distancing guidelines 

• Supporting adaptation & behavioural change 

• Multiple financial challenges for councils 

 

 
Risks 
 
• 84 risks 

• Twin pressures of rising demand & costs 

• Wind down of Government support schemes 

• Winter planning in health and social care 

• Impact of potential further COVID-19 waves 

• Unsustainable financial risk in VCSE sector 

• Financial challenges for local authorities 

• Government faces competing demands 

• Low market confident impacts on investment 

 

 
Strengths 
 
• 47 strengths 

• Government’s economic support package  

• Continuity of vital infrastructure 

• Partnership working in children’s services 

• Resilient health and social care workforce 

• Responsive and flexible VCSE workforce 

• Communities supporting each other 

• Improved working at a local level 

• Collective work on funding and lobbying 

 

 
Weaknesses 
 
• 44 weaknesses 

• Withdrawal of temporary economic support 

• Broadband access and digital poverty 

• Understanding travel infrastructure impacts 

• Children and youth health inequalities 

• Employer consideration of risk to BAME staff 

• National health and care communications 

• Limited local data and insight available 

• Data on vulnerable and shielded people 

 

 
Opportunities 
 
• 67 opportunities, incl. innovation, investment, 

transformation, partnership and peer support 

 

 
Gaps 
 
• 34 gaps, incl. data and insight and uncertainty 

on future funding arrangements 

 

 
Quick Wins 
 
• 37 quick wins for positive action 

 

 
Stops 
 

• 9 things we could stop or reprioritise 

 

Page 445



 

 

5. Cumulative Recovery Impacts 
 

The 7 individual impact assessments in Appendix A identified a huge variety of significant 

and detailed impacts, which reflects the unique breadth and depth of the COVID-19 

recovery.  

However, similar types of impacts continually emerged in the individual impact 

assessments, highlighting the cross-cutting nature of recovery.  

These give a sense of the potential cumulative impact of recovery, both positive aspects 

of recovery which we want to celebrate and build upon, and more challenging aspects of 

recovery which will be critical to address in the Recovery Strategy action plans, if we are 

to deliver a successful recovery. 

Positive cumulative impacts that partners need to recognise and take forward include: 

Strong partnership working – partners from all sectors are working 
together to tackle challenges and take action, cutting through barriers and 
organisational boundaries to support each other in recovery. 
 
Flexibility and adaptation – organisations and services have quickly 
adapted and shown great flexibility in the way they work. There are 
opportunities to embed this as an ongoing strength. 

Collaborative commissioning – partners are working collectively to 
commission the services and support that people need, building greater 
trust, supporting providers and encouraging sector collaboration. 
 
Strong and committed workforce – the workforce across Kent and 
Medway has demonstrated extraordinary commitment and resilience and 
will continue to be valued and supported.  
 
Tackling pre-existing challenges – there are opportunities to tackle 
endemic challenges like climate change and social isolation by maximising 
positive behaviour and culture change and the strength in our communities.  
 
Opportunities for transformation – we can build on what has worked 
during the crisis, going further and faster to transform how we work and 
how services meet people’s needs, achieving a multi-benefit recovery by 
building back better.  

   

Challenging cumulative impacts that partners will need to mitigate and act upon include: 

Significant and prolonged economic impacts – including significant 
unemployment and immediate loss of output in sectors directly impacted by 
lockdown, which is likely to extend for a prolonged period. 

Financial sustainability and resilience – public services and providers 

face enormous financial demands while income and funding are decreasing 

or insufficient, threatening the sustainability and resilience of vital services. 

 

Page 446



 

 

Changes in demand – as we move into recovery there will be short-term 
surges in latent demand for many types of services as well as longer-term 
shifts caused by behaviour change that are difficult to predict. Hidden harm 
experienced by people will need to be identified and support provided. 

Increased and new vulnerabilities – there will be new and greater 
vulnerabilities in our communities including families in financial hardship 
and people who are socially isolated. People may need most help as 
emergency support is withdrawn.   

Widening of inequalities – the unequal impact of the crisis on different 
people may widen gaps in attainment, opportunity and health and 
wellbeing. Gaps could be exacerbated by a growing digital divide and digital 
poverty. 

Data and insight – successful recovery is reliant on robust intelligence on 
the needs and situations of individuals, communities and providers. 
Partners face challenges in quickly gathering, understanding and sharing 
data and working successfully with Government.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 447



 

 

6. Priority Impacts for Action 
 

Each recovery cell prioritised the most significant impacts by severity (high, medium, low) 

and proximity (short, medium, long). Overall, 77 impacts were identified across the cells.  

Of these, 42 were rated as high severity impacts. 48 were identified as short-term 

impacts, which are having an immediate impact, or will do within the next 6 months. A 

robust understanding of the key impacts is critical to informing effective action planning. 

 

Given the breadth of impacts identified, this overarching impact assessment summarises 

only the highest priority impacts, which could have a significant and severe impact in 

Kent and Medway. The full range of recovery impacts is captured in Appendix A.  

The highest priority, significant system-wide impacts identified by recovery cells included:  

Permanent loss of businesses - Sectors such as hospitality and the 
creative industries will be particularly affected due to continued shutdown 
and distancing measures. This will have knock-on effects for other areas of 
the economy. It will be important for partners to influence and supplement 
the national response.   
 
Loss of employment – This is highly likely in the short term and the extent 
of unemployment may become more apparent as the furlough scheme 
winds down. It is likely that those with the weakest position in the labour 
market will be the most impacted. For new entrants to the market, the 
effects of unemployment on long-term wages and career opportunities are 
lasting. The longer-term socio-economic impacts of unemployment are 
considerable and link to increased vulnerability and financial hardship.  
 
Increased levels of vulnerability - Individuals and families will need 
support from public services and the voluntary sector because of financial 
hardship or problems associated with or exacerbated by lockdown 
(including mental health problems, alcohol or substance misuse and 
domestic abuse). Vulnerabilities could be at their highest when emergency 
support ends, at the same time as services are at their most stretched. 
 

 
 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

ECO

INF

CYP

HSC

VCS

D&C

FIN

Impacts

Page 448



 

 

Loss of Learning – Following closures, there is a need for swift return of 

early years and childcare providers and schools to redress likely growing 

attainment gaps, particularly in the disadvantaged groups and the public 

examination cohorts.  

Change in health and social care activity patterns – Changes need to 

be understood and dynamically monitored. Demand has shifted and a 

reduction in early intervention could lead to later and more intensive need. 

Acute and community support will need to be aligned with the greatest 

need. 

Cumulative financial impact on the VCSE sector – Cumulative impacts 

include the need for greater core funding, reduction in voluntary income, 

reduced access to funding and economic impact on funders and donors, 

who often rely on investments. 

Social distancing guidelines – Restrictions will continue to impact on the 
capacity of essential public services and infrastructure in Kent and Medway, 
including public transport and community services.  
 
Supporting adaptation and behaviour change – Partners will need to 

work together to support adaptations and behaviour change for safe social 

distancing, particularly to support the re-opening of public places, including 

town centres, high streets, civic and leisure spaces, and to support 

increased digital access to services and remote working and learning.  

Multiple financial challenges for councils – There is a projected shortfall 
of funding in relation to spending and demand pressures and projected 
reduction in income, which has only partially been mitigated by un-
ringfenced grant. Funding shortfalls may need to be covered by reserves, 
which will need to be replenished in preparation of a second pandemic, the 
longer-term effects of a recession and EU transition. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 449



 

 

7. Strengths, Opportunities and Quick Wins 
 

It is important that we recognise the immensely positive work that has been 

demonstrated by partners across Kent and Medway during the COVID-19 response and 

initial recovery. The workforce has risen to the challenge with dedication, commitment 

and resilience.  

Whist the immediate emergency response to the pandemic has been incredibly 

challenging, many positive changes have emerged that present ongoing opportunities to 

transform services and support recovery planning. It is important that we capture and 

build on this successful legacy of strong partnership working. 

The recovery cell impact assessments focused on capturing strengths and opportunities, 

including identifying quick wins for positive action. In total, 47 strengths, 67 opportunities 

and 37 quick wins were identified, which should provide a strong start to a successful 

long-term recovery. 

 

The top strengths demonstrated in response and recovery include: 

National Government response to immediate economic challenge – An 

extensive package of measures has been provided during lockdown to 

mitigate business and employment impacts in the short-term. This has been 

regarded overall as an effective package and feedback from businesses has 

generally been positive. Local partners have worked effectively together to 

ensure funding has reached people who need it as soon as possible. 

Continuity of vital infrastructure – Partners have worked tirelessly to 

maintain essential services, including planning decisions, maintaining good 

performance of digital infrastructure, progressing a full programme of highways 

asset maintenance, green infrastructure availability and waste service delivery. 

Partnership working in children’s services - A culture of collective 

responsibility and accountability has emerged that is welcomed by all partners.  

Enhanced multi-agency engagement and more focused and evidenced 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

ECO

INF

CYP

HSC

VCS

D&C

FIN

Strengths, Opportunities and Quick Wins

Quick wins Opportunities Strengths

Page 450



 

 

discussions have improved strategic planning and co-ordination. Families and 

carers have responded positively and engaged with altered service provision 

favourably. 

Resilient and innovative health and social care workforce - The workforce 

has risen to the pandemic in unprecedented ways. There is significant positive 

learning for improved multi- disciplinary team approaches, understanding what 

supported the incredible resilience of staff and the pace at which it changed to 

respond. There are many good partnership examples, including collaboration 

in care homes, maternity and health visiting, which must now be embedded. 

Responsive and flexible VCSE workforce – The sector has been able to rely 

on the goodwill of staff and volunteers to go above and beyond. The workforce 

has adapted quickly and beneficiaries and volunteers have been more 

sympathetic to the current situation and therefore more accepting of the 

reduction of services and levels of support.   

Communities and neighbourhoods supporting each other – People have 

shown kindness and dedication in supporting their loved ones, neighbours and 

vulnerable people in their communities. Help has been organised quickly and 

with energy and purpose. This has increased the strength and resilience of 

individuals and communities. 

Improved working at a local level – There has been improved networking 

and relationships between organisations at a local level including through Kent 

Together, the district community hubs which have supported vulnerable 

people and active collaboration with parish and town councils and the VCSE 

sector. Referrals and support have been arranged effectively for people with 

complex needs, whilst recognising the importance of not creating dependency. 

Closer collective working between partners on funding and lobbying  - 
Finance officers have worked well together across Kent during the pandemic, 
particularly in co-ordinating responses to MHCLG surveys and in lobbying 
Government for funding, but also in highlighting Government inaccuracies, 
particularly regarding misinformation relating to pace and what funds local 
Government has spent/allocated.    

 
Partners identified potential opportunities to build on the strengths and take positive 

actions to improve recovery. This included opportunities to adapt and transform services 

including the use of technology, investment and to enhance partnership working. 

The top opportunities include: 

Adaptability and agility of Kent and Medway businesses – There are 
opportunities for growth in businesses that are able to respond to changed 
demands and that have the capacity for innovation and growth.   
 
Continued investment and access to infrastructure funding – Subject 

to Government funding, schemes and projects could be taken forward 

quickly, including Active Travel, environmental projects and digital 

infrastructure (mobile and fixed broadband networks). 

Page 451



 

 

Innovation in service provision - Rethinking how public services can be 

delivered has resulted in the development of new digital ways to access 

support, learning opportunities and services. This has included online 

learning provided by schools and a digital youth service offer. 

Investment into early intervention, preventative and community 

services – There are opportunities to rebalance services towards 

prevention and develop a new offer for community support to prevent 

specialist and high need services, including clinical NHS services, from 

becoming overwhelmed from COVID-19 and winter pressures.  

Partnership and peer to peer support - Charities and community 

organisations of different sizes can work together and support each other to 

find sustainable, sector led solutions, harnessing the positive collaboration 

and support networks that have developed during response and recovery.  

Improved partnership working – There are opportunities to build on the 
partnership working and goodwill between tiers of Local Government and 
between sectors to seek new whole-systems solutions that might not have 
previously been possible. 
 

Council transformation – Councils can use the opportunities of enforced 
changes to ways of working to move forward with transformation and 
improve efficiency, looking at rationalising or sharing their property estate to 
support this. 

 

Partners identified 37 quick wins, spanning a multitude of specific issues. These will be 

shared with the Recovery Co-ordinating Group and considered by the Recovery Cells, to 

determine what actions can quickly be taken forward to make a successful contribution to 

recovery. This will be prioritised and captured within the detailed action plans which will 

support the Recovery Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 452



 

 

8. Risks for Recovery 
 

An impact may be on the community or individuals but may also cause risks and 

consequences that organisations or partnerships need to manage. Cells used their 

impact assessment to identify major risks for recovery. Cells have also been capturing 

risks and issues throughout the recovery process through weekly status reports. 

Overall, the recovery cells identified 84 risks and potential consequences in their impact 

assessments, covering a wide array of risk factors, which reflects the breadth and depth 

of the recovery work. These are set out in detail in Appendix A. Partners were asked to 

prioritise their top risks for recovery. 

 

The major risks identified include: 

Twin pressures of rising demand and financial constraints - Demands 
on organisations will increase as people require more support, precisely as 
their own resources and capacity will be constrained. This could lead to 
services being overwhelmed and needs not being met.  
 
Wind down of Government economic support schemes - As the 

Government’s support offer including the Coronavirus Job Protection 

Scheme ends, but social distancing and wider disruption effects continue, 

unemployment is likely to rise, leading to greater need for local economic 

development support. The removal of other temporary protections including 

from eviction and debt recovery may also push individuals and households 

into greater vulnerability and need.   

Winter flu and next wave COVID-19 preparation in health and social 

care - The winter will be challenging for many social care clients and staff in 

all front-line settings. The system needs to urgently plan for this in the lull 

between waves.  

Impact of second wave on public services – Services need sufficient 

capacity and flexibility to adapt to a potential second peak of Covid-19, 

which could force local lockdowns, exacerbating risks and issues and 

disrupting recovery. This is a particular risk for schools and for support 

provided at District and community level. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

ECO

INF

CYP

HSC

VCS

D&C

FIN

Risks

Page 453



 

 

Unsustainable financial risk within the VCSE sector – This could lead to 

closures of charities that provide vital support to communities, particularly 

small organisations that are intrinsic to supply chains supporting 

communities and public service delivery leading to unmet need. 

Financial challenges for local authorities – Councils may not have the 

resources to support recovery. There is expected to be increased demand 

for statutory services and significant impact on core council services, 

including Adult Social Care and Children’s Services.  

Government priorities impacted by competing demands – The 

Government is balancing many significant demands which will potentially 

impact on legislation, regulation and government capacity, including 

COVID-19 response, recovery, and the end of the EU exit transition period.  

Access to Finance – access to finance is a concern for small businesses 

and voluntary organisations. There may be limited access to finance 

housing developers and house buyers. 

Low market confidence impacts on investment in the county – In a 

struggling economy, market confidence may impact on investment in 

infrastructure and housing growth. There needs to be support for the 

continued viability of developments. 

Risks have been appropriately escalated to the KRF’s Strategic Co-ordinating Group. 

The identification of risks has helped to inform appropriate mitigating recovery actions in 

the Kent and Medway Recovery Strategy and to inform future risk management, 

including appropriate risk appetite and controls.  

Partners will also be reflecting these risks within their own organisational risk and 

governance processes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 454



 

 

9. Weaknesses, Gaps and Things to Stop 
 

During such an unprecedented and fast-moving national emergency, there will inevitably 

be some weaknesses in recovery including system vulnerabilities, resource gaps or 

single points of failure.  

It has been important that partners can provide honest reflection about weaknesses, in 

order to anticipate potential issues and identify mitigating actions in recovery planning. 

Overall, the recovery cells identified 44 weaknesses.   

 

The most significant weaknesses included: 

Difficulties in adapting withdrawal of temporary mitigation measures 
to sector / business circumstances - Gradual withdrawal of Government 
economic support will create major challenges for firms in sectors that 
remain compromised by social distancing measures. It is unclear at present 
how national Government will respond to this.  
 
Broadband access and digital poverty – Whilst overall broadband 
capacity and performance has been positive, connectivity remains an issue 
for the 2% of homes and businesses who cannot get a fixed line broadband 
service of 10mbps. In addition, some individuals and households are 
unable to afford the means to digital access. This has presented challenges 
for people working and learning from home and accessing digital services 
and for the effectiveness of business operations. 

 
Understanding travel infrastructure impacts - Public transport and travel 
infrastructure must be prioritised or considered more carefully in recovery 
plans to prevent significant negative impacts on the economy, education, 
town centres and wider community issues and services.  
 
Health inequalities for children and young people - Children and young 

people are also experiencing limited access to dental care, missed 

immunisations and reduced access to mental health support. Increased 

obesity and diabetes due to reduced physical activity may be occurring.  

Employer consideration of disproportionate risk to BAME staff - A 

recent national Public Health England report confirmed that BAME staff in 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

ECO

INF

CYP

HSC

VCS

D&C

FIN

Weaknesses

Page 455



 

 

the health sector are disproportionately at risk of contracting Covid-19, 

which is also likely to be the case for other frontline and key workers. 

Employers will need to be more mindful of the ethnicity of staff and manage 

the impact as far as they able. 

National health and social care communications - National, 

communications were not initially aligned with regional and local messages 

leading to confusion. There was a lack of one central place to address 

strategic issues within the health and social care landscape. This was 

addressed and the multiagency approach should be sustained. 

Data and insight currently limited at a local level – There is a need to 

create more robust local intelligence on the VCSE sector, particularly social 

enterprises and those that are not registered charities. Better intelligence 

on beneficiaries would enable better prediction of demand. There are often 

many data sources, but data is not shared, held in one place or well used, 

which is a national issue. 

Data and information sharing on shielded and vulnerable people - This 

has been a huge challenge in relation to the shielded population and 

vulnerable people receiving support. It could continue to be a challenge as 

we try to build on the strengths of partnership working on Kent Together. 

The partners identified where there may be some gaps in information or knowledge that 

we need to fill in order to plan for recovery. Some of these gaps are national issues, as 

well as a local issue for Kent and Medway partners. Overall, 34 gaps were identified by 

the recovery cells.  

 

The detailed impact assessments identified specific gaps. However, similar themes 

began to emerge. Key gaps included: 

Gaps in localised knowledge and intelligence – this was identified as a 

particular gap for local business data, although this is improving and there 

are opportunities to gather and analyse intelligence more systematically. 

Gaps in data – there is a need to better understand the impact on 

vulnerable people and where there may be opportunities to inform future 

service provision or target interventions. This included the Voice of the 

Child in early years and childcare, identifying vulnerable people who may 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16

ECO

INF

CYP

HSC

VCS

D&C

FIN

Gaps

Page 456



 

 

benefit from early intervention or prevention services and those facing 

financial hardship. There were also gaps in data around beneficiaries and 

impact of the VCSE sector, which would need to be brought together. 

Uncertainty on future funding arrangements – the funding position for 

local authorities is very unclear, including availability of more ring-fenced 

grant, future Council Tax arrangements and detail of the ‘Fair Funding 

review’. 

Gaps in Government travel guidance – there are current gaps in 

Government guidance on international travel arrangements and 

infrastructure which may impact on Kent and Medway as gateway 

authorities. Partners are engaging with Border Force, Eurotunnel and Port 

of Dover. 

The pandemic has made us all to reflect on what is important.  Partners reflected on 

anything that is currently stopped that could possibly not be recovered or re-started, in 

order to help prioritise limited resources and capacity on essential activity.  

Overall, 9 potential ‘stop’ activities were identified in the impact assessments, which will 

be referred to the KRF Recovery Co-ordinating Group for consideration. Common 

themes which emerged included: 

Review - identifying where ‘business as usual’ activities are already 

supporting recovery or could be reoriented to do so. Where appropriate, 

services that are now being carried out digitally and/or remotely could 

continue being delivered this way. There are opportunities to streamline 

processes and enable service decisions to be made closer to the frontline. 

Targeting - reviewing support could help identify where capacity is best 

targeted in the future, recognising positive collaborations developed during 

lockdown. Support for resilience and universal services, rather than 

specialist services, may help reduce latent demand. 

Commissioning - reviewing commissioning practice to reflect the financial 

situation, be more flexible, support stability and provider viability and reduce 

competition requirements for the VCSE sector in the short term. 

Funding immediate needs - any public funded support to the VCSE sector 

should be used to reflect the immediate needs in recovery including peer to 

peer support networks and core funding, but also consider longer term 

need to build sustainability and resilience in the sector.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 457



 

 

10. Equality Impacts 
 

Equality issues 

Recovery cells identified emerging equality issues in their impact assessments. Based 

on the equality issues identified in the Recovery Impact Assessments, all protected 

groups may be impacted by COVID-19, but there will need to be further exploration, 

discussion and analysis to support this. It is possible that new inequalities could emerge 

as a result of COVID-19, as well as the deepening of pre-existing inequalities. 

Actively considering equality impacts is important to fulfil our statutory responsibilities in 

the Public Sector Equality Duty and helps us to better understand priority areas for action 

and where there are cumulative impacts on protected characteristics or groups, including 

Age, Disability, Sex, Gender and gender reassignment, Race, Religion/belief or none, 

Sexual orientation, Pregnancy and maternity, Marriage and civil partnership. 

Examples of equality issues identified in multiple impact assessments include: 

• Older and disabled people are more likely to have been shielding and to need to 

continue to maintain social distancing. This puts them at greater risk of becoming 

isolated, lonely and experiencing mental health problems.  

• Consider the national research about the vulnerability to COVID-19 of BAME young 

people and staff and what can be done to mitigate the impact, including increased 

incidences of prejudiced behaviour towards both BAME staff and children & young 

people, for example the need to be aware of the unconscious bias when schools are 

allocating public examination results. 

• Sectors that have been hit hardest by the crisis employ high levels of young people, 

meaning that there are less entry level positions available.  

• Women are more likely to work in sectors that have been most affected by the crisis, 

leading to a greater chance of unemployment, being furloughed or loss in income. 

Women have taken on greater caring responsibilities for children and elderly and 

vulnerable people who are shielding. 

Cumulative issues 

COVID-19 recovery is unique because it impacts almost every aspect of people’s lives, in 

communities in every part of Kent and Medway. In addition to individual equality issues 

for the protected groups, it is important we seek to understand the potential cumulative 

equality issues, where the same group could be affected by multiple factors of recovery.   

When considering the cumulative impact of the issues identified at this early stage of 

recovery planning, it appears that the protected groups most impacted are Age, 

Disability, Race and Sex.  

Examples of the individual impacts identified for these groups are set out below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 458



 

 

Young people 
 

Young people coming towards the end of 
their formal education have experienced 
varying provision of education and 
support during lockdown and will have 
missed out on learning.  

Young people entering the job market 
could experience significant and long-
lasting disadvantage in finding 
employment. However, government 
action including the Kickstart scheme for 
16-24 year olds could help mitigate this. 

Young people have been awarded 
examination grades based partly on the 
judgement of teachers which may be 
unconsciously biased to the advantage 
or disadvantage of young people with 
other protected characteristics.  

Sectors that have been hit hardest by the 
crisis employ high levels of young 
people, meaning that there are less entry 
level positions available but also that 
young people already in employment 
may be more likely to lose their jobs.  

Provision of learning at schools, colleges 
and universities is being adapted, which 
may contribute to young people missing 
out on education, development and 
social opportunities.  

Young people are also more likely to 
work in zero hours contracts 
and subsequently lose income due 
to reduced demand.  

However, some young people report 
preferring digital learning and support, 
and for some it has increased 
engagement.  

Young people may be less likely to have 
suitable environments for working from 
home and are more reliant on public 
transport which is currently less 
available.  

There has been significant disruption to 
the provision of apprenticeships which 
could continue as businesses struggle.  

Young people are reporting negative 
impacts on their mental health and may 
be at more risk of suicide, particularly 
young men.  

 
 

Children 
 

Children have experienced varying levels 
of education and support provision during 
lockdown and have missed out on 
learning and development opportunities.  

Children may have experienced ‘hidden 
harm’ during lockdown and will now need 
to be identified and supported. 

The physical and mental health of 
children is reported to have suffered and 
could widen health inequalities.  

Children have missed out on 
development checks and support to 
transition between stages of education.  

Covid-19 has had a greater impact in 
deprived areas where there are more 
children in need and looked after 
children.  

There have been delays in processing 
Education, Health and Care Plans for 
children with special educational needs 
and disabilities, and these children may 
have missed out on specialist support 
that they need. 

Demand for children’s social care and 
support for families is expected to 
increase as a result of the crisis, which 
may impact on the availability and 
waiting time for support for children and 
families in need of these services. 

Some children with special educational 
needs and disabilities have not been able 
to return to school for an extended period 
if it was not judged to be safe.   

 

Page 459



 

 

 

Older people 
 

Older people are more likely to become 
seriously ill or die from COVID-19. 

Older people are more likely to use 
public transport which is now less 
available.  

Older people are more likely to have 
been shielding and to need to continue to 
maintain social distancing. This puts 
them at greater risk of becoming isolated, 
lonely and experiencing mental health 
problems.  

Older people may have less 
access to digital technology and may 
lack digital skills and confidence, 
meaning they could miss out on services 
and opportunities as some provision 
shifts to digital.  

They are likely to be more reliant on help 
from Community Hubs, befriending 
services and other temporary provision 
which will be wound down.  

Older people are more likely to rely on 
public sector support, which may be at 
risk as budgets need to be reprioritised. 
There is expected to be a surge in 
demand for social care which may impact 
on the availability and waiting time for 
support for older people in need of these 
services. 

Older people may find it more difficult 
to get another job if they are made 
redundant.  

Care homes have been particularly 
vulnerable to outbreaks of Covid-
19, putting older people in care homes at 
greater risk.  

 
 

BAME people 
 

Evidence suggests that there is higher 
incidence of COVID-19 in BAME 
people and they are more likely to die as 
a result of COVID-19 than people from 
other racial groups.  

BAME people may need to take greater 
care to social distance to mitigate the 
risks, and this could lead to them missing 
out on employment, education and social 
opportunities as well 
as increasing isolation, loneliness and 
mental health problems.  

Some frontline professions employ more 
BAME people which may increase their 
exposure to COVID-19.  

There could be increased incidences of 
prejudiced behaviour towards 
BAME people due to beliefs about 
COVID-19 and race.  

 
 

Disabled people 
 

People with some disabilities and health 
conditions are more likely to become 
seriously ill or die from COVID-19. There 
may be long-lasting health impacts for 
people who have recovered from COVID-
19 that may lead to them becoming 
disabled. 

Disabled people are more likely to live in 
care homes which have been particularly 
vulnerable to outbreaks of COVID-19.  

Disabled people are more likely to have 
been shielding and to need to continue to 

Disabled people are more likely to rely on 
public sector support, which may be at 

Page 460



 

 

maintain social distancing. This puts 
them at greater risk of becoming isolated, 
lonely and experiencing mental health 
problems.  

risk as budgets need to be reprioritised. 
There is expected to be a surge in 
demand for social care which may impact 
on the availability and waiting time for 
support for disabled people in need of 
these services. 

They are likely to be more reliant on help 
from Community Hubs, befriending 
services and other temporary provision 
which will be wound down.  

Existing mental health problems may 
have worsened during the crisis and 
more people are expected to need 
support for mental health problems.  

There have been problems in accessing 
testing for COVID-19 for people with 
some conditions including dementia.  

There has been an increase in the 
number of young males committing 
suicide, some of whom have Autistic 
Spectrum Disorders.  

 
 

Women 
 

Women are more likely to work in sectors 
that have been most affected by the 
crisis, leading to greater chance of 
unemployment or loss in income and 
women are more likely to be furloughed.  

As businesses struggle to recover, they 
may be less able to accommodate 
flexible working arrangements which 
women are more likely to need.  

Evidence suggests that women have 
taken on greater caring responsibilities 
while schools and childcare settings 
are closed and while elderly and 
vulnerable people are shielding.  

Women are more likely to use public 
transport which is now less available.  

Women are more likely to have been 
carers already and may have lost out on 
support and respite.  

There have been interruptions in support 
for maternity and Health Visitor services 
which could impact women more. 

 

Equality analysis  

Although generic impacts have been identified against each characteristic, there will be a 

need for further equality analysis of the responses to recovery that will need to consider 

the intersectional relationships that exist between the protected characteristic groups. 

There are other characteristics that we do not know enough about at this stage but will 

need to be brought into focus for further equality analysis across all the recovery work. 

For example, although there was no identification of any issues for Sexual Orientation 

and Gender-Reassignment at this stage, there may be emerging inequalities for the two 

groups.  

Analysis will now need to be taken to mitigate specific impacts that exist across the 

recovery work, not only to mitigate the adverse impact experienced by individuals but 

also to support the financial recovery and the organisations that provide services for 

those who learn live and work in Kent and Medway. 

There may also be opportunities for positive impacts across all aspects of the recovery.  

New ways of working in response to COVID-19 may form a basis for innovation and 

efficiency across sectors to provide far more responsive services for protected groups in 

Page 461



 

 

Kent and Medway. For example, the use of technology means that there is greater 

accessibility for the groups who can use such technologies to access employment, 

training, deliver and receive services. 

The equality issues, opportunities and cumulative impacts will now be considered 

carefully within recovery action plan development, so we identify the right actions to 

make a positive contribution and to tackle inequalities. The issues identified here can 

also be used to inform future service redesign for Kent and Medway residents. 

An equality analysis of the Kent and Medway Recovery Strategy will also be undertaken. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 462



 

 

11. Background document: KRF COVID-19 Recovery Impact 

Assessment Evidence Base 
 

The 7 detailed impact assessments which have informed this overarching impact 

assessment are available, to provide a much deeper insight into the impacts, risks and 

opportunities for different aspects of recovery.  

These are available as background documents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 463



 

 

You Said, We Did 

The following changes have been made as a result of feedback from partners. 

Comment Response 

 ‘Opportunities for transformation’ – 
recovery cells have discussed ideas on 
“building back better” and of achieving a 
“multi-benefit recovery”, essentially 
maximising opportunities. 

The phrases “building back better” and “multi-
benefit recovery have been added to this point. 

 ‘Latent demand’ – this is across many 
services, not just ‘support’. There is an 
emphasis on addressing the immediate 
recovery but there also needs to be an 
awareness of longer term implications.  

“Support” has been changed to “services” to 
address the first point. This issue has been 
rewritten to also acknowledge the longer-term 
demand changes. 

‘Loss of employment’ – you may want to 
reference potential for the furlough 
scheme to have hidden full extent of 
impacts on unemployment.  

The furlough scheme has now been mentioned 
in this point. 

 ‘Supporting adaptation and behaviour 
change’ – Supporting continued 
investment in digital infrastructure, new 
digital ways of working and promotion of 
digital skills are key elements of this.  

This point has been expanded to also reference 
supporting digital access and working. 

 ‘Risks to Recovery’ – A significant one for 
housing which is worth including is 
‘access to finance’, both developers and 
public, and supporting the continued 
viability of developments.  

An Access to Finance risk has been added and 
the wording clarified on market confidence and 
housing risks. 

The ‘At a glance’ page references health 
and social care communication as a 
weakness and it is not clarified until later 
in the document that this is national 
communication rather than local. 

The point in ‘At a glance’ has been changed to 
explain it is a national issue and the description 
of the issue in the weaknesses section has also 
been changed to more clearly explain this. 

The impact assessment does not pick up 
on the impacts of the removal of 
temporary protections from evictions and 
debt recovery. 

This point has been added to the Risks around 
the removal of government support. 

The impact assessment needs to include 
the impacts of the barriers that some 
people face in accessing digital services 
and opportunities, both due to 
infrastructure and affordability for 
individuals and families (digital poverty). 

The growing digital divide is mentioned in one 
of the cumulative challenges at the start of the 
Impact Assessment. We have extended the 
point in the Weaknesses section about 
broadband to cover digital poverty as well as 
infrastructure performance. 

There are a variety of ways that 
cumulative issues will affect people from 
protected groups. 

Further detail has been added to the section on 
cumulative equality issues. 

 

 

Page 464


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meetings held on 22 and 29 June 2020
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 29/06/2020 Cabinet
	Minutes


	6 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report - May 2020-21
	Budget Monitoring Report

	7 Adoption of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan and modifications to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 resulting from the Early Partial Review
	Item 7 - Appendix A - Planning Inspector's Report
	Item 7 - Appendix B - Kent Mineral Sites Plan
	Item 7 - Appendix C - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (amended by Early Partial Review)
	Foreword
	Abbreviations
	Figures
	1 Introduction
	1.1 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30
	1.2 The Status of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30
	1.3 The Links With Legislation, Other Policies and Strategies
	1.4 The Evidence Base
	1.5 Planning and Permitting Interface

	2 Minerals and Waste Development in Kent: A Spatial Portrait
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Kent’s Environmental and Landscape Assets
	2.3 Kent's Economic Mineral Resources
	2.4 Kent's Waste Infrastructure

	3 Spatial Vision for Minerals and Waste in Kent
	4 Objectives for the Minerals and Waste Local Plan
	5 Delivery Strategy for Minerals
	5.1 Policy CSM 1: Sustainable Development
	5.2 Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent
	5.3 Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals
	5.4 Policy CSM 4: Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites
	5.5 Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral Safeguarding
	5.6 Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots
	5.7 Policy CSM 7: Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure
	5.8 Policy CSM 8: Secondary and Recycled Aggregates
	5.9 Policy CSM 9: Building Stone in Kent
	5.10 Policy CSM 10: Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons
	5.11 Policy CSM 11: Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone
	5.12 Policy CSM 12: Sustainable Transport of Minerals

	6 Delivery Strategy for Waste
	6.1 Policy CSW 1: Sustainable Development
	6.2 Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy and Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction
	6.3 Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste Management Capacity
	6.4 Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for Waste
	6.5 Policy CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities
	6.6 Identifying Sites for Household Waste Recycling Centres
	6.7 Policy CSW 7: Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste
	6.8 Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste
	6.9 Policy CSW 9: Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent
	6.10 Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites
	6.11 Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste
	6.12 Policy CSW 12: Identifying Sites for Hazardous Waste
	6.13 Policy CSW 13: Remediation of Brownfield Land
	6.14 Policy CSW 14: Disposal of Dredgings
	6.15 Policy CSW 15: Wastewater Development
	6.16 Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management Facilities
	6.17 Radioactive Waste Management
	6.18 Policy CSW 17: Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at Dungeness
	6.19 Policy CSW 18: Non-nuclear Radioactive Low Level Waste (LLW) Management Facilities

	7 Development Management Policies
	7.1 Policy DM 1: Sustainable Design
	7.2 Policy DM 2: Environmental and Landscape Sites of International, National and Local Importance and Policy DM 3: Ecological Impact Assessment
	7.3 Policy DM 4: Green Belt
	7.4 Policy DM 5: Heritage Assets and Policy DM 6: Historic Environment Assessment
	7.5 Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources
	7.6 Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation, Production & Waste Management Facilities
	7.7 Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development
	7.8 Policy DM 10: Water Environment
	7.9 Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity
	7.10 Policy DM 12: Cumulative Impact
	7.11 Policy DM 13: Transportation of Minerals and Waste
	7.12 Policy DM 14: Public Rights of Way
	7.13 Policy DM 15: Safeguarding of Transportation Infrastructure
	7.14 Policy DM 16: Information Required in Support of an Application
	7.15 Policy DM 17: Planning Obligations
	7.16 Policy DM 18: Land Stability
	7.17 Policy DM 19: Restoration, Aftercare and After-use
	7.18 Policy DM 20: Ancillary Development
	7.19 Policy DM 21: Incidental Mineral Extraction
	7.20 Policy DM 22: Enforcement

	8 Managing and Monitoring the Delivery of the Strategy
	9 Adopted Policies Maps
	9.1 Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Transportation Depots
	9.2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas

	Appendix A: Glossary
	Appendix B: List of Replaced, Deleted and Retained Policies
	Appendix C: List of Mineral Sites that are included in Landbank Calculations

	Item 7 - Appendix D - Changes to the adopted KMWLP as a result of the EPR
	Item 7 - Appendix E - Non-Technical Summary - SA of KCC MSP
	Item 7 - Appendix F - Non-Technical Summary - SA of KCC EPR  2020
	Item 7 - Appendix G - Proposed Planning Policy Activites post adoption of the MSP and EPR
	Item 7 - Appendix H - EqIA EPR and MSP 2020

	8 COVID-19 Multi-Agency Recovery
	Appendix A -  KRF - COVID-19 Multi-Agency Recovery- Overarching Impact Assessment - Kent and Medway




